INSIGHTS INTO REGULATORY B CELLS

EDITED BY: Yiwei Chu, Damo Xu and Luman Wang PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-155-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-155-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

INSIGHTS INTO REGULATORY B CELLS

Topic Editors: Yiwei Chu, Fudan University, China Damo Xu, Shenzhen University, China Luman Wang, Fudan University, China

Citation: Chu, Y., Xu, D., Wang, L., eds. (2022). Insights Into Regulatory B Cells. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-155-5

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Insights Into Regulatory B Cells Luman Wang, Damo Xu and Yiwei Chu
- 06 Frontiers of Autoantibodies in Autoimmune Disorders: Crosstalk Between Tfh/Tfr and Regulatory B Cells Tingting Ding, Rui Su, Ruihe Wu, Hongwei Xue, Yanyan Wang, Ronghui Su,

Chong Gao, Xiaofeng Li and Caihong Wang

- 21 The Multiple Roles of B Cells in the Pathogenesis of Sjögren's Syndrome Wenhan Du, Man Han, Xiaoxia Zhu, Fan Xiao, Enyu Huang, Nan Che, Xiaopo Tang, Hejian Zou, Quan Jiang and Liwei Lu
- 31 Predictive Values of PET/CT in Combination With Regulatory B Cells for Therapeutic Response and Survival in Contemporary Patients With Newly Diagnosed Multiple Myeloma

Jian Cui, Zhongqing Zou, Jiayu Duan, Wenjiao Tang, Yan Li, Li Zhang, Ling Pan and Ting Niu

Characterization of Organ-Specific Regulatory B Cells Using Single-Cell RNA Sequencing

Si-Yu Yang, Jie Long, Meng-Xing Huang, Pan-Yue Luo, Zhen-Hua Bian, Ya-Fei Xu, Cheng-Bo Wang, Shu-Han Yang, Liang Li, Carlo Selmi, M. Eric Gershwin, Zhi-Bin Zhao and Zhe-Xiong Lian

50 Intestinal CD11b⁺ B Cells Ameliorate Colitis by Secreting Immunoglobulin A

Ying Fu, Zhiming Wang, Baichao Yu, Yuli Lin, Enyu Huang, Ronghua Liu, Chujun Zhao, Mingfang Lu, Wei Xu, Hongchun Liu, Yongzhong Liu, Luman Wang and Yiwei Chu

64 Pro- and Anti- Effects of Immunoglobulin A- Producing B Cell in Tumors and Its Triggers

Ziwen Zhong, Ke Nan, Meilin Weng, Ying Yue, Wenchang Zhou, Zhiqiang Wang, Yiwei Chu, Ronghua Liu and Changhong Miao

74 Characterization of Definitive Regulatory B Cell Subsets by Cell Surface Phenotype, Function and Context

Savannah D. Neu and Bonnie N. Dittel

85 Altered Tim-1 and IL-10 Expression in Regulatory B Cell Subsets in Type 1 Diabetes

Yikai Liu, Zhiying Chen, Junlin Qiu, Hongzhi Chen and Zhiguang Zhou

95 Chloroquine Suppresses Effector B-Cell Functions and Has Differential Impact on Regulatory B-Cell Subsets

Xin Ma, Yang Dai, Oliver Witzke, Shilei Xu, Monika Lindemann, Andreas Kribben, Sebastian Dolff and Benjamin Wilde

105 Molecular Mechanisms Driving IL-10- Producing B Cells Functions: STAT3 and c-MAF as Underestimated Central Key Regulators? Magalie Michée-Cospolite, Marina Boudigou, Alexis Grasseau, Quentin Simon, Olivier Mignen, Jacques-Olivier Pers, Divi Cornec, Laëtitia Le Pottier and Sophie Hillion



Editorial: Insights into Regulatory B Cells

Luman Wang¹, Damo Xu² and Yiwei Chu^{1*}

¹ Department of Immunology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, and Institutes of Biomedical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ² State Key Laboratory of Respiratory Disease for Allergy at Shenzhen University, Shenzhen University School of Medicine, Shenzhen, China

Keywords: Breg, phenotype, function, applications, organ specific

Editorial on the Research Topic

Insights into Regulatory B Cells

B cells are typically characterized by their ability to produce antibodies, function as secondary antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and secrete various cytokines. Regulatory B cell (Breg), one of the B cell populations is now widely accepted as an important regulatory subset in the immune system. In this collection, we have received articles from all over the world, including the Dittel lab and the Chu lab who have been working in this field for many years. The published articles and reviews describe current understanding of Breg subsets, functions either in health or diseases, and their therapeutic potential.

Unlike Treg, there are no unique markers or released factors (i.e., specific cytokine profiles) to define Breg. Thus, the term Breg refers to B cells with regulatory functions. In the article of the collection, Fu et al. from Chu lab identified a specific Breg subgroup—CD11b⁺B cells, which specifically secrete IgA in the mucosal immune response and maintain homeostasis. This regulatory function depends on TGF- β signaling pathway. Similarly, the review by Zhong et al. described the regulatory role of IgA⁺B cells in tumor and other diseases. On the contrary, IgA⁺B cells could be induced by tumor microenvironment. Mechanistically, the review by Ding et al. summarized the dysregulation of T follicular helper cells (Tfh)/T follicular regulatory cells (Tfr) in autoimmune diseases are closely associated with Breg under different environments through IL-21, PD-L1/PD-1 and other molecules.

With the aim of discovering the unique phenotypes of Breg, Yang et al. from Lian lab published the article "Organ-Specific Regulatory B Cells Using Single-Cell RNA Sequencing". They characterized 19 common genes significantly express in Breg cell, including *Fcrl5, Zbtb20, Ccdc28b, Cd9* and *Ptpn22*. Further, they detected the infiltrated Breg in seven tissue or organs and found Breg subgroups existed with different phenotypes. Moreover, they explored *Atf3* molecule as the potential transcription factor to modulate immune response. In addition, Michée-Cospolite et al. demonstrated the role of transcription factors STAT3 and c-MAF in controlling IL-10 production both in murine and human B cells, and they may be the key drivers to initiate the function of Breg. In the review by Neu and Dittel., they provided a complete and in-depth summary of the discovery history of Breg with phenotypic characteristics, functional modes and interaction with Treg.

With the in-depth research in the field of Breg, its applications in diseases have been studied increasingly. Du et al. from Lu lab, reviewed Breg with impaired immunosuppressive function is negatively correlated with Tfh cell in primary Sjögren's Syndrome (pSS) patients. Further studies have revealed a pivotal role of Breg in constraining Tfh response in autoimmune pathogenesis. This review provides an overview of recent advances in the identification of pathogenic B cell subsets and

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Harry W. Schroeder, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

*Correspondence:

Yiwei Chu yiweichu@fudan.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 March 2022 Accepted: 01 April 2022 Published: 25 April 2022

Citation:

Wang L, Xu D and Chu Y (2022) Editorial: Insights into Regulatory B Cells. Front. Immunol. 13:903711. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.903711

4

Breg cells, as well as new development of B-cell targeted therapies in pSS patients. Additionally, Cui et al. reported a retrospective analysis on positron-emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) scans and Breg detection from patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma (NDMM) who received bortezomib plus dexamethasone-based (BD) therapy in southwest China. The baseline PET/CT in combination with Bregs can be used as prognosticators. In the article of "Altered Tim-1 and IL-10 Expression in Regulatory B Cell Subsets in Type 1 Diabetes", Liu et al. showed that altered Tim-1 and IL-10 expression on regulatory B cell in T1D patients. Tim-1 is associated with islet function and blood glucose levels. These findings indicate that Tim-1⁺ and IL-10⁺ Bregs were involved in the pathogenesis of T1D. In drug therapy, Ma et al. found that drugs for treating B cell mediated diseases like Chloroquine (CQ) had a suppressive effect on IL-10 regulatory B cells whereas Granzyme B (GrB) secreting B cells were less affected. Effector functions of B cells such as plasma blast formation and IgG secretion were potently inhibited by CQ. Effector B cells derived from renal transplant patients under immunosuppression circumstance could also be suppressed with diminished IgG secretion by CQ.

In conclusion, this special issue encompasses a collection of articles that highlight the phenotypes, functions, and applications of Breg in regulatory activity by a variety of mechanisms. B cells are no longer considered as effectors in immune response, but are active participants in immune regulation. This new perspective will likely lead to further investigations into regulatory roles for B cells in health and diseases, and to capitalize on the findings to harness B cells functions as therapies. We welcome more immunologists participate in the research of Breg and broaden the field.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LW, DX and YC wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wang, Xu and Chu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Frontiers of Autoantibodies in Autoimmune Disorders: Crosstalk Between Tfh/Tfr and Regulatory B Cells

Tingting Ding¹, Rui Su¹, Ruihe Wu¹, Hongwei Xue¹, Yanyan Wang¹, Ronghui Su¹, Chong Gao², Xiaofeng Li¹ and Caihong Wang^{1*}

¹ Department of Rheumatology, The Second Hospital of Shanxi Medical University, Taiyuan, China, ² Pathology, Joint Program in Transfusion Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital/Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luman Wang, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Steven M. Kerfoot, Western University, Canada Yuli Lin, Fudan University, China

> *Correspondence: Caihong Wang snwch@sina.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 13 December 2020 Accepted: 11 March 2021 Published: 26 March 2021

Citation:

Ding T, Su R, Wu R, Xue H, Wang Y, Su R, Gao C, Li X and Wang C (2021) Frontiers of Autoantibodies in Autoimmune Disorders: Crosstalk Between Tfh/Tfr and Regulatory B Cells. Front. Immunol. 12:641013. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.641013 Balance of Tfh/Tfr cell is critically important for the maintenance of immune tolerance, as evidenced by the fact that T follicular helper (Tfh) cells are central to the autoantibodies generation through providing necessary help for germinal center (GC) B cells, whereas T follicular regulatory (Tfr) cells significantly inhibit autoimmune inflammation process through restraining Tfh cell responses. However, signals underlying the regulation of Tfh and Tfr cells are largely undefined. Regulatory B cells (Bregs) is a heterogeneous subpopulation of B cells with immunosuppressive function. Considerable advances have been made in their functions to produce anti-inflammatory cytokines and to regulate Th17, Th1, and Treg cells in autoimmune diseases. The recent identification of their correlations with dysregulated Tfr/Tfh cells and autoantibody production makes Bregs an important checkpoint in GC response. Bregs exert profound impacts on the differentiation, function, and distribution of Tfh and Tfr cells in the immune microenvironment. Thus, unraveling mechanistic information on Tfh-Breg and Tfr-Breg interactions will inspire novel implications for the establishment of homeostasis and prevention of autoantibodies in diverse diseases. This review summarizes the dysregulation of Tfh/Tfr cells in autoimmune diseases with a focus on the emerging role of Bregs in regulating the balance between Tfh and Tfr cells. The previously unsuspected crosstalk between Bregs and Tfh/Tfr cells will be beneficial to understand the cellular mechanisms of autoantibody production and evoke a revolution in immunotherapy for autoimmune diseases.

Keywords: B regulatory cells, autoantibody, T follicular helper cell, T follicular regulatory cell, germinal center, autoimmune diseases, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune disorders encompass a heterogeneous group of diseases in which immune tolerance is broken and the selfimmune system mistakenly attack autologous tissues, leading to local and/or systemic damage. In the majority of these diseases, self-reactive lymphocytes and pathogenic autoantibodies are pivotal in inflammation-mediated tissue and organ damage.

The generation of autoantibodies is mainly related to lymphoid follicular germinal centers (GCs), which are microenvironment structures where antigen-specific B cell clones through a multistage differentiation process (1, 2). After priming by antigen, naive B cells undergo somatic hypermutation, affinity maturation, and class switch recombination in a T cell-dependent mechanism in the GCs, and further differentiate into antibodyproducing plasma cells and memory B cells. Generally, the GC response is regulated and contributes to the production of antibodies specialized for preventing foreign pathogens. Multiple factors including follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) (3, 4), regulatory T cells (5), and microbiota (6) collaborate to regulate this response. Particularly, T follicular helper (Tfh) cells (7) and T follicular regulatory (Tfr) cells (8-10) are central to the production of antibody in GCs. Tfh cells are characterized by CXC chemokine receptor 5 (CXCR5) and lineage-defining transcription factor Bcell lymphoma 6 (Bcl-6) (11-13). These cells differentiate from naive CD4+T cells after priming by antigen-presenting cells and can access B cell follicles in a CXCR5-dependent manner. During the multistep process of GC reactions, Tfh cells emerge as superior helpers, providing proliferation, selection, and survival signals to cognate B cells, indicating their important role in antibody production (14). However, this help from Tfh cells must be restrained to prevent the production of autoantibodies which underlie unwanted reactions to self-antigens. In 2011, three separate studies initially found a specialized GC-located subset of regulatory T cells (Tregs) required for suppression of the GC response in mice and termed them as Tfr cells (8-10). Since then, Tfr cells in the regulation of immunity have received intense attention. Tfr cells constitutively expressed Foxp3 and CXCR5 and have a phenotype similar to both Treg and Tfh cells. A popular model of their function is to restrain the magnitude of the GC reaction by inhibiting Tfh cell proliferation and self-reactive B cell activation (8-10). Clinical studies have investigated Tfr and Tfh cells in multiple autoimmune diseases and have found a decreased frequency of circulating Tfr cells and an increased Tfh frequency as well as an aberrant Tfh/Tfr ratio in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (15), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (16) and myasthenia gravis (17). Importantly, the Tfh/Tfr ratios is positively correlated with serum anti-double stranded DNA (dsDNA) antibody level in SLE patients (16). Moreover, previous study transferred Tfr cells in vivo to demonstrate their function in restricting autoreactive GC formation and reducing autoantibody-producing B cells (18). Thus, dysregulation of Tfh and Tfr cells may contribute to the production of autoantibodies in autoimmune diseases.

In addition to Tfh and Tfr cells, regulatory B cells (Bregs) exhibit potent regulatory function in autoantibody production through complex interactions with multiple lymphocytes involved in the GC response. Bregs represent a heterogeneous population of B cells possessing immunosuppressive functions through different mechanisms, and there is no lineage-specific transcription factor for the identification of these cells (19). Indeed, the well-established functions of B cells in immune responses are antibody production, pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and antigen presentation. It was not until the 1970s, that the existence of suppressive subsets of B cells was first confirmed in delayed hypersensitivity reactions (20). In 2002, Mizoguchi et al. (21, 22) reported that interleukin 10 (IL-10)producing B cells can suppress intestinal inflammation progression in mouse models and first described these cells as Bregs. Currently, various Bregs have been identified, such as CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺Bregs (23), CD25^{hi}FoxP3^{hi}Bregs (24) and Tim-1⁺Bregs (25). The potent regulatory functions of various Bregs have been identified in immune-related pathologies, including inflammation, autoimmunity, and transplantation (22, 23, 26). Several research groups have shown the association between numerically and/or functionally aberrant Bregs and autoimmune diseases such as SLE (27), RA (28), and multiple sclerosis (MS) (29).

There is increasing interest in exploring the regulatory mechanisms of Bregs, especially the interaction with multiple targets cells. CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} Bregs function to maintain the Th1/Th2 and Th17/Treg balance *via* IL-10 (28). Moreover, IL-10-producing Bregs inhibit the function of natural killer (NK) cells (30) and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (31). Recently, clinical studies have shown that the dysregulated Tfr and Tfh cells were correlated with impaired Bregs in many autoimmune disorders (32–34). Immunological advance further suggests the regulatory potential of Bregs on Tfr and Tfh cells in the germinal response (26, 33, 35, 36), providing new implications for understanding the production of autoantibodies in autoimmune diseases.

In this review, we briefly outline recent advances in the biology of Bregs and their involvement in autoimmune diseases. In particular, we focus on the interactions between Bregs and Tfh/Tfr cells and how such interactions regulate autoantibody production in autoimmune diseases. Finally, we discuss the therapeutic implications based on Breg-mediated regulation of Tfh/Tfr cells in autoimmune diseases and propose several problems that needed to be solved regarding this therapy. This will give rise to more effective therapies and monitors for autoimmune disorders.

PHENOTYPES OF BREGS

Currently, Bregs are primarily defined by their immunosuppressive function *in vitro* or *in vivo*, especially their capacity to produce the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Diverse B cell subsets with suppressive functions have been identified in experimental animal models and human, although the unique phenotypic markers for distinguishing Bregs from effector B cells have not been unified, due to the strong heterogeneity of Bregs. In mice, Mauri et al. (37) showed that CD1d⁺CD21⁺CD23⁺transitional 2-MZ precursor (T2-MZP) B cells, which secrete IL-10 have immunosuppressive activity both *in vitro* or *in vivo*. Studies have also identified CD21⁺CD23⁻CD24^{hi} MZ Bregs (38, 39) and CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺ Bregs (40) with the capacity to produce IL-10 in mice. In addition, IL-10-producing CD19⁺CD138⁺ plasmablasts have been found in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (41). A study also indicated that the cluster of differentiation 9 (CD9) is a functional marker of IL-10-expressing Bregs in mice (42). In other studies, T cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain-containing protein (Tim-1) is an important marker for murine IL-10-producing B cells (25, 43). In the study by Lino et al. (44), LAG-3⁺CD138^{hi} plasma cells mediated immune regulation in mice. Similarly, CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} immature B cells (27), CD24^{hi}CD27+ B cells (45, 46), and CD25^{hi}CD71^{hi}CD73^{lo} Br1 cells (47) have been reported in humans. Recently, human IL-10-producing IgA+ B cells induced by a proliferation-inducing ligand have been shown to inhibit T cell and macrophage responses (48).

Apart from the most investigated IL-10-producing Bregs, great efforts have been made to identify expanding Breg subsets independent of IL-10. For example, Liu et al. (49) found novel CD11b+ Bregs can suppress CD4+ T-cell responses in mice with experimental autoimmune hepatitis. Moreover, CD38+CD1d +IgM+CD147+granzymeB+ B cells (50) and IL-35-producing Bregs (51) have been identified in humans and mice, respectively. It has also been determined that murine PD-L1hi B cells can suppress humoral immunity (33). B cells expressing IgD at a low level have been identified as a novel population of Bregs in humans (52).

Collectively, the phenotypes of Bregs in different species, organs, and disease models are partially overlapping or distinct, which might due to their adaption to special immune environments (19). Additional studies are needed to determine whether the immunomodulatory function of Bregs relies on their phenotype.

ORIGIN AND INDUCTION OF BREGS

The inability to identify different Breg cell subsets in complex immune microenvironment makes it difficult to understand the generation and biological characteristics of Bregs more deeply. Up to now, the origin of Bregs remains elusive and controversial. B cells can be divided into two main populations according to their distinct origins, B1 and B2 B cells. B1 B cells develop in the fetal liver and mainly present in the peritoneal cavity. B2 B cells develop in the bone marrow and further differentiate into marginal-zone (MZ) B cells or follicular B cell after several transitional stages. Some researchers proposed that Bregs with various phenotypes rise from a special progenitor and lineage-defining transcription factors determine their immunosuppressive nature. Early studies have suggested the B1 lineage of IL-10 producing Bregs as B1 B cells are the main source of B cell-derived IL-10 (53). Bregs can also originate from B2 B cells. In one study, Gai2-deficient mice developed a spontaneous colitis due to the absence of splenic T2-MZP and MZ B cells, although follicular B cells were not altered, suggesting the potential origin of Bregs from T2-MZP and MZ B cells (54). Subsequent studies also demonstrated that T2-MZP can convert into Bregs (37, 55, 56). Notably, the identification of CD19⁺CD5⁺CD1d^{high} thymic B cells with suppressive ability suggest the thymic origin of partial Bregs (57). However, there is no lineage-specific markers have been identified in the gene arrays

of Bregs (47, 51), which does not support the hypothesis that Bregs arise from a dedicated progenitor. Indeed, growing evidence has demonstrated that multiple B cells at different stages of development can acquire suppressive functions under special microenvironmental stimulations (27, 41, 58). Moreover, Maseda's group (59) reported that antigen-specific *in vivo* signals initiated genetic and phenotypic alternations in B10 cells and led to the conversion of these cells into antibody-producing plasmablasts. These facts strongly support the hypothesis that any B cell has the potential to convert into Bregs in response to appropriate stimuli and their regulatory capacity may change with the environmental alternations.

A complete understanding of the differentiation of diverse Breg is needed. Currently, great progresses have been made in understanding the induction of Bregs by microenvironmental molecules, especially inflammatory regulators. As extensively summarized elsewhere, B cell receptor (BCR) recognition, CD40, and Toll-like receptors (TLRs), contribute to the induction of IL-10-producing Bregs (60). Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 β (61), IL-21 (62), interferon gamma alpha (IFN- α) (31), and B cell-activating factor (BAFF) (63) are also potent inducers of Bregs. Pro-inflammatory cytokines-mediated induction of Bregs can be explained as a feedback mechanism that suppresses the expansion of pro-inflammatory cells and restores immune homeostasis. However, it appears that not all pro-inflammatory cytokines play a role in the generation of Bregs. For example, the deficiency of IL-17, a pro-inflammatory cytokine, led to an increased number of CD19⁺IL-10⁺Breg in the spleen of a murine model of lupus (64). Of note, IL-35 can induce IL-35producing Bregs as well (65), suggesting the potential role of antiinflammatory cytokines in the differentiation of Bregs. Moreover, gut-microbiota-derived signals are important in the development of IL-10-producing Bregs and drive their differentiation by inducing the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by DCs and macrophages (61). This was corroborated by study showing that the elimination of gut microbiota through antibiotic treatment led to reduced IL-10-expressing Breg frequency in mice compared to the controls (61). Subsequent studies suggested that intestinal microbiota drove B cells into IL-10-producing Bregs via TLR2/ MyD88/PI3K signaling (66). Furthermore, stimulation from bacteria-derived oligodeoxynucleotides bas been shown to induce the generation of human CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} Breg-like cells *in vitro* (67). Similarly, the DNA of gut microbiota has been shown to mediate the expansion of Bregs in MRL/lpr mice (68). More studies are needed to determine the mechanism of underlying bacterial DNAmediated induction of IL-10-producing Bregs.

A recent study identified IL-10⁺LAG-3⁺CD138^{hi} regulatory plasma cells in germ-free mice, suggesting that gut microbiota is not indispensable in the generation of all subsets of Bregs (44). The study also found that these regulatory plasma cells were naturally existed in the spleen and bone marrow of naive mice, rather than develop in response to stimulation. They originate from several B cell subsets including B1a, B1b, and B2 cells in a BCR-dependent manner and produce IL-10 after activation by TLR signals (44). Indeed, the existence of naturally occurring CD19⁺CD25^{high}CD27^{high}CD86^{high}CD1d^{high}IL-10^{high} Bregs in humans has also been confirmed (69). A complete understanding of these natural Bregs and their relationship with inducible Bregs is needed. In addition, more studies are needed to explore the origin and development of various Bregs, which will provide novel insights into the therapeutic potential of Bregs in autoimmune disorders.

SUPPRESSIVE MECHANISMS AND EFFECTORS OF BREGS

The most investigated regulatory mechanism of Bregs centers around their production of IL-10. Mice with IL-10 knocked-out in B cells developed exacerbated arthritis accompanied by increased antibodies and inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cells, suggesting the important role of IL-10 in B cell-mediated immune regulation (70). Consistently, human CD19⁺CD25^{high} Bregs can inhibit the expansion and function of autologous CD4+ T cells, and promote the differentiation and activity of Tregs *via* secretion of IL-10 (71). Moreover, CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺Breg-derived-IL-10 inhibits the activation of IL-13⁺ type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) and thereby suppressing the inflammation response in contact hypersensitivity (72). In experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE), regulatory plasmablast-derived IL-10 also inhibits the production of IFN- α by DCs, a key cytokine in the expansion of pathogenic T cells (41).

The IL-10-independent regulatory mechanisms of Bregs are primarily mediated by IL-35 (51), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) (73), and granzyme B (50). These cytokines act by inducing Treg and inhibiting effector T cell differentiation (50, 51, 73). Moreover, programmed death-ligand 1 high (PD-L1hi) Bregs inhibit the expansion of Tfh cells and effector T cells through programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1)/PD-L1 signaling (33). CD1d⁺T2-MZP Bregs functioned to regulate the activity of invariant natural killer (iNKT) cells through CD1d-lipid presentation, thereby inhibiting excessive inflammation (74). Notably, specific IgG4 antibodies produced by human CD73⁻CD25⁺CD71⁺ IL-10-producing regulatory B cells also play an important role in the suppression of antigen-specific CD4+ T cell proliferation (47). Other molecules such as glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor ligand (52, 75), intercellular adhesion molecule 1, and fasciclin 1 also mediate the suppressive function of several populations of Bregs (76). Recently, the importance of microbiota-derived butyrate, a type of short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) in the function of IL-10producing CD19+CD21hiCD24hiB cells has been identified. Butyrate activates transcriptional marker aryl-hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) in a manner dependent on 5-Hydroxyindole-3acetic acid (5-HIAA) and therethrough indirectly supports CD19⁺CD21^{hi}CD24^{hi}Breg cell function (77). Although butyrate supplementation can support suppressive function of Bregs and inhibits arthritis in mouse models, it is unclear which species of the gut microbiota are involved in SCFA-mediated regulation of Bregs. The efficacy of dietary invention with butyrate also remains to be confirmed in RA patients.

Importantly, several transcription factors important for the suppressive functions of Bregs have also been identified. A study from Florian et al. (78) on the transcriptomic meta-analysis of human Bregs identified two critical immune regulatory transcriptional signatures, GZMB and IL10RA, among 126 differentially expressed genes between Bregs and non-Bregs. Recent research also suggests an important role for transcriptional repressor B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 (Blimp-1) in the function of activated B10 cells. The authors found that Blimp-1 promoted the transcription of IL-10 when accompanied by phosphorylated signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) (79). Another transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 4, serves as a crucial modulator of TLR signaling, promoting IL-10 secretion by plasmablasts in the draining lymph nodes (LNs) (41). Studies have also identified the high expression of AhR in Bregs, which maintains the phenotype of splenic CD19⁺CD21^{hi}CD24^{hi}Bregs by regulating IL-10 production and by restricting pro-inflammatory gene expression. This is supported by the fact that mice with AhR deletion developed exacerbated arthritis accompanied by reduced IL-10-producing CD19⁺CD21^{hi}CD24^{hi}Bregs (80). Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α is also a critical transcription factor which regulate IL-10 expression in B cells (81). However, it is unclear whether these transcriptional determinants of Breg immunosuppressive functions are shared by different Breg subsets. To date, Breg-cell-specific transcription factors are largely undefined, and more studies are required in the future.

The potential role of Bregs in regulating Tfh and Tfr cells may also contribute to suppressing inflammation (33). However, this regulation appears more complex and will be discussed below. In summary, diverse mechanisms of Breg function are associated with the complex interactions between Bregs and other immune cells. Further studies are need to explore the transcriptional mechanisms underlying these interactions.

INVOLVEMENT OF TFH AND TFR IN AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

Tfh and Tfr Control Autoantibody Production

Autoantibodies are serological markers and pathological contributors to many autoimmune diseases. Autoantibodies can lead to the deposition of immune complex in various organs, thereby activating the complement system and/or activating immune cells, resulting in severe inflammatory damage. Moreover, autoantibodies cause direct damage of target tissue via antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity (82). Generally, high-affinity antibodies generated in the GC during humoral immunity are responsible for providing long-term protection against the multiple pathogens. Upon antigen recognition, mature naïve B access the GC and further interact with T cells to differentiate into antibodyproducing plasmocyte (1). A central step of high-affinity antibody maturation is somatic hypermutation (SHM) of BCR genes. However, in addition to enhancing affinity, this process can give rise to self-reactive BCRs at the same time (83), which underlines autoantibodies production. Although multiple checkpoints exist, including central (84) and peripheral tolerance (85), elimination of massive autoreactive B cells, more direct regulations at the GC level are necessary to prevent autoantibody production.

Since the discovery of Tfh and Tfr cells, the immunological mechanism underlying autoantibody generation in autoimmune diseases gradually becomes clear. Tfh cells are specialized

CD4+ T lymphocytes required for the initiation of GC response in humoral immune responses. CXCR5, BCL6 and IL-21 are functional markers commonly used to define these cells. Within the follicle, Tfh cells provide signals for GC-B cell survival, affinity maturation, proliferation, and differentiation (86). These signals include cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-21 (14), and cellular interaction through surface molecules including CD40L (14, 87, 88), ICOSL (89) and PD-1 (90). The interaction between Tfh and GC-B cells is not well defined. It has been reported that the frequency and antigen affinity of B cells determine their capacity to receive help from T cells (91). Normally, only high-affinity B cells successfully compete for Tfh help and undergo rounds of selection to differentiate into antibody-producing plasma cells, whereas other B cells without this help may die rapidly. A series of studies have indicated that excessive Tfh cell response leads to the production of autoantibodies (92-94). It is possible that self-reactive B cells can receive help from excessive Tfh cell signals and escape from tolerance, leading to the generation of autoantibodies.

Conversely, Tfr cells act as negative regulators of autoantibody generation. Tfr cells are mainly differentiated from thymic forkhead box protein 3 (Foxp3)⁺ Treg precursors and characteristically express Foxp3 and CXCR5. Moreover, other molecules such as Bcl-6 and PD-1 are also expressed in Tfr cells (8). Tfr cells are critically involved in regulating the GC response. On the one hand, Tfr cells inhibit the proliferation and function of Tfh and B cells in GC in a cytotoxic Tlymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)-dependent manner (95, 96). Deletion of CTLA-4 on Tfr cells results in impaired class-switch recombination to IgG1, as well as unrestrained proliferation of Tfh cells (97). On the other hand, Tfr cells act by secreting antiinflammatory cytokines including IL-10 (98), TGF-B (10, 99), and granzyme B (10) (Figure 1). Additionally, Tfr cells seem to impair the B-cell response to Tfh cell stimulation by inhibiting B-cell metabolic pathways, thereby leading to decreased antibody production (96). Importantly, studies of infection models have indicated that Tfr cells eliminate autoreactive B cells in the GC response, suggesting the important role of these cells in maintaining B-cell tolerance (100). This is supported by the fact that ablation of Tfr cells promotes autoantibody production in house dust mite models (101). In another study, mice with impaired GC-Tfr cells due to conditional knockout of nuclear factor of activated T-cells 2 showed increased pathogenic anti-dsDNA and developed lupus-like disease after immunization with chromatin (102). Thus, it could be possible that abnormalities in Tfr cells numbers and functions lead to impaired negative selection of autoreactive B cell and enhanced Tfh activity, which ultimately promotes autoantibodies production in autoimmune diseases.

Given the opposing roles of Tfh and Tfr cells, a balance of them is indispensable for fine tuning the GC response. Multiple factors such as microRNAs (103), gut microbiota (104), and cytokines [especially IL-10 (26), IL-2 (100, 105) and IL-21 (18, 106)], are crucial in regulating the Tfr/Tfh balance. Indeed, the interactions of Tfh and Tfr cells are more complex than discussed above. Recent evidence indicates that Tfh cells can convert into Tfr cells in an IL-2 dependent manner, providing new insights into regulation of Tfr/ Tfh balance (107). Moreover, in a breakthrough discovery, Wu et al. (108) found a distinct subset of Tfh cells that could promote Tfr cell differentiation by blocking the Wnt- β -catenin axis in a sclerostin domain-containing protein 1-dependent (SOSTDC-1) manner. Elucidating the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying the activities of Tfh and Tfr cells in the GC response as well as predominant determinants of the Tfr/Tfh balance will contribute to the regulation of autoantibody production.

Dysregulated Tfh/Tfr in Autoimmune Diseases

Investigations of the function of Tfh and Tfr cells in regulating antibody production have promoted the discovery of detailed roles for these cells in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases. In various established mouse models of autoimmune diseases, both Tfh and Tfr cells are dysregulated. For example, the frequency of Tfr cells in the spleens of BXD2 mice is reduced, whereas Tfh frequency is significantly increased and positively correlated with the frequency of GC B cells (109). It has also been demonstrated that mice deficient in Tfr cells are more prone to developing experimental Sjögren's syndrome (ESS) than wildtype mice (110). By contrast, the transfer of Tfr cells into BXD2 mice suppressed GC development (18), indicating the crucial role of these cells in immune tolerance.

Studies on Tfh and Tfr cells in human autoimmune diseases are largely restricted to circulating Tfh (cTfh) and Tfr (cTfr) cells, given the difficulty obtaining human secondary lymphoid organs, although the GC response usually occurs in lymphoid organs. cTfh cells can home to LNs and have the superior capacity to provide help for B-cell activation, whereas cTfr cells have a much lower suppressive capacity than LN Tfr cells (98). Notably, these cells are derived from peripheral lymphoid tissues (111) and have comparable Foxp3 expression with tonsilderived Tfr cells (112). After special activation, cTfr cells can be recruited to GCs to exert suppressive function (98). As a consequence, cTfh and cTfr cells are also closely related to the GC response. It is possible that cTfh cells and cTfr cells vary with alterations in the germinal center, making them indicators of humoral activity and disease severity (111).

Alterations in cTfr cells and cTfh cells occur in a variety of human autoimmune diseases. Patients with autoimmune diseases such as RA (15, 113), SLE (16, 114), myasthenia gravis (MG) (17), primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) (115), and antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis (116) often have an uncontrolled expansion of Tfh cells and decreased Tfr cells in the blood. In MS patients, the functions of cTfr cells are significantly impaired (112) and the cTfr/cTfh ratio is conversely related to IgG production (117). More importantly, the ratio of cTfh/cTfr is inversely correlated with disease activity in many autoimmune diseases (15, 118, 119). Taken together, these findings raise the possibility that impairment of Tfr cells as well as excessive Tfh activity are implicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity.

Inconsistent with the above findings, recent studies have described an increase of cTfr cells in SLE (120), RA (121), Sjögren syndrome (111, 122), and AS (123), as well as unchanged frequency of total cTfh cells in muscle-specific kinase MG (MuSK-MG) patients (124). This can be explained by the heterogeneity of patients in different studies. Alternatively, the increase in Tfr cells can also be considered as feedback to enhance the Tfh response in these patients; however, this feedback might be insufficient. In a



Moreover, SOSTDC1-producing Tfh cells can serve as an inducer of Tfr cells.

study of RA, the Tfr/Tfh ratio decreased, despite increases in both cTfh and cTfr cells (118). Another explanation for cTfr increasing in some studies may be that the proportion of activated cTfr cell subsets is reduced, although overall cTfr cells are increased, ultimately leading to an excessive GC response. Consistently, studies of SLE patients have indicated that the active phenotypes of cTfh and cTfh cells are altered and might lead to autoimmunity, whereas overall cTfh and cTfr cells are not significantly different between patients and healthy controls (107). The recent description of Th2- and Th17-like cell subsets of cTfr cells representing ongoing humoral responses in pSS also supports the imbalance of cTfr subsets in autoimmune diseases to some extent (125). Moreover, observations from Li et al. (124) in MuSK-MG patients support a key role of Tfh17 cells in blood, but not total Tfh or activated Tfh cells, in the activation of B cells, which indicated cTfh subpopulation are also imbalanced in autoimmunity.

Taken together, besides the alternations in frequency and function, the imbalance of specific Tfr cell subsets and Tfh cells subsets in circulating also appears to account for the uncontrolled GC response in autoimmune diseases. The functional diversity of Tfh and Tfr cells in different complex immune compartments such as spleens, Peyer's patches, CLN, joints synovia of RA, and salivary glands of patients with SS are largely unknown. Although difficult, isolation of Tfh and Tfr cells from human tissue will greatly contribute to uncovering the function and underlying mechanism of these cells in autoimmune diseases in the future.

REGULATION OF BREGS BY TFH AND TFR CELLS

The development and function of Bregs are likely to be regulated by Tfh cells. One of the early lines of evidence from MRL/lpr mice revealed that B10 cells in the spleens were expanded and the percentage of these cells had a strong positive correlation with Tfh percentage (126). In *vitro* data also showed that supernatants from cultured Tfh cells induced IL-10 production by B10 cells, and this impact could be eliminated by neutralization of IL-21 (126). In this regard, the author speculated that Tfh cell-derived cytokine IL-21 drove the differentiation and IL-10 production of B10 cells. Further data showed that this mechanism was related to the activation of phosphorylated -STAT3 by IL-21 (126). A similar study also revealed that cTfh cell from SLE patient contributed to the expansion of CD19⁺CD5⁺CD1d^{hi}Bregs (34). This finding proposed that the induction of CD19+CD5+CD1dhiBregs by Tfhderived IL-21 was regulatory feedback. Indeed, the importance of IL-21 in promoting CD19⁺CD5⁺CD1d^{hi}Bregs generation has already been identified in mice with MS (62). Moreover, Tfh cells as the predominant origin of IL-21 in GC have also been reported (127). This study on SLE linked IL-21 to Tfh-mediated regulation of B cells, providing important evidence that Tfh cells can induce CD19⁺CD5⁺CD1d^{hi}Bregs, possibly through IL-21 in autoimmune diseases. Most recently, it was found that CD25+ Foxp3+ Treg-like Tfh cells, a specific subset of Tfh cells with the capacity to produce IL-21 during chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection, not only promote the differentiation of B cells into IL-10⁺CD10⁻CD27⁻CD19⁺ Bregs but also enhance the suppressive function of Breg (128). It is conceivable that excessive Tfh cell responses evoke reactive differentiation of Bregs both in autoimmunity and infection. The upregulation of Bregs by Tfh cells can be considered as a potential regulatory feedback mechanism to inhibit proinflammation response. We speculate the function of these Tfh cell-induced Bregs are likely impaired, which eventually led to autoimmunity.

Studies regarding the regulatory properties of Tfr cells on Bregs in autoimmune diseases are rare. However, in acute respiratory distress syndrome, expanded Tfr cells reportedly significantly increase IL-10+Breg cell frequency significantly in vitro, extending the understanding of Tfr cell function in immune suppression (129). A recent study in atherosclerosis also indicated that Tfr cells are able to promote B220+CD43-CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺Bregs generation both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. In this study, transfer of Tfr cells into mice with atherosclerosis triggered a significant expansion of B220⁺CD43⁻CD1d^{hi}ghCD5⁺Bregs (130). In vitro studies implicating the Tfr cell-mediated increase of B220⁺CD43⁻CD1d^{hi}ghCD5⁺Bregs requires direct cellular contact and was in proportion to the number of Tfr cells (130). Besides, this effect relies on the presence of Tfh cells (130). It is possible that excessive Tfh activity initiate a series of Tfr-mediated anti-inflammatory responses, the expansion of B220⁺CD43⁻ CD1d^mghCD5⁺Bregs Bregs is one of them. Yet Breg expansion in this study may also due to the direct induction by Tfh cells. To date, similar findings in autoimmune diseases have been absent. Further studies are needed to determine how Tfr cell functions to regulate Bregs and whether this impaired regulation correlates with the development of autoimmune diseases.

NOVEL INSIGHTS INTO BREG-MEDIATED REGULATION OF TFH AND TFR IN AUTOANTIBODY PRODUCTION

Bregs Regulate the Differentiation and Function of Tfh and Tfr Cells

As a potent regulator, Bregs have extensive impacts on various immune cells in complex immune microenvironment (19). The interactions between Bregs and their target cells is a hot topic in immune regulation. Recent evidence suggests the emerging role of several Breg cell types in the regulation of Tfh cell differentiation and function. Tfh and B cells co-culture experiment has shown that the addition of CD19^{hi}IgD⁺CD38^{hi}CD24^{hi}CD40^{hi}PD-L1⁺IL-21R⁺ human Bregs in the system significantly inhibit Tfh cell maturation, while Tfr cells proportion was increased significantly (35). These Bregs also preclude mature Tfh cells-mediated plasma cell survival and IgM, IgG, and IgA production, suggesting an important role of Breg in inhibiting Tfh cell function (35). Consistently, in a variety of diseases, the number and function of Bregs are decreased, and they are also strongly correlated with the frequency and function of Tfh cells. For example, the study conducted on pSS patients have described an inverse relationship between Tfh percentage and IL-10⁺CD19⁺CD24⁺CD38^{hi} Breg percentage in the circulating (32). The authors further confirmed that IL-10-producing ability of these Bregs in pSS patients was significantly impaired than that in healthy controls, and these Bregs could not effectively inhibit autologous Tfh cell expansion (32). Studies performed in mouse models of EAE (33) and atherosclerosis (36) have further confirmed that PD-L1⁺ Bregs and MZB cells could inhibit the development of Tfh cells and Tfh cell-mediated proatherogenic response, eventually abrogating the acceleration of diseases. Thus, Bregs regulate Tfh cell response and this regulation are more likely to be impaired during various inflammatory diseases.

The detailed Breg regulatory mechanism of Tfh cells differentiation and function are largely undefined and are suggested to rely on direct Breg-Tfh cell contacts and several soluble factors (35). Particularly, Breg-derived IL-10 may play a central role in Tfh cells regulation. Lin et al. (32) found that CD19⁺CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺Breg from mice suppressed Tfh cells differentiation in an IL-10-dependent manner in vitro. Adoptive transfer of IL-10-/- B cells into ESS mice led to higher GC Tfh and plasma cell accumulation than control mice transferred with WT B cells. They also detected high expression of IL-10 receptor on Tfh cells in mice and man, suggesting the potential role of IL-10 in the regulation of Tfh (32). Importantly, IL-10 downregulated the expression of transcription factor achaete-scute homologue 2 (Ascl2) in Tfh cells (32). Ascl2 is a key regulator during Tfh cells development (131). Downregulation of Ascl2 is thought to inhibit CXCR5 expression, which results in impaired Tfh differentiation and function as CXCR5 is constitutively expressed in Tfh cells and is critical for the maturation and activity of these cells (86, 132, 133). Notably, p-STAT5 inhibition can eliminate IL-10-mediated suppression on Tfh cells (32). These findings suggest the important role of the IL-10-pSTAT5-Ascl2-CXCR5 axis in Tfh cell differentiation and function. Moreover, PD-1/PD-L1 signaling is also involved in Breg-mediated inhibition of Tfh cells. Splenic B cells show the enhanced capacity to promote functional transcription factor Bcl-6 expression in Tfh cells after blocking PD-L1 on B cells (134). PD-L1- abrogated MZB cells are unable to limit the proatherogenic Tfh response and caused severe atherosclerosis (36). The author further found that MZB cells suppress Tfh cell motility in a PD-L1-mediated manner, which may be associated with the impaired capacity of Tfh cells to provide help for B cells (36). This is in agreement with a previous study which indicated that PD-L1hi Bregs require the high expression of PD-L1 to repress Tfh expansion in EAE mouse

models (33). Notably, it is possible that Tfr cells participate in Bregmediated regulation of Tfh cells, given that the differentiation and function of Tfh cells are restricted by Tfr cells. However, after the transfer of PD-L1hi Breg, the percentage and number of Tfh cells in mice were markedly decreased without an increase in Tfr cells, suggesting that this Breg cell type might act directly on Tfh cells rather than via Tfr cells (33). Additionally, MZB cells inhibit the accumulation of Tfh cells and GC B cells in the spleen to achieve atheroprotective effects, and the activating transcription factor 3 plays a central role in this effect (36). The expression of transcription factor CTLA-4 is downregulated in Tfh cells when MZB cells are deficient, making Tfh cells susceptible to being activated, suggesting the important role of MZB cells in suppressing the activation of Tfh cells (36). Notably, CTLA-4 expressed at a high level in Tfr cells is critically linked to the suppressive capacity of these cells (135). Considering the role of MZB cells in the maintenance of CTLA-4 in Tfh cells, it will be interesting to determine whether MZB cells affect the function of Tfr cells.

Notably, current studies indicate that Tfh cells contain three subsets with different expression of chemokine receptors, including Tfh1, Tfh2, and Tfh17 (136). Thus, studies on the impact of various Bregs on Tfh cells should evaluate the level of these cellular subsets. In patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, a decrease in circulating CD3⁻CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺Bregs has been observed, accompanied by the altered profile of Tfh-cell subsets, in which the proportion of Tfh2 cells and PD-1+ICOS+activated Tfh cells are elevated while Tfh17 cells are decreased (137). Similarly, Tfh2 skewing and CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺Bregs decrease also occurs in the peripheral blood of patients with allergic rhinitis (AR) and AR combined with Asthma (138, 139). The %Tfh2 cells per %CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺Bregs had a positive correlation with the levels of biomarkers of allergic airway inflammation, making it an exaggerating factor during AR progression to AR with asthma (138). Furthermore, the cTfh2/ CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺Bregs ratio correlates with plasma levels of CXCL13 in asthma (139). Studies in autoimmune diseases previously showed that CXCL13 indicated the disease activity (140-142). Thus, the cTfh2/CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺cBreg ratio might represent a useful biomarker for diagnosis, severity, and treatment efficacy of autoimmune diseases. Taken together, these data raise a question about the impact of Bregs on different subsets of Tfh cells, especially Tfh17 and Tfh2, two subsets of Tfh cells reported to be correlated positively with antibody production in several autoimmune diseases such as myositis (136), vasculitis (143) and Sjögren's syndrome (144). It is possible that the functional and/or numerical deficit of Bregs contributes to the polarization of Tfh2 and underlies the development of autoimmune diseases. However, after asthma treatment, the symptoms and cTfh2 skewing were improved, while the percentage of CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺Bregs was not significantly different (139). This finding indicates other mechanisms, independent of Bregs function, operate in the regulation of Tfh cell subsets, which require more in-depth studies.

Although Tfr cells have similar phenotypes to Tfh cells, studies regarding the role of Bregs in regulating Tfr cell generation are rare. IL-10 deficiency in B cells caused decreased Tfr cells in the B cell follicles (26). One in vitro assay cultured Tfh and CD19^{hi}IgD⁺CD38^{hi}CD24^{hi}CD40^{hi}PD-L1⁺IL-21R⁺ Bregs sorted from humans showed that the proportion of Foxp3+ cells was increased, suggesting this type of Bregs can induce Tfr cells (35). The increased level of TGF- β in the cocultures and diminished frequencies of Foxp3+ T cells after anti-TGF-B blocking antibodies indicated the requirement for TGF- β in the induction of Tfr cells by these Bregs (35). Remarkably, the effects of several Bregs types on Tregs, a subset of T cells known to differentiate into Tfr cells (8, 10), have been extensively described. CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} Bregs (28) and CD19⁺CD25^{hi} Bregs (71) from human as well as IL-10⁺CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺ Bregs (145) and B220⁺CD23⁺T2-MZP B cells (37) from mice all have the capacity to induce Tregs through IL-10 production. Thus, it is conceivable that Bregs promote the development of Tfr cells via inducing Treg cells. Studies have also shown that IL-10 deficiency in B cells leads to impaired Tfr cells differentiation and prevent tolerance to the allogeneic cardiac allograft, indicating an important role for IL-10 in B cellsmediated regulation of Tfr cells (26). Notably, IL-10 production is not unique to Bregs. Tfh and Treg cells reportedly produce IL-10 (146, 147). The possibility that IL-10 produced by these cells is also involved in the Tfr cells regulation cannot be excluded.

Interestingly, the ability of different subsets of Bregs to regulate Tfr cells appears to be distinct, due to their different functional markers. For example, human IL-10-producing CD19^{hi}IgD⁺CD38^{hi}CD24^{hi}CD40^{hi}PD-L1⁺IL-21R⁺ Bregs expand Tfr cells (35), while CD3⁻CD19⁺PD-L1^{hi} Bregs in mice exhibit a negative effect on the generation of Tfr cells (33). Considering that Tfr cells express large amounts of PD-1 which inhibit Tfr cell development (135), this difference might be attributed to the interactions between Tfr cells and PD-L1^{hi} Bregs through PD-1/ PD-L1. Certainly, species differences might also account for this difference, which needs further confirmation.

Collectively, all these data support the fact that multiple Bregs regulate the function and differentiation of Tfh cells and Tfr cells through complex mechanisms (See **Figure 2**). Possibly, Bregs balance Tfh and Tfr to ensure central tolerance and prevent autoantibodies production, and dysregulation of Tfh/Tfr cells in autoimmune diseases may due to defective Bregs regulation. Notably, different subsets of Breg and/or different contexts of diseases may cause distinct regulatory effects on Tfh and Tfr cells. The detailed mechanisms of underlying this regulation need further study.

Bregs Appear to Be Critical to the Distribution of Tfh and Tfr Cells

In addition to the function and frequency, the spatial distribution of Tfr cells in the immune environment also appears to be critical to the induction of immune tolerance (99). In particular, Tfr cells at the T-B border and within the follicle, but not in the GC, have the most efficient ability to mediate immune suppression (99). Studies using tolerogen-treated mice have shown that selective deletion of IL-10 in B cells results in reduced localization of both Tfr and Tfh cells in B cell follicles, and, in contrast, increased Th17 cells in the GCs of lymph node (LN) and the spleen (26). This distribution of Tfr and Tfh cells can be restored by adoptive



cells. Firstly, CD40 and TLR9 might favor the migration of CD19^{hi}lgD+CD38^{hi}CD24^{hi}CD40^{hi}PD-L1⁺IL-21R⁺ human Bregs into GC by promoting CXCR5 expression. CD19⁺CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺Bregs-derived IL-10 downregulates the expression of CXCR5 in Tfh cells by inhibiting Ascl2, the positive regulator of CXCR5, leading to impaired maturation and II-21 production of Tfh cell. Moreover, MZB cells play a crucial role in the maintenance of CTLA-4 in Tfh cells. The location of Tfh cells can affect their function. IL-10⁺ MZP B cells direct this migration of Tfh cells out of follicles possibly through altering the expression of CCR7 (crucial chemokine receptors required for the localization of T cells in the LN) in Tfh cells. In turn, Tfh cell activates p-STAT3 in an IL-21-depadent manner therethrough driving the differentiation of CD19⁺CD5⁺CD1d^{hi}Bregs. CD19^{hi}GD⁺CD38^{hi}CD24^{hi}CD40^{hi}PD-L1⁺IL-21R⁺ human Bregs can promote Tfr cell differentiation and TGF-β play an important role in this process. Possibly, these Bregs induce Treg through IL-10 production and thereby increase Treg conversion into Tfr cells.

transfer of IL-10⁺ MZP B cells (26). This study showed that the distribution of Tfh, Tfr, and Th17 cells in secondary lymphoid organs was at least partly controlled by Bregs and this function might be mediated by MZP B cells-derived IL-10, indicating a novel regulatory mechanism for T cell distribution in the GCs. However, it remains largely unknown whether a similar migratory behavior is performed in human. Moreover, the question of what detailed mechanisms are involved in this migration remains. CCR7 are crucial chemokine receptors directing T cells residing in the T zone and down-regulation of CCR7 is indispensable for the follicular positioning of Tfh cells (133). It is possible that MZP B cells downregulate the expression of CCR7 so that Tfh cells can migrate into B cell follicles. However, B cell depletion leads to reduced CCR7 in Tfh cells accompanied by decreased migration of Tfh cells into B cell follicles (26). Thus, the function of MZP B cells in supporting the migration of Tfh cells through CCR7 needs further confirmation. Notably, cTfh cells with low CCR7 expression are increased and have been described as an indicator in autoimmune diseases including AIH (148) and pSS (125), as well as chronic HBV infection (149). CCR7^{int}Tfh cells in the blood are closest to tonsillar Tfh lineage cells and exhibit a more potent capacity to induce memory B cells to differentiate into antibody-producing cells than CCR7^{high}Tfh cells (150). Therefore, downregulating CCR7 may be important for Tfh cells in promoting antibody

production. The effective regulation of GC response may be achieved by altering Tfh cell distribution in the future.

Indeed, the migration of Tfh and Tfr cells into the GC is a complex mechanism with multiple factors involved. Besides CCR7, other elements are also being elucidated. CXCR5 is one of the important molecules guiding the residence in GCs (10, 86, 133). Multiple types of stromal cells in secondary lymphoid organs, including FDCs and fibroblastic reticular cells, which expresses directing signals and provide an important platform for cellular interactions, are also critically determine the GC localization of Tfh and Tfr cells (151). Importantly, activated FDCs express amounts of CXCL13, the ligand for CXCR5, inducing the migration of CXCR5-expressing T and B cell into follicles (132, 152). Whether Bregs change the expression of CXCRL13 in FDCs to mediate the migration of Tfh and Tfr cells warrants further study (26). Notably, positive regulator sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 (153) and negative regulator ephrin-B1 (154) are also involved in the retention of Tfh cells in the GC microenvironment. Thus, the mechanism by which Bregs to regulate the distribution of Tfr and Tfh cells may not be confined to CXCR5. The presence of CXCR5-deficient Tfr cells in the GC also suggest that CXCR5-independent mechanisms operate in their location in the GC (155).

Whether abnormal distribution impacts on the effector functions of Tfh cells and Tfr cells remains unclear. A recent

study conducted in fresh human adenoids showed that Tfh cells in distinct locations differed in their motility and functions (156). In outer zones of GC, Tfr cells are fast-migrating and exhibit brief cellular interaction while the majority of Tfr cells in the central GC zone are static with long-lasting capacity to interact with each other (156). Thus, it is possible that the altered location of Tfh and Tfr cells in the GC of secondary lymphoid organs may lead to their changes in function, in parallel. Notably, studies conducted in sarcoidosis have indicated that cTfh cells can migrate into granulomas to play an inflammatory role (157). Thus, the migration of Tfh cells not only exists in the GC microenvironment in one lymphoid tissue or organ but also occurs between different secondary lymphoid organs. Whether Bregs also play a role in directing this distribution between different lymphoid tissues or organs is unknown. Moreover, the impact of Bregs on the migration of Tfh and Tfr cells in the blood and their counterparts in non-lymphoid tissue such as joint synovia of RA patients and salivary glands of patients with pSS warrant further study.

THERAPEUTIC PROSPECTS OF BREGS-MEDIATED TFR/TFH REGULATION

Given the considerable role of autoantibodies in the development of autoimmune diseases, current therapies focus on eliminating autoantibodies and/or blocking their function in a more precise manner. Particularly, targeting key cells involved in autoantibodies production is more popular due to the high efficacy and less adverse effects. In this regard, Tfr and Tfh cells modulation strategies have potent potential, for the contrasting roles of Tfr and Tfh in the regulation of GC response (158). However, therapies targeting Tfr and Tfh cells directly are extremely limited, due to a poor understanding of their development and function.

Strikingly, specific subsets of Bregs hold considerable promise to regulate Tfr/Tfh balance (26, 32, 33, 35, 36). As mentioned above, defective Bregs may lead to aberrant differentiation, function and distribution of Tfr and Tfh cells in diseases. Indeed, Breg number is decreased and the cross-talks between Breg and their target cells are also compromised in multiple autoimmune diseases (27, 159-161). For instance, in SLE, CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} Bregs were unable to restrain IFN-α production by pDCs. pDCs also failed to drive these Bregs differentiation (31). In pSS, CD19+CD24+CD38hi Breg were defective in suppressing the expansion of Tfh cells (32). IL-10⁺CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} Bregs from thyroid associated ophthalmopathy patients also failed to activate IFN-γ+ and IL-17+ T cells (162). Accordingly, therapies of selectively transferring and/or inducing Bregs, such as CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺Breg and CD19⁺CD25⁺CD1d^{hi}IgM^{hi}Breg, have been developed to restore homeostasis and shown some success in mice disease models, which provide evidence for the application of Bregs in the treatment (40, 55, 163, 164). Importantly, in mice models of experimental Sjögren's syndrome (ESS), adoptive transfer of CD19⁺CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺ Bregs effectively suppressed the Tfh cell response, leading to the amelioration of diseases progression (32).

It is noteworthy that multiple strategies to induce Breg cell through key molecules, such as anti-CD40 mAb (163), BAFF (63), enteric microbiota (61, 66), and bacteria-derived oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG-ODN) (67), may also indirectly affect the balance of Tfh/Tfr cells; however, studies in this regard are scarce. Furthermore, as discussed above, the immunosuppressive function of Breg is mostly related to IL-10 secretion. IL-10 would be promising to regulate the differentiation, function and migration of Tfr and Tfh cells. However, IL-10 also acts as a B cell growth factor and can promote autoantibody production (165). The application of IL-10 into Tfr and Tfh cells regulation may cause unwanted pro-inflammatory effects. In addition to treatment, Bregs may be an excellent indicator for evaluating the efficacy and prognosis of diseases. A higher ratio of pre-transplant cTfh/IL10⁺CD19⁺CD24⁺CD38⁺ Bregs is reportedly correlated with graft rejection (166). It may be worth to determine whether this ratio contributes to assessing disease activity and correlates with the level of autoantibody in autoimmune diseases.

However, considering the exact mechanisms underlying the interplays of Breg, Tfh cells, and Tfr cells in health and patients are largely unknown, it is still of great challenge to achieve precise regulation of Tfh and Tfr cells through Bregs. For example, selectively induction of immunosuppressive B cells without activating effector B cells in vivo is still difficult, although the great plasticity of Bregs makes it possible to induce these cells in the various microenvironment. Meanwhile, it is hard to know how to make an adequate induction of Bregs. Excessive or insufficient induction of Breg may lead to various dysregulation of the immune system. The safety and efficacy also needed to be determined in more animal and clinical trials in the future. Moreover, Bregs have vast plasticity in disease microenvironments and can differentiate into other kinds of B cells subset including effector B cells. The maintenance of Bregs immunosuppressive function in vivo after transferring and/ or inducing these cells in patients must be taken into consideration. Another limiting factor for Breg immunotherapy is the identification of multiple immunosuppressive Bregs types in humans. Bregs are extremely heterogeneous and not all types of Bregs equally regulate Tfh and Tfr cells.

Taken together, Breg-mediated Tfr/Tfh regulation provides novel insights in limiting the exaggerated autoantibody production without broad immunosuppression in autoimmune diseases.

CONCLUSIONS

As demonstrated in numerous reports within the literature, Tfh/ Tfr balance is necessary to maintain proper antibody production, and this balance has strong links with several types of Breg, such as PD-L1^{hi}B cells, IL-10⁺CD19⁺CD24⁺CD38^{hi} Bregs, and MZB cells. These Bregs not only regulate the differentiation and function of Tfr and Tfh cells but also appears to affect their distribution in the immune microenvironment. More importantly, Bregs may achieve the fine tune of Tfh and Tfr cells in the level of subpopulations, which contribute to restore the balance of Tfr and Tfh subpopulation in autoimmune diseases. Thus, Breg-based therapy has theoretical feasibility and clinical application prospect to regulate the activity of Tfh and Tfr cells and autoantibody production in autoimmune diseases. However, A number of questions on the development, phenotype, and function of Bregs remain to be answered, which restrain the translation of Bregs into clinical application. A complete understanding of Breg-Tfh cell and Breg-Tfr cell cross-talks in health and autoimmune diseases is needed, which will provide the rationale for designing more effective immunotherapy in autoimmune disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TD drafted the manuscript, prepared illustrations, and discussed the content with the other authors. CW conceived the topic and

REFERENCES

- MacLennan ICM. Germinal Centers. Annu Rev Immunol (1994) 12(1):117– 39. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.001001
- Ramiscal RR, Vinuesa CG. T-cell subsets in the germinal center. Immunol Rev (2013) 252(1):146–55. doi: 10.1111/imr.12031
- Suzuki K, Grigorova I, Phan TG, Kelly LM, Cyster JG. Visualizing B cell capture of cognate antigen from follicular dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(7):1485–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090209
- Wang X, Cho B, Suzuki K, Xu Y, Green JA, An J, et al. Follicular dendritic cells help establish follicle identity and promote B cell retention in germinal centers. J Exp Med (2011) 208(12):2497–510. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111449
- Alexander CM, Tygrett LT, Boyden AW, Wolniak KL, Legge KL, Waldschmidt TJ. T regulatory cells participate in the control of germinal centre reactions. *Immunology* (2011) 133(4):452–68. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03456.x
- Kawamoto S, Maruya M, Kato LM, Suda W, Atarashi K, Doi Y, et al. Foxp3 (+) T cells regulate immunoglobulin a selection and facilitate diversification of bacterial species responsible for immune homeostasis. *Immunity* (2014) 41(1):152–65. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.016
- Gensous N, Charrier M, Duluc D, Contin-Bordes C, Truchetet ME, Lazaro E, et al. T Follicular Helper Cells in Autoimmune Disorders. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1637. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01637
- Chung Y, Tanaka S, Chu F, Nurieva RI, Martinez GJ, Rawal S, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):983–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.2426
- Wollenberg I, Agua-Doce A, Hernandez A, Almeida C, Oliveira VG, Faro J, et al. Regulation of the germinal center reaction by Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(9):4553–60. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1101328
- Linterman MA, Pierson W, Lee SK, Kallies A, Kawamoto S, Rayner TF, et al. Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):975–82. doi: 10.1038/nm.2425
- Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):457–68. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1001–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1176676
- Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, DiToro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1006–10. doi: 10.1126/ science.1175870
- Weinstein JS, Herman EI, Lainez B, Licona-Limón P, Esplugues E, Flavell R, et al. TFH cells progressively differentiate to regulate the germinal center response. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(10):1197–205. doi: 10.1038/ni.3554
- 15. Niu Q, Huang Z-C, Wu X-J, Jin Y-X, An Y-F, Li Y-M, et al. Enhanced IL-6/ phosphorylated STAT3 signaling is related to the imbalance of circulating T follicular helper/T follicular regulatory cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2018) 20(1):200. doi: 10.1186/s13075-018-1690-0

revised the content of the manuscript. RS, RW, HX, YW, and RHS revised the manuscript. CG, and XL also critically revised the content of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81971543), Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81471618), and Key Research and Development (R&D) Projects of Shanxi Province (201803D31119).

- Xu B, Wang S, Zhou M, Huang Y, Fu R, Guo C, et al. The ratio of circulating follicular T helper cell to follicular T regulatory cell is correlated with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Immunol* (2017) 183:46–53. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2017.07.004
- Wen Y, Yang B, Lu J, Zhang J, Yang H, Li J. Imbalance of circulating CD4(+) CXCR5(+)FOXP3(+) Tfr-like cells and CD4(+)CXCR5(+)FOXP3(-) Tfhlike cells in myasthenia gravis. *Neurosci Lett* (2016) 630:176–82. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.07.049
- Ding Y, Li J, Yang P, Luo B, Wu Q, Zajac AJ, et al. Interleukin-21 Promotes Germinal Center Reaction by Skewing the Follicular Regulatory T Cell to Follicular Helper T Cell Balance in Autoimmune BXD2 Mice. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66(9):2601–12. doi: 10.1002/art.38735
- Mauri E. Regulatory B Cells: Origin, Phenotype, and Function. Immunity (2015) 42(4):607 – 12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- Katz SI, Parker D, Turk JL. B-cell suppression of delayed hypersensitivity reactions. *Nature* (1974) 251(5475):550–1. doi: 10.1038/251550a0
- Mizoguchi A, Mizoguchi E, Smith RN, Preffer FI, Bhan AK. Suppressive role of B cells in chronic colitis of T cell receptor alpha mutant mice. *J Exp Med* (1997) 186(10):1749–56. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.10.1749
- Mizoguchi A, Mizoguchi E, Takedatsu H, Blumberg RS, Bhan AK. Chronic intestinal inflammatory condition generates IL-10-producing regulatory B cell subset characterized by CD1d upregulation. *Immunity* (2002) 16(2):219– 30. doi: 10.1016/s1074-7613(02)00274-1
- Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Haas KM, Poe JC, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. A regulatory B cell subset with a unique CD1dhiCD5+ phenotype controls T cell-dependent inflammatory responses. *Immunity* (2008) 28(5):639–50. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.017
- 24. Vadasz Z, Peri R, Eiza N, Slobodin G, Balbir-Gurman A, Toubi E. The Expansion of CD25 high IL-10 high FoxP3 high B Regulatory Cells Is in Association with SLE Disease Activity. *J Immunol Res* (2015) 2015:254245. doi: 10.1155/2015/254245
- Ding Q, Yeung M, Camirand G, Zeng Q, Akiba H, Yagita H, et al. Regulatory B cells are identified by expression of TIM-1 and can be induced through TIM-1 ligation to promote tolerance in mice. J Clin Invest (2011) 121 (9):3645–56. doi: 10.1172/jci46274
- 26. Lal G, Kulkarni N, Nakayama Y, Singh AK, Sethi A, Burrell BE, et al. IL-10 from marginal zone precursor B cells controls the differentiation of Th17, Tfh and Tfr cells in transplantation tolerance. *Immunol Lett* (2016) 170:52–63. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2016.01.002
- Blair PA, Norena LY, Flores-Borja F, Rawlings DJ, Isenberg DA, Ehrenstein MR, et al. CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B cells exhibit regulatory capacity in healthy individuals but are functionally impaired in systemic Lupus Erythematosus patients. *Immunity* (2010) 32(1):129–40. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2009.11.009
- Flores-Borja F, Bosma A, Ng D, Reddy V, Ehrenstein MR, Isenberg DA, et al. CD19+CD24hiCD38hi B Cells Maintain Regulatory T Cells While Limiting TH1 and TH17 Differentiation. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(173):173ra23. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005407
- 29. Lee-Chang C, Top I, Zéphir H, Dubucquoi S, Trauet J, Dussart P, et al. Primed status of transitional B cells associated with their presence in the

cerebrospinal fluid in early phases of multiple sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 139(1):12–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2010.11.004

- Inoue S, Leitner WW, Golding B, Scott D. Inhibitory effects of B cells on antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(15):7741–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-05-3766
- Menon M, Blair PA, Isenberg DA, Mauri C. A Regulatory Feedback between Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells and Regulatory B Cells Is Aberrant in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Immunity* (2016) 44(3):683–97. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.02.012
- 32. Lin X, Wang X, Xiao F, Ma K, Liu L, Wang X, et al. IL-10-producing regulatory B cells restrain the T follicular helper cell response in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2019) 16(12):921–31. doi: 10.1038/ s41423-019-0227-z
- Khan AR, Hams E, Floudas A, Sparwasser T, Weaver CT, Fallon PG. PD-L1hi B cells are critical regulators of humoral immunity. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:5997. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6997
- 34. Yang X, Yang J, Chu Y, Xue Y, Xuan D, Zheng S, et al. T Follicular Helper Cells and Regulatory B Cells Dynamics in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *PloS One* (2014) 9(2):e88441. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088441
- Achour A, Simon Q, Mohr A, Seite JF, Youinou P, Bendaoud B, et al. Human regulatory B cells control the TFH cell response. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 140(1):215–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.09.042
- Nus M, Sage AP, Lu Y, Masters L, Lam BYH, Newland S, et al. Marginal zone B cells control the response of follicular helper T cells to a high-cholesterol diet. *Nat Med* (2017) 23(5):601–10. doi: 10.1038/nm.4315
- Evans JG, Chavez-Rueda KA, Eddaoudi A, Meyer-Bahlburg A, Rawlings DJ, Ehrenstein MR, et al. Novel suppressive function of transitional 2 B cells in experimental arthritis. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(12):7868–78. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.178.12.7868
- Bankoti R, Gupta K, Levchenko A, Stäger S. Marginal zone B cells regulate antigen-specific T cell responses during infection. J Immunol (2012) 188 (8):3961–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102880
- Miles K, Heaney J, Sibinska Z, Salter D, Savill J, Gray D, et al. A tolerogenic role for Toll-like receptor 9 is revealed by B-cell interaction with DNA complexes expressed on apoptotic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109 (3):887–92. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1109173109
- Matsushita T, Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(10):3420–30. doi: 10.1172/jci36030
- Matsumoto M, Baba A, Yokota T, Nishikawa H, Ohkawa Y, Kayama H, et al. Interleukin-10-Producing Plasmablasts Exert Regulatory Function in Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1040-51. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.016
- Sun J, Wang J, Pefanis E, Chao J, Rothschild G, Tachibana I, et al. Transcriptomics Identify CD9 as a Marker of Murine IL-10-Competent Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Rep* (2015) 13(6):1110–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2015.09.070
- Xiao S, Brooks CR, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Tim-1 is essential for induction and maintenance of IL-10 in regulatory B cells and their regulation of tissue inflammation. J Immunol (2015) 194(4):1602–8. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1402632
- 44. Lino AC, Dang VD, Lampropoulou V, Welle A, Joedicke J, Pohar J, et al. LAG-3 Inhibitory Receptor Expression Identifies Immunosuppressive Natural Regulatory Plasma Cells. *Immunity* (2018) 49(1):120–33.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.06.007
- 45. Iwata Y, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, DiLillo DJ, Yanaba K, Venturi GM, et al. Characterization of a rare IL-10-competent B-cell subset in humans that parallels mouse regulatory B10 cells. *Blood* (2011) 117(2):530–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-294249
- 46. van der Vlugt LEPM, Mlejnek E, Ozir-Fazalalikhan A, Janssen Bonas M, Dijksman TR, Labuda LA, et al. CD24hiCD27+ B cells from patients with allergic asthma have impaired regulatory activity in response to lipopolysaccharide. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44(4):517–28. doi: 10.1111/ cea.12238
- 47. van de Veen W, Stanic B, Yaman G, Wawrzyniak M, Söllner S, Akdis DG, et al. IgG4 production is confined to human IL-10–producing regulatory B cells that suppress antigen-specific immune responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131(4):1204–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.01.014

- Fehres CM, van Uden NO, Yeremenko NG, Fernandez L, Franco Salinas G, van Duivenvoorde LM, et al. APRIL Induces a Novel Subset of IgA(+) Regulatory B Cells That Suppress Inflammation via Expression of IL-10 and PD-L1. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1368. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01368
- Liu X, Jiang X, Liu R, Wang L, Qian T, Zheng Y, et al. B cells expressing CD11b effectively inhibit CD4+ T-cell responses and ameliorate experimental autoimmune hepatitis in mice. *Hepatology* (2015) 62 (5):1563–75. doi: 10.1002/hep.28001
- Lindner S, Dahlke K, Sontheimer K, Hagn M, Kaltenmeier C, Barth TF, et al. Interleukin 21-induced granzyme B-expressing B cells infiltrate tumors and regulate T cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(8):2468–79. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-12-3450
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-producing B cells are critical regulators of immunity during autoimmune and infectious diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507(7492):366–70. doi: 10.1038/nature12979
- Ray A, Khalil MI, Pulakanti KL, Burns RT, Gurski CJ, Basu S, et al. Mature IgDlow/- B cells maintain tolerance by promoting regulatory T cell homeostasis. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):190. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-08122-9
- O'Garra A, Chang R, Go N, Hastings R, Haughton G, Howard M. Ly-1 B (B-1) cells are the main source of B cell-derived interleukin 10. *Eur J Immunol* (1992) 22(3):711–7. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830220314
- Dalwadi H, Wei B, Schrage M, Spicher K, Su TT, Birnbaumer L, et al. B cell developmental requirement for the G alpha i2 gene. *J Immunol* (2003) 170 (4):1707–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.4.1707
- 55. Blair PA, Chavez-Rueda KA, Evans JG, Shlomchik MJ, Eddaoudi A, Isenberg DA, et al. Selective Targeting of B Cells with Agonistic Anti-CD40 Is an Efficacious Strategy for the Generation of Induced Regulatory T2-Like B Cells and for the Suppression of Lupus in MRL/lpr mice. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(6):3492–502. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803052
- Moreau A, Blair PA, Chai JG, Ratnasothy K, Stolarczyk E, Alhabbab R, et al. Transitional-2 B cells acquire regulatory function during tolerance induction and contribute to allograft survival. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(3):843–53. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445082
- Xing C, Ma N, Xiao H, Wang X, Zheng M, Han G, et al. Critical role for thymic CD19+CD5+CD1dhiIL-10+ regulatory B cells in immune homeostasis. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015) 97(3):547–56. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0414-213RR
- Grasseau A, Boudigou M, Le Pottier L, Chriti N, Cornec D, Pers J-O, et al. Innate B Cells: the Archetype of Protective Immune Cells. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2020) 58(1):92–106. doi: 10.1007/s12016-019-08748-7
- Maseda D, Smith SH, DiLillo DJ, Bryant JM, Candando KM, Weaver CT, et al. Regulatory B10 cells differentiate into antibody-secreting cells after transient IL-10 production in vivo. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(3):1036–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102500
- Mauri C, Bosma A. Immune regulatory function of B cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:221–41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074934
- Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Tonon S, Doyle R, Bosma A, Carter NA, et al. Regulatory B cells are induced by gut microbiota-driven interleukin-1β and interleukin-6 production. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(11):1334–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3680
- 62. Yoshizaki A, Miyagaki T, DiLillo DJ, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Kountikov EI, et al. Regulatory B cells control T-cell autoimmunity through IL-21dependent cognate interactions. *Nature* (2012) 491(7423):264-8. doi: 10.1038/nature11501
- Yang M, Sun L, Wang S, Ko K-H, Xu H, Zheng B-J, et al. Cutting Edge: Novel Function of B Cell-Activating Factor in the Induction of IL-10– Producing Regulatory B Cells. J Immunol (2010) 184(7):3321. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0902551
- 64. Lee SY, Lee SH, Seo HB, Ryu JG, Jung K, Choi JW, et al. Inhibition of IL-17 ameliorates systemic lupus erythematosus in Roquin(san/san) mice through regulating the balance of TFH cells, GC B cells, Treg and Breg. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):5227. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41534-1
- Wang R-X, Yu C-R, Dambuza IM, Mahdi RM, Dolinska MB, Sergeev YV, et al. Interleukin-35 induces regulatory B cells that suppress autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(6):633–41. doi: 10.1038/nm.3554
- Mishima Y, Oka A, Liu B, Herzog JW, Eun CS, Fan T-J, et al. Microbiota maintain colonic homeostasis by activating TLR2/MyD88/PI3K signaling in IL-10-producing regulatory B cells. J Clin Invest (2019) 129(9):3702–16. doi: 10.1172/JCI93820

- Gallego-Valle J, Pérez-Fernández VA, Correa-Rocha R, Pion M. Generation of Human Breg-Like Phenotype with Regulatory Function In Vitro with Bacteria-Derived Oligodeoxynucleotides. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19(6):1737. doi: 10.3390/ijms19061737
- Mu Q, Edwards MR, Swartwout BK, Cabana Puig X, Mao J, Zhu J, et al. Gut Microbiota and Bacterial DNA Suppress Autoimmunity by Stimulating Regulatory B Cells in a Murine Model of Lupus. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:593353. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.593353
- 69. Kessel A, Haj T, Peri R, Snir A, Melamed D, Sabo E, et al. Human CD19(+) CD25(high) B regulatory cells suppress proliferation of CD4(+) T cells and enhance Foxp3 and CTLA-4 expression in T-regulatory cells. *Autoimmun Rev* (2012) 11(9):670–7. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.018
- Carter NA, Rosser EC, Mauri C. Interleukin-10 produced by B cells is crucial for the suppression of Th17/Th1 responses, induction of T regulatory type 1 cells and reduction of collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2012) 14 (1):R32. doi: 10.1186/ar3736
- Hong M, Liao Y, Liang J, Chen X, Li S, Liu W, et al. Immunomodulation of human CD19(+)CD25(high) regulatory B cells via Th17/Foxp3 regulatory T cells and Th1/Th2 cytokines. *Hum Immunol* (2019) 80(10):863–70. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2019.05.011
- 72. Kim HS, Lee MB, Lee D, Min KY, Koo J, Kim HW, et al. The regulatory B cell-mediated peripheral tolerance maintained by mast cell IL-5 suppresses oxazolone-induced contact hypersensitivity. *Sci Adv* (2019) 5(7):eaav8152. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aav8152
- 73. Bjarnadóttir K, Benkhoucha M, Merkler D, Weber MS, Payne NL, Bernard CCA, et al. B cell-derived transforming growth factor-β1 expression limits the induction phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6 (1):34594. doi: 10.1038/srep34594
- 74. Oleinika K, Rosser EC, Matei DE, Nistala K, Bosma A, Drozdov I, et al. CD1d-dependent immune suppression mediated by regulatory B cells through modulations of iNKT cells. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):684. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-02911-y
- Ray A, Basu S, Williams CB, Salzman NH, Dittel BN. A novel IL-10independent regulatory role for B cells in suppressing autoimmunity by maintenance of regulatory T cells via GITR ligand. *J Immunol* (2012) 188 (7):3188–98. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103354
- Ray A, Wang L, Dittel BN. IL-10-independent regulatory B-cell subsets and mechanisms of action. *Int Immunol* (2015) 27(10):531–6. doi: 10.1093/ intimm/dxv033
- Rosser EC, Piper CJM, Matei DE, Blair PA, Rendeiro AF, Orford M, et al. Microbiota-Derived Metabolites Suppress Arthritis by Amplifying Aryl-Hydrocarbon Receptor Activation in Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Metab* (2020) 31(4):837–51.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.03.003
- Dubois F, Limou S, Chesneau M, Degauque N, Brouard S, Danger R. Transcriptional meta-analysis of regulatory B cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2020) 50(11):1757–69. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948489
- Wang Y-H, Tsai D-Y, Ko Y-A, Yang T-T, Lin IY, Hung K-H, et al. Blimp-1 Contributes to the Development and Function of Regulatory B Cells. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1909. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01909
- Piper CJM, Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Nistala K, Krausgruber T, Rendeiro AF, et al. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Contributes to the Transcriptional Program of IL-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Rep* (2019) 29 (7):1878–92.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.018
- Meng X, Grötsch B, Luo Y, Knaup KX, Wiesener MS, Chen X-X, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α is a critical transcription factor for IL-10producing B cells in autoimmune disease. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):251. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02683-x
- Rubin SJS, Bloom MS, Robinson WH. B cell checkpoints in autoimmune rheumatic diseases. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2019) 15(5):303–15. doi: 10.1038/ s41584-019-0211-0
- Diamond B, Katz JB, Paul E, Aranow C, Lustgarten D, Scharff MD. The role of somatic mutation in the pathogenic anti-DNA response. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1992) 10:731–57. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.10.040192.003503
- Pritchard NR, Smith KG. B cell inhibitory receptors and autoimmunity. *Immunology* (2003) 108(3):263–73. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01592.x
- Cyster JG, Hartley SB, Goodnow CC. Competition for follicular niches excludes self-reactive cells from the recirculating B-cell repertoire. *Nature* (1994) 371(6496):389–95. doi: 10.1038/371389a0

- Breitfeld D, Ohl L, Kremmer E, Ellwart J, Sallusto F, Lipp M, et al. Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192(11):1545– 52. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.11.1545
- Ise W, Fujii K, Shiroguchi K, Ito A, Kometani K, Takeda K, et al. T Follicular Helper Cell-Germinal Center B Cell Interaction Strength Regulates Entry into Plasma Cell or Recycling Germinal Center Cell Fate. *Immunity* (2018) 48(4):702–15.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.027
- Ueno H, Banchereau J, Vinuesa CG. Pathophysiology of T follicular helper cells in humans and mice. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(2):142–52. doi: 10.1038/ni.3054
- Liu D, Xu H, Shih C, Wan Z, Ma X, Ma W, et al. T-B-cell entanglement and ICOSL-driven feed-forward regulation of germinal centre reaction. *Nature* (2015) 517(7533):214–8. doi: 10.1038/nature13803
- Good-Jacobson KL, Szumilas CG, Chen L, Sharpe AH, Tomayko MM, Shlomchik MJ. PD-1 regulates germinal center B cell survival and the formation and affinity of long-lived plasma cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11 (6):535–42. doi: 10.1038/ni.1877
- Abbott RK, Lee JH, Menis S, Skog P, Rossi M, Ota T, et al. Precursor Frequency and Affinity Determine B Cell Competitive Fitness in Germinal Centers, Tested with Germline-Targeting HIV Vaccine Immunogens. *Immunity* (2018) 48(1):133–46.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.11.023
- Linterman MA, Rigby RJ, Wong RK, Yu D, Brink R, Cannons JL, et al. Follicular helper T cells are required for systemic autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(3):561–76. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081886
- 93. Vinuesa CG, Cook MC, Angelucci C, Athanasopoulos V, Rui L, Hill KM, et al. A RING-type ubiquitin ligase family member required to repress follicular helper T cells and autoimmunity. *Nature* (2005) 435(7041):452–8. doi: 10.1038/nature03555
- 94. Faliti CE, Gualtierotti R, Rottoli E, Gerosa M, Perruzza L, Romagnani A, et al. P2X7 receptor restrains pathogenic Tfh cell generation in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Exp Med (2019) 216(2):317–36. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20171976
- Wing JB, Ise W, Kurosaki T, Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells control antigenspecific expansion of Tfh cell number and humoral immune responses via the coreceptor CTLA-4. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1013–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2014.12.006
- Sage PT, Ron-Harel N, Juneja VR, Sen DR, Maleri S, Sungnak W, et al. Suppression by TFR cells leads to durable and selective inhibition of B cell effector function. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(12):1436–46. doi: 10.1038/ni.3578
- Sage PT, Paterson AM, Lovitch SB, Sharpe AH. The coinhibitory receptor CTLA-4 controls B cell responses by modulating T follicular helper, T follicular regulatory, and T regulatory cells. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1026–39. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.12.005
- Sage PT, Alvarez D, Godec J, von Andrian UH, Sharpe AH. Circulating T follicular regulatory and helper cells have memory-like properties. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(12):5191–204. doi: 10.1172/JCI76861
- Sayin I, Radtke AJ, Vella LA, Jin W, Wherry EJ, Buggert M, et al. Spatial distribution and function of T follicular regulatory cells in human lymph nodes. J Exp Med (2018) 215(6):1531–42. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171940
- 100. Botta D, Fuller MJ, Marquez-Lago TT, Bachus H, Bradley JE, Weinmann AS, et al. Dynamic regulation of T follicular regulatory cell responses by interleukin 2 during influenza infection. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(11):1249– 60. doi: 10.1038/ni.3837
- 101. Clement RL, Daccache J, Mohammed MT, Diallo A, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells control humoral and allergic immunity by restraining early B cell responses. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20(10):1360–71. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0472-4
- 102. Vaeth M, Müller G, Stauss D, Dietz L, Klein-Hessling S, Serfling E, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells control humoral autoimmunity via NFAT2regulated CXCR5 expression. J Exp Med (2014) 211(3):545–61. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20130604
- Maul J, Alterauge D, Baumjohann D. MicroRNA-mediated regulation of T follicular helper and T follicular regulatory cell identity. *Immunol Rev* (2019) 288(1):97–111. doi: 10.1111/imr.12735
- 104. Teng F, Klinger CN, Felix KM, Bradley CP, Wu E, Tran NL, et al. Gut Microbiota Drive Autoimmune Arthritis by Promoting Differentiation and Migration of Peyer's Patch T Follicular Helper Cells. *Immunity* (2016) 44 (4):875–88. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.013

- 105. León B, Bradley JE, Lund FE, Randall TD, Ballesteros-Tato A. FoxP3+ regulatory T cells promote influenza-specific Tfh responses by controlling IL-2 availability. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5(1):3495. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4495
- 106. Jandl C, Liu SM, Cañete PF, Warren J, Hughes WE, Vogelzang A, et al. IL-21 restricts T follicular regulatory T cell proliferation through Bcl-6 mediated inhibition of responsiveness to IL-2. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:14647. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14647
- 107. Hao H, Nakayamada S, Yamagata K, Ohkubo N, Iwata S, Inoue Y, et al. Conversion of T Follicular Helper Cells to T Follicular Regulatory Cells by Interleukin-2 Through Transcriptional Regulation in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Arthritis Rheumatol (2020) 73(1):132–42. doi: 10.1002/art.41457
- 108. Wu X, Wang Y, Huang R, Gai Q, Liu H, Shi M, et al. SOSTDC1-producing follicular helper T cells promote regulatory follicular T cell differentiation. *Science* (2020) 369(6506):984. doi: 10.1126/science.aba6652
- 109. Kim YU, Lim H, Jung HE, Wetsel RA, Chung Y. Regulation of Autoimmune Germinal Center Reactions in Lupus-Prone BXD2 Mice by Follicular Helper T Cells. *PloS One* (2015) 10(3):e0120294. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0120294
- 110. Fu W, Liu X, Lin X, Feng H, Sun L, Li S, et al. Deficiency in T follicular regulatory cells promotes autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2018) 215(3):815–25. doi: 10.1084/jem.20170901
- 111. Fonseca VR, Agua-Doce A, Maceiras AR, Pierson W, Ribeiro F, Romão VC, et al. Human blood Tfr cells are indicators of ongoing humoral activity not fully licensed with suppressive function. *Sci Immunol* (2017) 2(14):eaan1487. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aan1487
- 112. Dhaeze T, Peelen E, Hombrouck A, Peeters L, Van Wijmeersch B, Lemkens N, et al. Circulating Follicular Regulatory T Cells Are Defective in Multiple Sclerosis. J Immunol (2015) 195(3):832. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500759
- 113. Wang J, Shan Y, Jiang Z, Feng J, Li C, Ma L, et al. High frequencies of activated B cells and T follicular helper cells are correlated with disease activity in patients with new-onset rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 174(2):212–20. doi: 10.1111/cei.12162
- 114. Ma L, Zhao P, Jiang Z, Shan Y, Jiang Y. Imbalance of different types of CD4
 (+) forkhead box protein 3 (FoxP3)(+) T cells in patients with new-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 174(3):345–55. doi: 10.1111/cei.12189
- Zheng J, Wang T, Zhang L, Cui L. Dysregulation of Circulating Tfr/Tfh Ratio in Primary biliary cholangitis. *Scand J Immunol* (2017) 86(6):452–61. doi: 10.1111/sji.12616
- 116. Xu Y, Xu H, Zhen Y, Sang X, Wu H, Hu C, et al. Imbalance of Circulatory T Follicular Helper and T Follicular Regulatory Cells in Patients with ANCA-Associated Vasculitis. *Mediators Inflamm* (2019) 2019:8421479. doi: 10.1155/2019/8421479
- 117. Puthenparampil M, Zito A, Pantano G, Federle L, Stropparo E, Miante S, et al. Peripheral imbalanced TFH/TFR ratio correlates with intrathecal IgG synthesis in multiple sclerosis at clinical onset. *Mult Scler* (2019) 25(7):918–26. doi: 10.1177/1352458518779951
- 118. Wang X, Yang C, Xu F, Qi L, Wang J, Yang P. Imbalance of circulating Tfr/ Tfh ratio in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Exp Med* (2018) 19 (1):55–64. doi: 10.1007/s10238-018-0530-5
- 119. Zhao S, Ding J, Wang S, Li C, Guo P, Zhang M, et al. Decreased expression of circulating Aire and increased Tfh/Tfr cells in myasthenia gravis patients. *Biosci Rep* (2018) 38(6):BSR20180096. doi: 10.1042/BSR20180096
- 120. Liu C, Wang D, Song Y, Lu S, Zhao J, Wang H. Increased circulating CD4 +CXCR5+FoxP3+ follicular regulatory T cells correlated with severity of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2018) 56:261–8. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.01.038
- 121. Liu C, Wang D, Lu S, Xu Q, Zhao L, Zhao J, et al. Increased Circulating Follicular Treg Cells Are Associated With Lower Levels of Autoantibodies in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis in Stable Remission. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2018) 70(5):711–21. doi: 10.1002/art.40430
- 122. Ivanchenko M, Aqrawi LA, Björk A, Wahren-Herlenius M, Chemin K. FoxP3+CXCR5+CD4+ T cell frequencies are increased in peripheral blood of patients with primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2019) 195 (3):305–9. doi: 10.1111/cei.13244
- 123. Shan Y, Qi C, Zhao J, Liu Y, Gao H, Zhao D, et al. Higher frequency of peripheral blood follicular regulatory T cells in patients with new onset ankylosing spondylitis. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2015) 42(2):154–61. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.12330

- 124. Li Y, Guptill JT, Russo MA, Howard JFJr, Massey JM, Juel VC, et al. Imbalance in T follicular helper cells producing IL-17 promotes proinflammatory responses in MuSK antibody positive myasthenia gravis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2020) 345:577279. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577279
- 125. Kim J-W, Lee J, Hong S-M, Lee J, Cho M-L, Park S-H. Circulating CCR7(lo) PD-1(hi) Follicular Helper T Cells Indicate Disease Activity and Glandular Inflammation in Patients with Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. *Immune Netw* (2019) 19(4):e26–e. doi: 10.4110/in.2019.19.e26
- 126. Yang X, Yang J, Chu Y, Wang J, Guan M, Zhu X, et al. T Follicular Helper Cells Mediate Expansion of Regulatory B Cells via IL-21 in Lupus-Prone MRL/lpr Mice. *PloS One* (2013) 8(4):e62855. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0062855
- 127. Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Hwang D, Yang XO, Kang HS, Ma L, et al. Generation of T Follicular Helper Cells Is Mediated by Interleukin-21 but Independent of T Helper 1, 2, or 17 Cell Lineages. *Immunity* (2008) 29(1):138–49. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.05.009
- 128. Wang R, Xie R, Song Z. Circulating regulatory Tfh cells are enriched in patients with chronic hepatitis B infection and induce the differentiation of regulatory B cells. *Exp Cell Res* (2018) 365(2):171–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.yexcr.2018.02.031
- 129. Li H, Zhou R, Wang C, Li Y, Zheng G, Jiang S, et al. T follicular regulatory cells infiltrate the human airways during the onset of acute respiratory distress syndrome and regulate the development of B regulatory cells. *Immunol Res* (2018) 66(4):548–54. doi: 10.1007/s12026-018-9014-7
- 130. Burger F, Miteva K, Baptista D, Roth A, Fraga-Silva RA, Martel C, et al. Follicular regulatory helper T cells control the response of regulatory B cells to a high-cholesterol diet. *Cardiovasc Res* (2020) 117(3):743–55. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa069
- 131. Liu X, Chen X, Zhong B, Wang A, Wang X, Chu F, et al. Transcription factor achaete-scute homologue 2 initiates follicular T-helper-cell development. *Nature* (2014) 507(7493):513–8. doi: 10.1038/nature12910
- 132. Schaerli P, Willimann K, Lang AB, Lipp M, Loetscher P, Moser B. Cxc Chemokine Receptor 5 Expression Defines Follicular Homing T Cells with B Cell Helper Function. J Exp Med (2000) 192(11):1553–62. doi: 10.1084/ jem.192.11.1553
- 133. Haynes NM, Allen CDC, Lesley R, Ansel KM, Killeen N, Cyster JG. Role of CXCR5 and CCR7 in Follicular Th Cell Positioning and Appearance of a Programmed Cell Death Gene-1High Germinal Center-Associated Subpopulation. J Immunol (2007) 179(8):5099–108. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.179.8.5099
- 134. Xiao J, Guan F, Sun L, Zhang Y, Zhang X, Lu S, et al. B cells induced by Schistosoma japonicum infection display diverse regulatory phenotypes and modulate CD4(+) T cell response. *Parasit Vectors* (2020) 13(1):147. doi: 10.1186/s13071-020-04015-3
- Sage PT, Francisco LM, Carman CV, Sharpe AH. The receptor PD-1 controls follicular regulatory T cells in the lymph nodes and blood. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(2):152–61. doi: 10.1038/ni.2496
- 136. Morita R, Schmitt N, Bentebibel S-E, Ranganathan R, Bourdery L, Zurawski G, et al. Human Blood CXCR5+CD4+ T Cells Are Counterparts of T Follicular Cells and Contain Specific Subsets that Differentially Support Antibody Secretion. *Immunity* (2011) 34(1):108–21. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.012
- 137. Asai Y, Chiba H, Nishikiori H, Kamekura R, Yabe H, Kondo S, et al. Aberrant populations of circulating T follicular helper cells and regulatory B cells underlying idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Respir Res* (2019) 20(1):244. doi: 10.1186/s12931-019-1216-6
- 138. Kamekura R, Shigehara K, Miyajima S, Jitsukawa S, Kawata K, Yamashita K, et al. Alteration of circulating type 2 follicular helper T cells and regulatory B cells underlies the comorbid association of allergic rhinitis with bronchial asthma. *Clin Immunol* (2015) 158(2):204–11. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2015.02.016
- 139. Miyajima S, Shigehara K, Kamekura R, Takaki H, Yabe H, Ikegami I, et al. Activated circulating T follicular helper cells and skewing of T follicular helper 2 cells are down-regulated by treatment including an inhaled corticosteroid in patients with allergic asthma. *Allergol Int* (2020) 69 (1):66–77. doi: 10.1016/j.alit.2019.08.008
- 140. Rioja I, Hughes FJ, Sharp CH, Warnock LC, Montgomery DS, Akil M, et al. Potential novel biomarkers of disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis patients: CXCL13, CCL23, transforming growth factor alpha, tumor

necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 9, and macrophage colonystimulating factor. *Arthritis Rheum* (2008) 58(8):2257-67. doi: 10.1002/ art.23667

- 141. Lee HT, Shiao YM, Wu TH, Chen WS, Hsu YH, Tsai SF, et al. Serum BLC/ CXCL13 concentrations and renal expression of CXCL13/CXCR5 in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus nephritis. *J Rheumatol* (2010) 37(1):45–52. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.090450
- 142. Barone F, Bombardieri M, Rosado MM, Morgan PR, Challacombe SJ, De Vita S, et al. CXCL13, CCL21, and CXCL12 expression in salivary glands of patients with Sjogren's syndrome and MALT lymphoma: association with reactive and malignant areas of lymphoid organization. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(7):5130–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.5130
- 143. Liu D, Liu J, Wang J, Guo L, Liu C, Jiang Y, et al. Distribution of circulating T follicular helper cell subsets is altered in immunoglobulin A vasculitis in children. *PloS One* (2017) 12(12):e0189133. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0189133
- 144. Li X-Y, Wu Z-B, Ding J, Zheng Z-H, Li X-Y, Chen L-N, et al. Role of the frequency of blood CD4+ CXCR5+ CCR6+ T cells in autoimmunity in patients with Sjögren's syndrome. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2012) 422 (2):238–44. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.04.133
- 145. Sheng JR, Quan S, Soliven B. IL-10 derived from CD1dhiCD5⁺ B cells regulates experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. J Neuroimmunol (2015) 289:130–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2015.10.023
- 146. Kim CH, Rott LS, Clark-Lewis I, Campbell DJ, Wu L, Butcher EC. Subspecialization of Cxcr5+ T Cells: B Helper Activity Is Focused in a Germinal Center–Localized Subset of Cxcr5+ T Cells. J Exp Med (2001) 193 (12):1373–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.12.1373
- 147. Häringer B, Lozza L, Steckel B, Geginat J. Identification and characterization of IL-10/IFN-γ-producing effector-like T cells with regulatory function in human blood. J Exp Med (2009) 206(5):1009–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082238
- 148. Kimura N, Yamagiwa S, Sugano T, Horigome R, Setsu T, Tominaga K, et al. Usefulness of chemokine C-C receptor 7(-) /programmed cell death-1(+) follicular helper T cell subset frequencies in the diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. *Hepatol Res* (2019) 49(9):1026–33. doi: 10.1111/hepr.13356
- 149. Huang YX, Zhao QY, Wu LL, Xie DY, Gao ZL, Deng H. Increased CCR7(lo) PD-1(hi)CXCR5(+)CD4(+) T Cells in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells Are Correlated with Immune Activation in Patients with Chronic HBV Infection. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2018) 2018:1020925. doi: 10.1155/ 2018/1020925
- 150. Locci M, Havenar-Daughton C, Landais E, Wu J, Kroenke MA, Arlehamn CL, et al. Human circulating PD-1+CXCR3-CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):758–69. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013. 08.031
- Denton AE, Linterman MA. Stromal networking: cellular connections in the germinal centre. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2017) 45:103–11. doi: 10.1016/ j.coi.2017.03.001
- 152. Ansel KM, Ngo VN, Hyman PL, Luther SA, Förster R, Sedgwick JD, et al. A chemokine-driven positive feedback loop organizes lymphoid follicles. *Nature* (2000) 406(6793):309–14. doi: 10.1038/35018581
- 153. Moriyama S, Takahashi N, Green JA, Hori S, Kubo M, Cyster JG, et al. Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 is critical for follicular helper T cell retention in germinal centers. J Exp Med (2014) 211(7):1297–305. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131666
- 154. Lu P, Shih C, Qi H. Ephrin B1–mediated repulsion and signaling control germinal center T cell territoriality and function. *Science* (2017) 356(6339): eaai9264. doi: 10.1126/science.aai9264

- 155. Vanderleyden I, Fra-Bido SC, Innocentin S, Stebegg M, Okkenhaug H, Evans-Bailey N, et al. Follicular Regulatory T Cells Can Access the Germinal Center Independently of CXCR5. *Cell Rep* (2020) 30(3):611– 9.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.12.076
- 156. Donnadieu E, Reisinger KB, Scharf S, Michel Y, Bein J, Hansen S, et al. Landscape of T Follicular Helper Cell Dynamics in Human Germinal Centers. J Immunol (2020) 205(5):1248–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1901475
- 157. Ly NTM, Ueda-Hayakawa I, Nguyen CTH, Okamoto H. Exploring the imbalance of circulating follicular helper CD4+ T cells in sarcoidosis patients. J Dermatol Sci (2020) 97(3):216-24. doi: 10.1016/ j.jdermsci.2020.02.002
- Deng J, Wei Y, Fonseca VR, Graca L, Yu D. T follicular helper cells and T follicular regulatory cells in rheumatic diseases. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2019) 15 (8):475–90. doi: 10.1038/s41584-019-0254-2
- 159. Gao N, Dresel J, Eckstein V, Gellert R, Störch H, Venigalla RKC, et al. Impaired Suppressive Capacity of Activation-Induced Regulatory B Cells in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66(10):2849–61. doi: 10.1002/art.38742
- 160. Knippenberg S, Peelen E, Smolders J, Thewissen M, Menheere P, Cohen Tervaert JW, et al. Reduction in IL-10 producing B cells (Breg) in multiple sclerosis is accompanied by a reduced naïve/memory Breg ratio during a relapse but not in remission. J Neuroimmunol (2011) 239(1-2):80–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.08.019
- 161. Kim Y, Kim G, Shin HJ, Hyun JW, Kim SH, Lee E, et al. Restoration of regulatory B cell deficiency following alemtuzumab therapy in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflamm* (2018) 15(1):300. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-018-1334-y
- 162. Chen G, Ding Y, Li Q, Li Y, Wen X, Ji X, et al. Defective Regulatory B Cells Are Associated with Thyroid Associated Ophthalmopathy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2019) 104:4067–77. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-01812
- 163. Mauri C, Gray D, Mushtaq N, Londei M. Prevention of Arthritis by Interleukin 10-producing B Cells. J Exp Med (2003) 197(4):489–501. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021293
- 164. Sattler S, Ling G-S, Xu D, Hussaarts L, Romaine A, Zhao H, et al. IL-10producing regulatory B cells induced by IL-33 (BregIL-33) effectively attenuate mucosal inflammatory responses in the gut. J Autoimmun (2014) 50:107–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014.01.032
- 165. Rousset F, Garcia E, Defrance T, Péronne C, Vezzio N, Hsu DH, et al. Interleukin 10 is a potent growth and differentiation factor for activated human B lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89(5):1890–3. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.5.1890
- 166. Laguna-Goya R, Utrero-Rico A, Cano-Romero FL, Gómez-Massa E, González E, Andrés A, et al. Imbalance favoring follicular helper T cells over IL10+ regulatory B cells is detrimental for the kidney allograft. *Kidney Int* (2020) 98(3):732–43. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.02.039

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Ding, Su, Wu, Xue, Wang, Su, Gao, Li and Wang. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Multiple Roles of B Cells in the Pathogenesis of Sjögren's Syndrome

Wenhan Du^{1†}, Man Han^{2†}, Xiaoxia Zhu³, Fan Xiao^{1,4}, Enyu Huang^{1,4}, Nan Che⁵, Xiaopo Tang², Hejian Zou³, Quan Jiang^{2*} and Liwei Lu^{1,4*}

¹ Department of Pathology and Shenzhen Institute of Research and Innovation, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China, ² Division of Rheumatology, Guang'anmen Hospital, China Academy of Chinese Medical Sciences, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Rheumatology, Huashan Hospital and Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Chongqing International Institute for Immunology, Chongqing, China, ⁵ Department of Rheumatology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Jiangsu, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Damo Xu, Shenzhen University, China

Reviewed by:

Ronghua Liu, Fudan University, China Lauren Merlo, Lankenau Institute for Medical Research, United States Efstathia K. Kapsogeorgou, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

*Correspondence:

Liwei Lu liweilu@hku.hk Quan Jiang drjiang111@126.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 March 2021 Accepted: 21 May 2021 Published: 08 June 2021

Citation:

Du W, Han M, Zhu X, Xiao F, Huang E, Che N, Tang X, Zou H, Jiang Q and Lu L (2021) The Multiple Roles of B Cells in the Pathogenesis of Sjögren's Syndrome. Front. Immunol. 12:684999. doi: 10.3389/firmmu.2021.684999 Primary Sjögren's syndrome (pSS) is a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by lymphocytic infiltration and tissue destruction of exocrine glands such as salivary glands. Although the formation of ectopic lymphoid tissue in exocrine glands and overproduction of autoantibodies by autoreactive B cells highlight the critical involvement of B cells in disease development, the precise roles of various B cell subsets in pSS pathogenesis remain partially understood. Current studies have identified several novel B cell subsets with multiple functions in pSS, among which autoreactive age-associated B cells, and plasma cells with augmented autoantibody production contribute to the disease progression. In addition, tissue-resident Fc Receptor-Like 4 (FcRL4)⁺ B cell subset with enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine production serves as a key driver in pSS patients with mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT)-lymphomas. Recently, regulatory B (Breg) cells with impaired immunosuppressive functions are found negatively correlated with T follicular helper (Tfh) cells in pSS patients. Further studies have revealed a pivotal role of Breg cells in constraining Tfh response in autoimmune pathogenesis. This review provides an overview of recent advances in the identification of pathogenic B cell subsets and Breg cells, as well as new development of B-cell targeted therapies in pSS patients.

Keywords: primary Sjögren's syndrome, B cells, pathogenesis, treatment, regulatory functions

INTRODUCTION

Primary Sjögren's syndrome (pSS) is a common systemic autoimmune disease, which mainly affects the lacrimal and salivary glands, resulting in dry eyes and dry mouth. However, the extra-glandular manifestations occur in 30 to 40% of pSS patients, involving lung, heart, kidney, nervous system and lymphoproliferative disorders (1, 2). Although the etiology of pSS remains unclear, numerous studies have demonstrated that both T and B cells are the major populations for pro-inflammatory cytokine production and autoantibody secretion with critical involvement in pSS pathology (3). A recent multiple-centre study reported that pSS patients in China had higher positive rates of anti-nuclear antibody (ANA) and anti-Sjögren's syndrome-related antigen A (anti-SSA) antibodies than those of patients in Europe and America, indicating that disease heterogeneity among pSS patients

21

in different regions (4). Growing evidence indicates that B cells play predominant roles in the pathogenesis of pSS patients with ectopic germinal center-like structures in the exocrine glands and systemic extra-glandular manifestations (5, 6). It has been well recognized that autoreactive B cells and plasma cells contribute to the development of pSS by producing various autoantibodies, including ANA, anti-SSA and anti-Sjögren's syndrome type B (anti-SSB) antibody (7, 8). Recent studies have revealed other functions of B cells such as cytokine production (9, 10) and antigen presentation (11) in the pathogenesis of pSS. Increasing evidence indicates the functional diversities of B cell subsets in both immunity and autoimmune pathogenesis (12). In particular, Breg cells with different phenotypes have been reported to be involved in the development of pSS (13-16). Breg cells exerted their regulatory functions by producing diverse regulatory cytokines and effector molecules, such as IL-10, IL-35 and Granzyme B (GrB). Although B cell targeted therapy is among the most promising therapeutic approaches to various autoimmune diseases, its efficacy in treating pSS patients remains to be further validated. In this review, we discuss the multiple functions of B cell subsets in pSS development and emerging B cell-targeted therapies.

PATHOGENIC B CELL SUBSETS

Fc Receptor-Like 4 (FcRL4)⁺ B Cells

FcRL4⁺ B cells are tissue-resident memory B cells that express Fc Receptor-Like 4 (FcRL4). As a member of Fc Receptor-Like proteins family, FcRL4 is mainly expressed by the B-cell lineage (17). FcRL4 is found to dampen B cell receptor-mediated signaling and proliferation, which plays an essential role in regulating B cell activation and differentiation. In 2005, Max Cooper and colleagues first described these B cells in human tonsils (18). Subsequent studies confirmed that FcRL4⁺ B cells were mainly localized in the sub-epithelial region of lymphoid tissues but rarely in spleen and lymph nodes (19, 20). FcRL4⁺ B cells are expanded in the inflamed tissues of patients with pSS (21, 22). Moreover, enriched FcRL4⁺ B cells are detected in salivary glands of pSS patients (21). Further studies on the comparison of FcRL4⁺ B cells with chemokine receptor CCR5 expression profiles from the parotid glands of pSS patients provide a perspective for understanding their migratory ability to the corresponding chemokines CCL3 and CCL5 produced by ductal epithelial cells and their infiltration in the inflamed glands (22, 23). In addition, studies with gene transcription analysis suggest that parotid FcRL4⁺ B cells with upregulated *CXCR3* expression may enhance their migration (22). Notably, compared with patients without lymphoma, the percentages of FcRL4⁺ B cells are significantly increased in pSS patients with MALT-lymphomas, indicating that these B cells may contribute to the development of B cell lymphoma in pSS patients (21).

Lines of evidences suggest that FcRL4⁺ B cells play a pathogenic role in the development of pSS (21, 22) (Table 1). The percentages of parotid FcRL4⁺ B cells are positively correlated with the numbers of lymphoepithelial lesions in pSS patients (21). Additionally, FcRL4⁺ B cells produce multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines. *IL-6* gene is significantly upregulated in FcRL4⁺ B cells from pSS patients, suggesting that FcRL4⁺ B cell is a proinflammatory B cell subset in autoimmune diseases (22) (Figure 1). Interestingly, a recent study with transcription analysis of gene expression has revealed that FcRL4⁺ B cells highly express ITGAX (CD11c) and TBX21 (T-bet) genes (22), similar to the gene expression pattern detected in CD11c⁺T-bet⁺ B cells (24, 25). Although both B cell subsets displayed similar patterns of downregulated BCR signaling and enhanced TLR signaling, they may possess different capacities in differentiating into antibody-secreting cells (ASCs) since the lack of transcription factors Blimp1 and IRF-4 in FcRL4⁺ B cells may reduce their ability to differentiate into ASCs (21). It has been reported that the treatment with Rituximab reduces the number of parotid gland FcRL4⁺ B cells and restores the glandular epithelium in pSS patients (21). As the first and most widely studied B celltargeted therapeutic agent, Rituximab depletes mature B cells effectively, lasting four to twelve months (47). In addition to FcRL4⁺ B cells, circulating Tfh cells and Th17 cells are also reduced by Rituximab accompanied by decreased serum IL-21 and IL-17 levels (48). Thus, further elucidation of the pathogenic mechanisms of FcRL4⁺ B cells may facilitate the development of novel therapeutic strategies for targeting this B cell subset in pSS.

CD11c⁺Age-Associated B Cells

CD11c⁺Age-associated B cells (ABCs) were firstly reported by two independent research groups in 2011 (24, 25). CD11c⁺ABCs

B cell subset	Markers	Functions	Potential therapy
FcRL4 ⁺ B cell	FcRL4, CCR5, CXCR3, ITGAX, TBX21 (22, 23)	Pathogenic	Rituximab (21)
Age-Associated B cell	CD11c, T-bet, CXCR5, CD21, CD23 (24-26)	Pathogenic	Belimumab (27) Telitacicept (28) Remibrutinib (29, 30 Iscalimab (31), Abatacept (32)
Transitional B cell	CD21, IgD, IgM (33)	Pathogenic	
Marginal Zone B cell	CD21, CD23, IgD (34)	Pathogenic	Rituximab
Memory B cell	CD27, CXCR4, CXCR5 (35)	Pathogenic	
Plasma cell	CD138, CD27, CD38, Bcl-2 (36-39)	Pathogenic	Bortezomib (40)
IL-10 ⁺ Breg	CD24, CD38, CD1d, CD5, IL-10 (41, 42)	Protective	
GrB ⁺ Breg	CD5, GrB (43)	Protective	
IL-35 ⁺ Breg	CD138, TACI, CXCR4, IL-35 (44, 45)	Protective	
Regulatory Plasma Cell	LAG-3, CD138 (46)	Protective	

TABLE 1 | Pathogenic and regulatory B cell subsets in pSS



are characterized by phenotypic markers including CD11c⁺, CD11b⁺, CD21^{-/low}, CD23^{low} (24, 25), which are notably expanded in the peripheral blood of patients with several autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (49, 50), RA (25) and multiple sclerosis (MS) (51). In pSS patients, CD11c⁺ABCs infiltrated in parotid glands have been identified with double staining for CD11c and Pax5 (22). CD11c⁺ABCs express high levels of the transcription factor Tbet, exhibiting a distinct phenotype from other B cell subsets (24-26). T-bet is a transcription factor that has been considered as a hallmark of Th1 cells. However, recent studies have revealed that T-bet is also expressed in certain B cells with co-expression of CD80 and CD86, suggesting that these B cells are potent antigen-presenting cells (52) (Table 1). CD11c⁺ABCs appear to be recruited into inflamed tissues via specific chemokinechemokine receptor axis. CD11c⁺ABCs with low levels of CXCR5 and CCR7 expression are localized outside the B cell follicles (53). Experiments with adoptive transfer of CD11c⁺ABCs have confirmed their location at the boundary region between T cell and B cell zones, which is very similar to the location of interfollicular large B cells that are found in the T cell-rich area of secondary lymphoid organs and ectopic lymphoid structures in pSS patients (54, 55). The interfollicular large B cells express high levels of Activation-induced cytidine deaminase and are associated with B cell lymphoma in patients with pSS (56). CD11c⁺ABCs can secrete various cytokines, including IL-1 β , IL-6, IFN- γ and IL-10 (**Figure 1**).

Available data suggest that CD11c⁺ABCs may be derived from different cell compartments in healthy people and SLE patients.

It has been reported that CD11c⁺ABCs are mainly CD27⁺IgD⁻ switched memory B cells in healthy people (57). However, CD11c⁺ ABCs in SLE patients are enriched in CD27⁻IgD⁻ double negative (DN) B cell population that can be further divided into two subsets, DN1 and DN2, according to the chemokine receptor CXCR5 expression (49). IFN- γ can trigger naïve B cell precursors to become activated naïve or DN1 B cells with high levels of T-bet expression (58). CD27⁻IgD⁻CXCR5⁻ (DN2) B cells are capable of differentiating into plasma cells induced by IL-21 in lupus patients. Frequencies of DN2 B cell are associated with lupus-related autoantibodies, including antibodies to dsDNA, nucleosome, histones and chromatin. Thus, autoreactive CD11c⁺ABCs may participate in the pathogenesis of lupus by secreting high titers of autoantibodies derived from an extrafollicular response. Moreover, type I interferon produced by plasmacytoid dendritic cells can promote plasmablasts to secrete anti-dsDNA antibodies from extrafollicular responses (59). It has been shown that depletion of CD11c⁺ABCs greatly reduces autoantibody levels and disease manifestations in lupus mice, which further confirms that CD11c⁺ABCs play a pathogenic role in the development of lupus (25). In pSS patients, the functional features of CD11c⁺ABCs remain largely unclear. A recent study has demonstrated that upregulated IL-21 signaling pathway in salivary glands of pSS patients is associated with enriched B cells and increased disease activity (60). Moreover, expanded IL-21⁺ Tfh cells in SS patients are associated with ectopic lymphoid structures and MALT-lymphomas (61). Given the accumulating evidence on a vital role of IL-21 in regulating CD11c⁺ABCs in

lupus patients, it is likely that enhanced IL-21 signaling in salivary gland may promote CD11c⁺ABCs functions in the pathogenesis of pSS.

Although it is currently unclear whether CD11c⁺ABCs can be depleted by anti-CD20 or anti-CD19 therapies, targeting CD11c⁺ABCs is an appealing approach for the treatment of patients with autoimmune diseases. Previous studies reported elevated levels of both B-cell activating factor (BAFF) and A proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) in serum and saliva of pSS patients compared with healthy control (62, 63). Further immunohistochemical staining and transcript analysis reveal that the primary sources of BAFF are infiltrated T and B cells as well as ductal epithelial cells (64). Although the survival factors for CD11c⁺ABCs remain to be determined, CD11c⁺ABCs express high levels of BAFF receptor (BAFFR), intermediate densities of Transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI) and minimal B-cell maturation antigen (BCMA) in lupus patients (50). A recent study has shown that anti-BAFF treatment with Belimumab reduces circulating CD11c⁺ABCs in SLE patients (27). Hence, these findings suggest that BAFF may regulate the survival of CD11c⁺ABCs in the local tissues of pSS patients. Recently, Belimumab has been evaluated in an open-label trial of 30 patients with pSS (65). The results showed that sixty percent of pSS patients achieved the primary endpoint whereas the disease activity index was significantly decreased at week 28. Considering that CD11c⁺ABCs may participate in the pathogenesis of pSS, it is possible that Belimumab can ameliorate the disease progression by depleting ABCs in pSS. Another promising therapy for targeting CD11c⁺ABCs is Telitacicept, which is a novel TACI-Fc fusion protein that binds to BAFF and APRIL (28). A phase 2b clinical trial of Telitacicept has reported a statistically significant difference in the clinical response rate between Telitacicept group (79.2%) and the placebo group (32%) (66). Currently, a phase 2 clinical study to evaluate Telitacicept effects on pSS patients is underway (Clinical Trials: NCT04078386). Furthermore, the blockade of cytokines such as IFN-y, type I interferon or IL-21 may be promising strategies to target CD11c⁺ABCs since these cytokines are critically involved in triggering B cell activation and differentiation (50, 58). Emerging evidence reveals that enhanced activity of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) in peripheral blood B cells promotes IL-21-mediated signaling pathway by inducing nuclear phosphorylated STAT1 levels in patients with autoimmune disease (29, 30). Hence, blockade of Btk (Remibrutinib) may possibly inhibit the pathogenic function of CD11c⁺ABCs. It has been recently reported that both frequencies and numbers of ABC with high levels of CD11c and T-bet expression are significantly reduced in aged CD154 (CD40L)deficient mice compared to controls, indicating that CD40-CD40L interaction is essential for ABC generation (31). Thus, the blockade of CD40-CD40L interaction with Iscalimab may also represent a potential therapeutic strategy for targeting CD11c⁺ABCs in the treatment of pSS. CD21^{-/low} B cells, a subset of CD11c⁺ABCs, are found to be associated with lymphoproliferation in pSS patients (67), in which both percentages and absolute numbers in pSS patients are

significantly increased when compared with healthy controls. Moreover, CD21^{-/low} B cells are also expanded in other autoimmune diseases, such as SLE (68) and RA (69). Similar to FcRL4⁺ B cells, CD21^{-/low} B cells highly express CD11c and FcRLs, including FcRL2 and FcRL3. These B cells exhibit profound activation defects when they are triggered by BCR and CD40 but could be activated by the stimulation of TLRs (TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9) (67). Furthermore, CD21-/low B cells express high levels of co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86, which enable them to act as antigen-presenting cells for T cell cognate interaction (70). CD21-/low B cells promote the progression of pSS by secreting high-affinity autoantibodies, including anti-cytoplasmic and anti-nuclear autoantibodies (67). As a selective co-stimulation modulator, Abatacept directly binds to CD80 and CD86, which may reduce the antigen-presenting function of CD21^{-/low} B cells (32).

Transitional B Cells

Transitional B cells are the B cell subset newly emigrated from the bone marrow to the secondary lymphoid organs. Upon activation by cognate antigens, CD21^{+/-}IgD^{+/-}IgM^{+/-} transitional type-1 B cells can differentiate into CD21⁺IgD⁺IgM⁺ type-2 B cells. It has been recently reported that new transitional CD21^{low}CD10⁺IgM^{hi}CD27⁻ B cells expressing polyreactive antibodies are increased in the peripheral blood of pSS patients (33) (**Table 1**). This observed increase in transitional B cells may reflect the defective central B cell tolerance in pSS patients. Moreover, transitional type-2 B cells are expanded in the ectopic germinal center-like structures of salivary glands in pSS patients (71). The available findings suggest that transitional B cells may drive the local tissue functional impairment and inflammation by producing antibodies.

Marginal Zone B Cells

Recent studies have reported increased marginal zone B cells (MZ B) in patients with pSS (71) and mice with SS-like symptoms (8, 72). Phenotypic analysis shows that MZ B cells express high levels of CD21, but low levels of CD23 and IgD (34) (Table 1). In pSS patients, MZ B cells are found to be accumulated in the salivary glands and contribute to the glandular destruction by producing autoantibodies (71). In BAFF transgenic mice, expansion of MZ B cells is observed in both spleen and salivary glands while depletion of MZ B cells significantly reduces the infiltrations in the salivary glands (72). In another SS mouse model, IL-14 alpha transgenic mice with specific elimination of MZ B cells exhibit normal saliva secretions and histology of salivary glands, suggesting that MZ B cells play an indispensable role in the pathogenesis of SS (8). Moreover, MZ B cells are closely involved in the development of non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphoma, one of the most severe complications, in pSS patients (73). In a clinical study, Rituximab has been used to treat pSS patients with marginal zone lymphomas, which represents a promising therapeutic option (74).

Memory B Cells

Recent studies have suggested that memory B cells are also involved in the pathogenesis of pSS. Although CD27^+ memory

B cells are reduced in the peripheral blood, memory B cells are accumulated in the salivary glands of pSS patients (75) (**Table 1**). Notably, CD27⁺ memory B cells highly express chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR5, which may facilitate the infiltration of memory B cells into the inflamed glands by the chemokines CXCL12 and CXCL13 derived from epithelial cells (35). Similar to transitional B cells, CD27⁺ memory B cells appear to promote the formation of ectopic germinal center-like structures in the exocrine glands of pSS patients (76).

Plasma Cells

Compelling evidence indicates that plasma cells (PCs) contribute to the autoimmune pathogenesis by producing large amounts of autoantibodies (Table 1). It has been reported that the numbers of IgG but not IgA expressing CD138⁺ PCs in salivary glands are correlated with focus scores of lymphocytic infiltrations in pSS patients (36). A recent study has also reported that CD19⁺CD27^{hi} plasma cells in salivary glands are positively correlated with serum ANA titers in pSS patients (37). Consistently, Szyszko et al. have observed increased CD38⁺CD138⁺ plasma cells in pSS patients (38). Notably, certain infiltrated PCs show phenotypic characteristics of the long-lived plasma cells (LLPCs), which highly express Bcl-2 but not Ki67. In a spontaneous SS mouse model, PCs detected in the submandibular glands are mostly BrdU⁻ in 40-week-old mice, showing the key features of LLPCs (39). It has been suggested that salivary glands provide a unique microenvironment for the survival and maintenance of LLPCs. The salivary gland epithelial cells are found to produce IL-6, a pivotal cytokine that support the survival of LLPCs. Our recent studies have identified a novel function of IL-17 in maintaining the survival of LLPCs via p38-mediated Bcl-xL RNA stability in murine lupus (77). Interestingly, epithelial cells in the salivary gland also secrete BAFF and APRIL, which may promote the survival of LLPCs (78, 79). Thus, these key cytokines and other factors including CXCL12 and CD44 provide the survival niche for LLPCs and promote persistent antibody production in salivary gland during pSS development.

Bortezomib (BTZ), a proteasome inhibitor that induces plasma cell apoptosis, has been found to be effective in treating various autoantibody-mediated autoimmune diseases in mice (80–82). BTZ can eliminate both short- and long-lived plasma cells and ameliorate lupus nephritis in mice (83). Our recent studies have also shown that BTZ can suppress Th17 response and autoantibody production in mice with experimental Sjögren's syndrome (ESS) (40) (**Figure 1**). Several clinical studies have reported that BTZ treatment significantly reduces the levels of autoantibodies and improves the symptoms in patients with autoimmune disease, including refractory pSS, refractory SLE and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (84–91). Thus, further investigation on the functional characteristics of LLPCs in pSS will facilitate the identification of therapeutic candidates for targeting these B cells.

Recently, two randomized controlled trials using Rituximab for treating pSS patients have failed to achieve their primary endpoints (92, 93). Several possible reasons may explain the failure of these clinical trials. As an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, Rituximab may deplete B cells by antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity, complement-dependent cytotoxicity and, to a lesser extent, direct signaling through CD20. However, the inhibitory FcyRIIb expression on target B cells may promote Rituximab internalization and contribute to drug resistance (94). Another potential mechanism for Rituximab resistance is CD46-mediated inhibition of complement activation as increased serum CD46 levels are detected in pSS patients (95, 96). Thirdly, long-lived plasma cells express no or very low levels of CD20 and produce large amounts of autoantibodies in pSS patients, for which Rituximab treatment fails to target. In pSS patients, infiltrated B cells and locally differentiated plasma cells reside in the salivary glands while salivary gland epithelial cells produce large amounts of cvtokines or pro-inflammatory factors for B cell survival such as BAFF (78). A clinical case report has recently shown that anti-CD20 treatment followed by Belimumab exhibits a synergistic effect with dramatically reduced EULAR Sjögren's syndrome disease activity index (ESSDAI) in pSS patients with refractory cryoglobulinemic vasculitis (97). Thus, further large clinical trials are needed to validate the efficacy of this sequential therapy in the treatment of pSS.

REGULATORY B CELL SUBSETS

Previous studies have demonstrated that Breg cells are a subset of B cells that can negatively regulate immune response and autoimmune inflammation (98–100). Accumulated data suggest that different Breg subsets may share overlapping surface markers. In 2010, an elegant study by Mauri and colleagues identified human Breg cells with a phenotype of $CD19^+CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi}$ B cells (41). Other investigations (101) also show that IL-10-producing B cells in human blood are enriched within $CD24^{hi}CD27^+$ B cell population. Moreover, IL-10-producing B cells are identified among $CD27^{int}CD38^{hi}$ plasmablasts and exert their regulatory function during autoimmune pathogenesis in humans and mice (102). Up to date, many studies have demonstrated that Breg cells exert their inhibitory functions *via* various effector mechanisms in autoimmune diseases (103–105) (**Table 1**).

IL-10-Producing Breg Cells

In the pathogenesis of pSS, both T and B cells are prominently involved in lymphocytic infiltration and tissue inflammation in salivary glands. In ESS mice induced by immunization with salivary gland protein, Th17 cells have been shown to play a key role in initiating autoimmune inflammation and disease progression (106). Moreover, studies by Fu et al. have revealed that the deficiency of Tfh cells attenuates autoantibody production and disease progression during ESS induction in $Bcl6^{fl/fl}Cd4^{Cre}$ mice, highlighting a crucial role of Tfh cells in driving autoantibody responses and ESS progression (107). Our early studies have indicated that IL-10-producing Breg cells can potently suppress Th17 response and ameliorate collageninduced arthritis (108). Recently, we have observed negative correlations between IL-10-producing Breg cells and Tfh cell response in both pSS patients and ESS mice (42). During pSS progression, gradually reduced Breg cell frequencies are accompanied with expanded Tfh cells along with increased disease activities. In culture, Breg cells suppressed human and murine Tfh cell differentiation by promoting STAT5 phosphorylation in IL-10-dependent manner (42). Together, these findings indicate that IL-10-producing Breg cells can restrain Tfh cell response during pSS development (Figure 1). Notably, adoptive transfer of Breg cells markedly suppressed Tfh cell response and alleviated disease progression in ESS mice, indicating the potential application of Breg cell transfer as cell therapy for pSS (42). Our previous studies have demonstrated that low levels of BAFF can induce the differentiation of IL-10producing Breg cells (109). Further studies have revealed that BAFF can induce IL-10 production via activating TACImediated signal transduction in normal and chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells (110). Thus, it remains to be investigated whether and how the blockade of BAFF with Belimumab treatment may affect the generation or maintenance of Breg cells in patients with pSS or other autoimmune diseases.

In pSS patients (16), multiple subtypes of IL-10-producing Breg cells with different markers including IgA, IgG and IgM are identified. Interestingly, percentages of IgA-expressing Breg cells are higher in pSS patients than that of healthy individuals. However, frequencies of IgG-expressing Breg cells are reduced in pSS patients while IgM-expressing Breg cells are similar between pSS patients and controls. It has been reported that APRIL can induce naïve human B cells to IgA⁺ IL-10-producing Breg cells (111). Hence, elevated APRIL levels in SS patients may promote the formation of IgA-expressing Breg cells. Further characterization of Ig-expressing Breg cells will provide new insight in understanding their functional implications in the pathogenesis of pSS.

GrB-Producing Breg Cells

In addition to IL-10, other effector molecules or cytokines are also involved in the regulatory functions of B cells. GrB belongs to the serine protease family that triggers target cell apoptosis with perforin. An early study revealed that GrB inhibits CD4⁺ T cell proliferation *via* a perforin-independent manner (112). The frequencies of GrB-producing Breg cells may vary among different autoimmune diseases. In pSS patients, GrB-producing CD19⁺CD5⁺ B cells with higher IL-21 receptor (IL-21R) expression are increased in the peripheral blood, along with expanded IL-21-producing invariant NKT cells (43). However, reduced GrB-producing Breg cells with lower IL-21R are observed in RA patients and negatively correlated with disease activity (113). Similarly, the frequencies of GrB-secreting Breg cells are decreased in SLE patients, especially in patients with lupus nephritis (114). Thus, further studies on the functional implication of GrB-producing Breg cells in the pathogenesis of pSS will provide new insight in understanding their target cells and immunopathology of pSS.

IL-35-Producing Breg Cells

As a novel cytokine, IL-35 consists of p35 and EBI3, which is involved in mediating the regulatory functions of B cells. In mice

with B cell-specific p35 (p35^{-/-}) or EBI3 (Ebi3^{-/-}) deficiency, exacerbated experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) was developed (44), indicating that IL-35-producing Breg cells restrain the pathogenesis of EAE. Moreover, IL-35-producing Breg cells have been shown to suppress Th1 and Th17 cells but induce Treg cell proliferation in the murine uveitis model (45). A recent study revealed higher levels of IL-35 expression in peripheral blood from SLE patients than healthy controls (115). Further investigations (116) have found that serum IL-35 concentrations are reduced in patients with lupus nephritis (LN) compared to those without LN and negatively correlated with disease activity, suggesting that IL-35 may take part in the development of lupus nephritis. Treatment of MRL/Lpr mice with IL-35 promotes the expansion of IL-10-producing Breg cells and ameliorates the disease progression (117). Although serum levels of IL-35 are reduced in pSS patients compared with healthy controls (13), increased EBI3⁺ B cells are observed, indicating that IL-35-producing Breg cells may play a role in the pathogenesis of pSS.

Regulatory Plasma Cells

Recent studies have identified a novel subset of plasma cells expressing the inhibitory receptor LAG-3, which exert regulatory functions by secreting IL-10 in mice (46, 118). It has been shown that B cell receptor signaling is essential for the differentiation of LAG-3⁺CD138^{hi} regulatory plasma cells, since these plasma cells are not present in mice deficient for Btk. Moreover, Toll-like receptor signaling is critically involved in controlling IL-10 production in regulatory plasma cells (46). In addition, plasmablasts have also been reported to exert the regulatory function in an EAE mouse model, in which plasmablasts in the draining lymph nodes produce IL-10 to suppress autoimmune pathogenesis (102). Together, these studies provide further evidence on the expanding functional diversity of plasma cells in immunity and inflammation.

INTERACTIONS BETWEEN SALIVARY GLAND EPITHELIAL CELLS AND B CELLS

Lines of evidence suggest that the interactions between salivary gland epithelial cells (SGECs) and B cells may promote SS pathogenesis via multiple effector mechanisms (119). It has been shown that SGECs can drive B cell activation, differentiation and survival through the direct interaction and cytokine production (120, 121). In culture, SGECs from pSS patients promote B cell differentiation into mature B cell phenotypes (120). Moreover, the survival rates of B cells are also increased when cultured with SGECs from pSS patients (121). There is increasing evidence that SGECs may induce B cell differentiation in an indirect manner. It has been reported that SGECs can promote T follicular helper cell differentiation and IL-21 production (122), which may further enhance B cell hyperactivity in the salivary gland of pSS patients. Accordingly, the crosstalk between SGECs and B cells highlights a critical role of SG epithelial cells in SS pathogenesis.

CONCLUSION

Available studies have indicated that various pathogenic B cell subsets contribute to the disease progression of pSS, while Breg cells alleviate the disease activities. However, there is evidence that B cell predominant phenotype does not involve all pSS patients, which warrants further studies on the pivotal roles of T cells and innate immune cell types in the pathogenesis of pSS (3, 123). Recent findings have provided new insight in understanding the pathogenic mechanisms of pSS and validated B cell-targeted therapy as future therapeutic options for patients with pSS (Figure 1). The major challenges in B cell-targeted therapy include the specific reduction of disease-related B cell subsets, instead of the complete depletion of the broader B cell population. In addition, Breg cell-based therapy may represent a promising clinical application for the therapeutic intervention. Further studies on the identification and functional characterization of novel B cell subsets in the pathogenesis of pSS will facilitate the development of new therapeutic strategies for Sjögren's syndrome and other autoimmune diseases.

REFERENCES

- Mariette X, Criswell LA. Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. N Engl J Med (2018) 378:931–39. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1702514
- Fox RI. Sjögren's Syndrome. Lancet (2005) 366:321–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66990-5
- Fasano S, Mauro D, Macaluso F, Xiao F, Zhao Y, Lu L, et al. Pathogenesis of Primary Sjögren's Syndrome Beyond B Lymphocytes. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2020) 38:S315–23.
- Xu D, Zhao S, Li Q, Wang Y, Zhao J, Li M, et al. Characteristics of Chinese Patients With Primary Sjögren's Syndrome: Preliminary Report of a Multi-Centre Registration Study. *Lupus* (2020) 29:45–51. doi: 10.1177/ 0961203319889666
- Voulgarelis M, Tzioufas AG. Pathogenetic Mechanisms in the Initiation and Perpetuation of Sjögren's Syndrome. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2010) 6:529–37. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2010.118
- Salomonsson S, Jonsson MV, Skarstein K, Brokstad KA, Hjelmström P, Wahren-Herlenius M, et al. Cellular Basis of Ectopic Germinal Center Formation and Autoantibody Production in the Target Organ of Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum* (2003) 48:3187–201. doi: 10.1002/art.11311
- Theander E, Jonsson R, Sjöström B, Brokstad K, Olsson P, Henriksson G. Prediction of Sjögren's Syndrome Years Before Diagnosis and Identification of Patients With Early Onset and Severe Disease Course by Autoantibody Profiling. Arthritis Rheumatol (2015) 67:2427–36. doi: 10.1002/art.39214
- Shen L, Gao C, Suresh L, Xian Z, Song N, Chaves LD, et al. Central Role for Marginal Zone B Cells in an Animal Model of Sjogren's Syndrome. *Clin Immunol* (2016) 168:30–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2016.04.008
- Daridon C, Guerrier T, Devauchelle V, Saraux A, Pers J-O, Youinou P. Polarization of B Effector Cells in Sjögren's Syndrome. *Autoimmun Rev* (2007) 6:427–31. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2007.01.010
- Youinou P, Pers J-O. Disturbance of Cytokine Networks in Sjögren's Syndrome. Arthritis Res Ther (2011) 13:227. doi: 10.1186/ar3348
- Adler LN, Jiang W, Bhamidipati K, Millican M, Macaubas C, Hung S, et al. The Other Function: Class II-Restricted Antigen Presentation by B Cells. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:319. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00319
- Ma K, Wang X, Shi X, Lin X, Xiao F, Ma X, et al. The Expanding Functional Diversity of Plasma Cells in Immunity and Inflammation. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2020) 17:421–22. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0308-z
- Guo J, Gu M, Zhang W, Liu Y, Qian C, Deng A. Aberrant IL-35 Levels in Patients With Primary Sjogren's Syndrome. *Scand J Immunol* (2018) 88: e12718. doi: 10.1111/sji.12718

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC) (82071817, 82004171), Funding for Chongqing International Institute for Immunology (2020YJC10), Hong Kong Research Grants Council General Research Fund (17113319) and Theme-Based Research Scheme (T12-703/19R), the Fundamental Research Funds for Central Public Welfare Research Institutes (ZZ13-YQ-033-C1), Young Elite Scientist Sponsorship Program by CACM (CACM-2020-QNRC2-05) and HKU Seed Funding for Strategic Interdisciplinary Research Scheme.

- 14. Lin W, Jin LX, Chen H, Wu Q, Fei Y, Zheng W, et al. B Cell Subsets and Dysfunction of Regulatory B Cells in IgG4-Related Diseases and Primary Sjögren's Syndrome: The Similarities and Differences. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2014) 16:R118. doi: 10.1186/ar4571
- Simon Q, Pers J-O, Cornec D, Le Pottier L, Mageed RA, Hillion S. In-Depth Characterization of CD24 High CD38 High Transitional Human B Cells Reveals Different Regulatory Profiles. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2016) 137:1577–84.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.09.014.
- Furuzawa-Carballeda J, Hernández-Molina G, Lima G, Rivera-Vicencio Y, Férez-Blando K, Llorente L. Peripheral Regulatory Cells Immunophenotyping in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2013) 15:R68. doi: 10.1186/ar4245
- Davis RS. Fc Receptor-Like Molecules. Annu Rev Immunol (2007) 25:525– 60. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141541
- Ehrhardt GRA, Hsu JT, Gartland L, Leu C-M, Zhang S, Davis RS, et al. Expression of the Immunoregulatory Molecule FcRH4 Defines a Distinctive Tissue-Based Population of Memory B Cells. J Exp Med (2005) 202:783–91. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050879
- Jourdan M, Robert N, Cren M, Thibaut C, Duperray C, Kassambara A, et al. Characterization of Human FCRL4-Positive B Cells. *PloS One* (2017) 12: e0179793. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179793
- Polson AG, Zheng B, Elkins K, Chang W, Du C, Dowd P, et al. Expression Pattern of the Human FcRH/IRTA Receptors in Normal Tissue and in B-Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Int Immunol* (2006) 18:1363–73. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxl069
- Haacke EA, Bootsma H, Spijkervet FKL, Visser A, Vissink A, Kluin PM, et al. Fcrl4⁺ B-Cells in Salivary Glands of Primary Sjögren's Syndrome Patients. *J Autoimmun* (2017) 81:90–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.03.012
- 22. Verstappen GM, Ice JA, Bootsma H, Pringle S, Haacke EA, de Lange K, et al. Gene Expression Profiling of Epithelium-Associated Fcrl4⁺ B Cells in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome Reveals a Pathogenic Signature. J Autoimmun (2020) 109:102439. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2020.102439
- Cuello C, Palladinetti P, Tedla N, Di Girolamo N, Lloyd AR, McCluskey PJ, et al. Chemokine Expression and Leucocyte Infiltration in Sjögren's Syndrome. *Br J Rheumatol* (1998) 37:779–83. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/37.7.779
- Hao Y, O'Neill P, Naradikian MS, Scholz JL, Cancro MP. A B-cell Subset Uniquely Responsive to Innate Stimuli Accumulates in Aged Mice. *Blood* (2011) 118:1294–304. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-330530
- Rubtsov AV, Rubtsova K, Fischer A, Meehan RT, Gillis JZ, Kappler JW, et al. Toll-Like Receptor 7 (TLR7)–Driven Accumulation of a Novel CD11c⁺ B-Cell Population Is Important for the Development of Autoimmunity. *Blood* (2011) 118:1305–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-331462

- Rubtsova K, Rubtsov AV, van Dyk LF, Kappler JW, Marrack P. T-Box Transcription Factor T-Bet, a Key Player in a Unique Type of B-Cell Activation Essential for Effective Viral Clearance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) 110:E3216–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1312348110
- Ramsköld D, Parodis I, Lakshmikanth T, Sippl N, Khademi M, Chen Y, et al. B Cell Alterations During BAFF Inhibition With Belimumab in SLE. *EBioMedicine* (2019) 40:517–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.12.035
- Zhao Q, Chen X, Hou Y, Jiang J, Zhong W, Yao X, et al. Pharmacokinetics, Pharmacodynamics, Safety, and Clinical Activity of Multiple Doses of RCT-18 in Chinese Patients With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. J Clin Pharmacol (2016) 56:948–59. doi: 10.1002/jcph.686
- Wang S-P, Iwata S, Nakayamada S, Niiro H, Jabbarzadeh-Tabrizi S, Kondo M, et al. Amplification of IL-21 Signalling Pathway Through Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase in Human B Cell Activation. *Rheumatology* (2015) 54:1488–97. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keu532
- Corneth OBJ, Verstappen GMP, Paulissen SMJ, de Bruijn MJW, Rip J, Lukkes M, et al. Enhanced Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase Activity in Peripheral Blood B Lymphocytes From Patients With Autoimmune Disease. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017) 69:1313–24. doi: 10.1002/art.40059
- Russell Knode LM, Naradikian MS, Myles A, Scholz JL, Hao Y, Liu D, et al. Age-Associated B Cells Express a Diverse Repertoire of VH and Vκ Genes With Somatic Hypermutation. *J Immunol* (2017) 198:1921–7. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1601106
- 32. Lorenzetti R, Janowska I, Smulski CR, Frede N, Henneberger N, Walter L, et al. Abatacept Modulates CD80 and CD86 Expression and Memory Formation in Human B-Cells. J Autoimmun (2019) 101:145–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2019.04.016
- Glauzy S, Sng J, Bannock JM, Gottenberg J-E, Korganow A-S, Cacoub P, et al. Defective Early B Cell Tolerance Checkpoints in Sjögren's Syndrome Patients. Arthritis Rheumatol (2017) 69:2203–8. doi: 10.1002/art.40215
- 34. Kanayama N, Cascalho M, Ohmori H. Analysis of Marginal Zone B Cell Development in the Mouse With Limited B Cell Diversity: Role of the Antigen Receptor Signals in the Recruitment of B Cells to the Marginal Zone. J Immunol (2005) 174:1438–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.3.1438
- Hansen A, Reiter K, Ziprian T, Jacobi A, Hoffmann A, Gosemann M, et al. Dysregulation of Chemokine Receptor Expression and Function by B Cells of Patients With Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52:2109–19. doi: 10.1002/art.21129
- 36. Szyszko EA, Brokstad KA, Øijordsbakken G, Jonsson MV, Jonsson R, Skarstein K. Salivary Glands of Primary Sjögren's Syndrome Patients Express Factors Vital for Plasma Cell Survival. Arthritis Res Ther (2011) 13:R2. doi: 10.1186/ar3220
- 37. Jin L, Yu D, Li X, Yu N, Li X, Wang Y, et al. CD4⁺CXCR5⁺ Follicular Helper T Cells in Salivary Gland Promote B Cells Maturation in Patients With Primary Sjogren's Syndrome. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2014) 7:1988–96.
- Szyszko EA, Brun JG, Skarstein K, Peck AB, Jonsson R, Brokstad KA. Phenotypic Diversity of Peripheral Blood Plasma Cells in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. Scand J Immunol (2011) 73:18–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2010.02475.x
- Szyszko EA, Skarstein K, Jonsson R, Brokstad KA. Distinct Phenotypes of Plasma Cells in Spleen and Bone Marrow of Autoimmune NOD.B10.H2b Mice. *Autoimmunity* (2011) 44:415–26. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2010.545847
- Xiao F, Lin X, Tian J, Wang X, Chen Q, Rui K, et al. Proteasome Inhibition Suppresses Th17 Cell Generation and Ameliorates Autoimmune Development in Experimental Sjögren's Syndrome. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2017) 14:924–34. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.8
- 41. Blair PA, Noreña LY, Flores-Borja F, Rawlings DJ, Isenberg DA, Ehrenstein MR, et al. Cd19⁺Cd24^{hi}cd38^{hi} B Cells Exhibit Regulatory Capacity in Healthy Individuals But Are Functionally Impaired in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients. *Immunity* (2010) 32:129–40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.11.009
- Lin X, Wang X, Xiao F, Ma K, Liu L, Wang X, et al. Il-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells Restrain the T Follicular Helper Cell Response in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2019) 16:921–31. doi: 10.1038/ s41423-019-0227-z
- Papp G, Gyimesi E, Szabó K, Zöld É, Zeher M. Increased IL-21 Expression Induces Granzyme B in Peripheral Cd5⁺ B Cells as a Potential Counter-

Regulatory Effect in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. *Mediators Inflammation* (2016) 2016:4328372. doi: 10.1155/2016/4328372

- 44. Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-Producing B Cells Are Critical Regulators of Immunity During Autoimmune and Infectious Diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507:366–70. doi: 10.1038/nature12979
- 45. Wang R-X, Yu C-R, Dambuza IM, Mahdi RM, Dolinska MB, Sergeey YV, et al. Interleukin-35 Induces Regulatory B Cells That Suppress Cns Autoimmune Disease. Nat Med (2014) 20:633–41. doi: 10.1038/nm.3554
- Lino AC, Dang VD, Lampropoulou V, Welle A, Joedicke J, Pohar J, et al. Lag-3 Inhibitory Receptor Expression Identifies Immunosuppressive Natural Regulatory Plasma Cells. *Immunity* (2018) 49:120–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.06.007. e9.
- Chambers SA, Isenberg D. Anti-B Cell Therapy (Rituximab) in the Treatment of Autoimmune Diseases. *Lupus* (2005) 14:210–4. doi: 10.1191/ 0961203305lu2138oa
- Verstappen GM, Kroese FGM, Meiners PM, Corneth OB, Huitema MG, Haacke EA, et al. B Cell Depletion Therapy Normalizes Circulating Follicular Th Cells in Primary Sjögren Syndrome. J Rheumatol (2017) 44:49–58. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.160313
- Jenks SA, Cashman KS, Zumaquero E, Marigorta UM, Patel AV, Wang X, et al. Distinct Effector B-Cells Induced by Unregulated Toll-Like Receptor 7 Contribute to Pathogenic Responses in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Immunity* (2018) 49:725–39.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.08.015
- Wang S, Wang J, Kumar V, Karnell JL, Naiman B, Gross PS, et al. Il-21 Drives Expansion and Plasma Cell Differentiation of Autoreactive CD11c^{hi} T-Bet⁺ B Cells in SLE. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:1758. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03750-7
- Claes N, Fraussen J, Vanheusden M, Hellings N, Stinissen P, Wijmeersch BV, et al. Age-Associated B Cells With Proinflammatory Characteristics Are Expanded in a Proportion of Multiple Sclerosis Patients. *J Immunol* (2016) 197:4576–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502448
- Rubtsova K, Rubtsov AV, Thurman JM, Mennona JM, Kappler JW, Marrack P. B Cells Expressing the Transcription Factor T-Bet Drive Lupus-Like Autoimmunity. J Clin Invest (2017) 127:1392–404. doi: 10.1172/JCI91250
- Rubtsov AV, Rubtsova K, Kappler JW, Jacobelli J, Friedman RS, Marrack P. Cd11c-Expressing B Cells Are Located at the T Cell/B Cell Border in Spleen and Are Potent Apcs. J Immunol (2015) 195:71–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1500055
- Marafioti T, Jones M, Facchetti F, Diss TC, Du M-Q, Isaacson PG, et al. Phenotype and Genotype of Interfollicular Large B Cells, A Subpopulation of Lymphocytes Often With Dendritic Morphology. *Blood* (2003) 102:2868–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-03-0692
- 55. Bombardieri M, Barone F, Humby F, Kelly S, McGurk M, Morgan P, et al. Activation-Induced Cytidine Deaminase Expression in Follicular Dendritic Cell Networks and Interfollicular Large B Cells Supports Functionality of Ectopic Lymphoid Neogenesis in Autoimmune Sialoadenitis and MALT Lymphoma in Sjögren's Syndrome. J Immunol (2007) 179:4929–38. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.7.4929
- Moldenhauer G, Popov SW, Wotschke B, Brüderlein S, Riedl P, Fissolo N, et al. AID Expression Identifies Interfollicular Large B Cells as Putative Precursors of Mature B-Cell Malignancies. *Blood* (2006) 107:2470–3. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-06-2502
- Golinski M-L, Demeules M, Derambure C, Riou G, Maho-Vaillant M, Boyer O, et al. Cd11c⁺ B Cells Are Mainly Memory Cells, Precursors of Antibody Secreting Cells in Healthy Donors. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:32. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00032
- Zumaquero E, Stone SL, Scharer CD, Jenks SA, Nellore A, Mousseau B, et al. Ifnγ Induces Epigenetic Programming of Human T-Bet^{hi} B Cells and Promotes TLR7/8 and IL-21 Induced Differentiation. *Elife* (2019) 8: e41641. doi: 10.7554/eLife.41641
- Soni C, Perez OA, Voss WN, Pucella JN, Serpas L, Mehl J, et al. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells and Type I Interferon Promote Extrafollicular B Cell Responses to Extracellular Self-DNA. *Immunity* (2020) 52:1022–38. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.04.015
- 60. Chen X, Jiang S, Zhou Z, Xu X, Ying S, Du L, et al. Increased Expression of Interleukin-21-Inducible Genes in Minor Salivary Glands Are Associated

With Primary Sjögren's Syndrome Disease Characteristics. *Rheumatology* (2020) 00:1–11. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa695

- 61. Pontarini E, Murray-Brown WJ, Croia C, Lucchesi D, Conway J, Rivellese F, et al. Unique Expansion of IL-21⁺ Tfh and Tph Cells Under Control of ICOS Identifies Sjögren's Syndrome With Ectopic Germinal Centres and MALT Lymphoma. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2020) 79:1588–99. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217646
- 62. Kiyama K, Kawabata D, Hosono Y, Kitagori K, Yukawa N, Yoshifuji H, et al. Serum BAFF and APRIL Levels in Patients With IgG4-Related Disease and Their Clinical Significance. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2012) 14:R86. doi: 10.1186/ar3810
- 63. Carrillo-Ballesteros FJ, Palafox-Sánchez CA, Franco-Topete RA, Muñoz-Valle JF, Orozco-Barocio G, Martínez-Bonilla GE, et al. Expression of BAFF and BAFF Receptors in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome Patients With Ectopic Germinal Center-Like Structures. *Clin Exp Med* (2020) 20:615–26. doi: 10.1007/s10238-020-00637-0
- 64. Lavie F, Miceli-Richard C, Quillard J, Roux S, Leclerc P, Mariette X. Expression of BAFF (BlyS) in T Cells Infiltrating Labial Salivary Glands From Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome. J Pathol (2004) 202:496–502. doi: 10.1002/path.1533
- 65. Mariette X, Seror R, Quartuccio L, Baron G, Salvin S, Fabris M, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Belimumab in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome: Results of the BELISS Open-Label Phase II Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2015) 74:526–31. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203991
- 66. Wu D, Li J, Xu D, Wang W, Li L, Fang J, et al. A Human Recombinant Fusion Protein Targeting B Lymphocyte Stimulator (BlyS) and a Proliferation-Inducing Ligand (April), Telitacicept (RC18). In: Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE): Results of a Phase 2b Study [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum. (2019). Available at: https://acrabstracts.org/abstract/a-human-recombinant-fusion-proteintargeting-b-lymphocyte-stimulator-blys-and-a-proliferation-inducing-ligandapril-telitacicept-rc18-in-systemic-lupus-erythematosus-sle-results-of-a-phase.
- Saadoun D, Terrier B, Bannock J, Vazquez T, Massad C, Kang I, et al. Expansion of Autoreactive Unresponsive CD21^{-/Low} B Cells in Sjögren's Syndrome–Associated Lymphoproliferation. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65:1085–96. doi: 10.1002/art.37828
- Wehr C, Eibel H, Masilamani M, Illges H, Schlesier M, Peter H-H, et al. A New CD21^{low} B Cell Population in the Peripheral Blood of Patients With SLE. *Clin Immunol* (2004) 113:161–71. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2004.05.010
- 69. Thorarinsdottir K, Camponeschi A, Jonsson C, Önnheim KG, Nilsson J, Forslind K, et al. CD21^{-/Low} B Cells Associate With Joint Damage in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. *Scand J Immunol* (2019) 90:e12792. doi: 10.1111/sji.12792
- Reincke ME, Payne KJ, Harder I, Strohmeier V, Voll RE, Warnatz K, et al. The Antigen Presenting Potential of CD21^{low} B Cells. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:535784. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.535784
- Daridon C, Pers J-O, Devauchelle V, Martins-Carvalho C, Hutin P, Pennec Y-L, et al. Identification of Transitional Type II B Cells in the Salivary Glands of Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum* (2006) 54:2280–8. doi: 10.1002/art.21936
- 72. Fletcher CA, Sutherland APR, Groom JR, Batten ML, Ng LG, Gommerman J, et al. Development of Nephritis But Not Sialadenitis in Autoimmune-Prone BAFF Transgenic Mice Lacking Marginal Zone B Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36:2504–14. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636270
- 73. Royer B, Cazals-Hatem D, Sibilia J, Agbalika F, Cayuela J-M, Soussi T, et al. Lymphomas in Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome are Marginal Zone B-Cell Neoplasms, Arise in Diverse Extranodal and Nodal Sites, and Are Not Associated With Viruses. *Blood* (1997) 90:766–75. doi: 10.1182/blood.V90.2.766
- 74. Demaria L, Henry J, Seror R, Frenzel L, Hermine O, Mariette X, et al. Rituximab-Bendamustine (R-Benda) in MALT Lymphoma Complicating Primary Sjögren Syndrome (Pss). Br J Haematol (2019) 184:472–5. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15120
- 75. Hansen A, Odendahl M, Reiter K, Jacobi AM, Feist E, Scholze J, et al. Diminished Peripheral Blood Memory B Cells and Accumulation of Memory B Cells in the Salivary Glands of Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome. Arthritis Rheum (2002) 46:2160–71. doi: 10.1002/art.10445
- Hansen A, Lipsky PE, Dörner T. B Cells in Sjögren's Syndrome: Indications for Disturbed Selection and Differentiation in Ectopic Lymphoid Tissue. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2007) 9:218. doi: 10.1186/ar2210

- 77. Ma K, Du W, Xiao F, Han M, Huang E, Peng N, et al. Il-17 Sustains the Plasma Cell Response Via P38-Mediated Bcl-xL RNA Stability in Lupus Pathogenesis. Cell Mol Immunol (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-00540-4
- 78. Ittah M, Miceli-Richard C, Eric Gottenberg J-E, Lavie F, Lazure T, Ba N, et al. B Cell-Activating Factor of the Tumor Necrosis Factor Family (BAFF) Is Expressed Under Stimulation by Interferon in Salivary Gland Epithelial Cells in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2006) 8:R51. doi: 10.1186/ar1912
- Vosters JL, Roescher N, Polling EJ, Illei GG, Tak PP. The Expression of APRIL in Sjögren's Syndrome: Aberrant Expression of APRIL in the Salivary Gland. *Rheumatology* (2012) 51:1557–62. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kes080
- Bontscho J, Schreiber A, Manz RA, Schneider W, Luft FC, Kettritz R. Myeloperoxidase-Specific Plasma Cell Depletion by Bortezomib Protects From Anti-Neutrophil Cytoplasmic Autoantibodies-Induced Glomerulonephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2011) 22:336–48. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2010010034
- Gomez AM, Vrolix K, Martínez-Martínez P, Molenaar PC, Phernambucq M, van der EE, et al. Proteasome Inhibition With Bortezomib Depletes Plasma Cells and Autoantibodies in Experimental Autoimmune Myasthenia Gravis. J Immunol (2011) 186:2503–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002539
- 82. Taddeo A, Khodadadi L, Voigt C, Mumtaz IM, Cheng Q, Moser K, et al. Long-Lived Plasma Cells Are Early and Constantly Generated in New Zealand Black/New Zealand White F1 Mice and Their Therapeutic Depletion Requires a Combined Targeting of Autoreactive Plasma Cells and Their Precursors. *Arthritis ResTher* (2015) 17:39. doi: 10.1186/s13075-015-0551-3
- Neubert K, Meister S, Moser K, Weisel F, Maseda D, Amann K, et al. The Proteasome Inhibitor Bortezomib Depletes Plasma Cells and Protects Mice With Lupus-Like Disease From Nephritis. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:748–55. doi: 10.1038/nm1763
- Rosenberg AS, Pariser AR, Diamond B, Yao L, Turka LA, Lacana E, et al. A Role for Plasma Cell Targeting Agents in Immune Tolerance Induction in Autoimmune Disease and Antibody Responses to Therapeutic Proteins. *Clin Immunol* (2016) 165:55–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2016.02.009
- Mehta B, Mahadeo K, Zaw R, Tang S, Kapoor N, Abdel-Azim H. Bortezomib for Effective Treatment of a Child With Refractory Autoimmune Hemolytic Anemia Post Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2014) 61:2324–5. doi: 10.1002/pbc.25172
- Jakez-Ocampo J, Atisha-Fregoso Y, Llorente L. Refractory Primary Sjögren Syndrome Successfully Treated With Bortezomib. J Clin Rheumatol (2015) 21:31–2. doi: 10.1097/RHU.00000000000210
- Yates S, Matevosyan K, Rutherford C, Shen Y-M, Sarode R. Bortezomib for Chronic Relapsing Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura: A Case Report. *Transfusion* (2014) 54:2064–7. doi: 10.1111/trf.12614
- van Balen T, Schreuder MF, de Jong H, van de Kar NCAJ. Refractory Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura in a 16-Year-Old Girl: Successful Treatment With Bortezomib. *Eur J Haematol* (2014) 92:80–2. doi: 10.1111/ ejh.12206
- Gomez AM, Willcox N, Molenaar PC, Buurman W, Martinez-Martinez P, Baets MHD, et al. Targeting Plasma Cells With Proteasome Inhibitors: Possible Roles in Treating Myasthenia Gravis? *Ann NY Acad Sci* (2012) 1274:48–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06824.x
- Hiepe F, Radbruch A. Plasma Cells as an Innovative Target in Autoimmune Disease With Renal Manifestations. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2016) 12:232–40. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.20
- Hiepe F, Dörner T, Hauser AE, Hoyer BF, Mei H, Radbruch A. Long-Lived Autoreactive Plasma Cells Drive Persistent Autoimmune Inflammation. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2011) 7:170–8. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2011.1
- Devauchelle-Pensec V, Mariette X, Jousse-Joulin S, Berthelot J-M, Perdriger A, Puéchal X, et al. Treatment of Primary Sjögren Syndrome With Rituximab. Ann Intern Med (2014) 160:233–42. doi: 10.7326/M13-1085
- 93. Bowman SJ, Everett CC, O'Dwyer JL, Emery P, Pitzalis C, Ng W-F, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of Rituximab and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis in Treating Fatigue and Oral Dryness in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017) 69:1440–50. doi: 10.1002/art.40093
- 94. Lim SH, Vaughan AT, Ashton-Key M, Williams EL, Dixon SV, Chan HTC, et al. Fc Gamma Receptor IIb on Target B Cells Promotes Rituximab

Du et al.

Internalization and Reduces Clinical Efficacy. *Blood* (2011) 118:2530–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-330357

- 95. Richter M, Yumul R, Saydaminova K, Wang H, Gough M, Baldessari A, et al. Preclinical Safety, Pharmacokinetics, Pharmacodynamics, and Biodistribution Studies With Ad35K++ Protein: A Novel Rituximab Cotherapeutic. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2016) 5:16013. doi: 10.1038/mtm.2016.13
- 96. Kawano M, Seya T, Koni L, Mabuchi H. Elevated Serum Levels of Soluble Membrane Cofactor Protein (CD46, MCP) in Patients With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE). *Clin Exp Immunol* (1999) 116:542–6. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2249.1999.00917.x
- 97. Chevalier K, Belkhir R, Seror R, Mariette X, Nocturne G. Efficacity of a Sequential Treatment by Anti-CD 20 Monoclonal Antibody and Belimumab in Type II Cryoglobulinaemia Associated With Primary Sjögren Syndrome Refractory to Rituximab Alone. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2020) 79:1257–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-21748
- Mizoguchi A, Bhan AK. A Case for Regulatory B Cells. J Immunol (2006) 176:705–10. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.2.705
- Wolf SD, Dittel BN, Hardardottir F, Janeway CAJr. Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Induction in Genetically B Cell–Deficient Mice. J Exp Med (1996) 184:2271–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.184.6.2271
- 100. Mizoguchi A, Mizoguchi E, Smith RN, Preffer FI, Bhan AK. Suppressive Role of B Cells in Chronic Colitis of T Cell Receptor α Mutant Mice. J Exp Med (1997) 186:1749–56. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.10.1749
- 101. Iwata Y, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Dilillo DJ, Yanaba K, Venturi GM, et al. Characterization of a Rare IL-10–Competent B-Cell Subset in Humans That Parallels Mouse Regulatory B10 Cells. *Blood* (2011) 117:530–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-294249
- 102. Matsumoto M, Baba A, Yokota T, Nishikawa H, Ohkawa Y, Kayama H, et al. Interleukin-10-Producing Plasmablasts Exert Regulatory Function in Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 41:1040–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2014.10.016
- 103. Mauri C, Gray D, Mushtaq N, Londei M. Prevention of Arthritis by Interleukin 10-Producing B Cells. J Exp Med (2003) 197:489-501. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021293
- 104. Watanabe R, Ishiura N, Nakashima H, Kuwano Y, Okochi H, Tamaki K, et al. Regulatory B Cells (B10 Cells) Have a Suppressive Role in Murine Lupus: CD19 and B10 Cell Deficiency Exacerbates Systemic Autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:4801–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902385
- 105. Blair PA, Chavez-Rueda KA, Evans JG, Shlomchik MJ, Eddaoudi A, Isenberg DA, et al. Selective Targeting of B Cells With Agonistic Anti-CD40 Is an Efficacious Strategy for the Generation of Induced Regulatory T2-Like B Cells and for the Suppression of Lupus in MRL/lpr Mice. J Immunol (2009) 182:3492–502. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803052
- 106. Lin X, Rui K, Deng J, Tian J, Wang X, Wang S, et al. Th17 Cells Play a Critical Role in the Development of Experimental Sjögren's Syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis (2015) 74:1302–10. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204584
- 107. Fu W, Liu X, Lin X, Feng H, Sun L, Li S, et al. Deficiency in T Follicular Regulatory Cells Promotes Autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2018) 215:815–25. doi: 10.1084/jem.20170901
- 108. Yang M, Deng J, Liu Y, Ko K-H, Wang X, Jiao Z, et al. Il-10–Producing Regulatory B10 Cells Ameliorate Collagen-Induced Arthritis Via Suppressing Th17 Cell Generation. Am J Pathol (2012) 180:2375–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.03.010
- 109. Yang M, Sun L, Wang S, Ko K-H, Xu H, Zheng B-J, et al. Cutting Edge: Novel Function of B Cell-Activating Factor in the Induction of IL-10–Producing Regulatory B Cells. J Immunol (2010) 184:3321–5. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0902551
- 110. Saulep-Easton D, Vincent FB, Quah PS, Wei A, Ting SB, Croce CM, et al. The BAFF Receptor TACI Controls IL-10 Production by Regulatory B Cells and CLL B Cells. *Leukemia* (2016) 30:163–72. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.174

- 111. Fehres CM, van Uden NO, Yeremenko NG, Fernandez L, Franco Salinas G, van Duivenvoorde LM, et al. April Induces a Novel Subset of IgA⁺ Regulatory B Cells That Suppress Inflammation *Via* Expression of IL-10 and PD-L1. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1368. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01368
- 112. Lindner S, Dahlke K, Sontheimer K, Hagn M, Kaltenmeier C, Barth TFE, et al. Interleukin 21–Induced Granzyme B–Expressing B Cells Infiltrate Tumors and Regulate T Cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:2468–79. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-12-3450
- 113. Xu L, Liu X, Liu H, Zhu L, Zhu H, Zhang J, et al. Impairment of Granzyme B-Producing Regulatory B Cells Correlates With Exacerbated Rheumatoid Arthritis. Front Immunol (2017) 8:768. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00768
- 114. Rabani M, Wilde B, Hübbers K, Xu S, Kribben A, Witzke O, et al. Il-21 Dependent Granzyme B Production of B-Cells Is Decreased in Patients With Lupus Nephritis. *Clin Immunol* (2018) 188:45–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.clim.2017.12.005
- 115. Cai Z, Wong CK, Kam NW, Dong J, Jiao D, Chu M, et al. Aberrant Expression of Regulatory Cytokine IL-35 in Patients With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Lupus* (2015) 24:1257–66. doi: 10.1177/0961203315585815
- 116. He D, Liu M, Liu B. Interleukin-35 as a New Biomarker of Renal Involvement in Lupus Nephritis Patients. *Tohoku J Exp Med* (2018) 244:263–70. doi: 10.1620/tjem.244.263
- 117. Cai Z, Wong CK, Dong J, Chu M, Jiao D, Kam NW, et al. Remission of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity With Regulatory Cytokine Interleukin (IL)-35 in Murphy Roths Large (MRL)/Lpr Mice. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2015) 181:253–66. doi: 10.1111/cei.12639
- Fillatreau S. Natural Regulatory Plasma Cells. Curr Opin Immunol (2018) 55:62–6. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.09.012
- 119. Verstappen GM, Pringle S, Bootsma H, Kroese FGM. Epithelial-Immune Cell Interplay in Primary Sjögren Syndrome Salivary Gland Pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2021) 17:333–48. doi: 10.1038/s41584-021-00605-2
- 120. Morva A, Kapsogeorgou EK, Konsta OD, Moutsopoulos HM, Tzioufas AG. Op0079 Salivary Gland Epithelial Cells (SGECS) Promote the Differentiation of B Cells. Ann Rheum Dis (2013) 72:A77–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-eular.284
- 121. Rivière E, Pascaud J, Tchitchek N, Boudaoud S, Paoletti A, Ly B, et al. Salivary Gland Epithelial Cells From Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome Induce B-Lymphocyte Survival and Activation. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79:1468–77. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-216588
- 122. Gong Y-Z, Nititham J, Taylor K, Miceli-Richard C, Sordet C, Wachsmann D, et al. Differentiation of Follicular Helper T Cells by Salivary Gland Epithelial Cells in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. J Autoimmun (2014) 51:57–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2013.11.003
- 123. Xiao F, Han M, Rui K, Ai X, Tian J, Zhang W, et al. New Insights Into Follicular Helper T Cell Response and Regulation in Autoimmune Pathogenesis. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2021) 18:1610–2. doi: 10.1038/s41423-021-00688-7

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer RL declared a shared affiliation with several of the authors, [XZ and HZ], to the handling editor at the time of review.

Copyright © 2021 Du, Han, Zhu, Xiao, Huang, Che, Tang, Zou, Jiang and Lu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Predictive Values of PET/CT in Combination With Regulatory B Cells for Therapeutic Response and Survival in Contemporary Patients With Newly Diagnosed Multiple Myeloma

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yiwei Chu, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Laurent Garderet, Assistance Publique Hopitaux De Paris, France Ding Chong Yang, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, China

*Correspondence:

Li Zhang drzhangli2014@sina.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 February 2021 Accepted: 26 July 2021 Published: 19 August 2021

Citation:

Cui J, Zou Z, Duan J, Tang W, Li Y, Zhang L, Pan L and Niu T (2021) Predictive Values of PET/CT in Combination With Regulatory B Cells for Therapeutic Response and Survival in Contemporary Patients With Newly Diagnosed Multiple Myeloma. Front. Immunol. 12:671904. doi: 10.3389/firmmu.2021.671904 Jian Cui^{1,2†}, Zhongqing Zou^{1,3†}, Jiayu Duan^{1,2}, Wenjiao Tang¹, Yan Li¹, Li Zhang^{1*}, Ling Pan¹ and Ting Niu¹

¹ Department of Hematology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ² West China School of Medicine, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ³ Department of Hematology, Clinical Medical College & Affiliated Hospital of Chengdu University, Chengdu University, Chengdu, China

To assess patients with multiple myeloma (MM), the whole-body positron-emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) occupies a pivotal position for diagnostic stratification, response evaluation, and survival prediction, while important limitations are recognized as incapable of representing tumor microenvironment. Regulatory B cells (Bregs) have been reported to have an inhibitory immune function, contributing to bone marrow (BM)-immunosuppressive microenvironment for MM. Therefore, to investigate the role of PET/CT in combination with Bregs' ratios to predict therapeutic response and survival, we sequentially enrolled 120 patients with newly diagnosed MM (NDMM) who were treated with novel agents in our center, while conventional PET/CT parameters including maximum standard uptake value (SUVmax), ratios of BM-derived Bregs within CD19⁺ B cells, and patients' clinical characteristics were collected. After a median followup of 28.20 months (range 7.00-46.93 months), SUVmax > 4.2 at onset, accounting for 53.2% of NDMM, was uncovered to predict inferior progression-free survival (PFS) as well as overall survival (OS). With regard to the ratios of BM-derived Bregs within CD19⁺ B cells, the cohort with the Bregs' proportions lower than 10%, accounting for 46.2%, exerted poorer OS. Additionally, the patients with both SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios <10%, accounting for 31.7%, yielded compromised therapeutic response and long-term survival. Collectively, this study may draw attention on the prognostic value of combination of PET/CT and Bregs' ratios when clinical decisions are made for MM in the era of novel agents.

Keywords: myeloma, PET/CT, regulatory B cells, prognosis, tumor microenvironment

INTRODUCTION

Risk stratifications of newly diagnosed multiple myeloma (NDMM) have been assessed by a number of prognostic variables. The International Staging System (ISS) and the revised ISS (R-ISS), which combine biochemical indicators and cytogenetic abnormalities (1, 2), are the most widely used. However, neither ISS nor R-ISS can reflect tumor biology determined by bone destruction and abnormalities of tumor microenvironment (TME), which are important pathogenic factors in MM (3, 4). Additionally, the reliability of cytogenetic results is unavoidably influenced by the uncertainty of collecting clonal plasma cells due to local tumor infiltration in MM's bone marrow (BM).

Positron-emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/ CT) with fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F-FDG) has been applied for the assessment of systemic tumor burden, response evaluation, and survival prediction in MM (5–9), for it provides 'functional' information regarding lesions as well as metabolic and anatomic information. Compared with traditional X-rays, systemic CT is a sensitive technique to detect the presence of bone lesions and/or BM involvement at the onset of MM (7). Moreover, ¹⁸F-FDG uptake in bone lesions represents the tumor metabolic activity, and maximum standard uptake value (SUVmax) is considered to have prognostic value in NDMM (6, 10–12).

In addition to systemic tumor burden, the BM immune TME, including T cells (13), osteoclasts (14) and extracellular matrix (15), are also involved in the occurrence, disease progression, and drug resistance of MM. Regulatory B cells (Bregs) are currently uncovered to be immunosuppressive cells that exist in the BM immune TME of MM (16). In previous studies, we first characterized CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} Bregs in BM samples from MM patients by flow cytometry (FCM) (17–19). We also explained the relationship between Bregs and disease status in MM that ratios of BM-derived Bregs within CD19⁺ B cells were significantly higher in patients with NDMM than in those on maintenance therapy after response (17). Bregs were also reported to predict progression-free survival (PFS) for patients with relapsed or refractory MM (20). However, prognostic impact of Bregs for NDMM patients has been still unclear.

To further uncover prognostic roles of TME-derived Bregs and systemic PET/CT, in this study, we herein report the results of a retrospective analysis collecting PET/CT scan and Bregs detection performed at baseline for patients with NDMM who received bortezomib plus dexamethasone-based (BD) therapy in southwest China.

METHODS

Patients and Treatment Protocols

NDMM patients were sequentially enrolled from April 2017 to July 2020 at West China Hospital if they were over the age of 18 years, received PET/CT scan or FCM detection of Bregs at the onset of disease, and newly diagnosed with symptomatic MM based on the International Myeloma Working Group (IMWG) (21) diagnostic criteria. The final follow-up ended in May 31, 2021. Different risk groups were classified using Durie and Salmon staging system (DS) (22), ISS (1), or R-ISS (2). Responses were assessed according to IMWG 2016 consensus criteria (23). Best response was defined as the maximal response during treatment. In treatment decision making, BD regimen has become a backbone to which several other agents have been integrated. BD regimen was administered every 4 weeks or 1 natural month, and 1.3 mg/m² of bortezomib was administered subcutaneously weekly on days 1, 8, 15, and 22 with weekly dexamethasone 20 mg/m² on the day of and the day after bortezomib administration. The third agent was added or omitted under certain conditions. Specifically, for patients with good tolerability to BD regimen, specific indications for initiation of the other therapy for MM existed. For patients with renal impairment and/or amyloidosis attributable to MM, cyclophosphamide was in combination with BD regimens using a 300 mg/m² dosing on days 1, 8, 15, and 22 per cycle. Patients with extramedullary involvement received 40 mg of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (in combination with BD backbone) on days 1 of each cycle. Following the BD regimen induction, stem cell harvest is all recommended for patients who met eligibility criteria (i.e., ≤65 years and ≥very good partial response (VGPR) in first remission). Upfront autologous stem cell transplantation was performed for patients from whose consent was obtained. For transplant ineligible patients, maintenance therapy was given after nine cycles of induction or treatment response was stable for three cycles of VGPR or above. All patients were given routine maintenance for at least 2 years with either lenalidomide or bortezomib, given both patients' intent and risk stratification. This study was approved by our hospital's institutional review board/research ethics board. All subjects provided written informed consent authorizing the use of their data for research purposes.

Imaging Studying

FDG-PET/CT scan was performed according to the European Association of Nuclear Medicine guidelines version 1.0 and, from February 2015, version 2.0. Steps of PET/CT scan were reported previously (24). Simple, circular regions-of-interest (ROIs) were drawn by hand on axial, coronal, or sagittal co-registered PET/CT slices. SUVmax was obtained and corrected for body weight using the standard formula: mean ROI activity (MBq/ml)/[injected dose (MBq)/body weight (kg)] (25). ROIs were placed manually over all lesions, and the SUVmax was recorded for every lesion. Also, the highest SUVmax for every PET/CT scan was recorded, and these lesions were identified as indicator lesions. In an effort to standardize the interpretation of the baseline PET/CT scans, the criteria in three previous papers of the groups of Bologna and Udine were adopted in this study (6, 10, 26). Briefly, positive PET/ CT findings were defined either by the presence of focal areas of increased tracer uptake within the bones, with or without any underlying lesions identified on CT presented on at least two consecutive slices, or by a SUVmax \geq 2.5 within the osteolytic CT areas > 1.0 cm in size or a SUVmax \ge 1.5 within the osteolytic CT areas \leq 1.0 cm. The number, size, and location of hypermetabolic focal lesions (FLs) were recorded, and FDG-avid tissue that was not contiguous to bone and arose in soft tissue according to CT examination was defined as extramedullary disease (EMD) tissue. SUVmax > 4.2 was continued to be considered an unfavorable cutoff value for therapeutic response and survival in this study, which has been confirmed in previous studies (6, 10, 26).

For PET/CT is subject to the constraints of interobserver reproducibility and an imperfect systemic description when using only SUVmax (27), the study compared the predictive ability of SUVmax and the ratios between SUVmax of the tumor lesions to liver (rPET) (27).

Laboratory Investigations

Bregs were characterized as CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} in BM samples from NDMM patients by FCM as previously described (17, 18). Heparinized BM was obtained from NDMM patients prior to treatment. Briefly, BM mononuclear cells (BMMNCs) were isolated and washed twice in PBS. After discarding the supernatant, BMMNCs were incubated with antibodies against CD38 (PE-cy7), CD19 (FITC), and CD24 (APC) (BioLegend) for 15 min. Excess (unbound) antibodies were removed by washing with PBS, and cells were resuspended in 0.2 ml PBS for FCM detection (Beckman).

Statistical Analysis

Distributions of PFS and overall survival (OS) were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method, and differences among survival curves were analyzed by the log-rank test. PFS was defined as the time from diagnosis to progression or death from any cause. OS was defined as the time from diagnosis to death from any cause. Significant risk factors for both PFS and OS that showed a P < 0.10 on univariate analysis were further tested in the multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression analysis. The cutoffs for SUVmax, rPET, and Bregs' ratios were identified after applying sequential log-rank tests and selecting the most powerful values for discriminating the outcomes. The chi square test and the Fisher's exact test were used to test for the independence of categories. Statistical significance was defined when P < 0.05. SPSS 25.0 software was used to process all collected data.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

A cohort of 120 NDMM patients was enrolled with median follow-up of 28.20 months (range 7.00–46.93 months), and their baseline characteristics were shown in **Table 1**. A total of 12 (10.0%) deaths and 32 (26.7%) cases with disease progression occurred. The overall response rate (ORR: [complete response (CR) + VGPR + partial response (PR)]) was 88.4%, with 19 in 101 evaluable patients achieving CR.

One hundred and fourteen patients received PET/CT scan at the onset of disease and 84.3% presented positive lesions by PET/ CT scan. Median SUVmax was 4.22 (interquartile range 3.17– 6.00), while 53.2% patients were found with elevated SUVmax (SUVmax > 4.2) at onset (**Supplementary Table S1**). The rates of p53 deletion were higher in patients with SUVmax > 4.2 (P = 0.002), while distribution of other baseline characteristics was summarized (**Table 1**). More p53 deletion was also seen in patients with elevated rPET (defined as rPET > 1.46; **Supplementary Table S2**).

Furthermore, 52 patients' BM samples were collected before receiving treatment to uncover the median ratios of BM-derived Bregs within CD19⁺ B cells as 7.5% (interquartile range 1.1%– 27.2%). Cutoff of Bregs' ratios of 10% was defined by sequential log-rank tests for discriminating therapeutic response and survival. Decreased Bregs' ratios (defined as Bregs' ratios < 10%) were conformed in 24 (46.2%) patients (**Supplementary Table S1**). A similar trend to higher ratios of p53 deletion was also observed in patients with Bregs' ratios < 10% (P = 0.056) (**Table 1**).

Patients With SUVmax > 4.2 or Bregs' Ratios < 10% Had Lower Quality of Response to Treatment

For patients with Bregs' ratios < 10%, 23.1% could not reach PR, while 100% reached beyond PR in the subgroup without Bregs' ratios \geq 10% (P = 0.028) (**Table 1**). A similar trend towards lower quality of best response occurred on patients with SUVmax > 4.2 (**Table 1**). However, the difference between the response of patients with rPET > 1.46 or rPET \leq 1.46 was small (< PR 5/41 *vs.* 4/42; \geq PR 36/41 *vs.* 38/42; P = 0.738) (**Supplementary Table S2**).

Additionally, as best response to first-line treatment, 6 cases (15.8%) with CR or stringent CR, 15 cases (39.5%) with VGPR, and 17 cases (44.7%) with or less than PR were observed among 38 evaluable patients who received both PET/CT scan and Bregs detection at diagnosis. The patients with both SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10% presented the worst response with significant higher rates (41.7% *versus* 3.8%, P = 0.003) not reaching PR (**Figure 1**).

SUVmax > 4.2, Bregs' Ratios < 10%, as Well as R-ISS Ⅲ Were Independently Associated With Poorer Survival

On univariate analysis for the whole cohort, R-ISS III, SUVmax > 4.2, and Bregs' ratios < 10% predicted worse PFS, with hazard ratios (HR) (95% CI) of 2.35 (1.11-4.98), 2.05 (0.91-5.50), and 2.72 (0.86-8.59), respectively (P = 0.026, P = 0.074, and P = 0.089, respectively) (Table 2). To be specific, PFS for patients with SUVmax > 4.2 or Bregs' ratios < 10% were significantly shorter than those observed for patients with lower SUVmax or higher Bregs' ratios at the time of diagnosis (P = 0.152 and P =0.131) (Figure 2). Similarly, patients with R-ISS III had median PFS (mPFS) of 23.83 months, in comparison with corresponding values of not reached (NR) (P = 0.001) for those who were with R-ISS I and R-ISS II (Figure 2). In particular, we compared the stratification ability of rPET and SUVmax for PFS, and elevated rPET (rPET > 1.46) did not perform better than SUVmax > 4.2 (Supplementary Figure S2). Age, sex, positive PET/CT findings, and FLs were found less predictive for PFS (Supplementary Figure S2). ISS III, p53 deletion, 1q21 gain, and IgH

	Overall	all Patients with PET/CT scan			Patients with Bregs detection			
		SUVmax > 4.2 n/N (%)	SUVmax ≤ 4.2 n/N (%)	Ρ	Bregs' ratios < 10% n/N (%)	Bregs' ratios ≥ 10% n/N (%)	Ρ	
Male	64/120 (53.3)	36/59 (61.0)	22/52 (42.3)	0.058	16/28 (57.1)	14/24 (58.3)	0.931	
>65 years	38/120 (31.7)	16/59 (27.1)	18/52 (34.6)	0.416	8/28 (28.6)	10/24 (41.7)	0.388	
M-component								
lgG	67/114 (58.8)	37/64 (57.8)	27/64 (42.2)		15/26 (57.7)	11/26 (42.3)		
IgA	25/114 (21.9)	10/22 (45.5)	12/22 (54.5)		3/7 (42.9)	4/7 (57.1)		
Light chain	16/114 (16.0)	6/14 (42.9)	8/14 (57.1)		5/11 (45.5)	6/11 (54.5)		
LDH > 220 IU/L	53/113 (46.9)	31/54 (57.4)	21/51 (41.2)	0.096	13/28 (46.4)	9/20 (45.0)	0.922	
β2-microglobulin > 5.5 mg/L	(38/111 (34.2)	17/53 (32.1)	18/49 (36.7)	0.679	13/26 (50.0)	7/23 (30.4)	0.245	
DS, stage III	84/107 (78.5)	42/53 (79.2)	38/46 (82.6)	0.800	22/28 (78.6)	15/18 (83.3)	0.727	
ISS, stage III	36/105 (35.2)	18/52 (34.6)	16/45 (35.6)	0.923	11/27 (40.7)	6/17 (35.3)	0.761	
R-ISS, stage III	38/101 (37.6)	20/51 (39.2)	16/43 (37.2)	0.842	10/26 (38.5)	9/18 (50.0)	0.542	
FISH at diagnosis in MM	. ,							
P53 deletion	10/90 (11.1)	10/46 (21.7)	0/37 (0.0)	0.002#	5/26 (19.2)	0/21 (0.0)	0.056	
1q21 gain	40/90 (44.4)	20/46 (43.5)	18/37 (48.6)	0.664	11/26 (42.3)	10/21 (47.6)	0.776	
IgH translocation	36/90 (40.0)	19/46 (41.3)	14/37 (37.8)	0.823	10/26 (38.5)	9/21 (42.9)	0.775	
Karyotype abnormalities	8/84 (9.5)	4/42 (9.5)	4/37 (10.8)	0.850	2/25 (8.0)	4/19 (21.2)	0.378	
First-line transplantation	25/117 (21.4)	16/58 (27.6)	7/50 (14.0)	0.102	7/27 (25.9)	5/23 (21.7)	0.754	
Best response								
≥PR	90/101 (89.1)	43/47 (91.5)	40/47 (85.1)	0.523	20/26 (76.9)	18/18 (100.0)	0.028	
<pr< td=""><td>11/101 (10.9)</td><td>4/47 (8.5)</td><td>7/47 (14.9)</td><td></td><td>6/26 (23.1)</td><td>0/18 (0.0)</td><td></td></pr<>	11/101 (10.9)	4/47 (8.5)	7/47 (14.9)		6/26 (23.1)	0/18 (0.0)		

TABLE 1 | NDMM patients' demographic and clinical characteristics.

NDMM, newly diagnosed multiple myeloma; PET/CT, positron-emission tomography/computed tomography; Bregs, regulatory B cells; SUVmax, maximum standard uptake value; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; DS, Durie and Salmon staging system; ISS, International Staging System; R-ISS, Revised International Staging System; FISH, fluorescence in situ hybridization; PR, partial response. [#]P < 0.05, determined by the chi square test and the Fisher's exact test.

translocation were also found associated with worse PFS (**Table 2**). Female gender, age > 65 year, β 2-microglobulin > 5.5 mg/L, with more than 3 FLs, and EMD did not show much significance on the univariate analysis. Thus, R-ISS III, SUVmax > 4.2, and Bregs' ratios < 10% were included in the

multivariate analysis, and it showed that the presence of R-ISS III, SUVmax > 4.2, and Bregs' ratios < 10% were independent predictors of worse PFS (**Table 2**).

Univariate analysis for OS showed that SUVmax > 4.2, R-ISS III predicted worse OS with HR (95% CI) of 10.99 (2.29–52.83)



Univariate	95% CI			95% CI					
	HR	Lower	Upper	Р	HR		Lower	Upper	Р
	PFS				OS				
Sex (female)	1.16	0.57	2.33	0.684	1.29		0.41	4.06	0.665
Age > 65 years	1.03	0.49	2.17	0.943	0.42		0.09	1.90	0.258
.DH > 220 IU/L	1.60	0.78	4.27	0.201	2.30		0.69	7.64	0.176
2-microglobulin > 5.5 mg/L	1.39	0.66	2.93	0.385	3.34		1.05	10.55	0.040
DS, stage III	1.67	0.64	4.36	0.298	1.58		0.35	7.21	0.557
SS, stage III	1.88	0.91	3.91	0.090	8.37		2.17	32.28	0.002
R-ISS, stage III [§]	2.35	1.11	4.98	0.026	10.99		2.29	52.83	0.003
SUVmax > 4.2	2.05	0.91	5.50	0.074	4.32		0.93	20.06	0.062
-3 FLs [†]	0.99	0.62	1.59	0.974	0.90		0.43	1.87	0.772
MD	1.22	0.37	4.05	0.740	4.94		0.86	19.26	0.121
Bregs' ratios < 10%	2.72	0.86	8.59	0.089	2.88		0.85	8.29	0.192
ISH at diagnosis in MM									
253 deletion	2.91	1.07	7.92	0.036	7.00		2.12	23.09	0.001
q21 gain	2.37	0.99	5.65	0.052	2.24		0.65	7.66	0.200
gH translocation	3.88	1.57	9.56	0.003	4.83		1.26	18.52	0.022
Multivariate	95% Cl				95% CI				
	HR PFS	Lower	Upper	Р	os	HR	Lower	Upper	Р
I-ISS, stage III [§]	5.45	1.03	28.81	0.046	R-ISS III§	8.67	1.82	41.20	0.007
SUVmax > 4.2 Bregs ratios < 10%	5.13 4.88	2.49 1.27	12.31 15.21	0.039 0.045	SUVmax >4.2	4.41	0.94	20.55	0.059

PFS, progression-free survival; OS, overall survival; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; DS, Durie and Salmon staging system; ISS, International Staging System; R-ISS, Revised International Staging System; SUVmax, maximum standard uptake value; FLs, focal lesions; EMD, extramedullary disease; Bregs, regulatory B cells; FISH fluorescence in situ hybridization. §Referred to R-ISS I and R-ISS II.

[†]Referred to 1-3 FLs.


PET/CT and Bregs in Myeloma

and 4.32 (0.93–20.06) (P = 0.003 and P = 0.062). β 2-microglobulin > 5.5 mg/L, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) > 220 IU/L, ISS III, p53 deletion, and IgH translocation were also found associated with worse OS (**Table 2**). Similar to PFS, female gender, age >65 year, with more than 3 FLs, EMD, and rPET > 1.46 showed little impact on OS (**Supplementary Figure S2**). Thus, R-ISS III and SUVmax > 4.2 were included in the multivariate analysis and OS was negatively influenced by R-ISS III and SUVmax > 4.2 with HR (95% CI) of 9.97 (2.02–49.16) and 4.53 (0.97–21.11) (**Table 2**).

Baseline PET/CT in Combination With Bregs as Prognosticators

The independent impact of elevated SUVmax and decreased Bregs' ratios on PFS enabled us to stratify the NDMM patients into three groups, based on the number of risk factors (none of the two adverse factors, 26.8% of the patients; only one of two, 41.5%; two of the two adverse factors, 31.7%). As revealed by the results of Kaplan–Meier analysis and log-rank test, patients with both SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10% experienced poorer PFS and OS than those with none factors (P = 0.001 and P = 0.001, respectively), although mPFS was not reached (**Figure 2**). Moreover, quality of response was worse for patients with both SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10% (**Supplementary Figure S1**).

DISCUSSION

In this retrospective study of 120 NDMM patients who were evaluated at baseline using PET/CT scan and Bregs detection, we confirmed that imaging technique and TME-derived parameter have a good predictive value on the response of treatment, and both PET/CT > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10% can screen out a group of NDMM patients with poor survival. Furthermore, by combining SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10%, a group of high-risk NDMM patients was stratified. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report providing demonstration that PET/CT and Bregs predict response and survival in NDMM.

The predictive ability of SUVmax > 4.2 for poorer survival was confirmed again in this study, where the adverse influence of high SUVmax on the therapeutic response was explored at the same time. With the advent of PET/CT, bone destruction, tumor metabolism, and systemic tumor burden can be comprehensively evaluated; thus, PET/CT has likewise been combined with other parameters as prognosis prediction factors at baseline (5-7). Transplant-eligible NDMM patients with SUVmax > 4.2 were reported to have shorter PFS and OS (6). EMD and FLs > 3 were also adverse PFS and OS prognosticators for transplant-eligible NDMM patients (5, 6). For transplant-ineligible NDMM patients, PFS and OS were worse with the presence of SUVmax > 4.2, FLs > 3, and EMD (10). FLs > 3 and EMD on PET/CT were also correlated with significantly higher M protein and β 2-microglobulin, more cytogenetic abnormalities in NDMM patients (28). In our study, more p53 deletion and elevated LDH were found in patients with SUVmax > 4.2, and we

further confirmed the adverse impact of SUVmax > 4.2 on survival of NDMM patients. In the comparison between SUVmax and rPET, we found that the predictive ability of rPET was not stronger than that of SUVmax; it may be because the data of rPET had greater variability and the cutoff brought by the ratios did not have a better stratification effect. The adverse effect of SUVmax > 4.2 on the therapeutic response was explored in this study. As reported, achievement of deeper response within the first four cycles of treatment is an indicator for better survival (29, 30). In a more recent study, patients with a rapid PR or VGPR and gradually achieved CR were found with superior survival than those with early VGPR \leq 3 months (31). In this study, 26.9% NDMM patients with Bregs ratios < 10% achieved best response of CR or stringent CR; we hypothesized this was because the prognosis of MM was affected by the response kinetics and duration of response in addition to the depth of response.

Positive correlation was found between the ratios of Bregs within CD 19⁺ B cells and NDMM patients' outcomes in this study, and Bregs' ratios < 10% was an appropriate cutoff for therapeutic response and survival in NDMM patients. The positive relationship between Bregs' ratios and preserved B cells in NDMM was discovered in our previous study (17, 18). At time of relapse, CD19⁺ B cells, including Bregs, are too low to be detected (17). This is, to some extent, due to severe acquired immunodeficiency accompanying with a progressive depletion of lymphocytes, including CD19+ B cells, during relapse (32). The clinical behavior of MM is very heterogeneous; ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT scan and Bregs detection can provide a more direct measure of tumor burden and TME and be exploited in an effort to identify newer prognostic factors, therefore improving prognosis.

R-ISS retained its prognostic significance in this study, and it was verified that R-ISS allowed the identification of three different groups of patients with clearly different outcomes. The comparison of the predictive value of R-ISS and other potential predictors in this study showed that R-ISS was an independent prognostic marker. SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10% have shown the potential to screen a group of patients with poor PFS from NDMM patients. Moreover, patients with R-ISS III or patients with both SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10% account for about 30% of the total NDMM population. PET/CT scan in combination with Bregs detection can complement R-ISS to achieve a good stratification of NDMM patients with poor prognosis. Since Bregs' ratios < 10% was identified as an unfavorable prognostic variable for OS on the univariate analysis but not on the multivariate analysis, more patients are needed to be included and follow-up needs to continue to further consolidate the existing findings.

We acknowledge that there are several limitations to the current study. First, the study is retrospective and only a small number of patients are enrolled. Additionally, due to the short median follow-up time in this study, the predictive value of PET/CT scan and Bregs detection for the survival of NDMM patients cannot be fully revealed. Lastly, because PET/CT is not yet a standardized imaging tool in MM, the prognosis prediction value of SUVmax to response and survival of NDMM patients needs to

be confirmed by more studies. Despite these limitations, the fact that PET/CT findings and frequency of Bregs within CD19⁺ B cells are well correlated with therapeutic response and survival is quite reliable.

In conclusion, adverse baseline PET/CT findings and low Bregs frequency were positively associated with poor therapeutic response and survival in NDMM patients. More attention is needed for a group of high-risk patients based on the definition of SUVmax > 4.2 and Bregs' ratios < 10%, and risk-adapted treatment is required. On the basis of our results, integrating PET/CT scan and Bregs detection into the algorithm of NDMM staging may improve disease management and supplement risk stratification systems such as R-ISS. More studies are warranted to confirm our findings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board/Research Ethics Board of West China Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

REFERENCES

- Greipp PR, Miguel JS, Durie BGM, Crowley JJ, Barlogie B, Bladé J, et al. International Staging System for Multiple Myeloma. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23:3412–20. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.04.242
- Palumbo A, Avet-Loiseau H, Oliva S, Lokhorst HM, Goldschmidt H, Rosinol L, et al. Revised International Staging System for Multiple Myeloma: A Report From International Myeloma Working Group. *J Clin Oncol* (2015) 33:2863–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.61.2267
- Terpos E, Ntanasis-Stathopoulos I, Gavriatopoulou M, Dimopoulos MA. Pathogenesis of Bone Disease in Multiple Myeloma: From Bench to Bedside. Blood Cancer J (2018) 8:7. doi: 10.1038/s41408-017-0037-4
- Zavidij O, Haradhvala NJ, Mouhieddine TH, Sklavenitis-Pistofidis R, Cai S, Reidy M, et al. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Reveals Compromised Immune Microenvironment in Precursor Stages of Multiple Myeloma. *Nat Cancer* (2020) 1:493–506. doi: 10.1038/s43018-020-0053-3
- Bartel TB, Haessler J, Brown TLY, Shaughnessy J, van Rhee F, Anaissie E, et al. F18-Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography in the Context of Other Imaging Techniques and Prognostic Factors in Multiple Myeloma. *Blood* (2009) 114:2068–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-213280
- Zamagni E, Patriarca F, Nanni C, Zannetti B, Englaro E, Pezzi A, et al. Prognostic Relevance of 18-F FDG PET/CT in Newly Diagnosed Multiple Myeloma Patients Treated With Up-Front Autologous Transplantation. *Blood* (2011) 118:5989–95. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-361386
- Cavo M, Terpos E, Nanni C, Moreau P, Lentzsch S, Zweegman S, et al. Role of 18F-FDG PET/CT in the Diagnosis and Management of Multiple Myeloma and Other Plasma Cell Disorders: A Consensus Statement by the

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JC: data analysis and interpretation and writing of manuscript. ZZ: detection of Bregs. JD: collection and assembly of data. WT: data analysis and interpretation. YL: collection and assembly of data. LZ: conceptualization and design, collection and assembly of data, supervision, and approval of final draft. LP: supervision and approval of final draft. TN: supervision and approval of final draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was funded by support from the National Natural Science Foundation of China for general program (81770218).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the patients who participated in this study and their families, as well as the study coinvestigators, research nurses, and coordinators at the clinical site.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 671904/full#supplementary-material

International Myeloma Working Group. Lancet Oncol (2017) 18:e206–17. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30189-4

- Zhou X, Dierks A, Kertels O, Kircher M, Schirbel A, Samnick S, et al. 18f-FDG, 11c-Methionine, and 68Ga-Pentixafor PET/CT in Patients With Smoldering Multiple Myeloma: Imaging Pattern and Clinical Features. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12:2333. doi: 10.3390/cancers12082333
- Han S, Woo S, Kim Y-i, Yoon DH, Ryu J-S. Prognostic Value of 18F-Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography in Newly Diagnosed Multiple Myeloma: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Eur Radiol* (2021) 31:152–62. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-07177-x
- Zamagni E, Nanni C, Mancuso K, Tacchetti P, Pezzi A, Pantani L, et al. PET/ CT Improves the Definition of Complete Response and Allows to Detect Otherwise Unidentifiable Skeletal Progression in Multiple Myeloma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21:4384–90. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0396
- Sachpekidis C, Kopp-Schneider A, Merz M, Jauch A, Raab M-S, Goldschmidt H, et al. Can 18f-NaF PET/CT Before Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation Predict Survival in Multiple Myeloma? *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12:1335. doi: 10.3390/cancers12051335
- Jung SH, Kwon SY, Min JJ, Bom HS, Ahn SY, Jung SY, et al. (18)F-FDG PET/ CT is Useful for Determining Survival Outcomes of Patients With Multiple Myeloma Classified as Stage II and III With the Revised International Staging System. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* (2019) 46:107–15. doi: 10.1007/s00259-018-4114-0
- Feng X, Zhang L, Acharya C, An G, Wen K, Qiu L, et al. Targeting CD38 Suppresses Induction and Function of T Regulatory Cells to Mitigate Immunosuppression in Multiple Myeloma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23:4290– 300. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-3192

- An G, Acharya C, Feng X, Wen K, Zhong M, Zhang L, et al. Osteoclasts Promote Immune Suppressive Microenvironment in Multiple Myeloma: Therapeutic Implication. *Blood* (2016) 128:1590–603. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-707547
- Glavey SV, Naba A, Manier S, Clauser K, Tahri S, Park J, et al. Proteomic Characterization of Human Multiple Myeloma Bone Marrow Extracellular Matrix. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:2426–34. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.102
- Tai Y-T, Anderson KC. A New Era of Immune Therapy in Multiple Myeloma. Blood (2016) 128:318–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-06-719856
- Zhang L, Tai YT, Ho M, Xing L, Chauhan D, Gang A, et al. Regulatory B Cell-Myeloma Cell Interaction Confers Immunosuppression and Promotes Their Survival in the Bone Marrow Milieu. *Blood Cancer J* (2017) 7:e547–7. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2017.24
- Zou Z, Guo T, Cui J, Zhang L, Pan L. Onset of Regulatory B Cells Occurs at Initial Stage of B Cell Dysfunction in Multiple Myeloma. *Blood* (2019) 134:1780–0. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-128703
- Zou Z, Guo T, Cui J, Tang W, Li Y, Wang F, et al. Real-World Data Combined With Studies on Regulatory B Cells for Newly Diagnosed Multiple Myeloma From a Tertiary Referral Hospital in South-Western China. J Cancer (2021) 12:2633–42. doi: 10.7150/jca.53209
- Prabhala R, Samur MK, Talluri S, Stekla M, Yenumula C, Lopez MA, et al. Favorable Progression-Free Survival Associated With Immune Bio-Markers Modulated By Pomalidomide in Relapsed/Refractory Multiple Myeloma: An Analysis of Phase III Study. *Blood* (2019) 134:1784–4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-131257
- Rajkumar SV, Dimopoulos MA, Palumbo A, Blade J, Merlini G, Mateos M-V, et al. International Myeloma Working Group Updated Criteria for the Diagnosis of Multiple Myeloma. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15:e538–48. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70442-5
- Durie BGM, Salmon SE. A Clinical Staging System for Multiple Myeloma Correlation of Measured Myeloma Cell Mass With Presenting Clinical Features, Response to Treatment, and Survival. *Cancer* (1975) 36:842–54. doi: 10.1002/ 1097-0142(197509)36:3<842::AID-CNCR2820360303>3.0.CO;2-U
- 23. Kumar S, Paiva B, Anderson KC, Durie B, Landgren O, Moreau P, et al. International Myeloma Working Group Consensus Criteria for Response and Minimal Residual Disease Assessment in Multiple Myeloma. *Lancet Oncol* (2016) 17:e328–46. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30206-6
- 24. Xu H, Guo W, Cui X, Zhuo H, Xiao Y, Ou X, et al. Three-Dimensional Texture Analysis Based on PET/CT Images to Distinguish Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Hepatic Lymphoma. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:1–6. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2019.00844
- Boellaard R. Standards for PET Image Acquisition and Quantitative Data Analysis. J Nucl Med (2009) 50 Suppl 1:11s-20s. doi: 10.2967/ jnumed.108.057182
- 26. Patriarca F, Carobolante F, Zamagni E, Montefusco V, Bruno B, Englaro E, et al. The Role of Positron Emission Tomography With 18F-Fluorodeoxyglucose Integrated With Computed Tomography in the

Evaluation of Patients With Multiple Myeloma Undergoing Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transpl* (2015) 21:1068–73. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.03.001

- 27. Ripani D, Caldarella C, Za T, Pizzuto DA, Rossi E, De Stefano V, et al. Prognostic Significance of Normalized FDG-PET Parameters in Patients With Multiple Myeloma Undergoing Induction Chemotherapy and Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: A Retrospective Single-Center Evaluation. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* (2019) 46:116–28. doi: 10.1007/ s00259-018-4108-y
- Tu H, He Y, Huang T, Choe S, Ian X, Duan X, et al. Predictive Value of 18F-FDG PET/CT Scanning in Combination With Clinical Parameters in Patients With Newly Diagnosed Multiple Myeloma. *Eur J Haematol* (2018) 100:189– 97. doi: 10.1111/ejh.13006
- Moreau P, Attal M, Pégourié B, Planche L, Hulin C, Facon T, et al. Achievement of VGPR to Induction Therapy is an Important Prognostic Factor for Longer PFS in the IFM 2005-01 Trial. *Blood* (2011) 117:3041–4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-300863
- Binder M, Rajkumar SV, Gertz MA, Lacy MQ, Dispenzieri A, Buadi FK, et al. Predictors of Early Response to Initial Therapy in Patients With Newly Diagnosed Symptomatic Multiple Myeloma. Am J Hematol (2015) 90:888– 91. doi: 10.1002/ajh.24107
- Yan Y, Mao X, Liu J, Fan H, Du C, Li Z, et al. The Impact of Response Kinetics for Multiple Myeloma in the Era of Novel Agents. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:2895– 904. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000432
- 32. Pratt G, Goodyear O, Moss P. Immunodeficiency and Immunotherapy in Multiple Myeloma. *Br J Haematol* (2007) 138:563–79. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06705.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Cui, Zou, Duan, Tang, Li, Zhang, Pan and Niu. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characterization of Organ-Specific Regulatory B Cells Using Single-Cell RNA Sequencing

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Damo Xu, Shenzhen University, China

Reviewed by:

To-Ha Thai, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, United States Yaofeng Zhao, China Agricultural University, China Yumei He, Southern Medical University, China

*Correspondence:

Zhe-Xiong Lian zxlian@scut.edu.cn Zhi-Bin Zhao zzbin@mail.ustc.edu.cn

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 May 2021 Accepted: 23 August 2021 Published: 14 September 2021

Citation:

Yang S-Y, Long J, Huang M-X, Luo P-Y, Bian Z-H, Xu Y-F, Wang C-B, Yang S-H, Li L, Selmi C, Gershwin ME, Zhao Z-B and Lian Z-X (2021) Characterization of Organ-Specific Regulatory B Cells Using Single-Cell RNA Sequencing. Front. Immunol. 12:711980. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.711980 Si-Yu Yang^{1†}, Jie Long^{2†}, Meng-Xing Huang¹, Pan-Yue Luo³, Zhen-Hua Bian¹, Ya-Fei Xu¹, Cheng-Bo Wang¹, Shu-Han Yang¹, Liang Li⁴, Carlo Selmi^{5,6}, M. Eric Gershwin⁷, Zhi-Bin Zhao^{4*} and Zhe-Xiong Lian^{1*}

¹ Chronic Disease Laboratory, School of Medicine, South China University of Technology, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Thoracic Surgery, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences, Guangzhou, China, ³ School of Biomedical Sciences and Engineering, South China University of Technology, Guangzhou, China, ⁴ Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences, Guangzhou, China, ⁵ Division of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Humanitas Research Hospital IRCCS, Milan, Italy, ⁶ Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Milan, Italy, ⁷ Division of Rheumatology, Allergy, and Clinical Immunology, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States

Regulatory B cells (Breg) are considered as immunosuppressive cells. Different subsets of Breg cells have been identified both in human beings and in mice. However, there is a lack of unique markers to identify Breg cells, and the heterogeneity of Breg cells in different organs needs to be further illuminated. In this study, we performed high-throughput single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) and single-cell B-cell receptor sequencing (scBCR-seq) of B cells from the murine spleen, liver, mesenteric lymph nodes, bone marrow, and peritoneal cavity to better define the phenotype of these cells. Breg cells were identified based on the expression of immunosuppressive genes and IL-10-producing B (B10) cell-related genes, to define B10 and non-B10 subsets in Breg cells based on the score of the B10 gene signatures. Moreover, we characterized 19 common genes significantly expressed in Breg cells, including Fcrl5, Zbtb20, Ccdc28b, Cd9, and Ptpn22, and further analyzed the transcription factor activity in defined Breg cells. Last, a BCR analysis was used to determine the clonally expanded clusters and the relationship of Breg cells across different organs. We demonstrated that Atf3 may potentially modulate the function of Breg cells as a transcription factor and that seven organ-specific subsets of Breg cells are found. Depending on gene expression and functional modules, non-B10 Breg cells exhibited activated the TGF- β pathway, thus suggesting that non-B10 Breg cells have specific immunosuppressive properties different from conventional B10 cells. In conclusion, our work provides new insights into Breg cells and illustrates their transcriptional profiles and BCR repertoire in different organs under physiological conditions.

Keywords: Breg cells, scRNA-Seq, BCR, transcription factor, B10 cells

INTRODUCTION

Regulatory B (Breg) cells have been reported as a special subset of human and murine CD19⁺ B cells (1), capable of negatively regulating the immune response in mouse models of autoimmune diseases (2), allergy (3), and infections (4), depending on IL-10. In fact, CD5^{hi}CD38^{low}PD-1^{hi}, CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺, and CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi} Breg cells are involved in cancer, allergic asthma, systemic lupus erythematosus, and rheumatoid arthritis in human beings (5-8). In addition to production of IL-10, Breg cells express other immune-regulatory cytokines to exert immunosuppressive function, including transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) (9) and IL-35 (10). Breg cells have been identified in various organs of mice like the spleen, draining lymph nodes, and peritoneal cavity (11-14). However, their phenotypes and functions are still obscure and the heterogeneity of Breg cells in different organs warrants further characterization. The definition of Breg cell subsets under different experimental settings and tissues is challenging, based on the frequent changes in cell markers, and is indeed necessary for further studies in disease models. The single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) technology provides a unique strategy to understand Breg cell complexity and heterogeneity by identifying cell subsets and functional pathways (15).

We herein report for the first time the scRNA-seq transcriptional profiles of Breg cells in different mouse organs under physiological conditions and propose a novel method for the identification of Breg cells based on the expression of immunosuppressive genes and B10-related genes. Ultimately, we arrayed Breg cells into seven subsets with variable immunosuppressive functions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Four 10-week-old female C57BL/6 mice were maintained on a 12h-light/dark cycle (light on at 7 a.m. and off at 7 p.m.) and at the temperature of 20°C–26°C with 40%–70% humidity in specific pathogen-free facilities. All animal experiments were performed with the approval of the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, South China University of Technology.

Cell Preparation

Liver tissues were homogenized in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and passed through a steel mesh. Mononuclear cells were separated from hepatocytes

through centrifugation (Beckman Coulter Microfuge 20R and Beckman Coulter Allegra X-15R Centrifuge) with 40% Percoll (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, UK) at room temperature. Red blood cells were depleted by Red Blood Cell Lysis Buffer (Beyotime). Mouse spleens and mesenteric lymph nodes (mLN) were separately ground using slides in PBS with 0.2% BSA. Cells were filtered and centrifuged, and splenic cells were subjected to red blood cell lysis. Bone marrow (BM) was extracted from tibia and femur bones following removal of the surrounding muscle. BM cells were flushed out using a syringe filled with PBS. Cell clumps were gently disaggregated, then filtered and centrifuged. Red blood cells were depleted by Red Blood Cell Lysis Buffer. To obtain peritoneal cavity (PC) cells, 3-4 ml of cold PBS containing 0.2% BSA was injected into the PC, followed by repeated washing of the abdomen before aspiration of the fluid back into the syringe, and this process was repeated in a second time. PC cells were collected and centrifuged. Cells from all the preparations were counted in the presence of Trypan Blue.

Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting

Cells are mixed from the isolated liver, spleen, mLN, BM, and PC of four mice separately. Freshly prepared mouse cells were stained for 20 min at 4°C with anti-CD19 PE-Cy7 (6D5, BioLegend) at a ratio of 1:200 and anti-B220 FITC (RA3-6B2, BioLegend) at a ratio of 1:200 antibodies. The stained cells were washed with PBS (containing 0.2% BSA) and then suspended in PBS + 1% FBS + 1 mM EDTA. CD19⁺B220^{+/low} cells were sorted by the FACS Aria II cell sorting system (BD Immunocytometry Systems, San Jose, CA, USA).

Cell Hashing and Single-Cell RNA Sequencing

B cells from different organs were incubated in TruStain FcXTM PLUS (anti-mouse CD16/32) (BioLegend) blocking reagent for 10 min at 4°C, and then each sample was stained with 1 µg different hashtag antibodies (BioLegend) and incubated for 30 min at 4°C. Cells were washed three times with Cell Stain Buffer (BioLegend) and resuspended with PBS + 0.04% BSA (Sigma). According to the cell number count, B cells from different organs were mixed at the ratio of 1:1 and cell concentrations were adjusted to about 1,000 cell/µl. For 10× Genomics scRNA-seq, cells were loaded onto a 10× chromium controller to generate Gel beads in emulsion using the 10× genomics Single Cell 5' Library & Gel Bead Kit. Gene expression libraries were constructed according to instructions from 10× genomics. Three libraries were generated that measure (1) mRNA transcript expression (RNA), (2) mouse-specific hashtag oligos (HTO), and (3) BCR library. Libraries were sequenced by the NovaSeq 6000 sequencing system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA).

Single-Cell RNA and BCR Sequencing Data Processing

The raw sequencing data of gene expression were aligned with the mm10 mouse reference genome, using the STAR algorithm in CellRanger software (version 5.0.0; $10\times$ Genomics). BCR reads

Abbreviations: Breg cells, regulatory B cells; scRNA-seq, single-cell RNA sequencing; BCR-seq, BCR sequencing; MZB, marginal-zone B cell; TGF-β, transforming growth factor β; DEG, differential gene expression; SCENIC, single-cell regulatory network inference and clustering; BM, bone marrow; mLN, mesenteric lymph nodes; PC, peritoneal cavity; t-SNE, t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor α; IL-10, interleukin 10; IL-12, interleukin 12; IL-6, interleukin 6; IL-4, interleukin 4; IL-35, interleukin 35; IFN-γ, interferon γ; GSEA, gene set enrichment analysis; GSVA, gene set variation analysis; BSA, bovine serum albumin; Th1, T helper cell type 1; Th2, T helper cell type 2; Th17, T helper cell type 17; Tfh, T follicular helper cells.

were aligned with the mouse reference VDJ dataset, using CellRanger (version 5.0.0; $10 \times$ Genomics). The gene expression reads, BCR reads, and feature barcodes reads were aligned in one CellRanger pipeline using the command "cellranger multi".

On acquiring the dataset, cells which have more than 8,000 or less than 300 unique genes were excluded from the analysis. Only genes which were expressed in 10 or more cells were used for further analysis. Cells in which the percentages of the mitochondrial genes are more than 10% and log10GenesPerUMI (the gene numbers of per UMI) less than 0.8 were removed from the dataset. Furthermore, we also filtered out the cells which include more than two different BCR clones (means two different heavy chains and two different light chains). A data matrix with 13,116 genes and 21,645 cells was obtained. The data matrix was transformed as a Seurat object using CreateSeuratObject function and normalized using normalization method LogNormalize in Seurat package (version 4.0.1) and the scale factor that uses the default value 10,000. Then, the Seurat object was analyzed for ScaleData, FindVariableFeatures, and RunPCA functions. The dimensionality reduction was performed using the RunTSNE function and then clustering.

To analyze the BCR sequencing data, the BCR data matrix was imported into R language (Version 4.0.1) and clonotype information was inserted into the metadata slot of the RNA data object.

Module Score Calculation

To calculate the module score of the selected Breg gene signature and B10 gene signature, we firstly run the ScaleData function for the Seurat object of total B cells in R. Then, we chose the scaled matrix to calculate the mean values of the Breg gene signature in every B cell and the B10 gene signature in every identified Breg cell. Finally, we run the log1p function for the mean values of the Breg gene signature or B10 gene signature as the Breg cell score and B10 cell score, respectively.

GSVA and GSEA Analysis of scRNA-seq Data

Gene set variation analysis (GSVA) was performed using the GSVA package (Version 1.36.3), and gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed using the clusterProfiler package (version 3.16.1). Gene sets were downloaded from the MSigDB database or collected from document literatures. The differences in pathway enrichment score between different cell clusters were calculated using the LIMMA package (version 3.44.3).

BCR Data Analysis

The BCR expansion, migration, and transition index of different cell clusters were calculated using the STARTRAC package (version 0.1.0). The shared clonotypes and shared cell counts with the same clonotype of Breg cells between pairwise organs were analyzed in R.

Gene Regulation Network Analysis

To analyze the specific regulatory network of Breg and non-Breg cell clusters, we chose 500 random cells of each cluster to reduce

computing resource consumption, employed the SCENIC package (version 1.2.2) in R to infer the regulatory network, and compared the difference between Breg cells and non-Breg cells.

RESULTS

Identification of Breg Cells by High-Throughput scRNA-seq in Different Organs

We performed scRNA-seq analysis of B cells isolated from the liver, spleen, BM, PC, and mLN of four wild type mice. Briefly, live B cells were isolated from fresh samples by FACS sorting and single-cell transcriptomes were obtained using the 10× Genomics platform (**Supplementary Figure 1A**). The final dataset comprised 13,116 single-cell genes merged from 21,645 cells of liver, spleen, BM, PC, and mLN after data filtering (**Supplementary Figures 1B–E**).

Firstly, to define Breg cells, we assessed the expression profile of functional genes that negatively regulate the immune system process and promote the production of inhibitory cytokines, including IL-10, TGF- β , and IL-35 (adopted from the GO database and BioGPS). In addition, significantly upregulated genes of mouse splenic B10⁺ cells in RNA-seq were obtained from the GEO database (16) (**Figure 1A**). A gene list with 134 genes was eventually selected through profiling (**Figure 1B**). Then, we calculated the module score of these selected genes, and the cells with the score higher than 0.16 were considered as Breg cells (**Figure 1C**). We delineated the distribution of Breg cells in the t-SNE plot of total B cells from the liver, spleen, BM, PC, and mLN (**Figure 1D**), and there was a significantly higher proportion of Breg cells in the PC compared with other organs (**Figure 1E**).

Common Genes and Transcription Factors in Breg Cells

We identified 19 common genes that were upregulated in Breg cells as compared to non-Breg cells in each organ, defined as differential expression genes (DEGs) (Figure 2A). Our data showed that Cd9, Ccdc28b, and Ptpn22 genes were significantly upregulated in Breg cells from the liver, spleen, BM, and PC, but not in Breg cells from mLN, while Fcrl5 and Zbtb20 genes were strikingly expressed in Breg cells from all organs, which indicated that Fcrl5 and Zbtb20 would serve as potential suitable marker genes for Breg cells (Figure 2B). Furthermore, to identify the cell-intrinsic transcription factors in Breg cells, we performed SCENIC analysis to infer the transcription factor regulatory network between defined Breg cells and non-Breg cells of all organs. Several transcription factor regulators with higher activity were found in Breg cells, including Sox5, Myc, and Atf3 (Figure 2C). The distribution in the t-SNE plot of total B cells from all organs showed that Atf3 was specifically expressed in identified Breg cells while Myc was extensively expressed in non-Breg cells (Figures 1D, 2D). We further compared the expression of Atf3-regulated target genes between Breg cells and non-Breg cells in total B cells (Figure 2E). It shows that

	Gene Set	Reference
Breg cell definition	positive regulation of interleukin-10 production	GO:0032733
	positive regulation of transforming growth factor beta production	GO:0071636
	negative regulation of immune system process	GO:0002683
	negative regulation of interferon-gamma production	GO:0032689
	negative regulation of interleukin-12 production	GO:0032695
	negative regulation of interleukin-17 production	GO:0032700
	negative regulation of interleukin-1 production	GO:0032692
	negative regulation of interleukin-6 production	GO:0032715
	negative regulation of tumor necrosis factor superfamily cytokine production	GO:1903556
	II10, TGF β , II35 correlated expression genes	BioGPS
	mouse splenic B10 B cell RNA-seq	GSE63426



FIGURE 1 | Breg cells analysis by high-throughput scRNA-seq in different organs. (A) Gene sets from GO, BioGPS, and GEO databases. (B) List of selected genes for identifying Breg cells. (C) Evaluation of the Breg cell module score. (D) t-SNE plot of Breg cell distribution in total B cells from all organs. (E) t-SNE plot of Breg cell distribution in spleen, liver, mLN, PC, and BM.

these genes were dramatically upregulated in Breg cells, including *Ptpn22*, one of the 19 common upregulated genes in DEGs. In mice, reported markers of Breg cells include CD21, CD1d, CD5, CD24, CD23, IgD, IgM, CD138, Tim-1, and PD-L1.

We detected the expressions of their corresponding genes (*Cr2*, *Cd1d1*, *Cd5*, *Cd24a*, *Fcer2a*, *Ighd*, *Ighm*, *Sdc1*, *Havcr1*, and *Cd274*) in B cells and observed that the expression only represents part of Breg cells while *Fcrl5*, *Ptpn22*, *Ccdc28b*,

42



FIGURE 2 | Common marker genes and transcription factors in Breg cells. (A) Venn diagram showed the overlap of upregulated DEGs by comparing Breg cells with non-Breg cells in different organs. (B) Violin plots represented the normalized expression of *Fcr15*, *Zbtb20*, *Ccdc28b*, *Cd9*, and *Ptpn22* in Breg cells and non-Breg cells across different organs. (C) Heat map of the activation scores of 500 randomly selected Breg cells and 500 non-Breg cells from all organs for expression regulated by transcription factors (TFs). (D) Feature plot of *Atf3*, *Myc*, and *Sox5* expression of three TFs on total B cells from all organs. (E) Heat map of *Atf3*-related gene expression between Breg cells and non-Breg cells in total B cells from all organs.

Zbtb20, and *Cd9* were expressed specifically in most of the Breg cells (**Supplementary Figures 2A, B**). By comparing the known Breg cell marker genes with the Breg cell genes identified in this study, the newly identified gene expression generally contained the expression of currently known Breg cell marker genes, such as $Cd1d^+$, $CD5^+$, and $Cr2^+$ Breg cells which were included in *Fcrl5*⁺ and *Ptpn22*⁺ Breg cells.

Phenotype and Function of Breg Cell Subsets

Seven Breg subsets were identified and visualized using the t-SNE plot based on the gene expression profiles of identified Breg cells isolated from total B cells of all organs (**Figure 3A**). The top 50 genes for each subset were exhibited by a heat map; this indicated that there were distinct expression profiles among different subsets

(**Figure 3B**), and several typical marker genes showed the distinct expression in seven Breg cell subsets from all organs. The *Apoe* gene was expressed in Breg2, while two immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region genes, *Ighv11-2* and *Ighv1-55*, were specially expressed in Breg3 and Breg5 subsets, respectively. The Breg6 subset was characterized by the *Cr2* gene which encodes protein CD21, a marker of marginal zone B cells, while the Breg7 subset was associated with *Stmn1* (**Figure 3C**). Further, we investigated the potential biological function of different Breg cell clusters of all organs using gene set variation analysis (GSVA) and our analysis indicated that the gene profiles displayed biological process enrichment in negative regulation of IL-12 and IFN- γ production in the Breg1 subset, while the Breg2 subset possessed genes enriched in negative regulation of IL-6 and IL-4 production

while promoting the production of TGF- β . The Breg3 subset enriched pathways in negative regulation of Th1-type immune response, and the Breg4 subset enriched in negative regulation of the TNF-mediated signal pathway. The Breg5 subset was demonstrated with enriched pathways in negative regulation of CD8-positive T cell activation while the Breg6 subset was enriched in the IL-10 anti-inflammatory signaling pathway and the Breg7 subset was characterized by the Treg cell differentiation pathway (**Figure 3D**).

We also analyzed the distribution of Breg cell subsets and their proportion within the liver, spleen, BM, PC, and mLN tissues. The results clearly showed that the Breg6 cluster was found only in the spleen, while the Breg1, Breg3, Breg4, and Breg5 clusters almost characterized the PC. Further, the Breg2



FIGURE 3 | Subsets of Breg cells. (A) t-SNE plot of identified Breg cells from all organs showing seven clusters. (B) Heat map of top 50 genes in each subset of Breg cells from all organs. (C) Violin plots showed the normalized expression of the marker genes in each Breg cell subset from all organs. (D) GSVA analysis of immunoregulation pathways in Breg cell clusters from all organs. (E) Distribution of Breg cell subsets in spleen, liver, mLN, PC, and BM. (F) The proportion of Breg cell subsets in spleen, liver, mLN, PC, and BM.

cluster was universally distributed in all tissues whereas the Breg7 cluster had high proportions in mLN and BM (Figures 3E, F).

Clonal Expansion and Potential Migration of Breg Cell Subsets by scBCR-seq

Our single-cell BCR sequencing based on scBCR-seq and scRNAseq data investigated the distribution of the top 10 BCR clones in the Breg cell t-SNE plot from all organs and demonstrated that PC-specific Breg3 and Breg5 were two most clonally expanded clusters (**Figures 4A, B**). The Breg3 cluster was enriched by clonotype1 with v genes composed of heavy-chain and lightchain *Ighv11-2/Igkv14-126* with CMRYGNYWYFDVW/ CLQHGESPYTF as the CDR3 amino acid sequence, while the Breg5 cluster was enriched by clonotype2 with v genes *Ighv1-55/ Igkv12-89* in which the CDR3 amino acid sequence was CARRDYGSSYWYFDVW/CQNVLSTPWTF, which consisted with the previous results of *Ighv11-2* and *Ighv1-55* upregulated by Breg3 and Breg5, respectively (**Figure 3C**). Importantly, BCR clonotype1 was also found in the Breg2 cluster and mainly distributed in the liver and spleen, whereas BCR clonotype2 only existed in the Breg5 cluster in the PC (Figure 4B). The sharing BCR clonotypes were then compared between organs, and we observed an overlap of BCR clonotypes and cell counts between the liver and PC as well as the spleen and PC (Figures 4C, D). Moreover, the Breg2 cluster which distributed in all organs and the Breg3 cluster which only existed in PC displayed the highest transition index score with each other (Figure 4E), while Breg3 and Breg5 which were both specifically in the PC exhibited higher expansion and migration indexes as expected (Figures 4F, G).

Functionally Specific Non-B10 Breg Cell Cluster in Breg Cells

Approximately 60% of Breg cells with a high B10 signature score were defined as B10 cells (**Figures 5A, B**), and they were most represented among Breg3 and Breg5 clusters while numerous Breg4 and Breg6 cells were regarded as the non-B10 Breg subset (**Figure 5C**). B10 cells accounted for the highest proportion in the PC, followed by the spleen, and minimal in BM (**Figure 5D**).





45



FIGURE 5 | Functionally specific non-B10 versus B10 cells among Breg cells. (A) Venn diagram showed the B10 and non-B10 cells in Breg cells of all organs. (B) t-SNE plots of the B10 and non-B10 cells in Breg cells. (C) Proportion of B10 and non-B10 Breg cells in every Breg cell cluster. (D) Percent of B10 and non-B10 Breg cells in spleen, liver, mLN, PC, and BM. (E) Volcano plot displayed the DEGs between B10 and non-B10 Breg cells from all organs. (F) t-SNE plots of the normalized expression of *ll10*, *Tgfb1*, *Ebi3*, and *ll12a* in non-B10 Breg cells of all organs. (G) GSEA analysis of B10 and non-B10 Breg cells of all organs. We depicted in a volcano plot that significant DEGs exist between B10 cells and non-B10 Breg cells from all organs, with *Irf8*, *Fcer2a*, *Chchd10*, and *Cr2* genes dramatically upregulated in non-B10 Breg cells compared to B10 cells (**Figure 5E**). As expected, non-B10 Breg cells isolated from Breg cells of all organs expressed no *Il10* gene, while expressing the Tgfb1 and *Ebi3*, along with *Il12a* in some non-B10 Breg cells (**Figure 5F**). Our gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) showed the activated TGF- β pathway and IL-35-mediated signaling pathway in non-B10 Breg cells compared to B10 cells (**Figure 5G**).

DISCUSSION

We report herein for the first time a fine characterization of Breg cells in multiple mouse organs using different and comprehensive techniques, particularly scRNA-seq in the mouse spleen, liver, mLN, BM, and PC, and we submit that this has important clinical implications. Prior to our study, the diverse phenotypes of Breg cell subsets and different immune regulatory mechanisms have been determined with conflicting evidence (17). Breg cells are involved in the control of tissue immunopathology (18) by maintaining immune homeostasis, thus leading, when dysregulated, to autoimmunity, allergic diseases, infections, and cancer (19). In the case of rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus, CD19⁺CD21^{hi}CD23^{hi}CD24^{hi} transitional 2 marginal-zone precursor (T2-MZP) B cells significantly ameliorate collagen-induced arthritis (20), while the transfer of T2-like B cells suppresses lupus in MRL/lpr mice by restraining Th1 responses and inducing the differentiation of IL-10⁺CD4⁺ T cells (21). Further, CD19^{hi}CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺ B cells produce IL10 and inhibit DSS-induced inflammatory bowel disease (22) and experimental Sjögren's syndrome by suppressing Tfh cell responses (23). Plasmablasts in the draining lymph nodes negatively regulate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (12), and IL10-producing B cells depend on dendritic cells to suppress antigen-specific CD8 T which can protect from type 1 diabetes in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice (24). In the model of allergic asthma, CD9⁺ B cells play a role in airway inflammation suppression by inhibiting Th2- and Th17-driven inflammation in an IL-10-dependent manner (3) while MZB cells reduce the CD8 T cell function and IFN- γ^+ CD4 T cells during the early stages of Leishmania donovani infection (4).

Our data have numerous implications. First, we redefined the Breg cells in different mouse organs based on the score of immunosuppressive genes and B10 cell-related genes. Second, we identified the genes which were widely upregulated in Breg cells as compared to non-Breg cells. Third, we investigated the heterogeneity of Breg cells and identified seven subsets with different prevalence in murine organs. Fourth, we reported that Breg3 and Breg5 in the PC were the most clonally expanded subsets. Fifth, we took advantage of B10-associated genes to calculate the B10 signature score among Breg cells.

Various Breg cells subsets have been described, but there are no general markers for Breg cells (25) and we reported 19 Breg-specific genes, including *Fcrl5*, *Zbtb20*, *Ccdc28b*, *Cd9*, and *Ptpn22*,

which are shared in all the five analyzed murine organs. The identification of Cd9 is consistent with previous reports that CD9 was considered as a marker of Breg cells (16), but we reported that this failed to identify mLN-specific Breg cells. Fcrl5 can better serve as a general marker to define Breg cells in the liver, spleen, BM, PC, and mLN, similar to previous data that found FCRL5 expressed on MZB and B1 cells (26); it is also related to the expression of several receptors and downstream adaptors with immunosuppressive functions (27). Zbtb20 is a transcription factor to promote the differentiation and longevity of plasma cells (28) which suppress the pro-inflammatory response during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and Salmonella infection (10). Ptpn22 is rarely reported in B cells but acts as a negative regulator of Src and Syk family kinases downstream of the T cell receptor (TCR) (29), and mutations in Ptpn22 are associated with an increased susceptibility to autoimmune diseases including rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus (30, 31). The importance of transcription factors has been suggested in Breg cells, including HIF-1a (32), STIM1/STIM2 (33), c-Maf (34), IRF4, and Blimp1 (12), but these are not specific for Breg cells, unlike Foxp3 for Treg cells (35, 36). We identified three potential candidate transcription factors, including Sox5, Myc, and Atf3 in Breg cells, using SCENIC software, with effects spanning from modulating B cell development (Myc) (37) to negatively regulating the inflammatory response (Atf3) (38). These findings need to be validated in disease models inducing Breg cells such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (39), collageninduced arthritis (40), and systemic lupus erythematosus (41) mouse models.

We also identified seven Breg subsets with markedly different enrichment tendencies in various immune negative regulation pathways including negative regulation of IL-12, IFN- γ , IL-6, and IL-4 production, promoting the production of TGF- β , negative regulation of Th1-type immune response, and negative regulation of the TNF-mediated signal pathway and IL-10 antiinflammatory signaling pathway, among other effects. We believe that these results may explain the conflicting evidence that was previously reported on the function of Breg cells in different mouse models.

Our single-cell BCR sequencing analysis investigated the clonal expansion of Breg subsets to identify two BCR clonally expanded Breg cell subsets in the PC, with one being the *Ighv11-2/Igkv14-126* Breg3 subset enriching the mouse peritoneal B-1a cells (42), and the other being *Ighv1-55/Igkv12-89* Breg5 reported for the first time. Further, we observed a high degree of BCR sharing between the liver or the spleen and the PC, suggesting that Breg cells may migrate between these organs.

Finally, when we compared B10 and non-B10 Breg cells, we reported that non-B10 Breg cells minimally expressed *Il10* with high levels of Tgfb1 and *Ebi3*, activated TGF- β pathway, and IL-35-mediated signaling pathway.

In conclusion, we characterized Breg cells by scRNA-seq based on the immunosuppressive gene expression profile and B10-related genes and delineated their transcriptional profiles, underlying functions, and BCR clonotypes in different mouse organs under physiological conditions. The scRNA-seq analysis is of particular value to understand the transcriptional profiles of Breg cells and provides the basis for future Breg cell-based therapeutic avenues for immune-mediated diseases.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The accession number for scRNA-seq datasets reported in this paper is GEO: GSE174739 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/ query/acc.cgi?&acc=GSE174739). The code used for analysis is available *via* GitHub (https://github.com/jalon9358/Lianlab_Breg).

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal experiments were performed with the approval of the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, South China University of Technology.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

S-YY, JL, Z-BZ, and Z-XL designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. S-YY, M-XH, Z-BZ, P-YL, and Y-FX carried out the experimental work. S-YY and JL contributed to analyzing the data. M-XH, Z-HB and LL helped with data analysis. C-BW and S-HY edited the manuscript. CS and MG edited and revised the

REFERENCES

- Rosser EC, Mauri C. Regulatory B Cells: Origin, Phenotype, and Function. Immunity (2015) 42(4):607–12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- Miyagaki T, Fujimoto M, Sato S. Regulatory B Cells in Human Inflammatory and Autoimmune Diseases: From Mouse Models to Clinical Research. Int Immunol (2015) 27(10):495–504. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxv026
- Braza F, Chesne J, Durand M, Dirou S, Brosseau C, Mahay G, et al. A Regulatory CD9(+) B-Cell Subset Inhibits HDM-Induced Allergic Airway Inflammation. *Allergy* (2015) 70(11):1421–31. doi: 10.1111/all.12697
- Bankoti R, Gupta K, Levchenko A, Stager S. Marginal Zone B Cells Regulate Antigen-Specific T Cell Responses During Infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188 (8):3961–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102880
- Xiao X, Lao XM, Chen MM, Liu RX, Wei Y, Ouyang FZ, et al. PD-1(Hi) Identifies a Novel Regulatory B-Cell Population in Human Hepatoma That Promotes Disease Progression. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6(5):546–59. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.Cd-15-1408
- van der Vlugt LEPM, Mlejnek E, Ozir-Fazalalikhan A, Bonas MJ, Dijksman TR, Labuda LA, et al. CD24 (Hi) CD27 (+) B Cells From Patients With Allergic Asthma Have Impaired Regulatory Activity in Response to Lipopolysaccharide. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44(4):517–28. doi: 10.1111/cea.12238
- Blair PA, Norena LY, Flores-Borja F, Rawlings DJ, Isenberg DA, Ehrenstein MR, et al. CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B Cells Exhibit Regulatory Capacity in Healthy Individuals But Are Functionally Impaired in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients. *Immunity* (2010) 32(1):129–40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.11.009
- Flores-Borja F, Bosma A, Ng D, Reddy V, Ehrenstein MR, Isenberg DA, et al. CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B Cells Maintain Regulatory T Cells While Limiting T(H)1 and T(H)17 Differentiation. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(173). doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005407

manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Program for Guangdong Introducing Innovative and Entrepreneurial Teams (2017ZT07S054), the Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (2020A1515010897), the National Key R&D Program of China (2017YFA0205600), and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81901652, 81801607).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 711980/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Overview of the study design and data filters. (A) The experimental flowchart of this study. (B) Data complexity of different organs.
(C) Gene number (left) and UMI number (right) of different amount of BCR chains.
(D) Number of genes (top) and proportion of mitochondrial gene counts (bottom) in different organs after data filtering. (E) Total number of cells in different organs.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Expression of Breg cells genes and identified common Breg cells genes. (A) Gene expression of known Breg cells markers in total B cells from five organs. (B) Identified common Breg cells genes *Fcrl5*, *Ptpn22*, *Ccdc28b*, *Zbtb20* and *Cd9* expression in total B cells from five organs.

- Parekh VV, Prasad DVR, Banerjee PP, Joshi BN, Kumar A, Mishra GC. B Cells Activated by Lipopolysaccharide, But Not by Anti-Ig and Anti-CD40 Antibody, Induce Anergy in CD8(+) T Cells: Role of TGF-Beta 1. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(12):5897–911. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.12.5897
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-Producing B Cells Are Critical Regulators of Immunity During Autoimmune and Infectious Diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507(7492):366-+. doi: 10.1038/nature12979
- Maseda D, Candando KM, Smith SH, Kalampokis I, Weaver CT, Plevy SE, et al. Peritoneal Cavity Regulatory B Cells (B10 Cells) Modulate IFN-Gamma (+)CD4(+) T Cell Numbers During Colitis Development in Mice. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(5):2780–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300649
- Matsumoto M, Baba A, Yokota T, Nishikawa H, Ohkawa Y, Kayama H, et al. Interleukin-10-Producing Plasmablasts Exert Regulatory Function in Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1040–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2014.10.016
- Horikawa M, Weimer ET, DiLillo DJ, Venturi GM, Spolski R, Leonard WJ, et al. Regulatory B Cell (B10 Cell) Expansion During Listeria Infection Governs Innate and Cellular Immune Responses in Mice. J Immunol (2013) 190(3):1158–68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201427
- Nakashima H, Hamaguchi Y, Watanabe R, Ishiura N, Kuwano Y, Okochi H, et al. CD22 Expression Mediates the Regulatory Functions of Peritoneal B-1a Cells During the Remission Phase of Contact Hypersensitivity Reactions. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(9):4637–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901719
- Papalexi E, Satija R. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing to Explore Immune Cell Heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol (2018) 18(1):35–45. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.76
- Sun JB, Wang JG, Pefanis E, Chao JM, Rothschild G, Tachibana I, et al. Transcriptomics Identify CD9 as a Marker of Murine IL-10-Competent Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Rep* (2015) 13(6):1110–7. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.09.070

- Baba Y, Saito Y, Kotetsu Y. Heterogeneous Subsets of B-Lineage Regulatory Cells (Breg Cells). Int Immunol (2020) 32(3):155–62. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dx2068
- Wasik M, Nazimek K, Bryniarski K. Regulatory B Cell Phenotype and Mechanism of Action: The Impact of Stimulating Conditions. *Microbiol Immunol* (2018) 62(8):485–96. doi: 10.1111/1348-0421.12636
- Mauri C, Menon M. Human Regulatory B Cells in Health and Disease: Therapeutic Potential. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(3):772–9. doi: 10.1172/ Jci85113
- Evans JG, Chavez-Rueda KA, Eddaoudi A, Meyer-Bahlburg A, Rawlings DJ, Ehrenstein MR, et al. Novel Suppressive Function of Transitional 2 B Cells in Experimental Arthritis. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(12):7868–78. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.178.12.7868
- Blair PA, Chavez-Rueda KA, Evans JG, Shlomchik MJ, Eddaoudi A, Isenberg DA, et al. Selective Targeting of B Cells With Agonistic Anti-CD40 Is an Efficacious Strategy for the Generation of Induced Regulatory T2-Like B Cells and for the Suppression of Lupus in MRL/lpr Mice. *J Immunol* (2009) 182 (6):3492–502. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803052
- Yanaba K, Yoshizaki A, Asano Y, Kadono T, Tedder TF, Sato S. IL-10-Producing Regulatory B10 Cells Inhibit Intestinal Injury in a Mouse Model. *Am J Pathol* (2011) 178(2):735–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.10.022
- Lin X, Wang XH, Xiao F, Ma KY, Liu LX, Wang XQ, et al. IL-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells Restrain the T Follicular Helper Cell Response in Primary Sjogren's Syndrome. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2019) 16(12):921–31. doi: 10.1038/ s41423-019-0227-z
- Boldison J, Da Rosa LC, Davies J, Wen L, Wong FSS. Dendritic Cells License Regulatory B Cells to Produce IL-10 and Mediate Suppression of Antigen-Specific CD8 T Cells. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2020) 17(8):843–55. doi: 10.1038/ s41423-019-0324-z
- Mauri C, Menon M. The Expanding Family of Regulatory B Cells. Int Immunol (2015) 27(10):479–86. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxv038
- Davis RS. FCRL Regulation in Innate-Like B Cells. Ann Ny Acad Sci (2015) 1362:110–6. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12771
- Kim CC, Baccarella AM, Bayat A, Pepper M, Fontana MF. FCRL5(+) Memory B Cells Exhibit Robust Recall Responses. *Cell Rep* (2019) 27(5):1446-+. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.04.019
- Chevrier S, Emslie D, Shi W, Kratina T, Wellard C, Karnowski A, et al. The BTB-ZF Transcription Factor Zbtb20 Is Driven by Irf4 to Promote Plasma Cell Differentiation and Longevity. J Exp Med (2014) 211(5):827–40. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131831
- Cloutier JF, Veillette A. Cooperative Inhibition of T-Cell Antigen Receptor Signaling by a Complex Between a Kinase and a Phosphatase. J Exp Med (1999) 189(1):111–21. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.1.111
- 30. Orozco G, Sanchez E, Gonzalez-Gay MA, Lopez-Nevot MA, Torres B, Caliz R, et al. Association of a Functional Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism of PTPN22, Encoding Lymphoid Protein Phosphatase, With Rheumatoid Arthritis and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52 (1):219–24. doi: 10.1002/art.20771
- 31. Schurman SH, O'Hanlon TP, McGrath JA, Gruzdev A, Bektas A, Xu H, et al. Transethnic Associations Among Immune-Mediated Diseases and Single-Nucleotide Polymorphisms of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Response Gene ARNT and the PTPN22 Immune Regulatory Gene. J Autoimmun (2020) 107. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2019.102363
- 32. Meng XY, Grotsch B, Luo YB, Knaup KX, Wiesener MS, Chen XX, et al. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1 Alpha Is a Critical Transcription Factor for

IL-10-Producing B Cells in Autoimmune Disease. Nat Commun (2018) 9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02683-x

- Matsumoto M, Fujii Y, Baba A, Hikida M, Kurosaki T, Baba Y. The Calcium Sensors STIM1 and STIM2 Control B Cell Regulatory Function Through Interleukin-10 Production. *Immunity* (2011) 34(5):703–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2011.03.016
- 34. Radomir L, Kramer MP, Perpinial M, Schottlender N, Rabani S, David K, et al. The Survival and Function of IL-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells Are Negatively Controlled by SLAMF5. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1). doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22230-z
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 Programs the Development and Function of CD4(+)CD25(+) Regulatory T Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4 (4):330–6. doi: 10.1038/ni904
- Zhang XM, Olsen N, Zheng SG. The Progress and Prospect of Regulatory T Cells in Autoimmune Diseases. J Autoimmun (2020) 111. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaut.2020.102461
- Habib T, Park H, Tsang M, de Alboran IM, Nicks A, Wilson L, et al. Myc Stimulates B Lymphocyte Differentiation and Amplifies Calcium Signaling. *J Cell Biol* (2007) 179(4):717–31. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200704173
- Jadhav K, Zhang Y. Activating Transcription Factor 3 in Immune Response and Metabolic Regulation. *Liver Res* (2017) 1(2):96–102. doi: 10.1016/ j.livres.2017.08.001
- Matsushita T, Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. Regulatory B Cells Inhibit EAE Initiation in Mice While Other B Cells Promote Disease Progression. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(10):3420–30. doi: 10.1172/Jci36030
- Mauri C, Gray D, Mushtaq N, Londei M. Prevention of Arthritis by Interleukin 10-Producing B Cells. J Exp Med (2003) 197(4):489–501. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021293
- Watanabe R, Ishiura N, Nakashima H, Kuwano Y, Okochi H, Tamaki K, et al. Regulatory B Cells (B10 Cells) Have a Suppressive Role in Murine Lupus: CD19 and B10 Cell Deficiency Exacerbates Systemic Autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(9):4801–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902385
- Kreslavsky T, Vilagos B, Tagoh H, Poliakova DK, Schwickert TA, Wohner M, et al. Essential Role for the Transcription Factor Bhlhe41 in Regulating the Development, Self-Renewal and BCR Repertoire of B-1a Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(4):442–55. doi: 10.1038/ni.3694

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Yang, Long, Huang, Luo, Bian, Xu, Wang, Yang, Li, Selmi, Gershwin, Zhao and Lian. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Yang et al.





Intestinal CD11b⁺ B Cells Ameliorate Colitis by Secreting Immunoglobulin A

Ying Fu^{1†}, Zhiming Wang^{1†}, Baichao Yu¹, Yuli Lin¹, Enyu Huang^{1,2}, Ronghua Liu¹, Chujun Zhao³, Mingfang Lu¹, Wei Xu¹, Hongchun Liu⁴, Yongzhong Liu⁵, Luman Wang^{1,6+†} and Yiwei Chu^{1,7+†}

¹ Department of Immunology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, and Institutes of Biomedical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Pathology, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR China, ³ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States, ⁴ Department of Gastroenterology, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁵ State Key Laboratory of Oncogenes and Related Genes, Shanghai Cancer Institute, Renji Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University, School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ⁶ Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Shanghai Fifth People's Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁷ Biotherapy Research Center, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

The intestinal mucosal immune environment requires multiple immune cells to maintain homeostasis. Although intestinal B cells are among the most important immune cells, little is known about the mechanism that they employ to regulate immune homeostasis. In this study, we found that CD11b⁺ B cells significantly accumulated in the gut lamina propria and Peyer's patches in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis mouse models and patients with ulcerative colitis. Adoptive transfer of CD11b⁺ B cells, but not CD11b^{-/-} B cells, effectively ameliorated colitis and exhibited therapeutic effects. Furthermore, CD11b⁺ B cells were found to produce higher levels of IgA than CD11b⁻ B cells. CD11b deficiency in B cells dampened IgA production, resulting in the loss of their ability to ameliorate colitis. Mechanistically, CD11b⁺ B cells expressed abundant TGF- β and TGF- β receptor II, as well as highly activate phosphorylated Smad2/3 signaling pathway, consequently promoting the class switch to IgA. Collectively, our findings demonstrate that CD11b⁺ B cells are essential intestinal suppressive immune cells and the primary source of intestinal IgA, which plays an indispensable role in maintaining intestinal homeostasis.

Keywords: CD11b⁺ B cells, IgA, DSS-induced colitis, TGF-β, Smad

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Duane R Wesemann, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

Reviewed by:

Mats Bemark, University of Gothenburg, Sweden Andrey Kruglov, German Rheumatism Research Center (DRFZ), Germany

*Correspondence:

Yiwei Chu yiweichu@fudan.edu.cn Luman Wang lumanwang@fudan.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 April 2021 Accepted: 14 October 2021 Published: 03 November 2021

Citation:

Fu Y, Wang Z, Yu B, Lin Y, Huang E, Liu R, Zhao C, Lu M, Xu W, Liu H, Liu Y, Wang L and Chu Y (2021) Intestinal CD11b⁺ B Cells Ameliorate Colitis by Secreting Immunoglobulin A. Front. Immunol. 12:697725. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.697725

50

Abbreviations: APC, allophycocyanin; AT, adoptive transfer; BAFF,B-cell-activating factor of the tumor-necrosis-factor family; CCR, CC chemokine receptor; CFSE, carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester; CFU, colony-forming units; DAI, disease activity index; DAPI, 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; DSS, dextran sodium sulfate; FITC, fluorescein isothiocyanate; GALT, gut associated lymphoid tissues; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; IgA, Immunoglobulin A; LP, lamina propria; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; MLN, mesenteric lymph nodes; p-Smad, phosphorylated Smad; PBS, phosphate-buffered saline; PE, phycoerythrin; PP, peyer's patch; rm, recombinant mouse; TGF- β , cytokine transforming growth factor β .

INTRODUCTION

The intestine is a relatively independent regional immune organ, with bacteria, epithelial cells, and immune cells interacting to maintain homeostasis (1). Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is an important site for resident immune cells to function as both a regulator and an effector (2). GALT cells, such as dendritic cells, macrophages, T cells, and B cells are widely known to be involved in maintaining a stable state of the intestinal tract (3, 4). Among the substances produced by immune cells, IgA is considered an essential factor in immune hemostasis (5–7). However, no study has reported whether there are specific subsets of B cells that produce substantial IgA in the inflammatory environment and the underlying mechanisms.

CD11b, a protein subunit that forms the integrin, alpha-M beta-2 molecule (Mac-1), with CD18, is usually expressed on myeloid cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells. CD11b has been functionally implicated in leukocyte suppression, migration, and adhesion (8-10). For instance, CD11b activation promotes proinflammatory macrophage polarization and functions as a negative regulator of immune suppression as well as a target for cancer immune therapy (11). In lymphocytes, CD11b is expressed on peritoneal cavity B1 B cells with unrevealed functions (12), and also expressed on some age-associated B cells (13, 14). Kunisawa et al. demonstrated that CD11b is essential for IgA+ plasma cell production, which is dependent on the Peyer's patch (PP) lymphoid structure, IL-10 and MyD88 pathway (15). Our previous work revealed that CD11b is also expressed on classical B2 B cells, and CD11b⁺ B cells are essential for maintaining immune tolerance in the liver (16). Thus, whether CD11b⁺ B cells exist in GALT and whether the expression of CD11b in intestinal B cells determines the function of B cells in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis are important questions that should be addressed.

In this study, we found that CD11b⁺ B cells accumulated in GALT under intestinal inflammatory conditions in a dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis model and human ulcerative colitis (UC) patients. Importantly, adoptive transfer (AT) of Peyer's patches (PP)-derived wild-type (WT) B cells, but not $Itgam^{-/-}$ (CD11b KO) B cells, inhibited colitis in $Cd79a^{-/-}$ B cell-deficient mice, suggesting that CD11b is indispensable for the regulatory function of GALT B cells. Furthermore, compared to CD11b^{-/-} B cells, CD11b⁺ B cells produced higher levels of IgA, and exhibited more intense activation of the TGF-B signaling pathways that is associated with IgA class switching, including higher expression of TGF-B receptor and increased phosphorylation of Smad2/3. In summary, the findings of this study demonstrate that, owing to their high activity and sensitivity to the microenvironment, intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells are the major source of IgA production, with therapeutic potential for intestinal diseases, such as colitis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

B6.129S4-Itgam^{tm1Myd}/J (*Itgam^{-/-}*) mice were kindly provided by Prof. Xiao Su of the Institute Pasteur of the Chinese Academy of Science (Shanghai, China). C57BL/6-Cd79a^{tm1cyagen} (Cd79a^{-/-}) and C57BL/6-iga^{em1cyagen} (Iga^{-/-}) mice were obtained from Cyagen Animal Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). B6.129P2-Il10tm1Cgn/J (Il10^{-/-}) mice were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). The B6.C(Cg)-Cd79a^{tm1(cre)} Reth/EhobJ (Mb-1^{cre}) mice were kindly provided by Zhongjun Dong of the School of Medicine, Tsinghua University (Beijing, China). The Tgfbr2^{flox/flox} ($Tgfbr2^{fl/f}$) mice were obtained from the NCI Mouse Repository (NCI-Frederick, NIH, USA) and kept in B6 background. All mice were 6-12 weeks old and were bred and housed in the animal facility at Fudan University (Shanghai, China) under specific pathogen-free barrier conditions (temperature: 18-29°C; humidity: 40%-70%; air velocity: <0.18 m/s; air pressure: 20-50 Pa). All mice were studied following protocols approved by the Ethics Committee of Animal Care and Use, Department of Laboratory Animal Science, Fudan University (Shanghai, China; approval no. 201901002Z). All animal experiments complied with the National Institute of Health's Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No. 8023, revised in 1978).

DSS-Induced Colitis

The experimental colitis model was established as described previously (17). Briefly, 2.5% DSS (w/v; MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA, USA) was added to the drinking water administered to mice for 7 days; thereafter, the animals were administered normal drinking water. During the study period, the mice were monitored daily to conduct clinical evaluations, such as their body weight, stool consistency, and gross bleeding. Clinical assessment of disease activity was performed using the following validated scoring system: body weight loss (scored as: 0, none; 1, 1%-5%; 2, 6%-10%; 3, 11%-15%; 4, >15%), stool consistency (scored as: 0, normal pellets; 2, loose stools; 4, diarrhea), and fecal blood (scored as: 0, negative hemoccult test; 1, positive hemoccult test; 2, blood visibly present in the stool; 3, blood visibly and blood clotting on the anus; 4, gross bleeding) (18). The disease activity index (DAI) was calculated using the above parameters (19–21).

Tissue Histopathology

On different days after DSS induction, mice were sacrificed, and their colon tissues were removed and fixed in 10% buffered formalin. Paraffin sections (6 μ m) of the distal segments of the colon were cut using a manual rotary microtome (Leica RM2235, Wetzlar, Germany) and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Histological assessment of colon injury was mainly based on the infiltration of inflammatory cells and epithelial damage and was scored from 0 to 4 as follows: 0, normal tissue; 1, inflammation with scattered infiltrating inflammatory cells and no signs of epithelial degeneration; 2, multiple foci and/or mild epithelial ulcerations; 3, severe inflammation with marked wall thickening and/or ulcerations in >30% of the tissue section; and 4, inflammation with transmural inflammatory cell infiltration and loss of the entire crypt and epithelium. The average fields of view per colon were blindly evaluated for each mouse as

Wild type (WT) C57BL/6 mice were obtained from the Shanghai SLAC Laboratory Animal Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China).

described previously (22, 23). The cumulative DSS histopathological scores of individual $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice treated with DSS were calculated by evaluating several tissue pathology parameters.

Flow Cytometry

Mononuclear cells were first incubated with anti-CD16/32 antibody (BD Bioscience, San Jose, CA, USA) and then reacted with the following anti-mouse antibodies: phycoerythrin (PE)-CD11b (M1/70, eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA), allophycocyanin (APC)-eFluor780-CD11b (M1/70, eBioscience), APC-CD19 (6D5, BioLegend), APC-Cy7-CD19 (1D3, eBioscience), fluorescein isothiocyanate(FITC)-IgA (C10-3, BD Biosciences), Pacific blue-CD45 (30-F11, BioLegend), APC-IL-10 (JES5-16E3, BioLegend), PE-TGFβ receptorII (TGF-βRII, polyclonal, FAB532P, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), Brilliant Violet 421-TGF-β1 (TW7-16B4, BioLegend), PE-IL-6 (MP5-20F3, BioLegend), PE-Smad1 (pS463/pS465)/Smad8 (pS465/pS467) (N6-1233, BD Biosciences), PE-Smad2 (pS465/pS467)/Smad3 (pS423/pS425) (O72-670, BD Biosciences), PE-CD95 (APO-1/Fas) (15A7, eBioscience), FITC-CCR9 (CW-1.2, BioLegend), APC-α4β7 (DATK32, BioLegend), APC-CD62L (MEL-14OX85, BioLegend), FITC-CD103 (2E7, BioLegend), PE-CD69 (H1.2F3, eBioscience), APC-eFluor 780-CD44 (IM7, eBioscience), PE-CCR7 (3D12, eBioscience), PE-PD-L2 (TY25, eBioscience), PE-Cyanine7-CD21/35 (7G67E9, BioLegend), eFluor 450-CD23 (B3B4, eBioscience), APC-CD43 (1G10, eBioscience), eFluor 450-IgD (11-26c, eBioscience), PE-Cyanine7-IgM (II/41, eBioscience), Pacific Blue-CD38 (Clone 90, BioLegend), APC-CD45.1 (A20, eBioscience), FITC-CD45.2 (Clone 104, eBioscience), FITC-CD40 (HM40-3, eBioscience), APC-CD86 (GL-1, eBioscience), eFluor 450-CD80 (16-10A1, eBioscience), APC-CD138 (Clone 281-2, BioLegend), FITC-MHC II (M5/ 114.15.2, eBioscience), Alexa Fluor 488-PNAd (MECA-79, eBioscience), eFluor 660-GL7 (GL7, Biolegend), PE-S1P1 (Clone 713412, R&D System), APC-CCR10 (248918Polyclonal, R&D System), TGF-β (TW7-16B4A), Smad1 (pS463/pS465)/ Smad8 (pS465/pS467) (N6-1233), Smad2 (pS465/pS467)/Smad3 (pS423/pS425) (O72-670), PE-Blimp-1 (5E7, eBioscience), eFluor 450-IL-6 (MP5-20F3, eBioscience), and FITC-Ki67 (SolA15, eBioscience). The human antibodies used were eFluor 450-CD19 (HIB19, eBioscience), PE-Cyanine7-CD11b (ICRF44, eBioscience), FITC-IgA (IS11-8E10, BioLegend), PE-TGF-βRII (25508, R&D Systems), PerCP-Cy5.5-TGF-β (TW4-9E7, BD Biosciences), PE-Smad2 (pS465/pS467)/Smad3 (pS423/pS425) (O72-670, BD Biosciences), APC-CCR9 (L053E8, BioLegend), and PE- α 4 β 7 (DATK32, eBioscience).

Mononuclear cells were incubated with anti-CD16/32 antibody (eBioscience) and reacted with the Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 506(Invitrogen) and anti-mouse cell surface antibodies. To stain intranuclear molecules, cells were first fixed and permeabilized with the Staining Buffer set (eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's instructions and then stained with anti-mouse antibodies. To stain intracellular cytokines, cells were stimulated with Cell Stimulation Cocktail (plus protein transport inhibitors) (eBioscience) for the last 5 h, followed by fixation and permeabilization with Staining Buffer set (eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Finally, the cells were stained with anti-mouse antibodies. For phosphorylation detection, PP-derived CD11b⁺ B cells and Itgam^{-/-} B cells were stimulated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS, 10 µg/mL, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), B-cell-activating factor of the tumor-necrosis-factor family (BAFF, 25 ng/mL, R&D Systems), and TGF- β (2 ng/mL, R&D Systems) for 0, 5, 15, and 30 min. Formaldehyde was added at a final concentration of 2%, and surface staining was performed using anti-CD11b and anti-CD19 antibodies. After permeabilization using phosflow perm buffer (BD Bioscience), the cells were resuspended in incubation buffer containing the antibodies against phosphorylated-Smad1/8(p-Smad1/8) and p-Smad2/3 for 30 min at room temperature and washed with additional antibodies for another 30 min. Finally, phosphorylated detection was performed using flow cytometry.

The concentrations of the matched isotype antibodies were used as the negative controls. Flow cytometric analysis was performed using a CyAn ADP Analyzer (Beckman Coulter, Miami, FL, USA), and data were analyzed with FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR, USA). The absolute number of cell populations was calculated based on their respective percentages using flow cytometry.

B Cell Isolation and AT

B cells (CD19⁺) from mouse PPs on day 0 were purified using B cell isolation kits from StemCell Technologies (Vancouver, BC, Canada) according to the manufacturer's recommended protocol. CD11b⁺ B cells and CD11b⁻ B cells were sorted using a MoFlo flow cytometer (FCM; Beckman Coulter). The purity of the isolated cell population was at least 90%. To investigate the role of CD11b in B cells in colitis, approximately 1×10^7 purified single-cell suspensions derived from WT or *Itgam^{-/-}* mice were injected into each *Cd79a^{-/-}* mouse through the inferior ophthalmic vein 48 h before DSS consumption. The control group received phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). In the assay of the cell-based therapy for colitis, purified CD11b⁺ B cells (5×10^6 cells per mouse) and CD11b⁻ B cells were adoptively transferred in the same manner.

Animal Treatment

2.5% DSS (w/v; MP Biomedicals, Irvine, CA, USA) was added to the drinking water given to the mice for 7 days followed by providing normal drinking water.

Isolation of GALT Cells

To isolate mononuclear cells from MLNs and PPs, the cells were carefully removed with fine scissors and ground with RPMI-1640 medium (Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) containing 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS, GIBCO BRL, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Mononuclear cells from colorectal lamina propria (LP) were isolated using the method described by Lefrancois and Lycke (24). Briefly, the colon was lavaged with RPMI-1640 to remove fecal matter and debris, opened longitudinally, cut into 1 cm pieces, and stirred twice in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10 mM HEPES, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM EDTA

(all from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and 2% fetal calf serum for 30 min at 37°C. To isolate LPs, the remaining pieces were digested with RPMI-1640 medium plus 1 mg/mL collagenase (Roche Applied Science, Upper Bavaria, Germany), 40 μ l/mL dispase (Sigma-Aldrich), and 4 μ l/mL DNase I (Sigma-Aldrich) for 60 min at 37°C. Mononuclear cells of LPs were then purified with discontinuous Percoll (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK) gradient centrifugation by collecting interface cells between the 40% and 70% layers.

In Vitro Culture

For CD11b⁺ B cell stimulation, purified PP-derived B cells were stimulated with LPS(10 μ g/mL, Sigma-Aldrich), BAFF(25ng/mL, R&D Systems), and/or cytokines(all from R&D Systems). For IgA⁺ cell stimulation, CD11b⁺ B cells and *Itgam*^{-/-} B cells were stimulated with LPS(10 μ g/mL), BAFF(25ng/mL),and TGF- β (4ng/mL) for 72 h. All purified cells were plated at 5 × 10⁵/mL in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% FBS. LY2109761 (5 μ M, Selleck, Houston, TX, USA) and anti-TGF- β (1D11.16.8) (4 μ g/mL, BioXCell, West Lebanon, NH, USA) were added to some groups. Flow cytometry was performed to measure the expression of IgA isotypes in cultured B cells using PE-IgA (mA-6E1, eBioscience).

For human peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) stimulation, isolated PBMCs were stimulated with CpG (2µg/mL, ODN 2216, InvivoGen), BAFF (25ng/mL, R&D Systems), and TGF- β (2ng/mL, R&D Systems) for 72 h. All cells were plated at 5 × 10⁵/mL in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% FBS.

Transfection of Small Interfering RNAs

WT splenic B cells were purified using the EasySepTM MouseB Cell Isolation Kit (Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada). Isolated splenic B cells were washed three times and then transfected with TGF- β small interfering RNA (siRNA) (siTGF β) or negative control siRNA (siNC, 100nM) by electroporation in Opti-MEM medium. The ECM830 Electro Square Wave Porator (Harvard Apparatus BTX, USA) was set to 400 volt and 700 µs electric shock for the suspension B cells. The transfected cells were cultured in corresponding stimulations (LPS 10ug/mL; BAFF 25ng/mL; LY2109761 5 µM; and anti-TGF- β 4 µg/mL). As siRNAs partially enter suspension cells by electroporation, total mRNA was extracted 24 h after the transfection to detect the transfection efficiency. Based on the significant knockdown efficiency, the RNA level of TGF-β was detected using real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and the percentage of IgA⁺ B cells was measured using flow cytometry at 72 h, and the production of IgA in the supernatant was determined using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).

siRNA:

siTGFβ (forward)- 5'-GAAGCGGACUACUAUGCUAdTdT-3' siTGFβ (reverse)- 5'-UAGCAUAGUAGUCCGCUUCdTdT-3' siNC (forward)- 5'-UUCUCCGAACGUGUCACGUdTdT-3' siNC (reverse)- 5'-ACGUGACACGUUCGGAGAAdTdT-3' real-time PCR primers:

 β -actin (forward)-5'-CTACCTCATGAAGATCCTGACC-3' β -actin (reverse)-5'-CACAGCTTCTCTTTGATGTCAC-3' TGF β (forward)-5'-CCAGATCCTGTCCAAACTAAGG-3' TGF β (reverse)-5'-CTCTTTAGCATAGTAGTCCGCT-3'

Colony-Forming Units (CFU) Calculation

WT mice and *Iga*^{-/-} mice were provided drinking water with 2.5% DSS (w/v; MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA) for 7 days, followed by normal drinking water. The SPF faculties, sterile food, and water were strictly controlled during this process. Twenty milligrams of feces were collected every hour on day 10. The quantitative feces were diluted with 1 mL of sterile PBS. After the bacterial solution was mixed evenly, the bacterial solution was diluted 10⁴-fold, and 50 uL of the diluted bacterial solution was dropped into the solid LB medium and then evenly smeared with a laboratory coating rod. The coated culture dish was inverted and incubated overnight at 37°C for colony counting and CFU calculation.

IgA-Specific Gut Microbiota Detection

In the DSS-induced colitis model, the mice were bled on day 10. Sera were collected for IgA-specific gut microbiota measurements.

1) ELISA plate with 100 µl/well of capture anti-IgA antibody in Coating Buffer. Seal the plate and incubate overnight at 4°C. Aspirate wells and wash twice with 400 µl/well Wash Buffer. 2) Block wells with 250 µl of Blocking Buffer. Incubate at room temperature for 2 hours. Aspirate wells and wash twice with 400 μ /well Wash Buffer. 3) 10²-fold-diluted sera was added incubate overnight at 4°C. Aspirate wells and wash five times with 400 µl/well Wash Buffer. 4) For fluorescence conjugation, the gut microbiota was incubated for 5 min with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE, ab113853, Abcam) and then washed with 10 ml of 1% FBS-PBS. Then, 50 ul CFSElabeled gut microbiota was incubated in the sera-coated plate for 1h at room temperature in a biosafety cabinet. Aspirate wells and wash five times with 400 µl/well Wash Buffer. to remove the unruptured microbiota. 5) The plate was read at an excitation wavelength of 492 nm (Tecan). We used OD values to represent the abundance of IgA-specific gut microbiota.

Immunofluorescence Analysis

For mouse colon, after deparaffinization, antigen retrieval, and blocking, the paraffin sections of colon tissues were incubated with the primary antibodies rabbit anti-mouse CD19 (ab227019, Abcam) and rat anti-mouse CD11b (ab8878, Abcam) overnight at 4°C. The tissues were then washed with PBS and incubated with the appropriate fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies: Alexa Flour-488 (A-21206, Invitrogen) and 647 (A48265TR, Invitrogen) at a dilution of 1:100 in 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 h at room temperature. Additionally, 4′, 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) was used as a counterstain. Images were acquired using a spectral confocal microscope (TCS SP5, TCS SP8; Leica, Wetzlar, Germany).

Colon tissues were obtained from six patients. This study was approved by the Medical Ethics Council of Zhongshan Hospital

(approval number: Y2016-197). Informed consent was obtained from all the patients recruited in this study. After deparaffinization, antigen retrieval, and blocking, paraffin sections of colon tissues were incubated with primary antibodies against hCD19, hCD11b, and hIgA (all from Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) overnight at 4°C. The tissues were then washed with PBS and incubated with the appropriate fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies, Alexa Flour-488, 594, and 633 (all from Invitrogen) at a dilution of 1:200 in 5% BSA for 1 h at room temperature. DAPI was used as a counterstain. Images were acquired using a spectral confocal microscope (TCS SP5, TCS SP8; Leica).

The density was calculated using Image J software (National Institutes of Health), and the procedures were as follows: For a single-channel (monochromatic) fluorescence image, the gray value of each pixel represented the fluorescence intensity at that point. The fluorescence intensity formula for a specific region was average fluorescence intensity (mean) = total fluorescence intensity of the region (IntDen)/Area of the region (Area) (Mean: Mean gray value; IntDen: Integrated Density). 1) After the image was added, single image-color-split channels were extracted. If the image was stored in RGB format, the channel needed to be divided first; if the image was 16-bit or 8-bit, the threshold operation could be performed directly. 2) The threshold was adjusted, and the appropriate area was selected (image-adjustthreshold). The software automatically selected a default value and selected the default value uniformly (to eliminate the error caused by manually selecting the threshold value for different photos, it is better to use the default threshold value). 3) An appropriate threshold algorithm (image-adjust-auto threshold) and threshold results for all algorithms were selected. According to the results, the default algorithm was chosen here. 4) Parameters to be measured (analyze-set measurements) were set, and the mean gray value was checked and limited to threshold (very important), and OK was clicked. If the threshold limit was not checked, the average fluorescence intensity of the entire image was measured. 5) Measure was clicked, and the test result appeared. The measured results, mean, is the average fluorescence intensity (mean gray value, equal to IntDen/Area), IntDen = Integrated Density (sum of fluorescence intensity).

ELISA

To measure IgA levels in colon tissues, feces and mucus were flushed and homogenized with endotoxin-free PBS. The supernatants were harvested after centrifugation (800G, 15 min) and stored at -80° C for later analysis. The cell supernatants of sort-purified B cells that underwent *in vitro* culture were also collected for cytokine and antibody measurements. The concentrations of IgA, IL-10, IL-6, and IgM were measured using the Mouse Ready-SET-Go! ELISA kits (eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The levels of active TGF- β were measured using a human TGF- β 1 duo-set (DY240) or mouse TGF- β 1 duo-set (DY1679) with a substrate reagent pack (DY999) according to the manufacturer's instructions (R&D Systems Europe, Abingdon, UK) (25, 26).

Statistical Analysis

The results of multiple groups were compared using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Thereafter, Bonferroni correction or the Mann-Whitney U test was conducted to compare two individual groups. Statistical analyses were performed using the GraphPad software (La Jolla, CA, USA). Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

CD11b⁺ B Cells Are Enriched in the Intestine During DSS-Induced Colitis

Our findings indicate that CD11b is upregulated on B cells during experimental autoimmune hepatitis (EAH) and plays an essential regulatory role in the disease (16). In this study, by using DSS-induced colitis, we detected B cells expressing CD11b at different stages in the PP and LP of GALT, peripheral blood, spleen, and MLN (Figures 1A-F). As shown in Figures 1B, C, during disease processing, the proportion of CD11b⁺ B cells increased on day 4 in the PP and LPs compared to that in day 0 control mice (day 0). Thereafter, they remained at high percentage levels and were accompanied by a significant increase in absolute cell numbers. However, there were no changes in CD11b⁺ B cell frequencies in the spleen or blood cells (Figures 1D, E). Moreover, our analysis also confirmed that the proportion of GALT CD11b⁺ B cells in total lymphocytes also increased (Supplementary Figures S1A, B), indicating that CD11b⁺ B cells were enriched in the GALT, specifically in the colitis stage. Immunofluorescence staining confirmed that CD11b⁺ B cells were mostly present in the intestinal PP and LP, especially under inflammatory conditions (Figure 1G).

Classically, CD11b is a hallmark of peritoneal cavity (PerC) B1 cells, which migrate to the intestine and maintain homeostasis (27, 28). Therefore, we compared intestinal (PP and LP) CD11b⁺ B cells with classic PerC B1 cells. We first compared the surface markers of PerC B1 cells and intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells before and after the induction of colitis. As shown in Supplementary Figure S2A, intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells exhibited higher levels of CD21, CD23, IgD, and IgA, as well as lower levels of IgM and CD5 on both day 0 and day 4, expressing an opposite phenotype from that of PerC B1 cells. To investigate whether the intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells are the PerC B1 B cells migrating to PP, PerC B1 B cells were isolated from CD45.1 mice and intraperitoneally injected into CD45.2 WT mice. An additional group of recipient mice was administered FTY720 to block the migration of injected PerC B1 B cells from the peritoneal cavity as a negative control (Supplementary Figure S2B). As shown in Supplementary Figure S2C, 4 days after cell transfer, peritoneal cells showed increased expression of S1P1. However, there was no migration of CD45.1 CD11b⁺ B cells to the PP or LP (Supplementary Figure S2D), strongly supporting that intestinal CD11b⁺B cells were not PerC B1 B cells. We then examined whether CD11b⁺B cells in LP and PP from day 0 to day 10 were the characteristic of memory B cells, plasmablasts,



expressed as the mean ± SEM of one experiment with six to eight mice, performed in triplicate with similar results.

and germinal center (GC) B cells. We found that the frequency of both PP and LP CD11b⁺ B cells increased CD38^{lo}PNA^{hi} (GC marker) expression on days 4, 7, and 10, while no changes were observed in the frequency of LP CD11b⁻ B cells (**Supplementary Figure S2E**). In addition, CD11b⁺ B cells expressed CD138 and Blimp from day 0 to day 10, and in inflammatory conditions, the frequency of CD138⁺Blimp⁺ plasmablasts increased in colitis (**Supplementary Figure S2F**). We also tested memory B cell markers, CD80 and PD-L2, and found that the levels of both markers were very low on CD11b⁺ B cells (**Supplementary Figure S2G**), indicating that CD11b⁺ B cells are not memory B cells. Taken together, these data suggest that CD11b^+ B cells exist in all stages of B cell activation and could be expanded in PPs and colorectal LP during colitis and are highly unlikely to be conventional B-1 cells.

Intestinal CD11b⁺ B Cells Protect Mouse From DSS-Induced Colitis

To determine whether CD11b⁺ B cells have a protective function in colitis, 1×10^7 CD19⁺ B cells from the PP of day 0 WT (*Itgam*^{+/+}) mice and CD11b gene-deficient (*Itgam*^{-/-}) mice were purified, and AT was performed in B cell-deficient mice (*Cd79a*^{-/-}) 2 days prior

CD11b+ B Cells Ameliorate Colitis

to the administration of DSS (Figure 2A). Compared to control mice ($Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice that received PBS), $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice that received B cells from Itgam^{+/+} mice exhibited less severe colitis. $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice that received $Itgam^{-/-}$ B cells developed severe colitis similar to that in control mice, as measured by body weight loss, DAI score, and histological score (Figures 2B-D). Cd79amice that received $Itgam^{+/+}$ B cells lost <10% of their body weight on day 9 (the peak of disease progression) and did not experience diarrhea or gross bleeding after day 8. In contrast, $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice that received Itgam^{-/-} B cells exhibited persistent disease progression with nearly 20% body weight loss (Figures 2B, C). Histologically, control mice exhibited the most severe inflammation throughout the entire colon, with massive loss of crypts and leukocyte infiltration observed on days 7 and 10 (Figure 2D). $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice that received $Itgam^{-/-}$ B cells displayed a slight improvement. Comparatively, Cd79a^{-/-} mice that received WT B cells had an intact colon epithelium and markedly less leukocyte infiltration on days 7 and 10 (Figure 2D). These results indicate that the expression of CD11b in activated intestinal B cells is essential for their protective role in this colitis model. Further, we investigated whether intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells could be used to treat colitis. CD11b⁺ and CD11b⁻ B cells were sorted from PP, and an equal number of cells were added to WT mice 3 days after induction of DSS (Figure 2E). On day 7, mice that received CD11b⁺ B cells exhibited milder symptoms in the

colon than mice that received CD11b⁻ B cells. Similar to mice that received PBS, mice that received CD11b⁻ B cells experienced body weight loss and diarrhea from day 3 (**Figure 2F**) and day 4 (**Figure 2G**), respectively. However, mice that received CD11b⁺ B cells exhibited delayed body weight loss and pathological changes related to colitis (**Figures 2F-H**). These data strongly suggest that intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells alleviate DSS-induced colitis and exhibit therapeutic effects.

Intestinal CD11b⁺ B Cells Are the Main Source of IgA⁺ Cells

IL-10 produced by B cells has been demonstrated to play an important role in the regulation of diseases (29). Thus, the role of IL-10 in CD11b⁺ B cells was investigated. As shown in **Supplementary Figures S3A-C**, the transfer of $Il-10^{-/-}$ CD11b⁺ B cells inhibited colitis, suggesting that IL-10 is not essential for CD11b⁺ B cell regulatory function. CD11b has been reported to affect the secretion of IgA in the lymphoid structure of PP (15). Herein, we used IgA-deficient ($Iga^{-/-}$) mice to induce colitis and found that $Iga^{-/-}$ mice exhibited significantly more severe colitis symptoms than WT mice (**Figures 3A-C**). IgA-deficient ($Iga^{-/-}$) mice developed more severe colitis than WT mice, as measured by body weight loss, DAI score, and histological score (**Figures 3A-C**). Consistently, $Iga^{-/-}$ mice had significantly higher numbers of bacteria in the PP and LP (**Figure 3D**), with lower bacterial-



FIGURE 2 | CD11b-deficient B cells exhibit impaired ability to resolve colitis. (A) Each $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mouse intravenously received 1×10^7 PP-derived B cells from WT mice ($ltgam^{+/+}$) or $ltgam^{-/-}$ mice 2 days before the induction of colitis. Mice were evaluated daily, and weight loss (B) and disease activity index (DAI) scores (C) were recorded. (D) Representative distal colon histological sections of $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), and the histological score was calculated. Images are displayed at the original magnification of $\times 100$. Red stars indicate the position of the inflammatory cell infiltration and/or epithelial damage. (E) PP-derived B cells of WT mice were sorted and stimulated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) for 48 h *in vitro*. CD11b⁺ and CD11b⁻ B cells were subsequently purified and intravenously injected (5×10^6 cells per mice) into WT mice treated with DSS for 3 days. Weight loss (F) and the DAI scores (G) of recipient mice were measured and evaluated from day 0 to day 7. (H) H&E-stained histological sections of distal colon tissue are presented. Images are displayed at the original magnification of $\times 100$. Red stars indicate the position of the histological sections of distal colon tissue are presented. Images are displayed at the original magnification of $\times 100$. Red stars indicate the position of the histological sections of distal colon tissue are presented. Images are displayed at the original magnification of $\times 100$. Red stars indicate the position of the histological injury. **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.01. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM of eight mice.



cell infiltration and/or epithelial damage. (D) The colony-forming units (CFU) counts of the bacteria in the feces of WT mice or $Iga^{-/-}$ mice on day 7 of colitis. (E) The O.D. values which indicated bacteria captured by the serum antibodies of WT mice or the $Iga^{-/-}$ mice on day 7 after DSS intervention were measured. **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM of three mice.

binding ability of antibodies in the blood (Figure 3E). Thus, IgA, a critical regulatory factor in maintaining gut homeostasis (30), was hypothesized to play a crucial role in CD11b⁺ B cell-mediated inhibition of colitis. As shown in Figure 4, CD11b⁺ B cells were gated to detect the expression of IgA in this subset, and this expression was compared to that measured in CD11b⁻ B cells in PPs and the LP. In contrast to CD11b⁻ B cells, CD11b⁺ B cells expressed more IgA during colitis, and the number of IgA⁺ cells was significantly increased in the colitis stage. However, increased numbers of IgA⁺ cells were not observed in CD11b⁻ B cells (Figure 4A). To confirm these results, we used $Iga^{-/-}$ mice as a negative control (Supplementary Figure S4A, PP day 10). Similar results were obtained from the transfer experiments with *Itgam*^{+/+} B cells (Figures 4B, C) and isolated CD11b⁺ B cells (Figures 4D, E). Higher numbers of IgA⁺ B cells and levels of sIgA were observed in $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice that received $Itgam^{+/+}$ B cells as well as WT mice that received CD11b⁺ B cells on days 7 and 10 after treatment with DSS, whereas $Itgam^{-/-}$ or CD11b⁻ B cell transfer did not increase the number of IgA⁺ B cells and sIgA expression (Figures 4B-E). In addition, the t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (tSNE) clustering visualization diagram also showed that IgA cells were present in CD11b⁺ B cells, indicating that the production of IgA required CD11b (Supplementary Figure S4B). Thus, CD11b⁺ B cells are the main source of IgA⁺ cells and represent the vast majority of IgA⁺ B cells.

Activated TGF-β/p-Smad Signaling Is Mainly Activated in Intestinal CD11b⁺ B Cells

The mechanisms underlying the ability of $CD11b^+$ B cells to differentiate into IgA⁺ cells and produce IgA were investigated.

PP B cells derived from either $Itgam^{+/+}$ or $Itgam^{-/-}$ mice were cultured in the presence of LPS, BAFF, and TGF-B, all of which are required for class switching to IgA⁺ B cells. *Itgam*^{+/+} B cells expressed IgA after stimulation compared to Itgam-/- B cells (Figures 5A-C), indicating that CD11b deficiency impaired the ability to produce IgA. However, the differentiation of IgM⁺ B cells and the production of sIgM were not affected (Supplementary Figures S5A, B). This indicates that CD11b deficiency selectively affected the class switching of IgA⁺ B cells but not the secretion of antibodies. Furthermore, the percentage of IgA⁺ cells and the level of sIgA among $Itgam^{+/+}$ B cells were significantly increased, even in the absence of TGF- β stimulation, compared with those of the unstimulated cells (Figures 5A-C). To investigate whether CD11b⁺ B cells could produce TGF- β themselves and thus trigger IgA production through an autocrine TGF- β -dependent loop, TGF- β production was measured in Itgam^{-/-} PP B cells and WT CD11b⁺ PP B cells after stimulation with LPS. Almost none of the B cells derived from CD11b-deficient mice were TGF-Bpositive, whereas >40% of TGF- β^+ cells were detected among CD11b⁺ B cells derived from day-7 mice after the induction of colitis (Figures 5D-F). Furthermore, a significantly higher level of TGF- β was detected in intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells in day-7 mice with colitis (Figure 5G). In addition, Figure 5G shows increased TGF- β production in CD11b⁺ B cells. At the same time, there were no elevated frequencies of $CD19^+TGF-\beta^+$ B cells during colitis (compared to that in day 0). These findings demonstrate that $CD11b^+$ B cells secrete TGF- β to promote the IgA class switch in response to intestinal inflammation in physiological and pathological states. To confirm these results, TGF- β siRNA(siTGF) and TGF- β /TGF- β receptor



FIGURE 4 | B cells expressing CD11b contribute to the differentiation of IgA in mice with colitis. (A) Expression levels of IgA in CD11b⁺ B cells and CD11b⁻ B cells in the PPs and colorectal LP at days 0, 4, 7, and 10 after treatment with DSS were detected using flow cytometry. The frequency and absolute number of IgA-expressing cells are presented. (B) The adoptively transferred *Itgam^{+/+}* or *Itgam^{-/-}* mice into $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice were as described in Figure 1. The percentage and absolute number of IgA⁺ B cells in the LP and PPs from DSS-treated $Cd79a^{-/-}$ mice were analyzed using flow cytometry. (C) The supernatant of the mucus-containing fluid was harvested and transferred into 10 mL phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and the production of sIgA in the colon was determined using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). (D) The adoptively transferred CD11b⁺ and CD11b⁻ B cells into WT mice were as described in Figure 1. (E) The supernatant of the mucus-containing fluid was harvested and transferred into 10 mL PBS, and the production of sIgA in the colon was determined using ELISA. **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM of six mice.

agonists were used to inhibit TGF- β /TGF- β receptor expression. Inhibition of the TGF- β /TGF- β receptor expression significantly decreased the expression of IgA in B cells (**Figure 5H** and **Supplementary Figure S5C**). Collectively, these results demonstrate that autocrine TGF- β is a possible mechanism involved in the enhanced ability of CD11b⁺ B cells to produce IgA.

The TGF-β-Smad signaling pathway has been implicated as a vital regulator of IgA class switching in activated B cells (31). Therefore, we sought to determine whether a deficiency in CD11b impaired the activation and function of the TGF-β-Smad pathway. PP-derived CD11b⁺ B cells were treated with LPS, BAFF, TGF- β , or anti-TGF- β (α TGF), and the expression levels of the TGF- β receptor and p-Smad were detected at 0, 30, and 120 min after stimulation. In WT CD11b⁺ B cells, the level of TGF-βRII expression was significantly increased at 30–120 min, p-Smad2/3 was phosphorylated at 120 min, and the expression of the co-factor Smad4 was increased at 120 min. However, the expression of Smad1/5/8 remained largely unchanged (Figures 5I, J). The expression of TGF-BRII, Smad4, and p-Smad2/3 was blocked when the anti-TGF-B antibody was used or B cells were obtained from *Itgam*^{-/-} mice (**Figures 5I, J**). These results suggest that the expression of CD11b in B cells plays a positive role in regulating TGF-B signaling pathways, which are important for IgA class switching.

CD11b⁺IgA⁺ B Cells Accumulate in the Human Intestine in UC and Are Associated With the Disease

We obtained intestinal sections from six UC patients and stained them with DAPI and CD19, CD11b, and IgA antibodies for immunofluorescence analysis. The inflammatory site was found to be heavily infiltrated with CD19⁺CD11b⁺IgA⁺ cells (Figure 6A, upper panel), and the area densities of CD19, CD11b, and IgA were significantly higher at the inflammation site (Figure 6A, right panel). In addition, the area density of CD11b was positively correlated with that of IgA (Figure 6B). These results indicate that CD11b⁺IgA⁺ B cells exist in the intestinal tract of UC patients to maintain homeostasis. Next, we used CCR9 and 0.4B7 to screen for intestinal circulation-derived cells, sorted cells with high expression levels of CCR9 and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ from the peripheral blood of healthy donors and induced CD11b and IgA expression in vitro (Supplementary Figure S6). CD11b expression was upregulated in human B cells at 72 h after CpG stimulation (Figure 6C). In addition, IgA and TGF- β expression was upregulated in CD11b⁺ B cells after 72 h of stimulation compared to that in CD11b⁻ B cells (Figures 6D, E). Furthermore, the number of IgA⁺ B cells and sIgA levels increased after 72 h of stimulation (Figure 6F). Notably, CD11b⁺ B cells expressed more IgA than CD11b⁻ B cells, and the percentage of CD19⁺CD11b⁺ B cells was positively correlated with sIgA levels (Figure 6F). These data suggest that,



similar to murine cells, CD11b and IgA expression was upregulated in B cells after stimulation. Furthermore, the TGF- β /TGF- β R/p-Smad signaling pathway was also investigated. As shown in **Figures 6E**, **G**, a significantly higher level of TGF- β in cultured CD11b⁺ B cells was detected *in vitro* than that in CD11b⁻ B cells. Moreover, the percentage of CD19⁺CD11b⁺ B cells was positively correlated with the level of secreted TGF- β . The expression levels of TGF- β RII and p-Smad2/ 3 were significantly increased in CD11b⁺ B cells at 30 min and 120 min (**Figures 6H, I**), indicating that the expression of CD11b in human B cells plays a positive role in regulating TGF- β signaling pathways. Altogether, we demonstrated that GALT CD11b⁺ B cells proliferated under inflammatory conditions, inhibiting intestinal inflammation by secreting sIgA through the TGF- β / p-Smad2/3 signaling axis (**Supplementary Figure S7**).

DISCUSSION

CD11b and other members of the β 2 integrin family are usually expressed on myeloid cells and play important roles in provoking or suppressing the inflammatory effects by regulating immune

cell migration, interaction, and signal transduction (32). In this study, the DSS-induced colitis model was used to further explore the multiple functions of CD11b⁺ B cells in diseases. To further investigate these functions, the increase in the number of CD11b⁺ B cells in the blood, spleen, and GALT during colitis was first documented. CD11b⁺ on B cells in the LP and PP was highly expressed, consistent with the results of previous studies (33, 34). Furthermore, there was no significant increase in the number of CD11b⁺ B cells in peripheral immune organs, indicating that CD11b⁺ B cells were likely cells originating from the intestine in colitis. Many CD11b⁺ B cells were also recognized in the PP and LP on day 0, possibly because the GALT was constantly in contact with microbiota and foods and was always in a state of physiological inflammation; thus, CD11b⁺ B cells were required to maintain homeostasis.

Traditionally, CD11b is expressed on mouse B-1 cells, which are a small population of B cells preferentially located in the peritoneal cavity and pleural cavity and are rare in lymph nodes (35, 36). The majority of B1 cells have relatively constant phenotypes (CD5 or CD11b) and are normally produced during fetal/neonatal development (37). It has been reported that B1-b B cells can migrate into the colorectal LP and switch



FIGURE 6 | The expression levels of IgA and TGF- β /Smad pathway are upregulated in human CD11b⁺ B cells *in vitro*. **(A)** Representative staining of CD19 (green), CD11b (white), IgA (red), and 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (blue) in the colon tissue of ulcerative colitis (UC) patients. The area density of each marker was calculated. Average data were collected from 20 random fields per patient, n = 6. **(B)** The relative area density of CD11b and IgA was identified. **(C)** Total PBMCs were purified and stimulated with CpG-ODN (2 µg/mL) and recombinant human IL-10 for 72 h *in vitro*. Cells were stained for CD11b detection and analyzed using flow cytometry. **(D)** The percentage of IgA⁺ B cells in CD11b⁺ and CD11b⁻ B cells was analyzed using flow cytometry. **(E)** The percentage of TGF- β^+ B cells in CD11b⁺ and CD11b⁻ B cells was analyzed using flow cytometry. **(F)** The culture supernatant was harvested to determine the production of IgA (upper panel) *via* ELISA. The relative frequencies of CD19⁺CD11b⁺ cells and sIgA level were measured (lower panel). **(G)** The culture supernatant was harvested to determine the production of TGF- β (upper panel) *via* ELISA. The relative frequencies of CD19⁺CD11b⁺ cells and SIgA level were measured (lower panel). **(G)** The culture supernatant was harvested to determine the production of TGF- β (upper panel) *via* ELISA. The relative frequencies of CD19⁺CD11b⁺ cells and TGF- β level were measured (lower panel). The PBMCs from healthy donors were purified and subsequently stimulated by CpG and TGF- β for 0, 30, and 120 min. Expression of TGF- β III **(H)** and the phosphorylation level of Smad2/3 **(I)** were analyzed using flow cytometry. ****** P < 0.001. Data represent the mean of more than three independent experiments.

into IgA⁺ B cells (38, 39). To compare CD11b⁺ B cells and B-1 B cells, CD19⁺ cells from the peritoneal cavity, colorectal LP, and PPs of WT mice were purified by FACS and sorted into CD5⁺ CD11b⁺ (B-1a), CD5⁻ CD11b⁺/CD11b^{hi} (B-1b), and CD5⁺ CD11b⁻ (B-1c) cells. After colitis induction, we were able to detect significantly increased numbers of CD5⁻ CD11b⁺ B cells, which showed marked proliferation (Ki67⁺ cells) in colorectal LP and PPs but not in the peritoneal cavity (data not shown). This distinction is important because B1 B cells do not actively proliferate, whereas B2 B cells have the ability to vigorously proliferate in GCs (40). In addition, the surface markers of induced CD11b⁺ B cells and B1 cells differed significantly. In particular, the PP CD11b⁺ B cells had exactly the same phenotype as B-2 cells with high expression of CD23 and low expression of CD5/IgM, while colorectal LP CD11b⁺ B cells are still under debate. It is not clear whether the induced GALT

CD11b⁺ B cells are devoid of B1 cells, but it is highly probable that GALT CD11b⁺ B cells are B-2 cells that can be induced in response to the inflammatory microenvironment and constitute a new fraction of the intestinal B cell subset. At the same time, we also did BCR diversity analysis to confirm our conclusion (data not shown). We aimed to identify different markers to distinguish CD11b⁺ B cells from B1 B cells. As we believe that GALT CD11b⁺ B cells tend to belong to B-2 cells, the stage of B-2 cells needs to be clarified. We detected PP and LP B cells from day 0 to day 10 and divided them into the GC phase to reveal the process and memory B cells or plasmablasts to reveal the outcome. It was found that CD11b⁺ cells belonged to GC B cells and plasmablasts, which was consistent with their high proliferation characteristics demonstrated previously and also consistent with the results of our previous study (16). Considering that the mucosal immune system was in a state of chronic inflammation, PPs, as the main site of B cell differentiation, were in a state of activation for the delivery of IgA. Thus, our data showed that PP CD11b⁺ cells were CD38⁺PNA⁺ and CD138⁺Blimp⁺ on day 0. Microorganisms occupy nearly 50% of the body, and the presence and imbalance of intestinal flora are the key factors inducing many diseases, especially colitis. They have a direct or indirect impact on the initial differentiation of B cells. The components of bacteria, such as LPS and flagellin, are ubiquitous in the intestinal microenvironment. We found that CD11b was highly expressed to some extent after LPS stimulation, but there was no such change after anti-BCR stimulation (data not shown). TLRs on the surface of B cells are involved in the differentiation process of B cells in GC and induce the expression of AID, and it has been reported that LPS mediates long-term primary classswitched antibody responses and memory-like antibody responses in vivo (41, 42).

The AT system was subsequently used to verify the role of CD11b⁺ B cells, demonstrating that Itgam^{-/-} B cells could not resolve colitis. To exclude the influence of microbiota, mice from different groups were housed for over one month. As the results were consistent with those of previous studies, CD11b is further indicated to be indispensable for the suppressive role of B cells in immune responses (43, 44). Currently, there are numerous therapeutic strategies for inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients. Novel agents that target proinflammatory cytokines (i.e., tumor necrosis factor α , IL-12, and IL-23) are currently undergoing clinical investigation (45). However, these anticytokine treatments appear to be effective only in certain subgroups of patients (46, 47). Thus, LPS-induced CD11b⁺ B cells have been used as therapeutic agents against colitis. AT of these CD11b⁺ B cells in mice was performed during the early stage of DSS treatment, following the manifestation of symptoms (e.g., diarrhea). Previously, we demonstrated that CD11b⁻ B cells can be induced to form CD11b⁺ B cells; thus, they also possess a certain ability to alleviate the disease. However, in the present study, CD11b⁻ cells were isolated after 48 h of *in vitro* culture. As a result, their ability to transform into CD11b⁺ B cells was limited, thereby negatively affecting their ability to alleviate the disease. In conclusion, this transferred cell-based therapy in a colitis mouse model may be a potential clinical therapeutic approach for Crohn's disease and UC patients.

Growing evidence indicates that IgA plays an important role in preventing potentially invasive commensal bacteria and neutralizing microbial toxins in the gut (48, 49). IgA deficiency in humans has been associated with chronic intestinal inflammatory disorders (50). However, the exact subset of B cells that possess this IgA-related suppressive function remains debatable. Macpherson et al. reported that a large amount of IgA in the intestinal LP is derived from peritoneal B cells in mice (51), while Thurnheer et al. demonstrated that the upregulation of intestinal IgA level induced by commensal bacteria is mainly mediated by conventional B2 cells and not B1 cells (52). Kunisawa et al. demonstrated that the function of CD11b⁺ B cells is related to the classic mucosal antibody IgA. They reported that CD11b⁺IgA⁺ plasma cells, unlike CD11b⁻IgA⁺ cells, are the major source of IgA, and the authors did not elaborate on the mechanism (15). In our study, the expression of IgA correlated with the expression of CD11b in B cells in the LP and PPs of mice with colitis. Naïve B cells were also found to be initially induced to form CD11b⁺ B cells. Thereafter, CD11b⁺ B cells were differentiated into IgA⁺ plasmablasts, referred to as CD11b⁺IgA⁺ plasmablasts, in both the PPs and LP. However, CD11b⁻ and Itgam^{-/-} B cells did not possess this property of IgA class switching. In the in vitro assay performed in this study, phosphorylation of Smad2/3 was not observed in *Itgam^{-/-}* B cells derived from PPs, whereas WT CD11b⁺ B cells demonstrated activated p-Smad2/3 after stimulation. These findings suggest that CD11b may promote the activation of Smad proteins and consequently facilitate the production of IgA. We also found that B cells secrete TGF- β and complete IgA production autocrine. However, TGF- β activation is a multiple-step process, including the release of TGF- β from TGF- β /LAP complexes (25). We did not provide evidence of the activation of TGF- β in B cells, which we may explore in the next project.

In summary, the findings of the present study reveal that intestinal CD11b⁺ B cells ameliorate DSS-induced colitis and maintain gut homeostasis. Based on *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, CD11b⁺ B cells exhibiting high activation of the TGF- β -Smad signaling pathway were the primary source of IgA, which maintained gut homeostasis and mitigated colitis. These phenomena were also confirmed in UC patients and *in vitro* experiments using human cell cultures, indicating the clinical application value of this study.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the medical ethics council of Zhongshan Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The animal study was reviewed and approved by animal facility of Fudan University. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YF, ZW and LW designed and performed the experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. CY designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. ML, WX, YLin, and EH improved the manuscript. BY, YLiu, RL, and HL performed the experiments and analyzed the data. The first two and the last two authors contributed equally to this work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the General Program of the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81771736, 81971493, 31770992), Major Program of National Natural Science Foundation of China (81730045), Shanghai Rising-Star Program (20QA1407900), and Innovative Research Team of High-level Local Universities in Shanghai.

REFERENCES

- Kurashima Y, Kiyono H. Mucosal Ecological Network of Epithelium and Immune Cells for Gut Homeostasis and Tissue Healing. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2017) 35:119–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-051116-052424
- Shulzhenko N, Morgun A, Hsiao W, Battle M, Yao M, Gavrilova O, et al. Crosstalk Between B Lymphocytes, Microbiota and the Intestinal Epithelium Governs Immunity *Versus* Metabolism in the Gut. *Nat Med* (2011) 17 (12):1585–93. doi: 10.1038/nm.2505
- Tanoue T, Atarashi K, Honda K. Development and Maintenance of Intestinal Regulatory T Cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16(5):295–309. doi: 10.1038/ nri.2016.36
- Jorgensen PB, Fenton TM, Morbe UM, Riis LB, Jakobsen HL, Nielsen OH, et al. Identification, Isolation and Analysis of Human Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissues. *Nat Protoc* (2021) 16(4):2051–67. doi: 10.1038/s41596-020-00482-1
- Tseng J. Transfer of Lymphocytes of Peyer's Patches Between Immunoglobulin Allotype Congenic Mice: Repopulation of the IgA Plasma Cells in the Gut Lamina Propria. J Immunol (1981) 127(5):2039–43.
- Tseng J. A Population of Resting IgM-IgD Double-Bearing Lymphocytes in Peyer's Patches: The Major Precursor Cells for IgA Plasma Cells in the Gut Lamina Propria. J Immunol (1984) 132(6):2730–5.
- Hand TW, Reboldi A. Production and Function of Immunoglobulin A. Annu Rev Immunol (2021) 26(39):695–718. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-102119-074236
- Ling GS, Bennett J, Woollard KJ, Szajna M, Fossati-Jimack L, Taylor PR, et al. Integrin CD11b Positively Regulates TLR4-Induced Signalling Pathways in Dendritic Cells But Not in Macrophages. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3039. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4039
- Han C, Jin J, Xu S, Liu H, Li N, Cao X. Integrin CD11b Negatively Regulates TLR-Triggered Inflammatory Responses by Activating Syk and Promoting Degradation of MyD88 and TRIF via Cbl-B. Nat Immunol (2010) 11(8):734– 42. doi: 10.1038/ni.1908
- Khan SQ, Khan I, Gupta V. CD11b Activity Modulates Pathogenesis of Lupus Nephritis. Front Med (Lausanne) (2018) 5:52. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00052
- Schmid MC, Khan SQ, Kaneda MM, Pathria P, Shepard R, Louis TL, et al. Integrin CD11b Activation Drives Anti-Tumor Innate Immunity. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):5379. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07387-4
- Waffarn EE, Hastey CJ, Dixit N, Soo Choi Y, Cherry S, Kalinke U, et al. Infection-Induced Type I Interferons Activate CD11b on B-1 Cells for Subsequent Lymph Node Accumulation. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8991. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9991
- Du SW, Arkatkar T, Jacobs HM, Rawlings DJ, Jackson SW. Generation of Functional Murine CD11c(+) Age-Associated B Cells in the Absence of B Cell T-Bet Expression. *Eur J Immunol* (2019) 49(1):170–8. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201847641
- Du SW, Arkatkar T, Al Qureshah F, Jacobs HM, Thouvenel CD, Chiang K, et al. Functional Characterization of CD11c(+) Age-Associated B Cells as Memory B Cells. J Immunol (2019) 203(11):2817–26. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1900404

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Mr. William Ziccardi for carefully reading the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 697725/full#supplementary-material

- Kunisawa J, Gohda M, Hashimoto E, Ishikawa I, Higuchi M, Suzuki Y, et al. Microbe-Dependent CD11b+ IgA+ Plasma Cells Mediate Robust Early-Phase Intestinal IgA Responses in Mice. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:1772. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms2718
- Liu X, Jiang X, Liu R, Wang L, Qian T, Zheng Y, et al. B Cells Expressing CD11b Effectively Inhibit CD4+ T-Cell Responses and Ameliorate Experimental Autoimmune Hepatitis in Mice. *Hepatology* (2015) 62 (5):1563–75. doi: 10.1002/hep.28001
- Wirtz S, Neufert C, Weigmann B, Neurath MF. Chemically Induced Mouse Models of Intestinal Inflammation. *Nat Protoc* (2007) 2(3):541–6. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.41
- Murthy SN, Cooper HS, Shim H, Shah RS, Ibrahim SA, Sedergran DJ. Treatment of Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Murine Colitis by Intracolonic Cyclosporin. *Dig Dis Sci* (1993) 38(9):1722–34. doi: 10.1007/ BF01303184
- Dai Z, Chen XY, An LY, Li CC, Zhao N, Yang F, et al. Development of Novel Tetrahydroquinoline Inhibitors of NLRP3 Inflammasome for Potential Treatment of DSS-Induced Mouse Colitis. J Med Chem (2021) 64(1):871– 89. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01924
- Yu P, Ke C, Guo J, Zhang X, Li B. Lactobacillus Plantarum L15 Alleviates Colitis by Inhibiting LPS-Mediated NF-kappaB Activation and Ameliorates DSS-Induced Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:575173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.575173
- Wu MY, Liu L, Wang EJ, Xiao HT, Cai CZ, Wang J, et al. PI3KC3 Complex Subunit NRBF2 Is Required for Apoptotic Cell Clearance to Restrict Intestinal Inflammation. *Autophagy* (2021) 17(5):1096–111. doi: 10.1080/ 15548627.2020.1741332
- 22. Krieglstein CF, Cerwinka WH, Sprague AG, Laroux FS, Grisham MB, Koteliansky VE, et al. Collagen-Binding Integrin Alpha1beta1 Regulates Intestinal Inflammation in Experimental Colitis. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 110 (12):1773–82. doi: 10.1172/JCI15256
- Dieleman LA, Ridwan BU, Tennyson GS, Beagley KW, Bucy RP, Elson CO. Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Colitis Occurs in Severe Combined Immunodeficient Mice. *Gastroenterology* (1994) 107(6):1643–52. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(94)90803-6
- Lefrancois L, Lycke N. Isolation of Mouse Small Intestinal Intraepithelial Lymphocytes, Peyer's Patch, and Lamina Propria Cells. *Curr Protoc Immunol* (2001) Chapter 3:Unit 3 19. doi: 10.1002/0471142735.im0319s17
- Khan SA, Joyce J, Tsuda T. Quantification of Active and Total Transforming Growth Factor-Beta Levels in Serum and Solid Organ Tissues by Bioassay. BMC Res Notes (2012) 5:636. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-5-636
- Hawinkels LJ, Verspaget HW, van Duijn W, van der Zon JM, Zuidwijk K, Kubben FJ, et al. Tissue Level, Activation and Cellular Localisation of TGF-Beta1 and Association With Survival in Gastric Cancer Patients. *Br J Cancer* (2007) 97(3):398–404. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603877
- Baumgarth N. A Hard(y) Look at B-1 Cell Development and Function. J Immunol (2017) 199(10):3387–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700943
- Kunisawa J, Kiyono H. A Marvel of Mucosal T Cells and Secretory Antibodies for the Creation of First Lines of Defense. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2005) 62 (12):1308–21. doi: 10.1007/s00018-005-5035-1

- Bouaziz JD, Yanaba K, Tedder TF. Regulatory B Cells as Inhibitors of Immune Responses and Inflammation. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 224:201–14. doi: 10.1111/ j.1600-065X.2008.00661.x
- Fagarasan S, Honjo T. Intestinal IgA Synthesis: Regulation of Front-Line Body Defences. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(1):63–72. doi: 10.1038/nri982
- Cerutti A. The Regulation of IgA Class Switching. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8 (6):421–34. doi: 10.1038/nri2322
- Schittenhelm L, Hilkens CM, Morrison VL. Beta2 Integrins As Regulators of Dendritic Cell, Monocyte, and Macrophage Function. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1866. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01866
- Wang Z, Zhang H, Liu R, Qian T, Liu J, Huang E, et al. Peyer's Patches-Derived CD11b(+) B Cells Recruit Regulatory T Cells Through CXCL9 in Dextran Sulphate Sodium-Induced Colitis. *Immunology* (2018) 155(3):356– 66. doi: 10.1111/imm.12977
- 34. Qian T, Hong J, Wang L, Wang Z, Lu Z, Li Y, et al. Regulation of CD11b by HIF-1alpha and the STAT3 Signaling Pathway Contributes to the Immunosuppressive Function of B Cells in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Mol Immunol* (2019) 111:162–71. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2019.04.005
- Herzenberg LA. B-1 Cells: The Lineage Question Revisited. Immunol Rev (2000) 175:9–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2000.imr017520.x
- Hardy RR. B-1 B Cells: Development, Selection, Natural Autoantibody and Leukemia. Curr Opin Immunol (2006) 18(5):547–55. doi: 10.1016/ j.coi.2006.07.010
- Kantor AB, Stall AM, Adams S, Herzenberg LA, Herzenberg LA. Differential Development of Progenitor Activity for Three B-Cell Lineages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1992) 89(8):3320–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.8.3320
- Roy B, Shukla S, Lyszkiewicz M, Krey M, Viegas N, Duber S, et al. Somatic Hypermutation in Peritoneal B1b Cells. *Mol Immunol* (2009) 46(8-9):1613–9. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2009.02.026
- Kroese FG, Butcher EC, Stall AM, Lalor PA, Adams S, Herzenberg LA. Many of the IgA Producing Plasma Cells in Murine Gut Are Derived From Self-Replenishing Precursors in the Peritoneal Cavity. *Int Immunol* (1989) 1 (1):75–84. doi: 10.1093/intimm/1.1.75
- Prieto JMB, Felippe MJB. Development, Phenotype, and Function of Non-Conventional B Cells. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis (2017) 54:38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cimid.2017.08.002
- Svensson MN, Andersson KM, Wasen C, Erlandsson MC, Nurkkala-Karlsson M, Jonsson IM, et al. Murine Germinal Center B Cells Require Functional Fms-Like Tyrosine Kinase 3 Signaling for IgG1 Class-Switch Recombination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2015) 112(48):E6644–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1514191112
- 42. Pone EJ, Lou Z, Lam T, Greenberg ML, Wang R, Xu Z, et al. B Cell TLR1/2, TLR4, TLR7 and TLR9 Interact in Induction of Class Switch DNA Recombination: Modulation by BCR and CD40, and Relevance to T-Independent Antibody Responses. *Autoimmunity* (2015) 48(1):1–12. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2014.993027
- Abdelbaqi M, Chidlow JH, Matthews KM, Pavlick KP, Barlow SC, Linscott AJ, et al. Regulation of Dextran Sodium Sulfate Induced Colitis by Leukocyte Beta 2 Integrins. *Lab Invest* (2006) 86(4):380–90. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700398

- 44. Zhang M, Han Y, Han C, Xu S, Bao Y, Chen Z, et al. The Beta2 Integrin CD11b Attenuates Polyinosinic:Polycytidylic Acid-Induced Hepatitis by Negatively Regulating Natural Killer Cell Functions. *Hepatology* (2009) 50 (5):1606–16. doi: 10.1002/hep.23168
- Yanai H, Salomon N, Lahat A. Complementary Therapies in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Curr Gastroenterol Rep (2016) 18(12):62. doi: 10.1007/ s11894-016-0537-6
- Kaser A, Tilg H. Novel Therapeutic Targets in the Treatment of IBD. Expert Opin Ther Targets (2008) 12(5):553–63. doi: 10.1517/14728222.12.5.553
- 47. Sandborn WJ, Gasink C, Gao LL, Blank MA, Johanns J, Guzzo C, et al. Ustekinumab Induction and Maintenance Therapy in Refractory Crohn's Disease. N Engl J Med (2012) 367(16):1519–28. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1203572
- Cerutti A, Cols M, Gentile M, Cassis L, Barra CM, He B, et al. Regulation of Mucosal IgA Responses: Lessons From Primary Immunodeficiencies. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2011) 1238:132–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06266.x
- Gommerman JL, Rojas OL, Fritz JH. Re-Thinking the Functions of IgA(+) Plasma Cells. *Gut Microbes* (2014) 5(5):652–62. doi: 10.4161/19490976. 2014.969977
- Wang N, Shen N, Vyse TJ, Anand V, Gunnarson I, Sturfelt G, et al. Selective IgA Deficiency in Autoimmune Diseases. *Mol Med* (2011) 17(11-12):1383–96. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2011.00195
- Macpherson AJ, Gatto D, Sainsbury E, Harriman GR, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. A Primitive T Cell-Independent Mechanism of Intestinal Mucosal IgA Responses to Commensal Bacteria. *Science* (2000) 288 (5474):2222–6. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5474.2222
- Thurnheer MC, Zuercher AW, Cebra JJ, Bos NA. B1 Cells Contribute to Serum IgM, But Not to Intestinal IgA, Production in Gnotobiotic Ig Allotype Chimeric Mice. J Immunol (2003) 170(9):4564–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 170.9.4564

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Fu, Wang, Yu, Lin, Huang, Liu, Zhao, Lu, Xu, Liu, Liu, Wang and Chu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pro- and Anti- Effects of Immunoglobulin A- Producing B Cell in Tumors and Its Triggers

Ziwen Zhong^{1,2†}, Ke Nan^{1†}, Meilin Weng^{1†}, Ying Yue¹, Wenchang Zhou¹, Zhiqiang Wang³, Yiwei Chu^{3,4}, Ronghua Liu^{4*} and Changhong Miao^{1*}

¹ Department of Anesthesiology, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Anesthesiology, Affiliated Hospital of North Sichuan Medical College, Nanchong, China, ³ Department of Immunology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Shanghai Fifth People's Hospital and Key Laboratory of Medical Epigenetics and Metabolism, Institutes of Biomedical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Damo Xu, Shenzhen University, China

Reviewed by:

Wei Luo, Purdue University Indianapolis, United States Mats Bemark, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

*Correspondence:

Ronghua Liu ronghualiu@fudan.edu.cn Changhong Miao miao_chh@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 August 2021 Accepted: 01 November 2021 Published: 19 November 2021

Citation:

Zhong Z, Nan K, Weng M, Yue Y, Zhou W, Wang Z, Chu Y, Liu R and Miao C (2021) Pro- and Anti- Effects of Immunoglobulin A- Producing B Cell in Tumors and Its Triggers. Front. Immunol. 12:765044. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.765044 B cells are well known as key mediators of humoral immune responses *via* the production of antibodies. Immunoglobulin A (IgA) is the most abundantly produced antibody isotype and provides the first line of immune protection at mucosal surfaces. However, IgA has long been a divisive molecule with respect to tumor progression. IgA exerts anti- or protumor effect in different tumor types. In this review, we summarize emerging evidence regarding the production and effects of IgA and IgA⁺ cells in the tumor microenvironment (TME). Moreover, we discuss that the TME cytokines, host diet, microbiome, and metabolites play a pivotal role in controlling the class-switch recombination (CSR) of IgA. The analysis of intratumoral Ig repertoires and determination of metabolites that influence CSR may help establish novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of cancers.

Keywords: B cells, plasma cells, immunoglobulin A, tumor immunity, class switching

INTRODUCTION

Immunoglobulin A (IgA) is the most abundant antibody class present on mucosal surfaces. It plays a key role at these surfaces, which are continuously exposed to antigens, food, and commensal microorganisms (1). IgA-producing plasma cells (IgA⁺ PCs) are derived from B cells and undergo antibody class-switch recombination (CSR). Emerging evidence shows significant tumor infiltration by B cells. However, the role of B cells and their antibodies in tumors has remained elusive, perhaps due to their phenotype, antibody isotype and production, localization, and the tumor type and tumor microenvironment (TME) (2-5). Multiple lines of evidence now leave no doubt that B cells undergo clonal proliferation, selection for high-affinity antibodies, and isotype switching within tumor-associated tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) and in less organized structures, ultimately converting into effector/memory B cells and antibody-producing PCs (6-9). However, under certain conditions, tumor-infiltrating B cells, PCs, and their antibodies may exert prominent immunosuppressive effects. Studies have provided well-founded evidence of discrete subsets of immunosuppressive or regulatory B cells (Bregs) in both mice and humans. Their function depends on immunosuppressive factors, such as IL-10, PD-L1, and/or TGF-β (10-13). Moreover, IgA has recently been recognized as a key biomarker of immunosuppressive B cells. However, the effect of IgA⁺ cells and their antibodies on cancer development remains controversial (1, 11, 14–16). In this review, we summarize recent findings related to the production and effect of IgA and IgA^+ cells in the TME and discuss their potential roles in novel cancer treatment strategies.

SOURCE AND LOCATION OF IgA

Approximately 80% of all human PCs are located in organized gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT). In GALT, IgA is produced at a constant synthesis rate of 50 mg/kg/day, which is more than the total synthesis rate of other Ig isotypes, indicating that continuous secretion of IgA requires an enormous amount of energy in mammalian species (17). In addition, IgA is present in milk and bronchial secretions (18). Serum IgA is predominantly monomeric in humans and is produced by local PCs of the bone marrow, spleen, and lymph nodes (1). IgA at mucosal surfaces is generally produced by local PCs as dimeric molecules, although small amounts of monomers, trimers, tetramers, or polymers can also be present. Dimeric IgA interacts with the polymeric Ig receptor (pIgR), an antibody transporter expressed on the basolateral surface of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs). A secretory IgA (sIgA) complex is formed after a secretory component (SC) of pIgR binds to IgA through a joining (J) chain. SC is a hydrophilic and highly (N- and Olinked) glycosylated negatively charged molecule that protects sIgA from degradation in luminal secretions (19).

It has been confirmed that various structural compartments differ in the mode of IgA induction. Mucosal antigens initiate IgA production through both T cell-dependent (TD) and T cell-independent (TI) reactions (20-22). Most antigens produce IgA by activating follicular B cells in the germinal center of Peyer's patches (PPs) and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs). This TD pathway involves a cognate interaction between follicular B cells and antigen-activated CD4⁺ T cells, including TH2 cells, regulatory T (Treg) cells, and T follicular helper (TFH) cells (22, 23). Together with follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), this interaction fosters proliferation, differentiation, somatic hypermutation (SHM), and IgA CSR of B cells in the germinal center. Ultimately, this TD pathway leads to the emergence of long-lived memory B cells and PCs that release high-affinity IgA antibodies in the lamina propria (LP) (20). However, TD antibody responses require 5-7 days, which can be too much of a delay to control pathogens. To compensate for this limitation, a TI reaction occurs in PPs, MLNs, isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs), and LP. Commensals trigger multiple Toll-like receptors (TLRs), which stimulate FDCs, DCs, and stromal cells to release BAFF, APRIL, TGF- β , and other IgA-inducing cytokines, thereby triggering the induction of TI IgA CSR and production in PPs, MLNs, ILFs, and LP (24, 25). Class-switched B cells emerging from these pathways ultimately release both low- and high-affinity IgA antibodies in LP. Moreover, it is likely that the generation of IgA⁺ PCs depends on the nature of IgA and the initial location of B cells. A precise combination of different leukocyte and mesenchymal cell types may also influence the generation of IgA⁺ PCs (23) (Figure 1).

IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE B CELLS IN TUMORS MARKED WITH IgA

The tumor-promoting effects of B cells and PCs are generally associated with the presence of heterogeneous cell populations called Bregs and immunosuppressive plasma cells (ISPCs), which may accelerate tumor progression through various mechanisms. Multiple studies have shown that Bregs suppress tumor immunity through immunosuppressive factors, such as IL-10, TGF- β , PD-L1, FASL, IL-35, and Tim1 (11, 14, 26–28). This type of tumor immunity suppression is activated by signals from CD40, TLRs, and B cell receptors (BCRs) (10, 29). Furthermore, Bregs reportedly cause cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) suppression by inducing M2 macrophage polarization (30, 31) and Tregs in squamous carcinomas (SCCs) and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) (32).

However, no specific transcriptional marker has been identified that exclusively defines the Bregs phenotype in mouse or humans. Numerous studies have now demonstrated that Bregs mainly suppress inflammatory responses via IL-10dependent and -independent mechanisms (33). Subsets that are enriched for IL-10-producing B cells include transitional-2 marginal zone precursor (T2-MZP) B cells, peritoneal B-1 B cells, and antibody-producing B cell subsets in mice, as well as antibody-producing and immature B cell subsets in humans. In a recent series of studies, recirculating IgA⁺ regulatory B cells have been shown to suppress inflammation via expression of IL-10 (34, 35). Shalapour et al. discovered in 2015 that IgA⁺ PCs suppress anti-tumor immunity. These immunosuppressive B cells are IgA-producing PCs that express PD-L1, IL-10, and Fas-L (11). Most tumoral CD19⁺ B cells in oxaliplatin-treated pancreatic cancer are IgA-positive, and successful eradication of tumors requires removal of IgA⁺ cells (11). In a murine study of hepatocellular carcinoma, IgA⁺ cells expressing high levels of PD-L1, IL-10, and TGF- β were shown to directly repress CD8⁺ T cell proliferation and activation (14). IgA⁺ PCs within prostate tumors induce CD8⁺ T cell exhaustion and suppress anti-tumor CTL responses through PD-L1 and IL-10, either of which can induce anergy or exhaustion (36, 37). In general, IgA⁺ cells promote the expansion of Treg cell populations, whereas Treg cells produce TGF- β , which mediates the isotype class switch to IgA (9, 38). This regulatory loop induces a state of relative immune suppression and may further promote tumor progression in at least some cancer types or subtypes (Figure 2).

DUAL EFFECT OF IgA ON TUMOR IMMUNITY

Although there is more than sufficient evidence indicating that IgA^+ B cells and PCs may exert prominent immunosuppressive effects, the antitumor effect of IgA^+ cells has also been reported; this may have resulted from the dual effect of IgA. The expression of IgA by tumor-infiltrating PCs has been linked to poor outcomes in colorectal cancer (CRC) (44) and melanoma (45, 46). Elevated levels of intratumoral IgA have been shown to be



FIGURE 1 | Map of IgA class switching through both TD and TI reaction in the gut. This TD pathway involves a cognate interaction of follicular B cells with antigenactivated CD4⁺ T cells, including TH2 cells, regulatory T (Treg) cells, and T follicular helper (TFH) cells (22, 23). First, Dendritic cells (DCs) in the subepithelial dome (SED) of the PP capture and present antigen to follicular CD4⁺ T cells, thereby inducing them to differentiate into effector T cells releasing IgA-inducing cytokines. These T cells also interact with antigen-specific IgM⁺IgD⁺ naive B cells. Together with follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), this interaction fosters a proliferation, differentiation, somatic hypermutation (SHM) and IgA class-switch recombination (CSR) of B cells in germinal center. Ultimately, TD pathway leads to the emergence of long-lived memory B cells and plasma cells that release high-affinity IgA antibodies in the lamina propria (20). In addition, commensals trigger multiple Toll-like receptors (TLRs) to stimulate FDC, DC and stromal cells release of BAFF, APRIL, TGFβ and other IgA-inducing cytokines, thereby triggering direct IgA CSR in lamina propria IgM⁺ B cells in a T-cell-independent manner (24, 25).

associated with poor prognosis and shorter survival in patients with bladder cancer (47). A recent meta-analysis indicated a strong association between IgA CSR and solid cancer diagnosis, and confirmed its immunosuppressive and pro-tumorigenic roles (48). The aforementioned study showed that, compared with healthy individuals, patients with solid malignancies had significantly higher serum IgA levels, which further increased in patients with advanced cancer. However, Biswas et al. demonstrated that tumor-antigen-specific and tumor-antigenindependent IgA responses antagonize the growth of ovarian cancer by governing coordinated tumor cell, T cell, and B cell responses (15). These results suggest that IgA may play various roles in different tumor types or in the tumor immune microenvironment (**Table 1**).

Pro-Tumor Effect of IgA

A systematic review and meta-analysis revealed that a 2-fold increase in the standardized mean difference (SMD) of the IgA level occurred in advanced cancer compared with early carcinoma, further supporting the possibility that serum IgA



FIGURE 2 | Multiple functions of IgA⁺ cells and IgA in tumor. IgA⁺ B cells and plasma cells may promote tumor progression through several mechanisms. First, they can release high level of PD-L1, IL-10 and TGF β , which directly induce CD8⁺T cell exhaustion and suppress anti-tumor CTL responses (14, 36, 37). Second, the IgA⁺ cells promote expansion of Treg cell populations, while Treg cells produce TGF β , which mediates isotype class switch to IgA (9, 38). In addition, these immunosuppressive cytokines secreted by IgA⁺ cells, such as IL-10 and TGF β , can promote immunosuppressive phenotypes in macrophage and myeloid cells. IgA performs dual effects on tumor immunity. In immunosuppressive environment, due to the binding of IgA without identified function and Fc α receptors (Fc α R) expressed on macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells and neutrophils, high levels of production of IgA block ADCC and ADCP (39, 40). Meanwhile, such antibodies can form immune complexes with tumor non-tumor antigens, promoting chronic inflammation, tissue remodeling (41–43). However, in some specific tumor types, IgA reascytosis induced broad transcriptional changes in inflammatory pathways in tumor cells, contributing to hindering malignant progression. In further support of antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis, tumor-derived IgA redirection of Fc α/μ^+ (CD351) myeloid cells against extracellular oncogenic drivers, which causes tumor cell death (15).

levels may correlate with immune escape and tumor burden (48). A high intratumoral proportion of the IgA isotype has a close relationship with a negative prognosis in the KRAS-mutant subtype of lung adenocarcinoma (4). TCGA RNA-seq data of human melanoma indicate that high proportions of IgA, IgD, and IgE are related to a poor prognosis (2).

The tumor-promoting mechanism of IgA can be summarized as follows. Firstly, it is a tumor immunosuppressive environment and not a tumor antigen that promotes IgA production. IgA with unfocused specificity is ineffective in mediating antitumor responses, for which it cannot facilitate antigen presentation or mediate antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) and phagocytosis (ADCP) of tumor cells (39, 40). On the other hand, such antibodies can form immune complexes with tumor or non-tumor antigens, promoting chronic inflammation and tissue remodeling, and thus directly or indirectly favoring the myeloidderived suppressor cell phenotype (41–43) (**Figure 2**). Another possible role of mucosal IgA in tumor immunity depends on its dynamic relationship with environmental factors, such as microbiota or diet (56). Tissue-specific immunoregulation may determine the ability of different tumors to exploit the IgA– microbiota axis to facilitate immune escape (56, 57). Furthermore, IgA fails to activate the complement system but mediates the regulatory effects of its main inducer, TGF- β (58). In particular, monomeric IgA exerts inhibitory effects on many immune cell subsets by activating the myeloid-cell-specific type I

TABLE 4			C 1 A 1
I ABLE 1	Iviecnanism and	prognostic impact	of IgA in cancers.

of	Number	Animal models	al models Methods	Prognostic	Response to therapy			Ref.
	of patients					IgA-mediated effects	Beyond IgA production	
Prostate	87	Transplanted tumor models TRAMP transgenic tumor models	IHC, Serum	lgA↓	oxaliplatin↓	N/A	TGFβ receptor signaling↑	(11)
Hepatocellular	598	MUP-µPA, STAM, CCl4, MCD models	IHC, FC, Serum	lgA↓	N/A	N/A	PD-L1↑, IL- 10↑	(14)
Ovarian	534	Transplanted tumor models	IHC, TCGA, Single-cell V(D)J (BCR) sequencing	lgA↑	N/A	IgA transcytosis	N/A	(15)
Colorectal	90	AD model	IHC	lgA↓	N/A	N/A	PD-L1↑, IL- 10↑, TGFβ↑	(44)
Melanoma	710	N/A	IHC	lgA↓	N/A	Inability to activate the complement cascade, low affinities for activating FcRs, low potency in triggering ADCC and ADCP	N/A	(45, 46, 49)
Bladder	110	N/A	IHC	lgA↓	N/A	N/A	N/A	(47)
LUAD	442	N/A	TCGA	lgA↓	N/A	N/A	PD-L1↑, IL- 10↑	(4)
AML	13	N/A	TCGA, scRNA- seq	lgA↓	N/A	N/A	PD-L1↑, TGFβ↑	(50)
Breast	66	N/A	Serum, IHC	IgA→ IgA-Fc- folate conjugate↑	N/A	ADCC	N/A	(51, 52)
Head and neck	97 226	N/A	Serum	lgA→ IgA↓	N/A	N/A	N/A	(53, 54)
Pancreatic	812073	N/A	Serum, Urine	lgA→	N/A	N/A	N/A	(55)

Prognostic: favorable/mostly favorable \uparrow no impact \rightarrow unfavorable \downarrow .

Fc receptor for IgA (Fc α RI; also known as CD89) (59, 60) and inducing IL-10 production (61), as well as by regulating proinflammatory cytokines (62).

Anti-Tumor Effect of IgA

IgA also plays an anti-tumor role in some specific cancers. Recent studies have demonstrated that tumor-derived IgA abrogates tumor growth through antigen-dependent redirection of $Fc\alpha/\mu^+$ myeloid cells and antigen-independent, pIgR-mediated transcytosis (15). IgA can bind to polymeric IgA receptors that are universally expressed on ovarian cancer cells. IgA transcytosis induces broad transcriptional changes in inflammatory pathways in tumor cells, including the upregulation of IFN-y receptors and downregulation of tumorpromoting ephrins. In addition, IgA transcytosis through malignant epithelial cells can antagonize the RAS pathway and sensitize tumor cells to cytolytic killing by T cells, which also helps prevent malignant progression (Figure 2). Thus, tumorantigen-specific and tumor-antigen-independent IgA responses inhibit the growth of ovarian cancer cells by regulating coordinated B cell, T cell, and tumor cell responses.

These results indicate that IgA plays a completely different role in governing ovarian cancer than that in some other types of tumors. The causes may be related to the tumor type and TME. It can be hypothesized that most solid tumor cells do not express polymeric IgA receptors that are universally expressed on ovarian cancer cells, and hence IgA fails to exert anti-tumor effects through transcytosis. Furthermore, some tumor antigens can be specifically recognized by IgA in ovarian cancer. However, in some other tumor types, tumor antigens may not be exposed and thus cannot be recognized on the surface of tumor cells, or do not contain immunogenic peptides suitable for presentation to T cells on major histocompatibility complex class (MHC) molecules, which may lead to failure of recognition by IgA and thus mislead the immune response and favor pro-tumor processes (40, 63). Therefore, the analysis of intratumoral IgA expression and clonality is crucial for evaluating the role of IgA in tumors.

TUMOR-RELATED IgA CLASS SWITCHING

Emerging evidence points that a combination of host, environmental, and tumor factors mediates IgA class switching and determines the efficiency of cancer surveillance or promotion (48, 64). At the host level, this implies that increased serum IgA levels are related to older age, male gender, metabolic syndrome, etc. (48, 64, 65). Recent study has shown that environmental factors, including commensal bacteria and diet, and tumor immunosuppressive cytokines, including IL-10 and TGF- β , affect the production of IgA (66–68).

CSR Triggers in Immunosuppressive TME

In the TME, most tumor-infiltrating TH/TFH cells present a regulatory phenotype, which secretes immunosuppressive cytokines and supports the development of immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory isotypes (69). Furthermore, activated cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) in the TME can produce TGF- β , which represses NK cell and CTL activation, promotes Tregs, and supports IgA CSR (38, 70, 71). More precisely, naïve B cells are recruited into the TME by CAFs via CXCL13 and CXCL12 and further exposed to TGF- β , IL-21, IL-33, lymphotoxin β (LT β), and IL-10, which favors IgM-naïve BCR class switching to IgA (11, 70). Emerging evidence shows that tumors can also induce IgA CSR through a regulatory loop formed by myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and IgA. A recent study showed that CD11b⁺ MDSCs induced the differentiation of B cells into IgA⁺ PCs by secreting IL-10 and TGF- β (72). IgA with unfocused specificity can form immune complexes simultaneously with tumor or nontumor antigens, promoting immunosuppressive phenotypes in myeloid cells (40).

CSR Triggers From Host Diet, Microbiome, and Metabolites

Diet is universally considered a mechanism that can affect energy metabolism and immune responses, including intestinal IgA production (73). Among the various dietary components, vitamins are the most important factors for immune responses. For example, vitamin B1 has been confirmed to play a pivotal role in intestinal IgA responses as a cofactor of pyruvate dehydrogenase and α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase, which are essential enzymes in the TCA cycle (74). Similar to vitamins, dietary fatty acids influence B cell metabolism and the production of IgA (73, 75). A study showed that intestinal IgA production increased in mice maintained on a palmitic acidenriched oil (76). Palmitoyl-CoA and serine act as substrates of serine palmitoyltransferase (SPT) and are subsequently converted into sphingolipids, such as ceramide, sphingosine, sphingomyelin, and S1P (77). Sphingolipids are a class of membrane lipids that also have biologic functions (78). For instance, an increase in ceramide concentrations may induce the proliferation of IgA PCs. Moreover, S1P can recruit IgA PCs into the intestine. These activation pathways may coincide with the changes in energy metabolism that occur in intestinal IgA PCs (76). Furthermore, metabolic intermediates of glycolysis, such as glucose monophosphate and fructose bis-phosphate, were detected preferentially in IgA PCs compared with naïve B cells, which implied that the shift to glycolysis-mediated energy metabolism likely is useful for the generation and production of IgA (73). For example, the glucose monophosphate and 3phosphoglycerate generated through glycolysis are used in the pentose phosphate and serine biosynthetic pathways for nucleotide and amino acid synthesis, respectively (79). In addition, pyruvate, the metabolic product of glycolysis, can subsequently be converted to acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA) and used in fatty acid synthesis, which is required for B cell differentiation (80) (Figure 3).

In addition, dysbiosis and changes in microbiome diversity were recently shown to regulate the IgA-microbiota axis and influence multiple aspects of antitumor immunity by altering the risk of developing cancer and regulating responses to immunotherapy (81-83). It was shown that gut and lung microbiota themselves are capable of promoting IgA CSR through antigen presentation by CD103⁺ DCs and induction of IL-10 and TGF- β (84). Conversely, a decrease in intestinal IgA responses and structural immaturity of PPs occurred in germfree mice (85). Gut commensal microbes can produce biologically active metabolites, represented by the short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) acetate, propionate and butyrate, which are all reported to promote IgA CSR (86, 87). Recently, Isobe et al. discovered that commensal-bacteria-derived butyrate upregulated the production of TGF- β and all-trans retinoic acid by CD103⁺CD11b⁺DCs, both of which promote the T-cellindependent IgA response in the colon (88) (Figure 3).

A possible role of IgA in tumor immunity arises from its dynamic relationship with diet and the microbiota. Hypernutrition and alcohol consumption not only regulate the magnitude of B cell activity and effector function but also change the levels and diversity of IgA, which may further enhance tumor development (14, 89, 90). In addition, Piper et al. identified that the aryl-hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), a ligand-activated transcription factor that senses dietary, microbial, and metabolic cues, binds to the IL-10 locus in murine cells (91). The supplementation with microbially derived SCFA butyrate supports Breg to produce IL-10 by amplifying AhR activation (91). IL-10 upregulates the expression of AID and triggers the induction of SHM and CSR from IgM to IgA, which may mediate tumor progression (20, 33).

INTRATUMORAL IgA REPERTOIRES

RNA- and DNA-based analyses of Ig repertoires and intratumoral T-cell receptors have received considerable attention as powerful tools for identifying prognostic and predictive cancer biomarkers, such as clonality metrics (2, 92). In particular, assessment of the degree of clonality and the amount of somatic hypermutations in Ig gene segments can offer prognostic value for some types of cancer (93). Clonality reflects mainly the presence of plasma cell clonal expansion. TCGA RNA-seq data on melanoma samples have demonstrated that a high IgG1 proportion is strongly associated with the presence of large clonal expansions, contributing to a better prognosis. In contrast, a high IgA proportion correlates with low clonality, resulting in a negative outcome (2). These results can be explained by a focused immune response leading to the production of high-affinity, tumor-specific IgG1 antibodies; conversely, switching of B cells to the IgA isotype is not driven by particular antigens but is a passive consequence of the intratumoral suppressive cytokine environment (40). Therefore, it can be hypothesized that dual effect of IgA on tumor immunity is highly associated with clonal expansion of PCs. High IgA expression and high clonality, implying that IgA



may be driven by a focused immune response and may result in a better prognosis, whereas high IgA expression and low clonality mean that an immunosuppressive microenvironment drives IgA production and is likely to contribute to poor outcomes in some specific malignancies.

CONCLUSION

IgA and IgA⁺ cells are active participants that can fundamentally orchestrate the immune response in the TME. IgA can exert protumorigenic roles in cancer by inducing the release of immunosuppressive cytokines, forming immune complexes with tumor or non-tumor antigens, and interacting with immunosuppressive cells, such as MDSCs or Tregs. However, IgA can also promote anticancer immunity and suppress tumor growth. These opposing effects can be explained by the influence of different tumor types, environmental factors, and host factors, which elicit a different antigen specificity of IgA, as well as the inconsistent interaction between IgA and tumor cells. Decisions on the application of IgA-targeted therapies and their combination with other therapies should be based on an advanced understanding of the prevailing nature of IgA involvement in tumor-immune interactions in each cancer subtype or even in each patient. Therefore, analysis of intratumoral IgA repertoires and determination of their metabolites are becoming powerful tools for identifying prognostic and predictive cancer biomarkers.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: ZZ, RL, and CM. Writing original draft: ZZ, KN, and MW. Supervision: YC, RL, and CM. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Shanghai Rising-Star Program (19QA1406900), the National Science Foundation of China (81873948, 82072213, 81972666, 81730045), and the National Science and Technology Major Project of China (2020YFC2008402).

- 1. Breedveld A, van Egmond M. IgA and Fcorri: Pathological Roles and Therapeutic Opportunities. Front Immunol (2019) 10:553. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.00553
- 2. Bolotin DA, Poslavsky S, Davydov AN, Frenkel FE, Fanchi L, Zolotareva OI, et al. Antigen Receptor Repertoire Profiling From RNA-Seq Data. Nat Biotechnol (2017) 35(10):908-11. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3979
- 3. Gentles AJ, Newman AM, Liu CL, Bratman SV, Feng W, Kim D, et al. The Prognostic Landscape of Genes and Infiltrating Immune Cells Across Human Cancers. Nat Med (2015) 21(8):938-45. doi: 10.1038/nm.3909
- 4. Isaeva OI, Sharonov GV, Serebrovskaya EO, Turchaninova MA, Zaretsky AR, Shugay M, et al. Intratumoral Immunoglobulin Isotypes Predict Survival in Lung Adenocarcinoma Subtypes. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):279. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0747-1
- 5. Lohr M, Edlund K, Botling J, Hammad S, Hellwig B, Othman A, et al. The Prognostic Relevance of Tumour-Infiltrating Plasma Cells and Immunoglobulin Kappa C Indicates an Important Role of the Humoral Immune Response in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Cancer Lett (2013) 333 (2):222-8. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2013.01.036
- 6. Teillaud JL, Dieu-Nosjean MC. Tertiary Lymphoid Structures: An Anti-Tumor School for Adaptive Immune Cells and an Antibody Factory to Fight Cancer? Front Immunol (2017) 8:830. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00830
- 7. Germain C, Gnjatic S, Tamzalit F, Knockaert S, Remark R, Goc J, et al. Presence of B Cells in Tertiary Lymphoid Structures Is Associated With a Protective Immunity in Patients With Lung Cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2014) 189(7):832-44. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201309-1611OC
- 8. Kroeger DR, Milne K, Nelson BH. Tumor-Infiltrating Plasma Cells Are Associated With Tertiary Lymphoid Structures, Cytolytic T-Cell Responses, and Superior Prognosis in Ovarian Cancer. Clin Cancer Res (2016) 22 (12):3005-15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2762
- Sautès-Fridman C, Petitprez F, Calderaro J, Fridman WH. Tertiary Lymphoid 9. Structures in the Era of Cancer Immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2019) 19 (6):307-25. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0144-6
- 10. Tokunaga R, Naseem M, Lo JH, Battaglin F, Soni S, Puccini A, et al. B Cell and B Cell-Related Pathways for Novel Cancer Treatments. Cancer Treat Rev (2019) 73:10-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.12.001
- 11. Shalapour S, Font-Burgada J, Di Caro G, Zhong Z, Sanchez-Lopez E, Dhar D, et al. Immunosuppressive Plasma Cells Impede T-Cell-Dependent Immunogenic Chemotherapy. Nature (2015) 521(7550):94-8. doi: 10.1038/ nature14395
- 12. Mauri C, Bosma A. Immune Regulatory Function of B Cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:221-41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074934
- 13. Rosser EC, Mauri C. Regulatory B Cells: Origin, Phenotype, and Function. Immunity (2015) 42(4):607-12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- 14. Shalapour S, Lin XJ, Bastian IN, Brain J, Burt AD, Aksenov AA, et al. Inflammation-Induced IgA+ Cells Dismantle Anti-Liver Cancer Immunity. Nature (2017) 551(7680):340-5. doi: 10.1038/nature24302
- 15. Biswas S, Mandal G, Payne KK, Anadon CM, Gatenbee CD, Chaurio RA, et al. IgA Transcytosis and Antigen Recognition Govern Ovarian Cancer Immunity. Nature (2021) 591(7850):464-70. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-03144-0
- 16. Sterlin D, Gorochov G. When Therapeutic IgA Antibodies Might Come of Age. Pharmacology (2021) 106(1-2):9-19. doi: 10.1159/000510251
- 17. Brandtzaeg P, Johansen FE. Mucosal B Cells: Phenotypic Characteristics, Transcriptional Regulation, and Homing Properties. Immunol Rev (2005) 206:32-63. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00283.x
- 18. Macpherson AJ, Geuking MB, McCoy KD. Homeland Security: IgA Immunity at the Frontiers of the Body. Trends Immunol (2012) 33(4):160-7. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2012.02.002
- 19. Brandtzaeg P, Prydz H. Direct Evidence for an Integrated Function of J Chain and Secretory Component in Epithelial Transport of Immunoglobulins. Nature (1984) 311(5981):71-3. doi: 10.1038/311071a0
- 20. Puga I, Cols M, Cerutti A. Innate Signals in Mucosal Immunoglobulin Class Switching. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2010) 126(5):889-95; quiz 96-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.09.026
- 21. Cerutti A. The Regulation of IgA Class Switching. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8 (6):421-34. doi: 10.1038/nri2322

- 22. Chorny A, Puga I, Cerutti A. Regulation of Frontline Antibody Responses by Innate Immune Signals. Immunol Res (2012) 54(1-3):4-13. doi: 10.1007/ s12026-012-8307-5
- 23. Gommerman JL, Rojas OL, Fritz JH. Re-Thinking the Functions of IgA(+) Plasma Cells. Gut Microbes (2014) 5(5):652-62. doi: 10.4161/19490976. 2014 969977
- 24. Litinskiy MB, Nardelli B, Hilbert DM, He B, Schaffer A, Casali P, et al. DCs Induce CD40-Independent Immunoglobulin Class Switching Through BLyS and APRIL. Nat Immunol (2002) 3(9):822-9. doi: 10.1038/ni829
- 25. He B, Xu W, Santini PA, Polydorides AD, Chiu A, Estrella J, et al. Intestinal Bacteria Trigger T Cell-Independent Immunoglobulin A(2) Class Switching by Inducing Epithelial-Cell Secretion of the Cytokine APRIL. Immunity (2007) 26(6):812-26. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.04.014
- 26. Pylayeva-Gupta Y, Das S, Handler JS, Hajdu CH, Coffre M, Koralov SB, et al. IL35-Producing B Cells Promote the Development of Pancreatic Neoplasia. Cancer Discov (2016) 6(3):247-55. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0843
- 27. Lindner S, Dahlke K, Sontheimer K, Hagn M, Kaltenmeier C, Barth TF, et al. Interleukin 21-Induced Granzyme B-Expressing B Cells Infiltrate Tumors and Regulate T Cells. Cancer Res (2013) 73(8):2468-79. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3450
- 28. Ye L, Zhang Q, Cheng Y, Chen X, Wang G, Shi M, et al. Tumor-Derived Exosomal HMGB1 Fosters Hepatocellular Carcinoma Immune Evasion by Promoting TIM-1(+) Regulatory B Cell Expansion. J Immunother Cancer (2018) 6(1):145. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0451-6
- 29. Matsumoto M, Fujii Y, Baba A, Hikida M, Kurosaki T, Baba Y. The Calcium Sensors STIM1 and STIM2 Control B Cell Regulatory Function Through Interleukin-10 Production. Immunity (2011) 34(5):703-14. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2011.03.016
- 30. Affara NI, Ruffell B, Medler TR, Gunderson AJ, Johansson M, Bornstein S, et al. B Cells Regulate Macrophage Phenotype and Response to Chemotherapy in Squamous Carcinomas. Cancer Cell (2014) 25(6):809-21. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccr.2014.04.026
- 31. Gunderson AJ, Kaneda MM, Tsujikawa T, Nguyen AV, Affara NI, Ruffell B, et al. Bruton Tyrosine Kinase-Dependent Immune Cell Cross-Talk Drives Pancreas Cancer. Cancer Discov (2016) 6(3):270-85. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0827
- 32. Olkhanud PB, Damdinsuren B, Bodogai M, Gress RE, Sen R, Wejksza K, et al. Tumor-Evoked Regulatory B Cells Promote Breast Cancer Metastasis by Converting Resting CD4⁺ T Cells to T-Regulatory Cells. Cancer Res (2011) 71(10):3505-15. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4316
- 33. Rosser EC, Mauri C. The Emerging Field of Regulatory B Cell Immunometabolism. Cell Metab (2021) 33(6):1088-97. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2021.05.008
- 34. Rojas OL, Pröbstel AK, Porfilio EA, Wang AA, Charabati M, Sun T, et al. Recirculating Intestinal IgA-Producing Cells Regulate Neuroinflammation via IL-10. Cell (2019) 176(3):610-24.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.035
- 35. Fehres CM, van Uden NO, Yeremenko NG, Fernandez L, Franco Salinas G, van Duivenvoorde LM, et al. APRIL Induces a Novel Subset of IgA(+) Regulatory B Cells That Suppress Inflammation via Expression of IL-10 and PD-L1. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1368. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01368
- 36. Schietinger A, Greenberg PD. Tolerance and Exhaustion: Defining Mechanisms of T Cell Dysfunction. Trends Immunol (2014) 35(2):51-60. doi: 10.1016/i.it.2013.10.001
- 37. Pardoll DM. The Blockade of Immune Checkpoints in Cancer Immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252-64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239
- Stavnezer J, Kang J. The Surprising Discovery That TGF Beta Specifically 38 Induces the IgA Class Switch. J Immunol (2009) 182(1):5-7. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.182.1.5
- 39. Pinto D, Montani E, Bolli M, Garavaglia G, Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A, et al. A Functional BCR in Human IgA and IgM Plasma Cells. Blood (2013) 121 (20):4110-4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-459289
- 40. Sharonov GV, Serebrovskava EO, Yuzhakova DV, Britanova OV, Chudakov DM. B Cells, Plasma Cells and Antibody Repertoires in the Tumour Microenvironment. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20(5):294-307. doi: 10.1038/ s41577-019-0257-x
- 41. Gunderson AJ, Coussens LM. B Cells and Their Mediators as Targets for Therapy in Solid Tumors. Exp Cell Res (2013) 319(11):1644-9. doi: 10.1016/ j.yexcr.2013.03.005
- Kumar S, Mohan A, Guleria R. Prognostic Implications of Circulating Anti-P53 Antibodies in Lung Cancer–A Review. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)* (2009) 18 (3):248–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2008.01019.x
- Wieland A, Shashidharamurthy R, Kamphorst AO, Han JH, Aubert RD, Choudhury BP, et al. Antibody Effector Functions Mediated by Fcγ-Receptors Are Compromised During Persistent Viral Infection. *Immunity* (2015) 42 (2):367–78. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.01.009
- 44. Liu R, Lu Z, Gu J, Liu J, Huang E, Liu X, et al. MicroRNAs 15A and 16-1 Activate Signaling Pathways That Mediate Chemotaxis of Immune Regulatory B Cells to Colorectal Tumors. *Gastroenterology* (2018) 154(3):637–51.e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.09.045
- Bosisio FM, Wilmott JS, Volders N, Mercier M, Wouters J, Stas M, et al. Plasma Cells in Primary Melanoma. Prognostic Significance and Possible Role of IgA. *Mod Pathol* (2016) 29(4):347–58. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2016.28
- 46. Chiaruttini G, Mele S, Opzoomer J, Crescioli S, Ilieva KM, Lacy KE, et al. B Cells and the Humoral Response in Melanoma: The Overlooked Players of the Tumor Microenvironment. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 6(4):e1294296. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1294296
- Welinder C, Jirström K, Lehn S, Nodin B, Marko-Varga G, Blixt O, et al. Intra-Tumour IgA1 Is Common in Cancer and Is Correlated With Poor Prognosis in Bladder Cancer. *Heliyon* (2016) 2(8):e00143. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon. 2016.e00143
- Peppas I, George G, Sollie S, Josephs DH, Hammar N, Walldius G, et al. Association of Serum Immunoglobulin Levels With Solid Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2020) 29(3):527–38. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-0953
- Cipponi A, Mercier M, Seremet T, Baurain JF, Théate I, van den Oord J, et al. Neogenesis of Lymphoid Structures and Antibody Responses Occur in Human Melanoma Metastases. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(16):3997–4007. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1377
- Zhang J, Hu X, Wang J, Sahu AD, Cohen D, Song L, et al. Immune Receptor Repertoires in Pediatric and Adult Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Genome Med* (2019) 11(1):73. doi: 10.1186/s13073-019-0681-3
- Garaud S, Zayakin P, Buisseret L, Rulle U, Silina K, de Wind A, et al. Antigen Specificity and Clinical Significance of IgG and IgA Autoantibodies Produced *In Situ* by Tumor-Infiltrating B Cells in Breast Cancer. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2660. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02660
- Frontera ED, Khansa RM, Schalk DL, Leakan LE, Guerin-Edbauer TJ, Ratnam M, et al. IgA Fc-Folate Conjugate Activates and Recruits Neutrophils to Directly Target Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2018) 172(3):551–60. doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-4941-5
- Schantz SP, Liu FJ, Taylor D, Beddingfield N, Weber RS. The Relationship of Circulating IgA to Cellular Immunity in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Laryngoscope* (1988) 98(6 Pt 1):671–8. doi: 10.1288/00005537-198806000-00019
- Vinzenz K, Pavelka R, Schönthal E, Zekert F. Serum Immunoglobulin Levels in Patients With Head and Neck Cancer (IgE, IgA, IgM, IgG). *Oncology* (1986) 43(5):316–22. doi: 10.1159/000226390
- 55. Sollie S, Santaolalla A, Michaud DS, Sarker D, Karagiannis SN, Josephs DH, et al. Serum Immunoglobulin G Is Associated With Decreased Risk of Pancreatic Cancer in the Swedish AMORIS Study. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:263. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00263
- 56. Pao W, Ooi CH, Birzele F, Ruefli-Brasse A, Cannarile MA, Reis B, et al. Tissue-Specific Immunoregulation: A Call for Better Understanding of the "Immunostat" in the Context of Cancer. *Cancer Discovery* (2018) 8(4):395– 402. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1320
- 57. Kawamoto S, Maruya M, Kato LM, Suda W, Atarashi K, Doi Y, et al. Foxp3(+) T Cells Regulate Immunoglobulin a Selection and Facilitate Diversification of Bacterial Species Responsible for Immune Homeostasis. *Immunity* (2014) 41 (1):152–65. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.016
- Karagiannis P, Gilbert AE, Josephs DH, Ali N, Dodev T, Saul L, et al. IgG4 Subclass Antibodies Impair Antitumor Immunity in Melanoma. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(4):1457–74. doi: 10.1172/JCI65579
- Mkaddem SB, Christou I, Rossato E, Berthelot L, Lehuen A, Monteiro RC. IgA, IgA Receptors, and Their Anti-Inflammatory Properties. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2014) 382:221–35. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-07911-0_10
- 60. Ben Mkaddem S, Rossato E, Heming N, Monteiro RC. Anti-Inflammatory Role of the IgA Fc Receptor (CD89): From Autoimmunity to Therapeutic

Perspectives. Autoimmun Rev (2013) 12(6):666-9. doi: 10.1016/ j.autrev.2012.10.011

- Pilette C, Detry B, Guisset A, Gabriels J, Sibille Y. Induction of Interleukin-10 Expression Through Fcalpha Receptor in Human Monocytes and Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells: Role of P38 MAPKinase. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2010) 88 (4):486–93. doi: 10.1038/icb.2009.120
- 62. Saha C, Das M, Patil V, Stephen-Victor E, Sharma M, Wymann S, et al. Monomeric Immunoglobulin A From Plasma Inhibits Human Th17 Responses In Vitro Independent of Fcαri and DC-SIGN. Front Immunol (2017) 8:275. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00275
- 63. Yuen GJ, Demissie E, Pillai S. B Lymphocytes and Cancer: A Love-Hate Relationship. *Trends Cancer* (2016) 2(12):747–57. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan. 2016.10.010
- 64. Shalapour S, Karin M. The Neglected Brothers Come of Age: B Cells and Cancer. Semin Immunol (2021) 52:101479. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2021.101479
- 65. Gonzalez-Quintela A, Alende R, Gude F, Campos J, Rey J, Meijide LM, et al. Serum Levels of Immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, IgM) in a General Adult Population and Their Relationship With Alcohol Consumption, Smoking and Common Metabolic Abnormalities. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2008) 151(1):42– 50. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03545.x
- 66. Goedert JJ, Hua X, Bielecka A, Okayasu I, Milne GL, Jones GS, et al. Postmenopausal Breast Cancer and Oestrogen Associations With the IgA-Coated and IgA-Noncoated Faecal Microbiota. *Br J Cancer* (2018) 118 (4):471–9. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.435
- Zitvogel L, Ma Y, Raoult D, Kroemer G, Gajewski TF. The Microbiome in Cancer Immunotherapy: Diagnostic Tools and Therapeutic Strategies. *Science* (2018) 359(6382):1366–70. doi: 10.1126/science.aar6918
- Routy B, Le Chatelier E, Derosa L, Duong CPM, Alou MT, Daillère R, et al. Gut Microbiome Influences Efficacy of PD-1-Based Immunotherapy Against Epithelial Tumors. *Science* (2018) 359(6371):91–7. doi: 10.1126/science. aan3706
- Song H, Liu A, Liu G, Wu F, Li Z. T Follicular Regulatory Cells Suppress Tfh-Mediated B Cell Help and Synergistically Increase IL-10-Producing B Cells in Breast Carcinoma. *Immunol Res* (2019) 67(4-5):416–23. doi: 10.1007/s12026-019-09090-y
- Ammirante M, Shalapour S, Kang Y, Jamieson CA, Karin M. Tissue Injury and Hypoxia Promote Malignant Progression of Prostate Cancer by Inducing CXCL13 Expression in Tumor Myofibroblasts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2014) 111(41):14776–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1416498111
- Batlle E, Massagué J. Transforming Growth Factor-β Signaling in Immunity and Cancer. *Immunity* (2019) 50(4):924–40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019. 03.024
- Xu X, Meng Q, Erben U, Wang P, Glauben R, Kühl AA, et al. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Promote B-Cell Production of IgA in a TNFR2-Dependent Manner. Cell Mol Immunol (2017) 14(7):597–606. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.103
- 73. Kunisawa J. Metabolic Changes During B Cell Differentiation for the Production of Intestinal IgA Antibody. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2017) 74(8):1503– 9. doi: 10.1007/s00018-016-2414-8
- Frank RA, Leeper FJ, Luisi BF. Structure, Mechanism and Catalytic Duality of Thiamine-Dependent Enzymes. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2007) 64(7-8):892–905. doi: 10.1007/s00018-007-6423-5
- Kunisawa J, Kiyono H. Sphingolipids and Epoxidized Lipid Metabolites in the Control of Gut Immunosurveillance and Allergy. *Front Nutr* (2016) 3:3. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2016.00003
- Kunisawa J, Hashimoto E, Inoue A, Nagasawa R, Suzuki Y, Ishikawa I, et al. Regulation of Intestinal IgA Responses by Dietary Palmitic Acid and its Metabolism. J Immunol (2014) 193(4):1666–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1302944
- Gault CR, Obeid LM, Hannun YA. An Overview of Sphingolipid Metabolism: From Synthesis to Breakdown. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2010) 688:1–23. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-6741-1_1
- Fyrst H, Saba JD. An Update on Sphingosine-1-Phosphate and Other Sphingolipid Mediators. Nat Chem Biol (2010) 6(7):489–97. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.392
- Vander Heiden MG, Lunt SY, Dayton TL, Fiske BP, Israelsen WJ, Mattaini KR, et al. Metabolic Pathway Alterations That Support Cell Proliferation. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* (2011) 76:325–34. doi: 10.1101/sqb.2012. 76.010900

- Dufort FJ, Gumina MR, Ta NL, Tao Y, Heyse SA, Scott DA, et al. Glucose-Dependent *De Novo* Lipogenesis in B Lymphocytes: A Requirement for Atp-Citrate Lyase in Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Differentiation. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289(10):7011–24. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.551051
- Gopalakrishnan V, Spencer CN, Nezi L, Reuben A, Andrews MC, Karpinets TV, et al. Gut Microbiome Modulates Response to Anti-PD-1 Immunotherapy in Melanoma Patients. *Science* (2018) 359(6371):97–103. doi: 10.1126/science.aan4236
- Helmink BA, Khan MAW, Hermann A, Gopalakrishnan V, Wargo JA. The Microbiome, Cancer, and Cancer Therapy. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(3):377–88. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0377-7
- Sims TT, El Alam MB, Karpinets TV, Dorta-Estremera S, Hegde VL, Nookala S, et al. Gut Microbiome Diversity Is an Independent Predictor of Survival in Cervical Cancer Patients Receiving Chemoradiation. *Commun Biol* (2021) 4 (1):237. doi: 10.1038/s42003-021-01741-x
- 84. Ruane D, Chorny A, Lee H, Faith J, Pandey G, Shan M, et al. Microbiota Regulate the Ability of Lung Dendritic Cells to Induce IgA Class-Switch Recombination and Generate Protective Gastrointestinal Immune Responses. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(1):53–73. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150567
- Weinstein PD, Cebra JJ. The Preference for Switching to IgA Expression by Peyer's Patch Germinal Center B Cells Is Likely Due to the Intrinsic Influence of Their Microenvironment. *J Immunol* (1991) 147(12):4126–35.
- Wu W, Sun M, Chen F, Cao AT, Liu H, Zhao Y, et al. Microbiota Metabolite Short-Chain Fatty Acid Acetate Promotes Intestinal IgA Response to Microbiota Which Is Mediated by GPR43. *Mucosal Immunol* (2017) 10 (4):946–56. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.114
- Kim M, Qie Y, Park J, Kim CH. Gut Microbial Metabolites Fuel Host Antibody Responses. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 20(2):202–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.chom.2016.07.001
- Isobe J, Maeda S, Obata Y, Iizuka K, Nakamura Y, Fujimura Y, et al. Commensal-Bacteria-Derived Butyrate Promotes the T-Cell-Independent IgA Response in the Colon. *Int Immunol* (2020) 32(4):243–58. doi: 10.1093/ intimm/dx2078
- 89. Lindner C, Wahl B, Föhse L, Suerbaum S, Macpherson AJ, Prinz I, et al. Age, Microbiota, and T Cells Shape Diverse Individual IgA

Repertoires in the Intestine. J Exp Med (2012) 209(2):365-77. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20111980

- McPherson S, Henderson E, Burt AD, Day CP, Anstee QM. Serum Immunoglobulin Levels Predict Fibrosis in Patients With Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. J Hepatol (2014) 60(5):1055–62. doi: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2014.01.010
- Piper CJM, Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Nistala K, Krausgruber T, Rendeiro AF, et al. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Contributes to the Transcriptional Program of IL-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Rep* (2019) 29(7):1878–92.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.018
- 92. DeFalco J, Harbell M, Manning-Bog A, Baia G, Scholz A, Millare B, et al. Non-Progressing Cancer Patients Have Persistent B Cell Responses Expressing Shared Antibody Paratopes That Target Public Tumor Antigens. *Clin Immunol* (2018) 187:37–45. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2017.10.002
- Iglesia MD, Parker JS, Hoadley KA, Serody JS, Perou CM, Vincent BG. Genomic Analysis of Immune Cell Infiltrates Across 11 Tumor Types. J Natl Cancer Inst (2016) 108(11):1–11. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djw144

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhong, Nan, Weng, Yue, Zhou, Wang, Chu, Liu and Miao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characterization of Definitive Regulatory B Cell Subsets by Cell Surface Phenotype, Function and Context

Savannah D. Neu^{1,2} and Bonnie N. Dittel^{1,2*}

¹ Versiti Blood Research Institute, Milwaukee, WI, United States, ² Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, United States

Regulatory B cell or "Breg" is a broad term that represents the anti-inflammatory activity of B cells, but does not describe their individual phenotypes, specific mechanisms of regulation or relevant disease contexts. Thus, given the variety of B cell regulatory mechanisms reported in human disease and their animal models, a more thorough and comprehensive identification strategy is needed for tracking and comparing B cell subsets between research groups and in clinical settings. This review summarizes the discovery process and mechanism of action for well-defined regulatory B cell subsets with an emphasis on the mouse model of multiple sclerosis experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. We discuss the importance of conducting thorough B cell phenotyping along with mechanistic studies prior to defining a particular subset of B cells as Breg. Since virtually all B cell subsets can exert regulatory activity, it is timely for their definitive identification across studies.

Keywords: regulatory B cell (Breg cell), IL-10, Treg, autoimmunity, EAE (experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis), multiple scleorsis (MS), BDL

INTRODUCTION

Alongside T cells, B cells or B lymphocytes make up the adaptive immune system that recognizes and retains memory of foreign antigen encounters. The B cell receptor (BCR) or immunoglobulin (Ig) is a cell surface protein that recognizes intact antigens. BCR binding to cognate shapes activates B cells and leads to downstream protective functions including antigen presentation, upregulation of effector cell surface proteins and soluble factors and B cell differentiation into specialized effector subsets (1, 2). B cells are continuously produced in the bone marrow (BM) to replenish and replace expended populations in peripheral tissues (3, 4). High B cell turnover sustains a large and diverse BCR repertoire, that can protect against a vast array of foreign antigens, but can also be self-reactive (3, 5, 6). To minimize pathological autoimmunity regulatory cell subsets, which include T cells, macrophages and B cells, control and resolve inflammation and reestablish homeostasis through many mechanisms (7–10). Targeting regulatory cells for depletion to boost anti-cancer responses or expansion to dampen autoimmunity is a current therapeutic strategy (9, 11–13).

Although there are differences between the human immune system and animal models, B cells have similar functions and residence across species. B cells are divided into two broad subsets based

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luman Wang, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Wataru Ise, Osaka University, Japan Elisabetta Traggiai, Novartis, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Bonnie N. Dittel bdittel@versiti.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 September 2021 Accepted: 22 November 2021 Published: 20 December 2021

Citation:

Neu SD and Dittel BN (2021) Characterization of Definitive Regulatory B Cell Subsets by Cell Surface Phenotype, Function and Context. Front. Immunol. 12:787464. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.787464 on origin. Conventional B2 B cells in mouse and human are BMderived and account for most B cell populations in circulation and in the secondary lymphoid organs including lymph nodes, spleen and mucosal sites (14). In mice, B1 B cells were shown to be derived from the yolk sac/fetal liver and largely self-renew in the peritoneal cavity and surrounding abdominal tissues and secrete large amounts of IgM for innate-like immune protection (15, 16). B1 B cells are subdivided into B1a and B1b in mice (17). Both B2 and B1 B cells can engage in antigen-specific immune responses, secrete protective antibodies and become further specialized based on 1) localization to tissue types/structures and proximity to other cells; 2) BCR affinity for self or foreign ligands and 3) availability of growth signals, stimulation, and differentiation factors. In both mice and humans, BM-derived B cells follow a maturation trajectory from immature states (pre-B, pro-B, transitional) to mature marginal zone and follicular subsets (18). Naïve B1 and B2 B cells become activated through their BCR and related signaling (co-stimulation, cytokines) and differentiate into long-lived memory or antibody secreting plasma cells (19, 20). During differentiation into plasma cells, activated B cells in both mice and humans, downregulate canonical B cell markers (CD19, surface Ig, Pax5) and upregulate transcriptional programs needed for efficient protein folding and secretion (IRF4, Blimp-1, XBP1) (19, 21-24). In this process, B cells mature through an intermediary plasmablast stage characterized by high proliferation and migration to effector sites (19, 21).

While the term "Breg" denotes a unique B cell subset, regulatory activity can be found in virtually all B cell subsets (25-28). Thus, Breg describes the general capacity for B cells to dampen immune responses but does not detail their exact nature, i.e., phenotype, mechanism of regulation or functional context. Many recent reviews summarize a multitude of mechanisms by which B cells are anti-inflammatory. For simplicity, these mechanisms are often divided into IL-10-dependent and -independent activities (10, 26, 28, 29). We support the concept that while all B cell subsets have contextual regulatory capacity, some subsets are inherently better suited than others. Because of this complexity, characterization of specific B cell subsets that exert regulatory activities has been incomplete and inconsistent across model systems and between research groups. Thus, there is a need for a definitive characterization strategy to assess novel regulatory B cell subsets. Here, we will review the history of B cell immune regulation research with focus on the discovery and testing of B cell subsets whose phenotype and mechanism of action have been clearly delineated. These include IL-10 producing plasmablasts/plasma cells (30-32) (Figure 1) and B cell IgD low (BD_L) that interact with and induce proliferation of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells (Treg) (33) (Figure 2). In each of the four articles highlighted, negative immune regulation was assessed using the animal model of multiple sclerosis (MS), experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), and measured as the level of recovery from the signs of disease. Although B cell negative immune regulation has been reported in a variety of human disease models, for brevity and continuity, we are limiting this review to MS and its animal model EAE.

THE DISCOVERY OF B CELL NEGATIVE IMMUNE REGULATION

The discovery of a regulatory role for B cells in autoimmunity, ironically, was a serendipitous finding that was the outcome of a study in the laboratory of Dr. Charles A. Janeway, Jr. to determine whether B cell antigen presentation of peptides could induce CD4 T cell priming. This question was asked using EAE, which was well suited to address the question because of its dependence upon CD4 T cell priming to a selfantigen (34). EAE was induced in B10.PL (H-2^u) mice by immunization with the myelin basic protein (MBP) immunodominant peptide Ac1-11 emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant accompanied by two doses of pertussis toxin (day 1 & 2) (35). This model was chosen because it was the first peptide active immunization model of EAE (36). To address the original question, B10.PL mice rendered deficient of mature B cells by disruption of the IgM heavy chain (B10.PLµMT) (37) were immunized with Ac_{1-11} (35). Now as part of scientific history, we showed that µMT mice not only succumbed to EAE, but failed to recover from the signs of EAE (35). This later finding is an advantage of using B10.PL mice because WT mice spontaneously recover from EAE. Although this result did not answer the original question of whether B cells can take up and present peptide antigens to T cells, it did indicate that B cell antigen presentation was not required for EAE induction. The observation that the mice did not recover from EAE provided the first evidence that B cells play a regulatory role in autoimmune responses. Remarkably, this finding was obtained prior to the identification of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg. The question then became, through what mechanisms do B cells facilitate resolution of EAE or other inflammatory conditions?

IL-10/IL-35-SECRETING PLASMABLASTS/ PLASMA CELLS

IL-10 is a strong anti-inflammatory cytokine, which can potently suppress antigen presentation, among other functions, leading to attenuated immune responses (38, 39). IL-10-deficient mice develop a severe, nonrecovery EAE phenotype much like B cell-deficient animals (40, 41). Fillatreau and colleagues, in 2002, reproduced our findings that B cells are required for EAE recovery in C567BL/6 mice using the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) 35-55 peptide immunization model (42). Mechanistically, they were the first to demonstrate a role for B cell production of IL-10 in EAE recovery (42). This was accomplished utilizing IL-10-deficient mice and a combination of mixed BM chimeras and B cell transfers. Since this landmark finding, a multitude of subsequent studies have assessed B cell production of IL-10 through methods such as ELISA and ELISPOT, flow cytometry, fluorescent reporters and quantitative PCR (43). IL-10 production was commonly assessed following potent antigen non-specific in vitro B cell stimulation (44). While many, if not all, B cell



FIGURE 1 | Plasmablast/plasma cells (PC) regulate through many mechanisms in different tissues. PC facilitate microbial homeostasis at mucosal surfaces like the small and large intestine through secretion of IgA, a dimerized Ig with added features. These PC can migrate to the central nervous system (CNS) and secrete IL-10 to dampen inflammation therein. In draining lymph nodes (dLN), PC secrete IL-10 to inhibit antigen (Ag) presentation by dendritic cells (DC), thereby dampening immune responses. PC secrete IL-10 and IL-35 in the spleen which is believed to inhibit Ag presentation therein.

subsets can produce IL-10 after *in vitro* stimulation, concurrent secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- α) has been reported, suggesting that *in vitro* activation is not sufficient to assess true regulatory activity *via* IL-10 (25, 45). Indeed, B10 B cells named for their production of IL-10, are not a specific subset of B cells, but defined by IL-10 production, regardless of whether the IL-10 is regulatory in a disease context (28). Thus, measuring IL-10 production alone is not sufficient to define/ phenotype B cell subsets with regulatory activity. The later requires mechanistic studies utilizing well-defined and/or purified B cell subsets, and as shown by Fillatreau and colleagues (42), the utilization of IL-10-deficient B cells.

Once it was recognized that B cell production of IL-10 was antiinflammatory in EAE, the search commenced to identify the phenotype of the regulatory B cell. This was a daunting task given that all B cell subsets have the capacity to produce IL-10. In particular, B cells produce copious amounts of IL-10 following TLR stimulation (44, 46–49). Interestingly, CFA used to induce EAE has numerous TLR ligands and B cells stimulated *via* TLR ligands were shown to suppress EAE (44, 46). It took until 2014 for the identification of plasmablasts/plasma cells as the major source of B cell-derived IL-10 during EAE (30). In the first of two articles, Fillatreau and colleagues, used both EAE and Salmonella infection along with BM chimeras utilizing knockout (KO) mice, to demonstrate that IL-35 production was also a critical B cellderived anti-inflammatory cytokine (30). IL-35 as a potential B cell regulator was identified via a microarray approach utilizing B cells expressing IL-10 as detected using IL-10 reporter mice. They went on to show that splenic plasma cells were the major contributors of IL-10 and IL-35. Here, we want to emphasize that thorough cell surface phenotyping (CD138^{hi}TACI⁺CXCR4⁺CD1d^{int}Tim1^{int}) combined with intranuclear detection of the plasma cell transcription factor Blimp were utilized (30). This was the first time a "definitive" B cell phenotype was identified exhibiting regulatory activity via secretion of IL-10/IL-35 (Figure 1). IL-10/IL-35 production was used as the starting point to identify the B cells, not as the endpoint.

In the same year, Matsumoto and colleagues also reported that plasmablasts were the primary producers of IL-10 in EAE (31). IL-10 reporter mice (Venus) were used as the strategy to identify IL-10 producing B cells, which were highly prevalent in the draining lymph nodes, but not in the spleen or spinal cord on



FIGURE 2 | BD_L. In the spleen BD_L promote regulatory T cell (Treg) proliferation through GITR-GITRL interactions. Treg attenuate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) severity.

day 14 of EAE (~peak of disease). Using cell surface phenotyping and intranuclear Blimp-1 staining, CD138⁺ plasmasblasts/ plasma cells were identified as the major IL-10 secreting cells during EAE. Confirmation that the plasmablasts/plasma cells were negative regulatory in EAE came from studies utilizing Blimp-1 B cell conditional KO mice. Additional studies indicated that lymph node, but not splenic plasmablasts/plasma cells were responsible for the negative regulation. To resolve the splenic (30) versus lymph node origin of the regulatory plasmablasts (31), adoptive transfer experiments were conducted, which ultimately demonstrated that the negative immune regulation occured in the lymph node independent of the germinal center (i.e., plasmablasts). In retrospect, the lymph node as the location of B cell-derived IL-10 immune regulation makes intuitive sense, due to IL-10s' potent ability to suppress antigen presentation. MOG₃₅₋₅₅ EAE is induced by immunization driving T cell priming due to delivery of the peptide to the draining lymph node via dendritic cells. IL-10 has been reported to negatively regulate the upregulation of MHC class II, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines important for CD4 T cell priming (50, 51). Indeed, in vitro studies suggested that dendritic cells were the target of the plasmablast-derived IL-10 (31). TLR2, 4 and/or

9 agonists in the CFA likely induced the IL-10 production by the plasmablasts/plasma cells (30, 31). Here, again, IL-10 production was the starting point and the implementation of multiple strategies were utilized to definitively identify the B cell subset that produced the regulatory IL-10 (**Figure 1**).

In addition to autoimmunity, B cell activation and differentiation into antibody-secreting plasma cells is also associated with IL-10 competency and immunosuppressive activity in cancer (31, 52-54). While plasmablast/plasma cell characterization has narrowed the phenotype for IL-10-secreting B cells, several plasma cell populations exist between the BM, secondary lymphoid organs (spleen/lymph nodes) and mucosal sites (i.e., gut) (55-60). Of importance, not all PC can produce IL-10, such as IgG-secreting plasma cells (53). Interestingly, microbial sensing through TLR (54) and the presence of gut commensals (61) seems required for effective plasmablast/ plasma cell immunosuppression (30, 31). The gut microbiome and its role in MS has been investigated using models like germfree, single microbe monocolonized and specific pathogen-free animals in tandem with EAE and by sequencing microbiomes from human patients (62-64). While a definitive MS microbiome is yet unclear, these cumulative studies have

identified microbes associated with disease activity as well as quiescence and elucidated further mechanisms through which the gut microbiome impacts immune regulation (65-67). While a multitude of mechanisms exist, IgA production in the gut has emerged as an important regulator of the composition of the gut microbiome. IgA is the most abundant Ig in the body. In human adults, around 5 mg is secreted at mucosal surfaces per day (68, 69). IgA is produced by gut plasma cells residing in the lamina propria of the small and large intestine and is secreted as a dimer joined covalently by the J-chain protein which acquires an additional secretory component during translocation into the gut lumen via the epithelium (70-72) (Figure 1). In the gut, IgA canonically targets microbes through antigen-specific binding but can also participate in non-specific binding via glycan-, Jchain-, and secretory component-driven adherence (72-74). Through these combined mechanisms, IgA facilitates clearance of potentially pathogenic microbes while allowing beneficial commensals to thrive (75, 76).

Rojas and colleagues, investigated whether there was a link between gut IgA, IL-10 and EAE penetrance (32). They identified gut-derived IgA-secreting plasma cells as a potent source of IL-10 and that these cells ameliorated EAE by trafficking from the gut to the brain. In their work, IgA PC were characterized by multiple techniques including fluorescent reporters with parabiosis tracking, flow cytometry and microscopy and were functionally assessed *via* ELISPOT and adoptive cell transfer analysis. These plasma cells were shown to be IgA- and IL-10secreting, expressed Blimp-1, had low levels of canonical B cell markers (B220) and reacted with gut-derived antigens *in vitro* (32) (**Figure 1**).

While each of the three highlighted studies discussed above were comprehensively and elegantly conducted using state-ofthe-art techniques, one can ask how does induction of EAE with immunization utilizing a potent TLR stimulating adjuvant (CFA) have relevance to human MS? The nature of this question is relevant to most animal models of human disease. Nevertheless, interestingly, all FDA approved therapies for MS have shown efficacy in the EAE model of MS. Although little is known regarding the role of IL-35 in MS, it has been shown to be elevated in the serum of treated patients as compared to the control group (77). A second study found that IL-35 was reduced in relapsing-remitting MS patients as compared to healthy controls (78). A third study reported that IL-35 was higher in MS patients as compared to healthy controls (79). In a fourth study, MS patients infected with helminths had higher levels of IL-35-producing B cells in the CSF, which correlated with reduced MRI lesions, as compared to uninfected patients (80). In vitro studies, showed that IL-35 could drive IL-35 and IL-10 production by CD19⁺ B cells and induce a Treg-like phenotype (80). While these studies are interesting, the lack of definitive B cell phenotyping limits impact. Taken together, the collective IL-35 data indicate that much remains unknown regarding the source of IL-35 in MS and its mechanism of action. Human relevance investigated by Matsumoto and colleagues utilized an in vitro culture system whereby healthy human peripheral blood B cells were stimulated through TLR9 with CpG along with IFN-

 α /IFN- β to induce IL-10 production (31). It was found that of the various plasmablast populations generated, those derived from naïve B cells, with a CD27^{int}CD38⁺ phenotype, expressed the highest level of IL-10 and remained IgM⁺. Whether these cells are regulatory in MS is not known. In the Rojas study, MS patients were utilized to demonstrate that IgA bound bacteria was reduced during active disease (32). The presence of IgAproducing plasma cells in the MS brain has since been confirmed (81). While the gut microbiota is closely associated with IgAsecreting plasma cells, the signals required for IL-10 secretion and migration to sites of autoimmune inflammation require further exploration.

In summary, although plasmablasts/plasma cells identified by Blimp-1 expression were shown to be the regulatory B cell in EAE, each study identified a different mechanism. In the spleen, they regulated via IL-35, via an unknown mechanism (30) (Figure 1). In the lymph node, IL-10 was the primary immunosuppressive cytokine that likely targeted dendritic cell antigen presentation (31) (Figure 1). While in the gut, IgA plasma cells trafficked to the CNS and suppressed via IL-10 (32) (Figure 1). While the IL-10 target in the CNS was not investigated, it was shown that overexpression of IL-10 in the CNS via transfer of immortalized fibroblasts producing IL-10 or an adenovirus expressing IL-10 into the CNS potently attenuated EAE severity (82, 83). These collective studies illustrate the complexity of B cell regulation within just the plasmablast/plasma cell subset, which itself is a complex group of cells with differential production of Ig isotypes, anatomical location, cytokine profiles and longevity.

MAINTENANCE OF TREG HOMEOSTASIS BY BD_L

As discussed above, we were the first to demonstrate a negative regulatory role for B cells in promoting recovery from EAE (35). This seminal study was conducted using the active immunization model utilizing CFA. To avoid bystander effects of CFA (i.e., TLR agonism), we first confirmed that B10.PLµMT mice did not recover from EAE induced by the passive transfer of MBPspecific encephalitogenic CD4⁺ T cells generated from MBP-TCR transgenic mice (84, 85). Interestingly, in this study utilizing BM chimeras, we did investigate IL-10 expression, but in the context of the recently described CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg, not B cells (85). In a follow up study, we utilized anti-CD20 B cell depletion as an alternative to genetic disruption (µMT) to render mice B cell deficient, to further support our findings that B cells are required for EAE recovery (86). In this study, we moved from a BM chimera approach to B cell adoptive transfer and showed that neither IL-10 nor MHC class II were required for B cells to drive EAE recovery. Keeping with our previous findings, we investigated a role for Treg and found that B cells induced their proliferation in a glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor ligand (GITRL)-dependent manner (Figure 2). This mechanism was supported by findings that mice deficient in B cells (either µMT or anti-CD20 depleted) had a significant reduction in splenic Treg and that B cell adoptive transfer into

 μ MT mice restored Treg numbers and recovery from EAE. Antibody blocking of GITRL prior to B cell adoptive transfer, attenuated Treg expansion and EAE recovery.

By utilizing two different EAE models (active & passive) and two means to render mice deficient in B cells (genetic & antibody depletion), we were confident that B cells were required for recovery from EAE (85, 86). We then required a strategy by which to identify and subsequently purify the regulatory B cell subset. Unlike IL-10, we could not utilize GITRL due to its very low expression on B cells (86). We did perform some targeted adoptive transfers using FACS purified B cell subsets, but found that strategy too laborious, costly and unfocused. Thus, we chose anti-CD20 partial B cell depletion. By swabbing the IgG2a heavy chain of the totally B cell depleting anti-CD20 to IgG₁, B cell depletion efficiency was reduced (33, 87). We would like to thank Biogen Idec for generously providing these antibodies. Anti-CD20 IgG1 depleted the majority of follicular B cells while sparing marginal zone B cells (33). Thus, we were surprised that the B cell regulatory activity resided within the few follicular B cells that were not depleted (33). We then employed extensive flow cytometry cell surface phenotyping to determine that the non-depleted follicular B cells were enriched for IgD^{low} expressing B cells. Using FACS purified follicular IgD^{low} B cells, we showed that upon transfer into µMT mice, they drove Treg proliferation and EAE recovery. Importantly, neither follicular IgD^{hi} nor marginal zone B cells exhibited regulatory activity. Given that only follicular IgD^{low} B cells were regulatory in the context of our EAE model in conjunction with RNAseq studies, this evidence supported that we had identified a new B cell subset and named them B cell IgD low (BDL). Several strategies were utilized to determine that BD_L are not part of the marginal zone B cell lineage. Developmental studies showed that BD_L emerge in the spleen after the transitional 2 subset, similar to follicular B cells. However, how BD_L fit into follicular B cell development is not known. A more comprehensive review of how BD_L were discovered and the assays used to identify then were recently published (88, 89).

We too, were interested in whether our findings were relevant to humans. In that regard, we found that BD_L activity existed in IgD^{low} B cells in both human spleen and peripheral blood, as determined using an *in vitro* Treg expansion assay (33). However, a definitive human BD_L phenotype was not identified nor were studies in MS performed. Thus, much remains to be discovered regarding B cell biology, particularly in the context of disease. In summary, by utilizing a variety of experimental approaches combined with comprehensive cell surface phenotyping and mechanistic studies, like IL-10 secreting plasmablasts/plasma cells, we have successfully identified a definitive B cell subset with regulatory activity (33, 88).

B CELL PHENOTYPING TO IDENTIFY REGULATORY B CELL SUBSETS

Previous research has uncovered many B cell subsets with regulatory potential that utilize a large cadre of regulatory

mechanisms (10, 26). This highlights the complexity and challenges in targeting these populations for in-depth testing and therapeutic development. Here, we describe a strategy for identifying regulatory B cell subsets using gold-standard and state-of-the-art methodology that has three steps: 1) in-depth B cell subset phenotyping, 2) determination of B cell subset origin and 3) functional/mechanistic analysis. These steps do not need to be performed in a specific order, and the process of definitively characterizing a novel subset is often iterative and cyclic in nature (**Figure 3**).

In-Depth B Cell Subset Phenotyping

For in-depth B cell subset phenotyping, flow cytometry is a powerful tool that allows for comparative analysis of many cell surface and intracellular/intranuclear markers combined. However, conventional flow cytometry is limited in breath due to an upper limit of 12-14 colors (markers) with a conventional flow cytometer equipped with four lasers. If the flow cytometer also has a UV laser, 20 colors are possible. However, realistically, most laboratories have a upper limit of 6-8 colors. In our studies, identification of BD_L required six colors that includes B220 or CD19, IgM, IgD, CD21, CD23 and CD93 (33) (Figure 4). In addition, this combination of cell surface markers can be used to identify splenic transitional subsets, the marginal zone lineage and follicular B cells (Figure 4). In unpublished studies, we have now identified an additional BD_L marker making our panels seven colors. We also routinely phenotype Treg (CD4⁺Foxp4⁺) and if done in combination with B cell phenotyping would be nine colors. If B cells are enzymatically obtained from tissues the hematopoietic marker CD45 along with a live/dead stain need to be included. Determining IL-10 expression requires either a reporter or intracellular staining. Similarly



FIGURE 3 | A three-step process to identify regulatory B cell subsets. Complete characterization of novel regulatory B cell subsets requires three steps: subset phenotyping, lineage determination, and functional analysis. To accomplish this goal, many experimental techniques are required. The process is often iterative, and steps can be completed in any order and revisited as new information is gained.



complex, delineation between mouse plasmablasts and plasma cells from other B cell subsets requires both cell surface phenotyping, intracellular (IL-10/IL-35) and intranuclear transcription factor identification (i.e., Blimp-1, IRF4), because no cell surface markers alone identify these subsets (Figure 5). Surface markers including CD19^{low/neg}, B220^{low}, CD20⁻, CD38⁺, CD44^{hi}, CD27⁺, CD138⁺, TACI⁺, CXCR4⁺, Tim1⁺, cell surface Ig^{low/-} are used in addition to transcription factor identification to further characterize subsets of plasmablast/plasma cells (Figure 5). One major hurdle in identifying BD₁ and plasmablasts/plasma cells is that they are rare, making their purification for downstream analysis challenging. Because transcription factor staining for flow cytometry kills target cells, Blimp-1 reporter animals are necessary to FACS purify plasmablasts/plasma cells (90). Additionally, IgMtargeting can activate B cells so care must be taken when purifying cell subsets using this marker. Other markers associated with B cell

regulation to consider are CD5, CD1d, PD-L1 and FasL (10, 26). In mouse studies, it is important to analyze several lymphoid tissues to determine if the novel B cell regulatory subsets are sequestered to a portion of the body or more generally found in multiple tissue types.

B subset markers in mouse and human are relatively similar, but differences do exist. CD10 is a human B cell marker not used in mice and CD38 is used more often in humans than mice (60). Human tissues beyond peripheral blood can be difficult to obtain and B cells in circulation do not allow the analysis of specialized B cells subsets such as marginal zone B cells, germinal center B cells, long-lived plasma cells or mucosal B cell subsets. Human B cell subsets are also infinitely more complex than mice due to exposure to environmental and microorganism-derived antigens leading to isotype class switching and memory and plasma cell generation. Here, BD_L will be used to illustrate human B cell complexity. Although, we examined a number of B cell markers





Definitive Regulatory B Cell Characterization

to narrow the BD_L phenotype in humans (unpublished observations), in the end, the only reliable phenotype was CD19⁺ (or equivalent B cell marker) and IgD^{low}. In addition to BD_L, the CD19⁺IgD^{low/-} phenotype can include: 1) isotype class switched effector B cells, 2) isotype class switched memory B cells, 3) IgM memory B cells, 4) circulating transitional B cell subsets and 5) circulating marginal zone B cells. It is unlikely that flow cytometry alone could differentiate between the various IgD^{low/-} human B cell subsets. Thus, newer technologies may need to be applied. These include imaging mass cytometry (CyTOF), which is a mass spectrometry approach that utilizes metal conjugated antibodies to identify ~50 parameters/cells with minimal overlap in the metal signals (91). Primary disadvantages include its lack of mainstream use, slow flow rate and destruction of the analyzed cells. Spectral flow cytometry is a newer technology that also has the advantage of minimal overlap of signals. While similar to conventional flow cytometry, its fluorescent emission spectrum is captured by detectors across several defined wavelength ranges. In essence, every molecule's fluorescent spectrum is recorded as a spectral signature that can be discriminated from other fluorescent signatures (92). Spectral flow cytometers are now commercially available and are slowly being incorporated into basic research studies. Finally, single cell RNA sequencing (scRNAseq) has become a strategy of choice to identify rare subsets of immune cells (93). Detection of cell surface proteins via antibodies (i.e., TotalSeqTM) can be used alongside scRNAseq strategies (i.e., 10X Genomices) to analyze the transcriptional profiles of pre-marked immune cell subsets (94). In addition, full-length BCR sequences can also be obtained (95). The best platform to choose is dependent upon the experimental question. 10X Genomics allows the analysis of high numbers of individual cells (thousands) and can be combined with cell surface identification. However, its primary weakness is that sequence read depth is limited to high copy number transcripts, so unique markers expressed at low levels may be washed out during analysis. In comparison, both the Fluidym and Takara systems can analyze sequences with low copy number transcripts, but fewer cells can be analyzed per run (hundreds) (93, 96, 97).

Determination of B Cell Subset Origin

B cell phenotyping can provide strong evidence of the lineage from which a particular B cell subset derives. However, additional developmental studies should be performed. In comparison with conventional B2 B cells from the BM, B1 B cells are derived from the yolk sac/fetal liver, thus they can be eliminated with BM transplantation (98). Marginal zone B cells require Notch-2 signaling for development and any disruption in that pathway prevents their differentiation (99). Plasmablast/plasma cell differentiation can be prevented by loss of Blimp-1 expression (100). The loss of XBP-1 in plasmablasts/plasma cells can be used interrogate relevance of Ig secretion with other mechanisms (101). Germinal center B cells require BCL6 and its deficiency leads to truncation of the germinal center response (102). The transcription factor ABF-1 prevents plasma cells differentiation, without disrupting memory (103). Bach2 was recently shown to be essential for the transition from germinal center B cells to

memory B cells (104). Undoubtably, other transcription factors can also be targeted to disrupt the development of specific B cell subsets. The developmental timing/kinetics of any B2 subset can be tracked after BM transplantation or sublethal irradiation (33). In addition, adoptive transfer is also an effective strategy for monitoring B cell subsets, especially when used in tandem with congenic markers (CD45.1/2) (33). For instance, the adoptive transfer of transitional 2 cells leads to the emergence of both the follicular and marginal zone lineages, as well as BD_L (33). When used together, these KO and cell reconstitution strategies can experimentally interrogate the lineage of regulatory B cell activity.

Functional/Mechanistic Analysis

Beyond identifying definitive markers of regulatory B cells subsets and where they come from, characterization of their functional capacity is equally important. Functional capacity includes 1) the mechanism through which the regulatory B cell yields an altered immune response and 2) the context in which this is applicable (type of disease, target cells). As evidenced through the story of B cells in EAE, not every regulatory B cell activity is relevant in all model systems and potentially multiple B cell subsets can be regulatory through different mechanisms at the same time. Thus, choosing and accurately describing the disease context is important for characterizing the regulatory B cell subset. Mechanisms of regulatory B cells can be investigated using many of the approaches discussed above where cellular activities (i.e.; IL-10/IL-35 secretion) are altered by gene/transcript-targeted deletion/ overexpression or protein inhibition/stimulation with drug compounds. Genetic animal strains (including B cell-conditional varieties), BM chimeras, adoptive cell transfers and in vitro coculture systems are used in tandem with these approaches to minimize confounding effects of gene manipulation on other, non-B cells. Further methods for investigating regulatory B cell mechanisms include measuring cytokines and effector molecule production via reporters (i.e.; IL-10, Blimp-1), ELISA, ELISPOT, quantitative PCR and RNAseq. While conducting these analyses, it is important to keep in mind the purity of tested cell subsets, this is where in-depth B cell phenotyping can aid in and strengthen the interpretation of results.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

To ensure the accurate identification of novel B cell subsets with regulatory activity and their mechanism, consistent and comprehensive phenotyping along with mechanistic studies are necessary. The four laboratories, including our own, whose work was discussed in this review were chosen because they all utilized multiple strategies to identify a definitive B cell subset whose mechanism of action was confirmed using multiple mechanistic approaches. These included KO mice, BM chimeras, genetic approaches and adoptive cell transfer, among others. Although each story was years in the making, cumulatively, they provide a path by which others can follow to discover novel regulatory B cell subsets and mechanisms in the context of other diseases. Similar investigations have been made in models beyond MS/EAE that researchers interested in B cell regulation should explore. The identification of regulatory B cell subsets and their mechanism leads to the question of how they can be exploited for the treatment of anti-inflammatory diseases. The main hurdle with utilizing B cells as an adoptive cell therapy is that they do not self-renew, like their T cell counterparts. Thus, longevity must be addressed. In the context of IL-10, adoptive transfer of long-lived plasma cells that produce IL-10 is being actively explored. We are actively exploring how BD_L can be utilized as an adoptive cell therapy to increase Treg numbers in autoimmunity. These are exciting times for research in B cell regulation and given the complexity of the entire B cell lineage new B cell subsets and regulatory mechanisms are surely to be discovered.

REFERENCES

- Chen Z, Wang JH. How the Signalingcrosstalk of B Cell Receptor (BCR) and Co-Receptors Regulates Antibody Class Switch Recombination: A New Perspective of Checkpoints of BCR Signaling. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:663443. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.663443
- Kwak K, Akkaya M, Pierce SK. B Cell Signaling in Context. Nat Immunol (2019) 20(8):963–9. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0427-9
- Osmond DG. Proliferation Kinetics and the Lifespan of B Cells in Central and Peripheral Lymphoid Organs. *Curr Opin Immunol* (1991) 3(2):179–85. doi: 10.1016/0952-7915(91)90047-5
- Tough DF, Sprent J. Lifespan of Lymphocytes. *Immunol Res* (1995) 14(1):1– 12. doi: 10.1007/BF02918494
- H IJ, van Schouwenburg PA, van Zessen D, Pico-Knijnenburg I, Driessen GJ, Stubbs AP, et al. Evaluation of the Antigen-Experienced B-Cell Receptor Repertoire in Healthy Children and Adults. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:410. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00410
- Bashford-Rogers RJM, Bergamaschi L, McKinney EF, Pombal DC, Mescia F, Lee JC, et al. Analysis of the B Cell Receptor Repertoire in Six Immune-Mediated Diseases. *Nature* (2019) 574(7776):122–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1595-3
- Campbell DJ. Control of Regulatory T Cell Migration, Function, and Homeostasis. J Immunol (2015) 195(6):2507–13. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1500801
- Christoffersson G, von Herrath M. Regulatory Immune Mechanisms Beyond Regulatory T Cells. *Trends Immunol* (2019) 40(6):482–91. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.04.005
- Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. Cancer Immunol Res (2017) 5(1):3–8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0297
- Ray A, Dittel BN. Mechanisms of Regulatory B Cell Function in Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases Beyond IL-10. J Clin Med (2017) 6(1). doi: 10.3390/jcm6010012
- Hofmann K, Clauder AK, Manz RA. Targeting B Cells and Plasma Cells in Autoimmune Diseases. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:835. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.00835
- 12. Hohlfeld R. B-Cells as Therapeutic Targets in Neuro-Inflammatory Diseases. *Clin Immunol* (2018) 186:51–3. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2017.07.013
- Raffin C, Vo LT, Bluestone JA. Treg Cell-Based Therapies: Challenges and Perspectives. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20(3):158–72. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0232-6
- Allman D, Pillai S. Peripheral B Cell Subsets. Curr Opin Immunol (2008) 20 (2):149–57. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.014
- Hardy RR, Hayakawa K. Perspectives on Fetal Derived CD5+ B1 B Cells. Eur J Immunol (2015) 45(11):2978–84. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445146
- Baumgarth N. B-1 Cell Heterogeneity and the Regulation of Natural and Antigen-Induced IgM Production. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:324. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00324
- Yoshimoto M. The Ontogeny of Murine B-1a Cells. Int J Hematol (2020) 111 (5):622–7. doi: 10.1007/s12185-019-02787-8
- Wang Y, Liu J, Burrows PD, Wang JY. B Cell Development and Maturation. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2020) 1254:1–22. doi: 10.1007/978-981-15-3532-1_1

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BD and SN both wrote and edited the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the NIH grants R01AI160244-01 and R21AI145323 (BND), the National Multiple Sclerosis Society grant RG-1901-33315 (BD) and the Versiti Blood Research Institute Research Foundation.

- Fairfax KA, Kallies A, Nutt SL, Tarlinton DM. Plasma Cell Development: From B-Cell Subsets to Long-Term Survival Niches. *Semin Immunol* (2008) 20(1):49–58. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2007.12.002
- Akkaya M, Kwak K, Pierce SK. B Cell Memory: Building Two Walls of Protection Against Pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20(4):229–38. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0244-2
- Nutt SL, Hodgkin PD, Tarlinton DM, Corcoran LM. The Generation of Antibody-Secreting Plasma Cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15(3):160–71. doi: 10.1038/nri3795
- Minnich M, Tagoh H, Bonelt P, Axelsson E, Fischer M, Cebolla B, et al. Multifunctional Role of the Transcription Factor Blimp-1 in Coordinating Plasma Cell Differentiation. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(3):331–43. doi: 10.1038/ni.3349
- Klein U, Casola S, Cattoretti G, Shen Q, Lia M, Mo T, et al. Transcription Factor IRF4 Controls Plasma Cell Differentiation and Class-Switch Recombination. Nat Immunol (2006) 7(7):773–82. doi: 10.1038/ni1357
- Reimold AM, Iwakoshi NN, Manis J, Vallabhajosyula P, Szomolanyi-Tsuda E, Gravallese EM, et al. Plasma Cell Differentiation Requires the Transcription Factor XBP-1. *Nature* (2001) 412(6844):300–7. doi: 10.1038/35085509
- Lighaam LC, Unger PA, Vredevoogd DW, Verhoeven D, Vermeulen E, Turksma AW, et al. *In Vitro*-Induced Human IL-10(+) B Cells Do Not Show a Subset-Defining Marker Signature and Plastically Co-Express IL-10 With Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1913. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01913
- Ray A, Wang L, Dittel BN. IL-10-Independent Regulatory B-Cell Subsets and Mechanisms of Action. *Int Immunol* (2015) 27(10):531–6. doi: 10.1093/ intimm/dxv033
- Rosser EC, Mauri C. Regulatory B Cells: Origin, Phenotype, and Function. Immunity (2015) 42(4):607–12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- Tedder TF. B10 Cells: A Functionally Defined Regulatory B Cell Subset. J Immunol (2015) 194(4):1395–401. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401329
- Cerqueira C, Manfroi B, Fillatreau S. IL-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells and Plasmocytes: Molecular Mechanisms and Disease Relevance. *Semin Immunol* (2019) 44:101323. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.101323
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-Producing B Cells Are Critical Regulators of Immunity During Autoimmune and Infectious Diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507(7492):366–70. doi: 10.1038/nature12979
- Matsumoto M, Baba A, Yokota T, Nishikawa H, Ohkawa Y, Kayama H, et al. Interleukin-10-Producing Plasmablasts Exert Regulatory Function in Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1040-51. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.016
- Rojas OL, Probstel AK, Porfilio EA, Wang AA, Charabati M, Sun T, et al. Recirculating Intestinal IgA-Producing Cells Regulate Neuroinflammation via IL-10. Cell (2019) 176(3):610–624 e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.035
- Ray A, Khalil MI, Pulakanti KL, Burns RT, Gurski CJ, Basu S, et al. Mature IgD (low/-) B Cells Maintain Tolerance by Promoting Regulatory T Cell Homeostasis. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):190. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-08122-9
- Croxford AL, Kurschus FC, Waisman A. Mouse Models for Multiple Sclerosis: Historical Facts and Future Implications. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1812(2):177–83. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.06.010

- Wolf SD, Dittel BN, Hardardottir F, Janeway CA Jr. Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Induction in Genetically B Cell-Deficient Mice. J Exp Med (1996) 184(6):2271–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.184.6.2271
- Zamvil SS, Mitchell DJ, Moore AC, Kitamura K, Steinman L, Rothbard JB. T-Cell Epitope of the Autoantigen Myelin Basic Protein That Induces Encephalomyelitis. *Nature* (1986) 324(6094):258–60. doi: 10.1038/324258a0
- Kitamura D, Roes J, Kuhn R, Rajewsky K. A B Cell-Deficient Mouse by Targeted Disruption of the Membrane Exon of the Immunoglobulin Mu Chain Gene. *Nature* (1991) 350(6317):423–6. doi: 10.1038/350423a0
- Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 and the Interleukin-10 Receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2001) 19:683–765. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.683
- Ouyang W, O'Garra A. IL-10 Family Cytokines IL-10 and IL-22: From Basic Science to Clinical Translation. *Immunity* (2019) 50(4):871–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2019.03.020
- Bettelli E, Das MP, Howard ED, Weiner HL, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. IL-10 is Critical in the Regulation of Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis as Demonstrated by Studies of IL-10- and IL-4-Deficient and Transgenic Mice. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(7):3299–306. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(98)91500-4
- 41. Samoilova EB, Horton JL, Chen Y. Acceleration of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis in Interleukin-10-Deficient Mice: Roles of Interleukin-10 in Disease Progression and Recovery. *Cell Immunol* (1998) 188(2):118–24. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1998.1365
- Fillatreau S, Sweenie CH, McGeachy MJ, Gray D, Anderton SM. B Cells Regulate Autoimmunity by Provision of IL-10. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3 (10):944–50. doi: 10.1038/ni833
- Methods in Molecular Biology. (*Regulatory B Cells: Methods and Protocols*) Methods and Protocols. Humana Press. Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature (2021),
- 44. Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Matsushita T, Tsubata T, Tedder TF. The Development and Function of Regulatory B Cells Expressing IL-10 (B10 Cells) Requires Antigen Receptor Diversity and TLR Signals. J Immunol (2009) 182(12):7459–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900270
- Langkjaer A, Kristensen B, Hansen BE, Schultz H, Hegedus L, Nielsen CH. B-Cell Exposure to Self-Antigen Induces IL-10 Producing B Cells as Well as IL-6- and TNF-Alpha-Producing B-Cell Subsets in Healthy Humans. *Clin Immunol* (2012) 145(1):1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2012.07.004
- Lampropoulou V, Hoehlig K, Roch T, Neves P, Calderon Gomez E, Sweenie CH, et al. TLR-Activated B Cells Suppress T Cell-Mediated Autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(7):4763–73. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4763
- Barr TA, Brown S, Ryan G, Zhao J, Gray D. TLR-Mediated Stimulation of APC: Distinct Cytokine Responses of B Cells and Dendritic Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(11):3040–53. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636483
- Bouaziz JD, Calbo S, Maho-Vaillant M, Saussine A, Bagot M, Bensussan A, et al. IL-10 Produced by Activated Human B Cells Regulates CD4(+) T-Cell Activation In Vitro. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(10):2686–91. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201040673
- Liu BS, Cao Y, Huizinga TW, Hafler DA, Toes RE. TLR-Mediated STAT3 and ERK Activation Controls IL-10 Secretion by Human B Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(7):2121–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344341
- Mittal SK, Roche PA. Suppression of Antigen Presentation by IL-10. Curr Opin Immunol (2015) 34:22–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.12.009
- 51. de Waal Malefyt R, Haanen J, Spits H, Roncarolo MG, te Velde A, Figdor C, et al. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) and Viral IL-10 Strongly Reduce Antigen-Specific Human T Cell Proliferation by Diminishing the Antigen-Presenting Capacity of Monocytes via Downregulation of Class II Major Histocompatibility Complex Expression. J Exp Med (1991) 174(4):915–24. doi: 10.1084/jem.174.4.915
- Shalapour S, Font-Burgada J, Di Caro G, Zhong Z, Sanchez-Lopez E, Dhar D, et al. Immunosuppressive Plasma Cells Impede T-Cell-Dependent Immunogenic Chemotherapy. *Nature* (2015) 521(7550):94-8. doi: 10.1038/nature14395
- Suzuki-Yamazaki N, Yanobu-Takanashi R, Okamura T, Takaki S. IL-10 Production in Murine IgM(+) CD138(hi) Cells Is Driven by Blimp-1 and Downregulated in Class-Switched Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2017) 47(3):493– 503. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646549
- Lino AC, Dang VD, Lampropoulou V, Welle A, Joedicke J, Pohar J, et al. LAG-3 Inhibitory Receptor Expression Identifies Immunosuppressive

Natural Regulatory Plasma Cells. *Immunity* (2018) 49(1):120-33.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.06.007

- Oracki SA, Walker JA, Hibbs ML, Corcoran LM, Tarlinton DM. Plasma Cell Development and Survival. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 237(1):140–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00940.x
- Magri G, Comerma L, Pybus M, Sintes J, Llige D, Segura-Garzon D, et al. Human Secretory IgM Emerges From Plasma Cells Clonally Related to Gut Memory B Cells and Targets Highly Diverse Commensals. *Immunity* (2017) 47(1):118–134 e8. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.013
- Fitzpatrick Z, Frazer G, Ferro A, Clare S, Bouladoux N, Ferdinand J, et al. Gut-Educated IgA Plasma Cells Defend the Meningeal Venous Sinuses. *Nature* (2020) 587(7834):472–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2886-4
- O'Connor BP, Cascalho M, Noelle RJ. Short-Lived and Long-Lived Bone Marrow Plasma Cells are Derived From a Novel Precursor Population. J Exp Med (2002) 195(6):737–45. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011626
- Han S, Yang K, Ozen Z, Peng W, Marinova E, Kelsoe G, et al. Enhanced Differentiation of Splenic Plasma Cells But Diminished Long-Lived High-Affinity Bone Marrow Plasma Cells in Aged Mice. J Immunol (2003) 170 (3):1267–73. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.3.1267
- Brynjolfsson SF, Persson Berg L, Olsen Ekerhult T, Rimkute I, Wick MJ, Martensson IL, et al. Long-Lived Plasma Cells in Mice and Men. Front Immunol (2018) 9:2673. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02673
- Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Tonon S, Doyle R, Bosma A, Carter NA, et al. Regulatory B Cells are Induced by Gut Microbiota-Driven Interleukin-1beta and Interleukin-6 Production. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(11):1334–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3680
- Berer K, Mues M, Koutrolos M, Rasbi ZA, Boziki M, Johner C, et al. Commensal Microbiota and Myelin Autoantigen Cooperate to Trigger Autoimmune Demyelination. *Nature* (2011) 479(7374):538-41. doi: 10.1038/nature10554
- 63. Berer K, Gerdes LA, Cekanaviciute E, Jia X, Xiao L, Xia Z, et al. Gut Microbiota From Multiple Sclerosis Patients Enables Spontaneous Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis in Mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114(40):10719–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1711233114
- 64. Chen J, Chia N, Kalari KR, Yao JZ, Novotna M, Paz Soldan MM, et al. Multiple Sclerosis Patients Have a Distinct Gut Microbiota Compared to Healthy Controls. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:28484. doi: 10.1038/srep28484
- 65. Cekanaviciute E, Yoo BB, Runia TF, Debelius JW, Singh S, Nelson CA, et al. Gut Bacteria From Multiple Sclerosis Patients Modulate Human T Cells and Exacerbate Symptoms in Mouse Models. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114 (40):10713–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1711235114
- 66. Jangi S, Gandhi R, Cox LM, Li N, von Glehn F, Yan R, et al. Alterations of the Human Gut Microbiome in Multiple Sclerosis. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12015. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12015
- Mangalam A, Shahi SK, Luckey D, Karau M, Marietta E, Luo N, et al. Human Gut-Derived Commensal Bacteria Suppress CNS Inflammatory and Demyelinating Disease. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20(6):1269–77. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2017.07.031
- Hanson LA, Brandtzaeg P. The Discovery of Secretory IgA and the Mucosal Immune System. *Immunol Today* (1993) 14(8):416–7. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(93)90146-C
- Chodirker WB, Tomasi TB Jr. Gamma-Globulins: Quantitative Relationships in Human Serum and Nonvascular Fluids. Science (1963) 142(3595):1080–1. doi: 10.1126/science.142.3595.1080
- Dunn-Walters DK, Isaacson PG, Spencer J. Sequence Analysis of Human IgVH Genes Indicates That Ileal Lamina Propria Plasma Cells Are Derived From Peyer's Patches. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27(2):463–7. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830270217
- Fagarasan S, Kinoshita K, Muramatsu M, Ikuta K, Honjo T. In Situ Class Switching and Differentiation to IgA-Producing Cells in the Gut Lamina Propria. Nature (2001) 413(6856):639–43. doi: 10.1038/35098100
- 72. Johansen FE, Pekna M, Norderhaug IN, Haneberg B, Hietala MA, Krajci P, et al. Absence of Epithelial Immunoglobulin A Transport, With Increased Mucosal Leakiness, in Polymeric Immunoglobulin Receptor/Secretory Component-Deficient Mice. J Exp Med (1999) 190(7):915–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.7.915
- Mestecky J, Russell MW. Specific Antibody Activity, Glycan Heterogeneity and Polyreactivity Contribute to the Protective Activity of S-IgA at Mucosal Surfaces. *Immunol Lett* (2009) 124(2):57–62. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet. 2009.03.013

- Li Y, Jin L, Chen T. The Effects of Secretory IgA in the Mucosal Immune System. BioMed Res Int (2020) 2020:2032057. doi: 10.1155/2020/2032057
- Nakajima A, Vogelzang A, Maruya M, Miyajima M, Murata M, Son A, et al. IgA Regulates the Composition and Metabolic Function of Gut Microbiota by Promoting Symbiosis Between Bacteria. J Exp Med (2018) 215(8):2019– 34. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180427
- Moor K, Diard M, Sellin ME, Felmy B, Wotzka SY, Toska A, et al. High-Avidity IgA Protects the Intestine by Enchaining Growing Bacteria. *Nature* (2017) 544(7651):498–502. doi: 10.1038/nature22058
- 77. Jafarzadeh A, Jamali M, Mahdavi R, Ebrahimi HA, Hajghani H, Khosravimashizi A, et al. Circulating Levels of Interleukin-35 in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis: Evaluation of the Influences of FOXP3 Gene Polymorphism and Treatment Program. J Mol Neurosci (2015) 55(4):891– 7. doi: 10.1007/s12031-014-0443-z
- Badihian S, Shaygannejad V, Soleimani P, Mirmosayyeb O, Samee Z, Manouchehri N, et al. Decreased Serum Levels of Interleukin-35 Among Multiple Sclerosis Patients May Be Related to Disease Progression. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents (2018) 32(5):1249–53.
- Kamal A, Hosny M, Abd Elwahab A, Shawki Kamal Y, Shehata HS, Hassan A. FOXP3rs3761548 Gene Variant and Interleukin-35 Serum Levels as Biomarkers in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis. *Rev Neurol (Paris)* (2021) 177(6):647–54. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2020.07.010
- Correale J, Marrodan M, Carnero Contentti E. Interleukin-35 is a Critical Regulator of Immunity During Helminth Infections Associated With Multiple Sclerosis. *Immunology* (2021) 164:569–86. doi: 10.1111/imm.13389
- Probstel AK, Zhou X, Baumann R, Wischnewski S, Kutza M, Rojas OL, et al. Gut Microbiota-Specific IgA(+) B Cells Traffic to the CNS in Active Multiple Sclerosis. *Sci Immunol* (2020) 5(53):eabc7191. doi: 10.1126/ sciimmunol.abc7191
- Croxford JL, Feldmann M, Chernajovsky Y, Baker D. Different Therapeutic Outcomes in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis Dependent Upon the Mode of Delivery of IL-10: A Comparison of the Effects of Protein, Adenoviral or Retroviral IL-10 Delivery Into the Central Nervous System. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(6):4124–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.6.4124
- Cua DJ, Hutchins B, LaFace DM, Stohlman SA, Coffman RL. Central Nervous System Expression of IL-10 Inhibits Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(1):602–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.1.602
- Dittel BN, Merchant RM, Janeway CA Jr. Evidence for Fas-Dependent and Fas-Independent Mechanisms in the Pathogenesis of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (1999) 162(11):6392–400.
- Mann MK, Maresz K, Shriver LP, Tan Y, Dittel BN. B Cell Regulation of CD4+CD25+ T Regulatory Cells and IL-10 via B7 is Essential for Recovery From Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2007) 178 (6):3447–56. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.6.3447
- Ray A, Basu S, Williams CB, Salzman NH, Dittel BN. A Novel IL-10-Independent Regulatory Role for B Cells in Suppressing Autoimmunity by Maintenance of Regulatory T Cells *via* GITR Ligand. *J Immunol* (2012) 188 (7):3188–98. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103354
- Zhang AH, Skupsky J, Scott DW. Effect of B-Cell Depletion Using Anti-CD20 Therapy on Inhibitory Antibody Formation to Human FVIII in Hemophilia A Mice. *Blood* (2011) 117(7):2223–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293324
- Khalil MI, Gurski CJ, Dittel LJ, Neu SD, Dittel BN. Discovery and Function of B-Cell IgD Low (BDL) B Cells in Immune Tolerance. J Mol Biol (2021) 433(1):166584. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2020.06.023
- Khalil M, Ray A, Dittel BN. Characterization of the Cell Surface Phenotype and Regulatory Activity of B-Cell IgD Low (BDL) Regulatory B Cells. *Methods Mol Biol* (2021) 2270:217–31. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-1237-8_12
- Kallies A, Hasbold J, Tarlinton DM, Dietrich W, Corcoran LM, Hodgkin PD, et al. Plasma Cell Ontogeny Defined by Quantitative Changes in Blimp-1 Expression. J Exp Med (2004) 200(8):967–77. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040973
- Gadalla R, Noamani B, MacLeod BL, Dickson RJ, Guo M, Xu W, et al. Validation of CyTOF Against Flow Cytometry for Immunological Studies and Monitoring of Human Cancer Clinical Trials. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:415. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00415

- Bonilla DL, Reinin G, Chua E. Full Spectrum Flow Cytometry as a Powerful Technology for Cancer Immunotherapy Research. *Front Mol Biosci* (2020) 7:612801. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2020.612801
- See P, Lum J, Chen J, Ginhoux F. A Single-Cell Sequencing Guide for Immunologists. Front Immunol (2018) 9:2425. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02425
- 94. Zhang C, Yin J, Zheng J, Xiao J, Hu J, Su Y, et al. EZH2 Identifies the Precursors of Human Natural Killer Cells With Trained Immunity. *Cancer Biol Med* (2021). doi: 10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2020.0791
- Canzar S, Neu KE, Tang Q, Wilson PC, Khan AA. BASIC: BCR Assembly From Single Cells. *Bioinformatics* (2017) 33(3):425–7. doi: 10.1093/ bioinformatics/btw631
- Chen X, Yang Z, Chen W, Zhao Y, Farmer A, Tran B, et al. A Multi-Center Cross-Platform Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Reference Dataset. *Sci Data* (2021) 8(1):39. doi: 10.1038/s41597-021-00809-x
- 97. Nagaoka K, Shirai M, Taniguchi K, Hosoi A, Sun C, Kobayashi Y, et al. Deep Immunophenotyping at the Single-Cell Level Identifies a Combination of Anti-IL-17 and Checkpoint Blockade as an Effective Treatment in a Preclinical Model of Data-Guided Personalized Immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer (2020) 8(2):e001358. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001358
- Kobayashi M, Shelley WC, Seo W, Vemula S, Lin Y, Liu Y, et al. Functional B-1 Progenitor Cells Are Present in the Hematopoietic Stem Cell-Deficient Embryo and Depend on Cbfbeta for Their Development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2014) 111(33):12151–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1407370111
- Saito T, Chiba S, Ichikawa M, Kunisato A, Asai T, Shimizu K, et al. Notch2 Is Preferentially Expressed in Mature B Cells and Indispensable for Marginal Zone B Lineage Development. *Immunity* (2003) 18(5):675–85. doi: 10.1016/ S1074-7613(03)00111-0
- 100. Shapiro-Shelef M, Lin KI, McHeyzer-Williams LJ, Liao J, McHeyzer-Williams MG, Calame K. Blimp-1 Is Required for the Formation of Immunoglobulin Secreting Plasma Cells and Pre-Plasma Memory B Cells. *Immunity* (2003) 19(4):607–20. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00267-X
- 101. Tirosh B, Iwakoshi NN, Glimcher LH, Ploegh HL. XBP-1 Specifically Promotes IgM Synthesis and Secretion, But Is Dispensable for Degradation of Glycoproteins in Primary B Cells. J Exp Med (2005) 202 (4):505–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050575
- 102. Kitano M, Moriyama S, Ando Y, Hikida M, Mori Y, Kurosaki T, et al. Bcl6 Protein Expression Shapes Pre-Germinal Center B Cell Dynamics and Follicular Helper T Cell Heterogeneity. *Immunity* (2011) 34(6):961–72. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.025
- 103. Chiu YK, Lin IY, Su ST, Wang KH, Yang SY, Tsai DY, et al. Transcription Factor ABF-1 Suppresses Plasma Cell Differentiation But Facilitates Memory B Cell Formation. J Immunol (2014) 193(5):2207–17. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1400411
- 104. Inoue T, Shinnakasu R, Kawai C, Ise W, Kawakami E, Sax N, et al. Exit From Germinal Center to Become Quiescent Memory B Cells Depends on Metabolic Reprograming and Provision of a Survival Signal. J Exp Med (2021) 218(1):e20200866. doi: 10.1084/jem.20200866

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Neu and Dittel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Altered Tim-1 and IL-10 Expression in Regulatory B Cell Subsets in Type 1 Diabetes

Yikai Liu, Zhiying Chen, Junlin Qiu, Hongzhi Chen* and Zhiguang Zhou*

National Clinical Research Center for Metabolic Diseases, Key Laboratory of Diabetes Immunology, Ministry of Education, and Department of Metabolism and Endocrinology, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China

Background: Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease with a complex aetiology. B cells play an important role in the pathogenesis of T1D. Regulatory B cells (Bregs) are a subset of B cells that produce and secrete the inhibitory factor interleukin-10 (IL-10), thereby exerting an anti-inflammatory effect. It was recently discovered that T-cell immunoglobulin mucin domain 1 (Tim-1) is essential for maintaining Bregs function related to immune tolerance. However, the detailed understanding of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs in T1D patients is lacking. This study aimed to characterize the profile of B cell subsets in T1D patients compared with that in controls and determine whether Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs play roles in T1D.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luman Wang, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Aaron Michels, University of Colorado, United States Guangbo Zhang, Soochow University, China

*Correspondence:

Zhiguang Zhou zhouzhiguang@csu.edu.cn Hongzhi Chen chenhongzhi2013@csu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 05 October 2021 Accepted: 06 December 2021 Published: 21 December 2021

Citation:

Liu Y, Chen Z, Qiu J, Chen H and Zhou Z (2021) Altered Tim-1 and IL-10 Expression in Regulatory B Cell Subsets in Type 1 Diabetes. Front. Immunol. 12:773896. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.773896 **Materials and Methods:** A total of 47 patients with T1D, 30 patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D) and 24 healthy controls were recruited in this study. Flow cytometry was used to measure the levels of different B cell subsets (including B cells, plasmablasts, and Bregs) in the peripheral blood. Radiobinding assays were performed to detect the antibody titres of T1D patients. In addition, the correlations between different B cell subsets and patient parameters were investigated.

Results: Compared with healthy controls, differences in frequency of Tim-1⁺ Bregs were significantly decreased in patients with T1D (36.53 \pm 6.51 vs. 42.25 \pm 6.83, *P*=0.02^{*}), and frequency of IL-10⁺ Bregs were lower than healthy controls (17.64 \pm 7.21vs. 24.52 \pm 11.69, *P*=0.009^{**}), the frequency of total Bregs in PBMC was also decreased in patients with T1D (1.42 \pm 0.53vs. 1.99 \pm 0.93, *P*=0.002.^{**}). We analyzed whether these alterations in B cells subsets were associated with clinical features. The frequencies of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs were negatively related to fasting blood glucose (FBG) (*r*=-0.25 and -0.22; *P*=0.01^{*} and 0.03^{*}, respectively). The frequencies of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs are positively correlated with fast C-peptide (FCP) (*r*=0.23 and 0.37; *P*=0.02^{*} and 0.0001^{***}, respectively). In addition, the frequency of IL-10⁺ Breg was also negatively related to glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) (*r*=-0.20, *P*=0.04^{*}). The frequencies of Tim-1⁺ Bregs, IL-10⁺ Bregs and Bregs in T2D patients were reduced, but no statistically significant difference was found between other groups. Interestingly, there was positive correlation between the frequencies of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs

85

in T1D (r=0.37, $P=0.01^*$). Of note, it is worth noting that our study did not observe any correlations between B cell subsets and autoantibody titres.

Conclusions: Our study showed altered Tim-1 and IL-10 expression in regulatory B cell in T1D patients. Tim-1, as suggested by the present study, is associated with islet function and blood glucose levels. These findings indicate that Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs were involved in the pathogenesis of T1D.

Keywords: Tim-1, IL-10, T1D (type 1 diabetes), regulatory B (Breg) cells, autoantibody

INTRODUCTION

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease mediated by T cells that selectively destroys insulin-producing β cells (1). It is generally believed that B cells, an important type of antigen-presenting cell that expresses costimulatory signalling molecules, participate in the activation and expansion of autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, thereby contributing to the occurrence of T1D (2).

In animal model experiments, B cells have been shown to infiltrate the islets of young nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice and mediate the autoimmune response that causes β cell destruction (3). In clinical trials, the use of rituximab (an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody) was shown to effectively postpone the decline in pancreatic β cell function in patients with T1D (4). These results demonstrated that B lymphocytes play an indispensable and important role in the pathogenesis of T1D. This finding opened up a new way to explore T1D. Multiple subsets of B cells may be involved in immune homeostasis and prevent autoimmunity. Regulatory B cells (Bregs) are characterized by a cell-surface CD19⁺ CD24^{hi} CD38^{hi} phenotype (5). It has recently been established that Bregs have regulatory functions in infections, allergies, transplantation and autoimmune diseases (6). Bregs down-regulate the immune response by producing the inhibitory cytokine interleukin-10 (IL-10). Therefore, Bregs play important roles in immune tolerance. IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine mainly produced by Bregs. It regulates cell growth and differentiation and participates in inflammatory and immune responses. This cytokine is currently recognized as an immunosuppressive factor (7). T cell Ig and mucin domain (Tim-1), a transmembrane glycoprotein, has been identified as one of the three human Tim family members (Tim-1, Tim-3, and Tim-4) (8). Tim-1 was previously reported to be expressed and function in T cells; in addition to its role in T cells, Tim-1 signalling on B cells was recently shown to play roles in maintaining the stability of the immune system and inhibiting autoimmune diseases (9). Researchers have generated Tim-1 mutant mice [Tim-1 $(\Delta mucin)$], in which the mucin domain of Tim-1 is genetically deleted. The function of Bregs in these mutant mice to produce IL-10 is defective (10).

There is a growing list of autoimmune diseases that are associated with Breg dysregulation, including multiple sclerosis (MS), systemic lupus erythaematosus (SLE) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (11–13). In addition, many studies have demonstrated that there are negative correlations between the frequency of Bregs and the activity of some diseases. However, little is known about the frequency of Tim-1 or IL-10 in Bregs in patients with T1D. Therefore, the aim of this study was to compare the frequencies of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs in patients with T1D to those in healthy controls.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and Controls

Forty-seven patients with T1D (28 males and 19 females; mean age=30.79 \pm 9.05), 30 T2D (17 males and 13 females; mean age=46.63 ± 9.43) and 24 healthy controls (15 males and 9 females; mean age= 33.33 ± 6.20) were enrolled in this study at the Second Xiangya Hospital. The diagnosis of T1D was made based on the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria (14). The diagnosis of T1D was based on acute onset ketosis or ketoacidosis, and all patients diagnosed with T1D required immediate insulin replacement therapy. At least one classic pancreatic islet autoantibody (anti-GAD antibodies [GADA], anti-zinc transporter 8 antibodies [ZnT8A] or anti-insulinomaassociated protein-2 antibodies [IA-2A]) was positive, or patients exhibited impaired C-peptide secretion. The diagnostic criteria for T2D is a typical history of hyperglycaemia according to WHO criteria, islet autoantibodies are negative and insulin therapy is not needed immediately. 24 healthy controls had no history of autoimmune diseases, pregnancy, or malignant diseases. All patients were confirmed to be negative for chronic infection disease, allergic or cancer and did not receive any immunosuppressive medication. Our study was approved by the ethics committee of Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University. All subjects voluntarily joined this study and provided informed consent. The characteristics of all subjects are summarized in Table 1.

Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell (PBMC) Isolation

Venous blood samples (5 mL) were collected from each subject into heparinized sodium tubes, and PBMCs were isolated by Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) density gradient centrifugation. After centrifugation at 800 rcf for 23 min, PBMC was separated from the whole blood.

TABLE 1 | General characteristics of study subjects.

	Type 1 diabetes	Type 2 diabetes	Healthy control	
Sex(male/female)	28/19	17/13	15/9	
Age (years)	30.79 ± 9.05****	$46.63 \pm 9.43^{\#\#\#}$	33.33 ± 6.20	
TG (mmol/L)	0.81(0.54-1.17)****	1.66(1.18-2.43)	1.12 (0.75-1.77) [∆]	
TC (mmol/L)	4.20 ± 0.98	4.72 ± 0.95	4.36 ± 0.80	
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.35 ± 0.71**	2.95 ± 0.83	2.56 ± 0.82	
HDL-C (mmol/L)	$1.56 \pm 0.48^{***}$	$1.17 \pm 0.21^{\#}$	1.45 ± 0.49	
FBG (mmol/L)	7.06(5.43-10.37)	8.33(6.52-11.12)####	4.80(4.45-5.18) ^{ΔΔΔΔ}	
HbA1c(%)	7.45 ± 1.45*	8.16 ± 1.74 ^{####}	$5.31 \pm 0.34^{\Delta \Delta \Delta \Delta}$	
FCP (pmol/L)	39.30 (16.5-154.1)****	436.9(252.4-567.0)	556.8(332.9-734.9)	
Duration (months)	$40.66 \pm 24.69^{*}$	68.47 ± 50.46	NA	
GADA	27/47 (57.4%)	NA	NA	
IA-2A	11/47 (23.4%)	NA	NA	
ZnT8A	11/47 (23.4%)	NA	NA	

Data are expressed as (n) for qualitative data, the mean \pm standard deviation for parametric data and the median (interquartile ranges) for nonparametric data. NA, not applicable. *P < 0.05 compared to T2D, **P < 0.01 compared to T2D, ***P < 0.001 compared to T2D, ***P < 0.001 compared to T2D.

*P < 0.05 compared to healthy control, *****P < 0.0001 compared to healthy control.

 $^{\Delta}P$ < 0.05 compared to T1D, $^{\Delta\Delta\Delta\Delta}P$ < 0.0001 compared to T1D.

Islet Autoantibody Assays

Radiobinding assays for GADA, ZnT8A and IA-2A were carried out as previously described (15, 16). Positive test results for GADA, IA-2A or ZNT8A were defined as 18.5 units/mL, 3.3 units/mL (WHO unit), and 0.011 (ZnT8A index), respectively.

Glycosylated Haemoglobin (HbA1c) and β Cell Function

HbA1c levels were measured by liquid chromatography (Tosoh Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Fasting C-protein (FCP) was measured by a chemiluminescence method (Siemens, Munich, Germany).

Flow Cytometry

For intracellular staining of cytokines, PBMCs were stimulated with 1 µl/ml cell activation cocktail (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA) and 1 µl/ml monensin (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA) for 6 hours. PBMCs were harvested and stained with fixable viability stain (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and various monoclonal antibodies (anti-CD19-FITC, anti-CD24-PE, anti-CD38-APC, and anti-IL-10-PerCP-Cy5.5) (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). Immunofluorescence staining for flow cytometric analysis was performed following the manufacturer's instructions.

To determine Tim-1⁺ Breg frequencies, PBMCs were stained for CD19, CD24, CD38, and Tim-1 (anti-CD19- FITC, anti-CD24-FE, anti-CD38-APC, and anti-Tim-1-PerCP-Cy5.5) as surface markers. Data were collected on a Canto flow cytometer (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and analysed with FlowJo X software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR, USA). Dead cells were excluded from flow cytometric analysis on the basis of their forward- and side-light scatter properties and staining with Fixable Viability Stain 780 (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). The gating strategies for all B cell subsets are described in **Figure 1**. PBMCs were isolated, and CD19⁺ B cell subsets were defined as follows: CD19⁺ (total B cells), CD19⁺ CD24^{hi} CD38^{hi} (Bregs), and CD19⁺ CD24⁻ CD38^{hi} (plasmablasts). The results are expressed as the percentages of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs (17).

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with IBM SPSS version 24 (IBM Corporation, Chicago, IL, USA) and GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). In the correlation analysis, the frequency of various B cell subsets was logarithmically transformed, the clinical features conforming to the normal distribution were analyzed by Pearson correlation, and the non-parametric data was analyzed by Spearman. Data are presented as the mean \pm standard deviation of the mean. Continuous variables were compared by one-way ANOVA. *P* < 0.05 was considered to indicate a significant difference.

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

One hundred and one participants were enrolled in our study, and **Table 1** summarizes the features of the subjects in each group. The T1D patients included 28 males and 19 females. The mean duration of T1D after diagnosis was 40.66 ± 24.69 months. T2D patients were older than T1D and healthy control groups, and the duration of diabetes was longer than T1D (68.47 \pm 50.46 months). Compared with other groups, T2D have higher levels of triglycerides(TG), total cholesterol(TC), LDL cholesterol(LDL-C) and HDL cholesterol (HDL-C). The fasting blood glucose levels of the two groups of diabetic patients were similar, but the HbA1c of T2D was higher than that of T1D. Of note, the FCP of T1D was significantly lower than that of T2D and healthy controls. There was no statistical difference in gender or age among the three groups.

Frequencies of B Cell Subsets Among T1D, T2D and Healthy Controls

The gating strategy for B cell subset quantification was based on CD19, CD24 and CD38 frequency, as shown in **Figure 1**. Flow cytometric analysis indicated that Tim-1⁺ Bregs were significantly decreased in T1D patients ($36.53 \pm 6.51 vs. 42.25 \pm 6.83, P=0.02^*$) (**Figure 2A**). In contrast, the frequency of IL-10⁺ Bregs was lower



scatter area; FSC-H, forward scatter height; SSC-A, side scatter area.



FIGURE 2 | Representative dot plots showing the expression of Tim-1 or IL-10 by Bregs in T1D, T2D patients and healthy controls evaluated using flow cytometric analysis. (A) Frequency of Tim-1⁺ Bregs in various groups. (B) Frequency of IL-10⁺ Bregs in various groups. in T1D patients than that of healthy controls $(17.64 \pm 7.21 \text{ vs.} 24.52 \pm 11.69, P=0.009^{**})$ (**Figure 2B**). The frequency of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs in T2D patients was amid that of T1D and healthy controls $(38.11 \pm 11.30, 20.67 \pm 9.19, \text{ respectively})$. But there was no statistical difference between T2D and other two groups(*P*>0.05 for both).

The differences in the frequencies of different B cell subsets are summarized in **Figure 3**. There were no significant differences in the frequencies of total B cells (CD19⁺) or plasmablasts (CD19⁺ CD24⁻ CD38^{hi}) between T1D, T2D and controls (10.87 ± 4.56 and 1.07 ± 0.42 in T1D patients, 9.17 ± 4.3 and 1.00 ± 0.44 in T2D patents, 9.20 ± 4.4 and 1.03 ± 0.39 in healthy controls for total B cells and plasmablasts, respectively). Interestingly, Bregs (CD19⁺ CD24^{hi} CD38^{hi}) were significantly lower in T1D patients than that of

healthy controls ($P=0.002^{**}$). The mean frequency of Bregs in the T1D patients was 1.42 ± 0.53, while the value in the controls was 1.99 ± 0.93. Compared with healthy controls, the frequency of Bregs in T2D patients showed a decreasing trend (1.78 ± 0.61), but no significant difference was found between the T2D and other two groups.(P=0.06 compared to T1D, P=0.48 compared to controls, respectively).

Correlations Between the Frequencies of B Cell Subsets and Clinical Features of All the Study Subjects

Given that B cells play an important role in the development of diabetes, we next determined whether the changes in various B cell subsets in all participants had any correlation with clinical



features (**Table 2**). The frequencies of Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs were negatively correlated to fasting blood glucose (FBG) (r=-0.25 and -0.22; P=0.01^{*} and 0.03^{*}, respectively). and positively correlated with FCP (r=0.23 and 0.37; P=0.02^{*} and 0.0001^{***}, respectively). Moreover, the frequency of IL-10⁺ Bregs was also negatively related to glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) (r=-0.20, P=0.04^{*}). In addition, we also found a positive correlation between Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs in T1D patients (r=0.37, P=0.01^{*}) (**Figure 4**).

Correlation Between Tim-1⁺ or IL-10⁺ Bregs With Autoantibodies in T1D Patients

We then examined the relationships between Tim-1^+ Bregs or $\text{IL}-10^+$ Bregs and the studied autoantibodies. There were no significant differences in the frequencies of Tim-1^+ Bregs or $\text{IL}-10^+$ Bregs among T1D patients who were positive for one, two, or three of the antibodies (**Figure 5A**). Additionally, no difference in Tim-1^+ Bregs or $\text{IL}-10^+$ Bregs was observed in patients regardless of autoantibody testing results(**Figure 5B**).

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we investigated the frequencies of various B cell subsets in patients with T1D. Our study showed that the frequency of Bregs, Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs in diabetic patients showed a declining trend, which was statistically significant in the T1D group. FBG and HbA1c respectively reflect the short- and long-term blood glucose level of diabetic patients, although the T2D had higher FBG and HbA1c levels compared with the T1D patients, the frequencies of Bregs, Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs in the T2D appears not to be lower than that in the T1D. This discrepancy may be due to heterogeneous pathogenesis of the two diabetes groups. T1D is a chronic autoimmune disease that is mainly caused by the destruction of pancreatic islet β cells mediated by T lymphocyte. Impaired pancreatic islet β cells exhibits a decreased FCP levels (18). B cells are important antibody-producing cells, antigen-

presenting cells, and expressing costimulatory signals involved in the activation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. The dysfunction of B cells has an important impact on the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. However, metabolic dysfunction and chronic inflammation are the main clinical symptoms in T2D patients (19). TG, TC, HDL-C, and LDL-C are known for common metabolic indicator (20). We did not identify any correlation between Breg subsets and these indices in all subjects. This result ties well with previously published research (21). All these results indicate that changes in B cell subsets may contribute to immune disorders. In addition, correlations between the frequencies of B cell subsets and clinical features were confirmed in all subjects. The frequencies of Tim-1⁺ and IL-10⁺ Bregs were negatively correlated with FBG and positively correlated with the FCP levels. The frequency of IL-10⁺ Bregs was also negatively correlated with HbA1c levels, However, neither Tim-1⁺ Bregs nor IL-10⁺ Bregs were related to the number and types of isletrelated autoantibodies.

The Tim gene family contains three Tim proteins (Tim-1, Tim-3, and Tim-4). Tim-1 is a glycoprotein involved in the immune response. Tim-3 expression has been detected on innate and adaptive immune cells. Tim-4 is a natural ligand of Tim-1. Emerging evidence suggests that the binding of Tim-1 to Tim-4 is involved in T cell proliferation (22). However, whether Tim-3 or Tim-4 is expressed in Breg cells is not yet clear (23). Early studies found that Tim-1 is expressed in T cells participates in the activation of T cells and regulates the immune response of T helper cells (8). Recent studies revealed that Tim-1 also expressed in other immune cells, such as mast cells (24), Tregs and B cells (25, 26). Interestingly, Tim-1 signal transduction is necessary for the maintenance and induction of IL-10 in Bregs (9). Tim-1-mutant B cells exhibit a reduced apoptotic cells binding capacity and incapable to produce IL-10 effectively (25). Aravena et al. evaluated the frequency of Tim-1 in different B cell subpopulations. Their study presented that human transitional B cells, as a phenotype associated with Bregs, have the highest content of Tim-1⁺ cells, and most Tim-1⁺ Bregs also express IL-10 (27). It is worth noting that in their study, the frequency of

TABLE 2 | Correlations between the frequencies of B cell subsets and clinical features of all the study subjects.

	•									
	CD19 ⁺ B cells		Bregs		Plasmablasts		Tim-1 ⁺ Bregs		IL-10 ⁺ Bregs	
	r	P value	r	P value	r	P value	r	P value	r	P value
Male ^a	0.04	0.68	0.02	0.81	-0.06	0.56	-0.13	0.19	-0.01	0.89
Age	-0.18	0.07	0.15	0.11	-0.17	0.08	0.10	0.33	0.76	0.45
TG ^a	-0.14	0.16	0.08	0.43	-0.10	0.34	0.11	0.29	0.15	0.13
TC	-0.07	0.49	0.11	0.28	-0.15	0.14	0.05	0.63	0.01	0.95
LDL-C	-0.10	0.35	0.18	0.07	-0.07	0.50	0.02	0.86	-0.02	0.83
HDL-C	0.14	0.15	-0.12	0.25	-0.11	0.28	0.01	0.91	-0.00	0.99
FBG ^a	-0.08	0.44	-0.19	0.06	-0.12	0.23	-0.25	0.01*	-0.22	0.03*
HbA1c	-0.01	0.93	-0.14	0.16	-0.08	0.44	-0.15	0.12	-0.20	0.04*
FCP ^a	-0.18	0.07	0.17	0.08	-0.02	0.86	0.23	0.02*	0.37	0.00***
GADA ^a	-0.09	0.55	0.19	0.20	0.26	0.07	-0.01	0.92	-0.10	0.48
IA-2A ^a	-0.01	0.93	-0.07	0.62	0.25	0.09	0.14	0.34	0.10	0.48
ZnT8A ^a	0.19	0.20	-0.07	0.63	0.02	0.91	-0.05	0.73	-0.07	0.64

Correlation analyses between various B cell subset frequencies (after log transformation) and clinical features were performed by Pearson test. ^a compared by spearman correlations. * indicates significance (P < 0.05), *** indicates significance (P < 0.001).



FIGURE 4 | Relationships between different B cell subsets and clinical data from all the study subjects. (A) Correlations between $IL-10^+$ Bregs and FBG. (B) Correlations between Tim-1⁺ Bregs and FBG. (C) Correlations between $IL-10^+$ Bregs and FCP. (D) Correlations between Tim-1⁺ Bregs and FCP. (E) Correlations between $IL-10^+$ Bregs and HbA1c. (F) Correlations between $IL-10^+$ Bregs and Tim-1⁺ Bregs and Tim-1⁺ Bregs and HbA1c. (F) Correlations between $IL-10^+$ Bregs and Tim-1⁺ Bregs in T1D. Each point represents an individual patient with T1D, T2D and healthy controls. *P < 0.05. ***P < 0.001.

Tim-1⁺ Bregs in systemic sclerosis patients was lower than that in healthy people. At the same time, the competence of the Tim-1⁺ Bregs in patients was compromised. All these results indicate that Tim-1 is essential for regulating immune tolerance in Bregs.

As a major immunomodulatory cytokine, IL-10 affects many cells of the immune system (28). It has a powerful antiinflammatory function, mainly targeting antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as monocytes and macrophages. It also inhibits the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. IL-10 can reduce the expression of major histocompatibility antigen II (MHC II) on the surface of monocytes. Thus it reduces antigen presentation by these cells, downregulates the activity of T lymphocytes, and inhibits the activation, migration and adhesion of inflammatory cells. At the same time, IL-10 can also inhibit the synthesis and release of inflammatory factors in Th cells (29). Moreover, IL-10 can directly act on T cells to inhibit their proliferation and cytokine production. Thereby reducing inflammation. Meanwhile, IL-10 plays an important role in promoting the activation and





proliferation of human B cells (7). The immunomodulatory properties of Bregs depend on the production of IL-10. The importance of IL-10 has been confirmed both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. However, due to the low frequency of Bregs and the lack of specific transcription markers, research on how Bregs are induced is still limited.

Deng et al. illustrated that changes in the phenotypes of B cell subsets are related to the onset of autoimmune diabetes. The frequencies of B cell subsets that produce IL-10 (defined as B10) in T1D patients were found to be reduced, and the frequency of B10 cells was positively correlated with FCP and negatively correlated with HbA1c (21). Wang et al. showed that the frequencies of CD24^{hi} CD38^{hi} B cells in T1D patients were reduced. In addition, the frequency of CD24^{hi} CD38^{hi} B cells was negatively correlated with HbA1c (30) which was similar to the current study. Our data showed that compared with healthy controls, T1D patients exhibit decreased levels of Tim-1⁺ Bregs, IL-10⁺ Bregs and total Bregs. Moreover, the frequency of IL-10⁺ Bregs was positively correlated with Tim-1⁺ Bregs in T1D patients.

Diabetes-related autoantibodies can be used to assess the progression of T1D (31), and the titres of autoantibodies also seem to affect the complications of T1D (32, 33). High-titre antibodies are more likely to be accompanied by other

autoimmune diseases or autoimmune-related antibody positivity. Islet autoantibodies (including GADA, IA2A and ZnT8A) can predict the risk of T1D and improve the sensitivity of diagnosing T1D patients (34, 35). Nevertheless, we did not find a correlation between B cell subsets and islet-related autoantibody in the current study. Considering that there are differences in measured GADA titres among different laboratories, it is difficult to set a threshold for distinguishing high and low levels. Furthermore, GADA titres may also be related to the age, disease course, and medication level of the patient.

Overall, our work suggests that the frequencies of Bregs, Tim-1⁺ Bregs and IL-10⁺ Bregs in T1D patients are reduced, and the latter two were correlated with islet function and blood glucose levels. The current data indicates that alterations in B cell subsets are related to the pathogenesis of autoimmune diabetes. Our results highlight the potential of selective B cell-targeted therapy aimed at specifically eliminating pathogenic B cells but promoting Bregs in T1D patients, which is a method being reconsidered. Our work has certain limitations. First, it is a small sample size study. Attention may need be paid when extending the conclusion to large population. Second, patients in this study possess relatively long courses of disease. In view of the low islet-related antibody positivity rate, it is very likely that autoantibodies turned negative in some patients prior to this study, which may affect the correlation study of Tim-1 and autoantibodies. Third, our study was cross-sectional. We did not track our patients longitudinally, nor did we perform a cohort study. Long-term and large-scale experiments, such as experiments on B cell subset functional levels and metabolic pathway level changes, need to be performed in the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of Second Xiangya Hospital.

REFERENCES

- Gillespie KM. Type 1 Diabetes: Pathogenesis and Prevention. CMAJ: Can Med Assoc J = J l'Assoc Med Can (2006) 175(2):165–70. doi: 10.1503/ cmaj.060244
- Magnuson AM, Thurber GM, Kohler RH, Weissleder R, Mathis D, Benoist C. Population Dynamics of Islet-Infiltrating Cells in Autoimmune Diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2015) 112(5):1511–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1423769112
- Diana J, Simoni Y, Furio L, Beaudoin L, Agerberth B, Barrat F, et al. Crosstalk Between Neutrophils, B-1a Cells and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Initiates Autoimmune Diabetes. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(1):65–73. doi: 10.1038/nm.3042
- Pescovitz MD, Greenbaum CJ, Krause-Steinrauf H, Becker DJ, Gitelman SE, Goland R, et al. Rituximab, B-Lymphocyte Depletion, and Preservation of Beta-Cell Function. N Engl J Med (2009) 361(22):2143–52. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa0904452
- Miyagaki T, Fujimoto M, Sato S. Regulatory B Cells in Human Inflammatory and Autoimmune Diseases: From Mouse Models to Clinical Research. Int Immunol (2015) 27(10):495–504. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxv026
- Dasgupta S, Dasgupta S, Bandyopadhyay M. Regulatory B Cells in Infection, Inflammation, and Autoimmunity. *Cell Immunol* (2020) 352:104076. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104076
- Rosser EC, Mauri C. Regulatory B Cells: Origin, Phenotype, and Function. *Immunity* (2015) 42(4):607–12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- Kuchroo VK, Dardalhon V, Xiao S, Anderson AC. New Roles for TIM Family Members in Immune Regulation. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(8):577–80. doi: 10.1038/nri2366
- Xiao S, Brooks CR, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Tim-1 is Essential for Induction and Maintenance of IL-10 in Regulatory B Cells and Their Regulation of Tissue Inflammation. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(4):1602–8. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1402632
- Xiao S, Brooks CR, Zhu C, Wu C, Sweere JM, Petecka S, et al. Defect in Regulatory B-Cell Function and Development of Systemic Autoimmunity in T-Cell Ig Mucin 1 (Tim-1) Mucin Domain-Mutant Mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2012) 109(30):12105–10. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1120914109
- Matsushita T, Hamaguchi Y, Hasegawa M, Takehara K, Fujimoto M. Decreased Levels of Regulatory B Cells in Patients With Systemic Sclerosis: Association With Autoantibody Production and Disease Activity. *Rheumatol* (*Oxf Engl*) (2016) 55(2):263–7. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kev331
- Gao N, Dresel J, Eckstein V, Gellert R, Störch H, Venigalla RK, et al. Impaired Suppressive Capacity of Activation-Induced Regulatory B Cells in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66(10):2849–61. doi: 10.1002/art.38742

The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL searched the references, wrote the first draft of the paper, and revised the text. ZC and JQ critically revised the text and provided substantial scientific contributions. ZZ and HC proposed the project and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant numbers 81820108007 and 81970746) and the Natural Science Foundation of China (grant number 82000748).

- Daien CI, Gailhac S, Mura T, Audo R, Combe B, Hahne M, et al. Regulatory B10 Cells Are Decreased in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis and Are Inversely Correlated With Disease Activity. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66 (8):2037–46. doi: 10.1002/art.38666
- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and Its Complications. Part 1: Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus Provisional Report of a WHO Consultation. *Diabetes Med* (1998) 15(7):539–53. doi: 10.1002(SICI)1096-9136(199807)15:7<539::AID-DIA668>3.0.CO;2-S
- Huang G, Xiang Y, Pan L, Li X, Luo S, Zhou Z. Zinc Transporter 8 Autoantibody (ZnT8A) Could Help Differentiate Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults (LADA) From Phenotypic Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes/Metabol Res Rev* (2013) 29(5):363–8. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2396
- Ziegler AG, Hummel M, Schenker M, Bonifacio E. Autoantibody Appearance and Risk for Development of Childhood Diabetes in Offspring of Parents With Type 1 Diabetes: The 2-Year Analysis of the German BABYDIAB Study. *Diabetes* (1999) 48(3):460–8. doi: 10.2337/diabetes. 48.3.460
- Sims GP, Ettinger R, Shirota Y, Yarboro CH, Illei GG, Lipsky PE. Identification and Characterization of Circulating Human Transitional B Cells. *Blood* (2005) 105(11):4390–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-11-4284
- Bluestone JA, Herold K, Eisenbarth G. Genetics, Pathogenesis and Clinical Interventions in Type 1 Diabetes. *Nature* (2010) 464(7293):1293–300. doi: 10.1038/nature08933
- Samson SL, Garber AJ. Metabolic Syndrome. Endocrinol Metab Clinics North America (2014) 43(1):1–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2013.09.009
- Tune JD, Goodwill AG, Sassoon DJ, Mather KJ. Cardiovascular Consequences of Metabolic Syndrome. *Trans Res: J Lab Clin Med* (2017) 183:57–70. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2017.01.001
- Deng C, Xiang Y, Tan T, Ren Z, Cao C, Huang G, et al. Altered Peripheral B-Lymphocyte Subsets in Type 1 Diabetes and Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults. *Diabetes Care* (2016) 39(3):434–40. doi: 10.2337/dc15-1765
- Meyers JH, Chakravarti S, Schlesinger D, Illes Z, Waldner H, Umetsu SE, et al. TIM-4 Is the Ligand for TIM-1, and the TIM-1-TIM-4 Interaction Regulates T Cell Proliferation. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(5):455–64. doi: 10.1038/ni1185
- Liu Y, Chen H, Chen Z, Qiu J, Pang H, Zhou Z. Novel Roles of the Tim Family in Immune Regulation and Autoimmune Diseases. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:748787. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.748787
- Nakae S, Iikura M, Suto H, Akiba H, Umetsu DT, Dekruyff RH, et al. TIM-1 and TIM-3 Enhancement of Th2 Cytokine Production by Mast Cells. *Blood* (2007) 110(7):2565–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-11-058800

- Yeung MY, Ding Q, Brooks CR, Xiao S, Workman CJ, Vignali DA, et al. TIM-1 Signaling Is Required for Maintenance and Induction of Regulatory B Cells. *Am J Transplant* (2015) 15(4):942–53. doi: 10.1111/ajt.13087
- Wong SH, Barlow JL, Nabarro S, Fallon PG, McKenzie AN. Tim-1 Is Induced on Germinal Centre B Cells Through B-Cell Receptor Signalling But Is Not Essential for the Germinal Centre Response. *Immunology* (2010) 131(1):77– 88. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03276.x
- Aravena O, Ferrier A, Menon M, Mauri C, Aguillon JC, Soto L, et al. TIM-1 Defines a Human Regulatory B Cell Population That Is Altered in Frequency and Function in Systemic Sclerosis Patients. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2017) 19(1):8. doi: 10.1186/s13075-016-1213-9
- Itoh K, Hirohata S. The Role of IL-10 in Human B Cell Activation, Proliferation, and Differentiation. J Immunol (1995) 154(9):4341–50.
- Gu Y, Yang J, Ouyang X, Liu W, Li H, Yang J, et al. Interleukin 10 Suppresses Th17 Cytokines Secreted by Macrophages and T Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38(7):1807–13. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838331
- Wang Y, Qin Y, Wang X, Zhang L, Wang J, Xu X, et al. Decrease in the Proportion of CD24(hi) CD38(hi) B Cells and Impairment of Their Regulatory Capacity in Type 1 Diabetes Patients. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2020) 200(1):22–32. doi: 10.1111/cei.13408
- 31. Jacobsen LM, Bocchino L, Evans-Molina C, DiMeglio L, Goland R, Wilson DM, et al. The Risk of Progression to Type 1 Diabetes Is Highly Variable in Individuals With Multiple Autoantibodies Following Screening. *Diabetologia* (2020) 63(3):588–96. doi: 10.1007/s00125-019-05047-w
- Giannopoulou EZ, Winkler C, Chmiel R, Matzke C, Scholz M, Beyerlein A, et al. Islet Autoantibody Phenotypes and Incidence in Children at Increased Risk for Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetologia* (2015) 58(10):2317–23. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-015-3672-y

- 33. Sosenko JM, Skyler JS, Palmer JP, Krischer JP, Yu L, Mahon J, et al. The Prediction of Type 1 Diabetes by Multiple Autoantibody Levels and Their Incorporation Into an Autoantibody Risk Score in Relatives of Type 1 Diabetic Patients. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(9):2615–20. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0425
- Krischer JP, Liu X, Vehik K, Akolkar B, Hagopian WA, Rewers MJ, et al. Predicting Islet Cell Autoimmunity and Type 1 Diabetes: An 8-Year TEDDY Study Progress Report. *Diabetes Care* (2019) 42(6):1051–60. doi: 10.2337/ dc18-2282
- 35. Yang L, Luo S, Huang G, Peng J, Li X, Yan X, et al. The Diagnostic Value of Zinc Transporter 8 Autoantibody (ZnT8A) for Type 1 Diabetes in Chinese. *Diabetes/Metabol Res Rev* (2010) 26(7):579–84. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.1128

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Liu, Chen, Qiu, Chen and Zhou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Chloroquine Suppresses Effector B-Cell Functions and Has Differential Impact on Regulatory B-Cell Subsets

Xin Ma^{1,2}, Yang Dai¹, Oliver Witzke³, Shilei Xu¹, Monika Lindemann⁴, Andreas Kribben¹, Sebastian Dolff³ and Benjamin Wilde^{1*}

¹ Department of Nephrology, University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany, ² Department of Nephrology, First Affiliated Hospital of Chengdu Medical College, Chengdu, China, ³ Department of Infectious Diseases, West German Centre of Infectious Diseases, University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany, ⁴ Institute for Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yiwei Chu, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Yoshiko Matsuda, National Center for Child Health and Development (NCCHD), Japan Takashi Matsushita, Kanazawa University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Benjamin Wilde benjamin.wilde@uk-essen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 November 2021 Accepted: 12 January 2022 Published: 08 February 2022

Citation:

Ma X, Dai Y, Witzke O, Xu S, Lindemann M, Kribben A, Dolff S and Wilde B (2022) Chloroquine Suppresses Effector B-Cell Functions and Has Differential Impact on Regulatory B-Cell Subsets. Front. Immunol. 13:818704. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.818704 **Objectives:** Chloroquine (CQ) is approved for treatment of B-cell mediated diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. However, the exact mode of action in these diseases has not been studied and it remains unclear which effect CQ has on B-cells. Thus, it was the aim of this study to investigate to which extent CQ affects functionality of effector and regulatory B-cell.

Methods: For this purpose, B-cells were isolated from peripheral blood of healthy controls and renal transplant patients. B-cells were stimulated in presence or absence of CQ and Interleukin-10 (IL-10) and Granzyme B (GrB) secretion were assessed. In addition, effector functions such as plasma cell formation, and Immunoglobulin G (IgG) secretion were studied.

Results: CQ suppressed Toll-Like-Receptor (TLR)-9 induced B-cell proliferation in a dose-dependent manner. IL-10^{pos} regulatory B-cells were suppressed by CQ already at low concentrations whereas anti-IgG/IgM-induced GrB secreting regulatory B-cells were less susceptible. Plasma blast formation and IgG secretion was potently suppressed by CQ. Moreover, purified B-cells from renal transplant patients were also susceptible to CQ-induced suppression of effector B-cell functions as observed by diminished IgG secretion.

Conclusion: In conclusion, CQ had a suppressive effect on IL-10 regulatory B-cells whereas GrB secreting regulatory B-cells were less affected. Effector functions of B-cells such as plasma blast formation and IgG secretion were also inhibited by CQ. Effector B-cells derived from renal transplant patients already under immunosuppression could be suppressed by CQ. These findings may partly explain the clinical efficacy of CQ in B-cell mediated autoimmune diseases. The application of CQ in other disease contexts where suppression of effector B-cells could offer a benefit, such as renal transplantation, may hypothetically be advantageous.

Keywords: chloroquine, regulatory B (Breg) cells, renal transplantation, B-cells, effector B-cells

INTRODUCTION

Chloroquine and its derivate hydroxychloroquine (CQ) have originally been developed as antimalarial drugs. In addition, CQ was investigated in multiple clinical trials for efficacy in inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (1, 2). In these trials, CQ was shown to reduce disease activity and thus it is now an established therapeutic drug which is used regularly. The mechanisms by which CQ reduces disease activity have not been unraveled completely; experimental evidence indicates that it interferes with lysosomal acidification, intracytoplasmatic calcium mobilization, antagonizes nucleic acid ligands for toll-like-receptors, inhibits autophagy and suppresses the cyclic GMP-AMP-synthetase/stimulator of interferon genes (cGAS/STING) pathway (3). Whereas the effects of CQ on T-cells have been studied by several groups, less is known on the impact of CQ on B-cell effector and regulatory function (3, 4). It was the aim of this study to assess the effect of CQ on effector and regulatory B-cell populations.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Patients and Samples

Buffy coats from healthy blood donors provided by the Institute for Transfusion Medicine were used for the experiments. In addition, 22 patients after renal transplantation were enrolled. Details on the patient demographics are given in **Table 1**. This study was approved by the local ethics committee and all patients provided informed consent.

Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Isolation

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated by density gradient centrifugation using Lymphoprep (Stemcell, Cologne, Germany). In case purified B-cells were used for the experimental procedures, B-cells were isolated from PBMCs using a bead-/column-based magnetic separation method (B-cell isolation kit II, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). B-cells were purified by negative selection and purity was typically above 90%. In case B-cells were isolated from renal transplant patients, B-cells were directly isolated from whole blood using a magnetic bead-based negative selection system (MACSXpress Whole Blood B cell isolation kit, Miltenyi Biotec) and purity was typically above 90%. To track proliferation, cells were labeled with 2 μ M carboxyfluorescein-succinimidyl-ester (CFSE, Sigma Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany).

Cell Culture

PBMCs or isolated B-cells were cultured in RPMI1640 Glutamax (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Darmstadt, Germany) supplemented with 100 U/ml Penicillin (Sigma Aldrich), 100 μ g/ml Streptomycin (Sigma Aldrich), 10% fetal calf serum (Greiner-Bio one, Frickenhausen, Germany), NEAA (Sigma Aldrich) and sodium pyruvate (Sigma Aldrich) at a concentration of 0.5x10⁶ cells/ml in 96-well U-bottom plates (Sigma Aldrich). Depending

TABLE 1 | Patient's characteristics.

	Renal Transplant Patients (n = 22)				
Age, mean ± SD, years	58 ± 14				
Sex (female/male)	5/17				
Time since transplantation (months)	142 ± 106				
# of patients ≥1 previous RTX	0				
# of HLA-mismatches (HLA-A,-B,-DR)	3 ± 2				
Immunosuppressants at the time of sa	mpling (# of patients treated)				
Tacrolimus	15				
Cyclosporine A	4				
Mycophenolate	18				
mTOR inhibitor	5				
Steroids	11				
CMV status at the time of RTX (D/R)					
+/+	4				
+/-	3				
-/+	6				
-/-	5				
unknown	4				

on the assay, cells were cultured for three to six days in a 5% CO2 atmosphere at 37°C. To induce Interleukin (IL)-10 producing Breg, cells were stimulated with CpG (ODN2006, 0.1 µM, Invivogen, Toulouse, France), Poly-S (resiquimod plus IL-2, 1:1000 final dilution, CTL Europe GmbH, Bonn, Germany) or anti-human Immunoglobulin G/M (IgG/IgM, 6 µg/ml and 6.5 µg/ml, Jackson Immunoresearch Europe Ltd, Cambridge, United Kingdom) for 72 hours, followed by restimulation with phorbol 12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) (10 ng/ml) and ionomycin (1 µg/ ml, both Sigma-Aldrich) in presence of brefeldin A (5 ug/ml, BFA, BD Biosciences). For detection of Granzyme B producing (GrB^{pos}) B-cells, B-cells were stimulated with stimulated with CpG (ODN2006, 0.1 µM) or anti-human IgG/IgM (6 µg/ml and 6.5 µg/ml, Jackson Immunoresearch Europe Ltd) in presence of IL-21 (50 ng/ml, Miltenvi Biotec) for 72 hours, followed by restimulation with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA, 10 ng/ml, Sigma Aldrich) and ionomycin (1 µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich) in presence of brefeldin A (BFA, BD Biosciences). For the plasma blast formation assay, cells were stimulated for six days with either CpG (ODN2006, 0.1 µM, Invivogen) or anti-human IgG/ IgM (6 µg/ml and 6.5 µg/ml, Jackson Immunoresearch Europe Ltd) in presence of IL-2 (50 ng/ml, Miltenyi Biotech) and IL-21 (50 ng/ml, Miltenyi Biotech). To detect IgG secretion, isolated Bcells or PBMCs were stimulated with Poly-S (resiguimod plus IL-2, 1:1000 final dilution, CTL Europe GmbH) for four days and then transferred to a prepared EliSpot plate to be incubated for further 24 hours. CQ (chloroquine, Cyto-ID kit, Enzo Life Sciences, Lörrach, Germany) was used at different concentrations for the assays. Tacrolimus (1.25 ng/ml, Sigma Aldrich) and rapamycin (12.5 ng/ml, Sigma Aldrich) were used in selected experiments as comparators with a known immunosuppressive effect on B-cells. CNIs are also commonly used in other autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus as well as CQ.

EliSpot Assay

For detection of IgG-secreting human cells, a commercially available EliSpot kit was used (Human IgG single-color

EliSpot, CTL Europe GmbH) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For the final incubation step, fixed numbers of cells were used (500 or 1000 cells per well) and spots were counted using an EliSpot Reader (AID, Straßberg, Germany).

Flow Cytometry

For GrB and IL-10 detection, cells were harvested at the end of the culture period and stained with anti-CD19 Pacific Blue (clone J3-119, Beckman Coulter, Krefeld, Germany) and 7AAD (BioLegend, Eching, Deutschland) followed by fixation/ permeabilization (Cytofix/Cytoperm kit, BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany). Cells were then stained intracellulary for GrB (anti-GrB, clone GB11, PE, eBioscience) or IL-10 (anti-human IL-10, APC, clone JES3-9D7, Biolegend). For the plasma blast formation assay, cells were harvested after culture and stained with anti-human CD19 (clone J3-119, FITC, Beckman Coulter), anti-human CD38 (clone HIT-2, PE, Biolegend), anti-human CD27 (clone O323, APC-H7, Biolegend). Appropriate isotype controls were used to confirm specificity of staining. Flow cytometric measurement was performed the same day with a fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACS) NAVIOS[™] from Beckman Coulter. Kaluza Version 2.1 (Beckman Coulter) was used to analyze FACS data.

Statistics

All values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). The significance for the differences between groups was determined by ANOVA and Dunnetts test. Differences were considered statistically significant at a p-value <0.05.

RESULTS

Chloroquine Suppresses CpG-Induced B-Cell Proliferation

To study the effect of CQ on B-cells, purified B-cells or PBMCs were used. First, it was determined whether CQ had impact on the proliferation of stimulated B-cells. For this purpose, CFSElabeled cells were stimulated with CpG in presence or absence of CQ. CQ suppressed B-cell proliferation in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 1). This effect was observed in purified B-cell and PBMCs cultures. Enhanced cell death was not observed after stimulation in presence of CQ (Figures 1C, D). Next, it was determined whether the type of stimulus has impact on CQmediated suppression. The type of stimulus was chosen according to the expected strengths of stimulation and to the biological context in which B-cell activation occurs. It is generally thought that full B-cell activation requires different signals under physiological circumstances in vivo (5, 6). Binding of the cognate antigen to the B-cell receptor (BCR) may serve as initial signal and promotes antigen processing (5, 6). Additional signals amplifying B-cell activation can be mediated by T-cells or by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP) being recognized by TLR (7, 8). TLR7 and TLR9 bind different ligands. While TLR7 senses single-stranded RNA (ssRNA), TLR9 senses hypomethylated CpG DNA motifs (9-11). Both

ssRNA and CpG are pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP) and recognition of these PAMP is pivotal to establish a sufficient immune response. ssRNA is a PAMP mostly associated with viral pathogens such as influenza whereas CpG motifs as PAMP can be found in bacterial and viral pathogens (9-11). However, there is some evidence that also host-derived ssRNA and CpG acting as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP) may activate the respective TLR under specific circumstances (9). As both TLR-pathways have an important role in host defense and may have a role in the pathogenesis of Bcell mediated diseases, TLR7 and TLR9 agonists were used for in vitro experiments. Thus, established BCR- and TLR-based in vitro activation protocols were chosen for comprehensive characterization of B-cells. B-cells stimulated with CpG were more susceptible to CQ-induced suppression than B-cells stimulated via the B-cell receptor (BCR) using anti-IgG/IgM or via TLR7/8 using Poly-S, i.e. resiquimod (Figure 2). Rapamycin reduced proliferation of B-cells stimulated with CpG or Poly-S whereas Tacrolimus-mediated suppression was minor (Figures 2A, C).

IL-10^{pos} Breg Are More Susceptible to CQ-Mediated Suppression Than Anti-BCR Induced GrB^{pos} Breg

It was then tested whether CQ inhibits regulatory functions of Bcells. Therefore, IL-10 production as wells as GrB synthesis of Bcells was assessed. IL-10^{pos} Breg were induced by CpG, Poly-S or anti-IgG/IgM stimulation. As expected, CpG and Poly-S were potent inducers of IL-10^{pos} Breg whereas the fraction of IL-10^{pos} Breg was low upon anti-IgG/IgM stimulation (Figure 3 and Figure S2). CQ lowered the fraction of CpG-induced Breg significantly at a concentration of 0.5 uM (Figure 3A). The same concentration had no significant effect on Poly-S induced Breg (Figure 3B). However, at a CQ concentration of 10 uM, the fraction of Poly-S induced Breg was significantly reduced (Figure 3B). There was no effect on Breg induced by anti-IgG/ IgM stimulation. Next, it was investigated whether Breg producing GrB are affected by CQ. GrB^{pos} Breg were potently induced by stimulation with CpG or anti-IgG/IgM in presence of IL-21 (Figure 4). However, BCR-stimulation lead to a higher fraction of GrB^{pos} Breg than CpG-stimulation. CQ suppressed CpG-induced GrB^{pos} Breg whereas inhibition of anti-IgG/IgMinduced GrB^{pos} Breg was much less effective (Figures 4 and S1).

Effector B-Cell Functions Such as Plasma Blast Formation and IgG Secretion Are Suppressed by CQ

Furthermore, it was investigated to which extend CQ has impact on effector B-cell function. Specifically, plasma blast formation and IgG secretion was studied. Plasmablast formation was induced by either stimulation with CpG or Poly-S in presence of IL-21 and IL-2 for six days. The fraction of plasmablasts defined as CD19⁺CD27⁺⁺CD38⁺⁺ was then determined by flow cytometry (**Figure S3**). CQ inhibited plasmablast formation efficiently at low concentrations upon TLR9 stimulation with



FIGURE 1 | Dose-dependent suppression of TLR9-induced B-cell proliferation by CQ. PBMCs or purified B-cells were labeled with CFSE and stimulated with CpG in presence of different concentrations of CQ. After 72 hours, CD19⁺ B-cell proliferation was determined by CFSE-dilution. (A) Impact of CQ on B cell proliferation with CpG stimulation in PBMCs. (B) Impact of CQ on B cell proliferation with CpG stimulation in purified B cells. (C) Impact of CQ on vitality of B-cells after stimulation with CpG in purified B-cells, P-values were calculated by repeated-measures ANOVA and correction for multiple comparisons were done by Dunnett's test. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.0001 (against CpG).

CpG being as potent as rapamycin (Figure 5A). CQ was slightly less suppressive upon TLR7-stimulation with Poly-S and higher concentrations were necessary (Figure 5B). In the same conditions, rapamycin suppressed plasmablast formation efficiently. Subsequently, it was studied if IgG secretion can be inhibited by CQ. Purified B-cells were stimulated for four days with Poly-S in presence of CQ, tacrolimus or rapamycin. Then, B-cells were transferred to EliSpot plates and SFU were determined after 24 hours. CQ significantly lowered the number of SFU already at a concentration of 1 uM and was equally potent to rapamycin at higher concentrations (Figure 6). Tacrolimus did not influence IgG secretion. To assess if CQ also shows significant effects under diseased conditions, B-cells derived from patients after renal transplantation were assayed. CQ inhibited IgG secretion to a similar extend as seen in healthy controls (Figure 7).

DISCUSSION

CQ is used as treatment in autoimmune diseases such as SLE and RA (1, 2). The exact mechanisms of action have not been

deciphered completely and the specific effect on B-cells has been investigated scarcely. Thus, this study aimed to assess the impact of CQ on regulatory and effector B-cells. Furthermore, it was tested whether CQ suppresses B-cells to the same extent under diseased conditions. It was found that CQ potently suppressed B-cell proliferation; moreover CQ had a differential impact on regulatory B-cells with a more substantial inhibition of IL-10^{pos} Breg whereas GrB^{pos} Breg were less susceptible to suppression by CQ. CQ inhibited effector B-cell functions such as plasmablast formation and antibody production not only in healthy controls but also in renal transplant patients.

It has been demonstrated previously that CQ exerts its effects on mononuclear cells by different mechanisms of action. CQ antagonizes the TLR-mediated stimulation of mononuclear cells; elevation of intra-lysosomal pH preventing acidification necessary for activation, binding of nucleic acid ligands and interference with downstream signaling seem key mechanisms (3). The impact of CQ on TLR9-mediated effector functions of Bcells was studied by Torigoe et al. (12). CQ blocked the maturation of B-cells into plasma cells, IgG secretion and TNF α production (12). Likewise, in a murine lupus model, CQ blocked TLR9-mediated proliferation of autoantigen-specific



B-cells (13). There is fewer data on antagonism of TLR7/8 mediated mononuclear cells. Resiguimod-induced NK cell activation was dampened by CQ in an in vitro model (14). Our study confirms the existing data on suppression of TLR9stimulated effector B-cells by CQ. CQ suppressed TLR9induced B-cell proliferation and plasmablast formation. Furthermore, our study extends the body of evidence further and provides novel, robust data on CQ-mediated suppression of TLR7/8-stimulated effector B-cells. CQ suppressed resiquimodinduced B-cell maturation into plasmablasts and IgG production suggesting a wider range of inhibitory capacity. TLR7/8 and TLR9 also recognize endogenous ligands known as damage associated molecular patterns (DAMP) which are released upon tissue damage (9-11, 15, 16). In the setting of renal transplantation, TLR7 also recognizes host-derived miRNA; overexpression of specific types within the renal allograft have been associated with reperfusion injury, acute and chronic rejection (17-19). TLR9 signaling is induced by intra-graft release of high mobility group boxed protein-1 (HMGB-1) and mitochondrial DNA (9). Therefore, TLR7/8 and TLR9 induced B-cell activation may contribute to sensitization of B-cells in renal transplant patients. Indeed, despite broad immunosuppressive therapy, allograft rejection occurs in renal

transplant patients and especially antibody-mediated rejection is problematic leading to loss of graft function (20). B-cell directed therapy is one of the therapeutic measures that can be considered but comes at the expense of increased risk of infection (21). Thus, the effect of CQ on TLR-stimulated B-cells derived from renal transplant patients was assessed and a profound suppressive effect on effector B-cells was demonstrated. As CQ suppressed maturation and subsequent IgG secretion of B-cells derived from renal transplant patients in vitro, CQ could have the potential to further optimize prophylaxis against antibody-mediated rejection (ABMR). This is also interesting as CQ does not increase the risk for infection (4). Still, CQ acts right in the end of a complex cascade leading to formation and maturation of donor-specific B-cells (22). As has been demonstrated earlier, there are several other factors driving maturation of donorspecific B-cells such as the B-cell activating factor (BAFF), IL-6 and interactions with other immune cells (22, 23). It might be more beneficial to interfere very early with this complex cascade and targeting effector B-cells during the already initiated maturation process could be too late.

To which extend Breg are influenced by CQ has not been studied in detail in human B-cells. In our study, we investigated two different subsets of Breg. IL-10^{pos} Breg are pivotal to





FIGURE 4 | Effect of CQ on GrB^{pos} regulatory B-cells. Purified B cells were isolated and stimulated *via* TLR9 or BCR plus IL-21, in presence or absence of CQ, rapamycin or tacrolimus for 72 hours. After 72 hours, GrB⁺ CD19⁺ B-cells were determined by flow cytometry. **(A)** Impact of CQ on GrB⁺ CD19⁺ B-cells upon CpG plus IL-21 stimulation. **(B)** Impact of CQ on GrB⁺ CD19⁺ B-cells upon IgG/IgM plus IL-21 stimulation. P-values were calculated by repeated-measures ANOVA and correction for multiple comparisons were done by Dunnett's test. *p < 0.05 (against CpG+IL-21 or IgG+IgM+IL-21 as control conditions).







FIGURE 6 | Chloroquine suppresses antibody-synthesis by plasma cells. To assess if CQ has impact on antibody-secretion by B-cells, a human IgG-specific ELISpot analysis was performed. Isolated CD19⁺B cells were initially seeded at 5×10^4 cells/well under Poly-S stimulation in presence of CQ at different concentrations for four days. Then, cells were harvested and transferred to ELISpot plates at a density of 500 cells/well or 1000 cells/well to be cultured for another 24 hours. (**A**, **B**) Impact of CQ on IgG-secretion of plasma cells using purified B cells. P-values were calculated by repeated-measures ANOVA and correction for multiple comparisons were done by Dunnett's test. *p < 0.005, **p < 0.001, ***p < 0.0001 (against Poly-S as control condition).



FIGURE 7 | Effect of CQ on IgG-secretion of plasma cells derived from renal transplant patients. To further investigate the effect of CQ on B-cells from renal transplant patients, 22 patients were enrolled. Isolated CD19* B cells derived from renal transplant patients were seeded at a concentration of 5 × 10⁴ cells/well under Poly-S stimulation in presence of CQ for 4 days. B cells were then harvested and transferred to ELISpot plates at a density of 500 or 1000 cells/well for further 24 hours. (A) Impact of CQ on IgG-secretion of plasma cells at a density of 500 cells/well. (B) Impact of CQ on IgG-secretion of plasma cells at a density of 500 cells/well. (B) (a days were calculated by repeated-measures ANOVA and correction for multiple comparisons were done by Dunnett's test. **p < 0.001, ***p < 0.0001 (against Poly-S as control condition).

maintain immunological tolerance and functional or numerical deficiency promotes unwanted inflammation (24-27). IL-10^{pos} Breg promote the development of regulatory T-cells (Treg), directly suppress pro-inflammatory T-cells via IL-10 as well as via contact-dependent mechanisms and inhibit maturation of antigen-presenting cells (28). Dominance of IL-10^{pos} Breg over effector B-cells has been associated with a more favorable outcome after renal transplantation (29, 30); likewise, patients with antibody-mediated rejection showed a profound deficiency of circulating IL-10^{pos} Breg (31, 32). GrB^{pos} Breg have been studied less extensively but the current evidence suggests a similar role in restraining pro-inflammatory immune responses (33-35). Circulating GrB^{pos} Breg are expanded in renal transplant patients with operational tolerance and during rejection, numbers seem diminished (36). It has been hypothesized that local GrB release by Breg without concomitant expression of perforin may lead to degradation of the T-cell receptor (TCR) of neighboring T-cells (37). We could show that CQ interferes with CpG-induced maturation of Breg, no matter if IL-10 or GrB producing. Likewise, TLR7/8-induced maturation of IL-10^{pos} Breg was hampered. This is in line with data from Miles et al. showing that murine B-cells secret less IL-10 in presence of CQ (38). In another study by Cepika et al. SLE patients were followed before and after beginning of CQ therapy. After initiation of CQ therapy, IL-10 serum levels decreased and IL-10 secretion of total mononuclear cells was diminished upon CpG-stimulation (39).

In contrast, anti-BCR-mediated induction of GrB^{pos} Breg was much less susceptible to CQ treatment consistent with the current concept of CQ-mediated mechanism of action. Rabani et al. studied GrB^{pos} Breg in a cohort of SLE patients (34). In these patients, the fraction of GrB^{pos} Breg was reduced in comparison to healthy controls. However, patients receiving CQ showed a similar fraction of GrB^{pos} Breg as compared to patients who were not treated with CQ.

Thus, Breg show a differential response to CQ with IL- 10^{pos} Breg being very susceptible to CQ-mediated suppression whereas GrB^{pos} Breg are nearly unaffected. If CQ would selectively affect Breg sparing effector B-cells, this would have a detrimental effect in B-cell mediated diseases. However, as effector B-cells are also inhibited by CQ, the whole B-cell compartment most probably shifts towards a less pro-inflammatory polarization consistent with the observed clinical efficacy of CQ in B-cell mediated autoimmune diseases.

In summary, we demonstrated that CQ not only suppresses CpG-induced effector B-cell maturation but also resiquimod i.e. TLR7/8-mediated effector B-cell function. Furthermore, this effect was not limited to B-cells from healthy controls but was also reproducible in B-cells from patients after renal transplantation. In addition, we provided novel data that CQ differentially impacts subsets of regulatory B-cells extending the knowledge on the biology and role of these regulatory subsets. These novel insights may allow to further investigate CQ as additional treatment for other patient cohorts.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the local institutional review board, Ethik-Kommission Medizinische Fakultät Universität DuisburgEssen. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XM designed the study, performed the experiments, performed the data analyses, and wrote the manuscript. YD, SX, SD, ML, AK, and OW designed the study and critically edited the manuscript. BW designed the study, supervised the study, performed data analyses, and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

BW was funded by the Dr. Werner Jackstädt-Stiftung, OW received funding from the Rudolf Ackermann-Stiftung. We

REFERENCES

- Canadian Hydroxychloroquine Study G. A Randomized Study of the Effect of Withdrawing Hydroxychloroquine Sulfate in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. N Engl J Med (1991) 324:150–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199101173240303
- A Randomized Trial of Hydroxychloroquine in Early Rheumatoid Arthritis: The HERA Study. *Am J Med* (1995) 98:156–68. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9343(99) 80399-4
- Nirk EL, Reggiori F, Mauthe M. Hydroxychloroquine in Rheumatic Autoimmune Disorders and Beyond. *EMBO Mol Med* (2020) 12:e12476. doi: 10.15252/emmm.202012476
- Schrezenmeier E, Dorner T. Mechanisms of Action of Hydroxychloroquine and Chloroquine: Implications for Rheumatology. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2020) 16:155–66. doi: 10.1038/s41584-020-0372-x
- Browne EP. Regulation of B-Cell Responses by Toll-Like Receptors. Immunology (2012) 136:370–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2012.03587.x
- Buchta CM, Bishop GA. Toll-Like Receptors and B Cells: Functions and Mechanisms. *Immunologic Res* (2014) 59:12–22. doi: 10.1007/s12026-014-8523-2
- Ozcan E, Rauter I, Garibyan L, Dillon SR, Geha RS. Toll-Like Receptor 9, Transmembrane Activator and Calcium-Modulating Cyclophilin Ligand Interactor, and CD40 Synergize in Causing B-Cell Activation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2011) 128:601–609.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.04.052
- Glaum MC, Narula S, Song D, Zheng Y, Anderson AL, Pletcher CH, et al. Toll-Like Receptor 7–Induced Naive Human B-Cell Differentiation and Immunoglobulin Production. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2009) 123:224– 230.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.09.018
- Leventhal JS, Schröppel B. Toll-Like Receptors in Transplantation: Sensing and Reacting to Injury. *Kidney Int* (2012) 81:826–32. doi: 10.1038/ki.2011.498
- Lund JM, Alexopoulou L, Sato A, Karow M, Adams NC, Gale NW, et al. Recognition of Single-Stranded RNA Viruses by Toll-Like Receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2004) 101:5598–603. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400937101
- O'Neill LAJ. Primer: Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Pathways—What Do Rheumatologists Need to Know? Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol (2008) 4:319– 27. doi: 10.1038/ncprheum0802
- Torigoe M, Sakata K, Ishii A, Iwata S, Nakayamada S, Tanaka Y. Hydroxychloroquine Efficiently Suppresses Inflammatory Responses of Human Class-Switched Memory B Cells via Toll-Like Receptor 9 Inhibition. Clin Immunol (2018) 195:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2018.07.003
- Leadbetter EA, Rifkin IR, Hohlbaum AM, Beaudette BC, Shlomchik MJ, Marshak-Rothstein A. Chromatin-Igg Complexes Activate B Cells by Dual Engagement of Igm and Toll-Like Receptors. *Nature* (2002) 416:603–7. doi: 10.1038/416603a

acknowledge support by the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Duisburg-Essen.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022. 818704/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Effect of CQ on GrB producing regulatory B-cells: Representative flow cytometric data. Plots are gated on vital B-cells.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Effect of CQ on IL-10 producing regulatory B-cells: Representative flow cytometric data. Plots are gated on vital B-cells.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Effect of CQ on plasma blast formation of B-cells: Representative flow cytometric data. Plots are gated on vital B-cells and plasma blasts were defined as CD27⁺⁺CD38⁺⁺.

- Hart OM, Athie-Morales V, O'Connor GM, Gardiner CM. TLR7/8-Mediated Activation of Human NK Cells Results in Accessory Cell-Dependent IFN-Gamma Production. J Immunol (2005) 175:1636–42. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.175.3.1636
- Feng Y, Zou L, Yan D, Chen H, Xu G, Jian W, et al. Extracellular Micrornas Induce Potent Innate Immune Responses via TLR7/Myd88-Dependent Mechanisms. J Immunol (2017) 199:2106–17. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700730
- Shimada BK, Yang Y, Zhu J, Wang S, Suen A, Kronstadt SM, et al. Extracellular Mir-146a-5p Induces Cardiac Innate Immune Response and Cardiomyocyte Dysfunction. *ImmunoHorizons* (2020) 4:561–72. doi: 10.4049/immunohorizons.2000075
- Danger R, Paul C, Giral M, Lavault A, Foucher Y, Degauque N, et al. Expression of Mir-142-5p in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells From Renal Transplant Patients With Chronic Antibody-Mediated Rejection. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e60702. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060702
- Milhoransa P, Montanari CC, Montenegro R, Manfro RC. Micro RNA 146a-5p Expression in Kidney Transplant Recipients With Delayed Graft Function. *J Bras Nefrol* (2019) 41:242–51. doi: 10.1590/2175-8239-jbn-2018-0098
- Soltaninejad E, Nicknam MH, Nafar M, Ahmadpoor P, Pourrezagholi F, Sharbafi MH, et al. Differential Expression of Micrornas in Renal Transplant Patients With Acute T-Cell Mediated Rejection. *Transplant Immunol* (2015) 33:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.trim.2015.05.002
- Loupy A, Lefaucheur C. Antibody-Mediated Rejection of Solid-Organ Allografts. N Engl J Med (2018) 379:1150–60. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1802677
- Schinstock CA, Mannon RB, Budde K, Chong AS, Haas M, Knechtle S, et al. Recommended Treatment for Antibody-Mediated Rejection After Kidney Transplantation: The 2019 Expert Consensus From the Transplantion Society Working Group. *Transplantation* (2020) 104:911–22. doi: 10.1097/ TP.0000000000003095
- Nickerson PW. What Have We Learned About How to Prevent and Treat Antibody-Mediated Rejection in Kidney Transplantation? Am J Transplant (2020) 20:12–22. doi: 10.1111/ajt.15859
- Böhmig GA, Eskandary F, Doberer K, Halloran PF. The Therapeutic Challenge of Late Antibody-Mediated Kidney Allograft Rejection. *Transplant Int* (2019) 32:775–88. doi: 10.1111/tri.13436
- Wilde B, Thewissen M, Damoiseaux J, Knippenberg S, Hilhorst M, van Paassen P, et al. Regulatory B Cells in ANCA-Associated Vasculitis. Ann Rheum Dis (2013) 72:1416–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202986
- Menon M, Rosser EC, Mauri C. Identification and Isolation of Regulatory B Cells in Mouse and Human. *Methods Mol Biol* (2019) 1899:55–66. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8938-6_5
- Dolff S, Witzke O, Wilde B. Th17 Cells: Do Regulatory B-Cells (Breg) Take Control in ANCA-Vasculitis? *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2019) 58:1329–30. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kez133

- Heinemann K, Wilde B, Hoerning A, Tebbe B, Kribben A, Witzke O, et al. Decreased IL-10(+) Regulatory B Cells (Bregs) in Lupus Nephritis Patients. Scand J Rheumatol (2016) 45:312–6. doi: 10.3109/03009742. 2015.1126346
- van de Veen W, Stanic B, Wirz OF, Jansen K, Globinska A, Akdis M. Role of Regulatory B Cells in Immune Tolerance to Allergens and Beyond. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2016) 138:654–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.07.006
- 29. Cherukuri A, Salama AD, Carter CR, Landsittel D, Arumugakani G, Clark B, et al. Reduced Human Transitional B Cell T1/T2 Ratio Is Associated With Subsequent Deterioration in Renal Allograft Function. *Kidney Int* (2017) 91:183–95. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.08.028
- Cherukuri A, Salama Alan D, Mehta R, Mohib K, Zheng L, Magee C, et al. Transitional B Cell Cytokines Predict Renal Allograft Outcomes. *Sci Trans Med* (2021) 13(582):eabe4929. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abe4929
- Luo Y, Luo F, Zhang K, Wang S, Zhang H, Yang X, et al. Elevated Circulating Il-10 Producing Breg, But Not Regulatory B Cell Levels, Restrain Antibody-Mediated Rejection After Kidney Transplantation. *Front Immunol* (2021) 11:627496. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.627496
- 32. Schlößer HA, Thelen M, Dieplinger G, von Bergwelt-Baildon A, Garcia-Marquez M, Reuter S, et al. Prospective Analyses of Circulating B Cell Subsets in ABO-Compatible and ABO-Incompatible Kidney Transplant Recipients. *Am J Transplant* (2017) 17:542–50. doi: 10.1111/ajt.14013
- Zhu J, Zeng Y, Dolff S, Bienholz A, Lindemann M, Brinkhoff A, et al. Granzyme B Producing B-Cells in Renal Transplant Patients. *Clin Immunol* (2017) 184:48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2017.04.016
- 34. Rabani M, Wilde B, Hubbers K, Xu S, Kribben A, Witzke O, et al. IL-21 Dependent Granzyme B Production of B-Cells Is Decreased in Patients With Lupus Nephritis. *Clin Immunol* (2018) 188:45–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.clim.2017.12.005
- Chesneau M, Mai HL, Danger R, Le Bot S, Nguyen TV, Bernard J, et al. Efficient Expansion of Human Granzyme B-Expressing B Cells With Potent Regulatory Properties. J Immunol (2020) 205:2391–401. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.2000335

- Chesneau M, Michel L, Dugast E, Chenouard A, Baron D, Pallier A, et al. Tolerant Kidney Transplant Patients Produce B Cells With Regulatory Properties. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26:2588. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014040404
- Lindner S, Dahlke K, Sontheimer K, Hagn M, Kaltenmeier C, Barth TFE, et al. Interleukin 21–Induced Granzyme B–Expressing B Cells Infiltrate Tumors and Regulate T Cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:2468. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-12-3450
- Miles K, Heaney J, Sibinska Z, Salter D, Savill J, Gray D, et al. A Tolerogenic Role for Toll-Like Receptor 9 Is Revealed by B-Cell Interaction With DNA Complexes Expressed on Apoptotic Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2012) 109:887–92. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1109173109
- Cepika AM, Soldo Juresa D, Morovic Vergles J, Malenica B, Santak M, Kapitanovic S, et al. Decrease in Circulating DNA, IL-10 and BAFF Levels in Newly-Diagnosed SLE Patients After Corticosteroid and Chloroquine Treatment. *Cell Immunol* (2012) 276:196–203. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2012.05.009

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ma, Dai, Witzke, Xu, Lindemann, Kribben, Dolff and Wilde. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Molecular Mechanisms Driving IL-10-Producing B Cells Functions: STAT3 and c-MAF as Underestimated Central Key Regulators?

Magalie Michée-Cospolite^{1†}, Marina Boudigou^{1†}, Alexis Grasseau¹, Quentin Simon¹, Olivier Mignen¹, Jacques-Olivier Pers², Divi Cornec², Laëtitia Le Pottier¹ and Sophie Hillion^{2*}

¹ U1227, LBAI, Univ Brest, Inserm, Brest, France, ² U1227, LBAI, Univ Brest, Inserm, and CHU Brest, Brest, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luman Wang, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Avijit Ray, GlaxoSmithKline, United States Hong Zan, The University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, United States

*Correspondence:

Sophie Hillion sophie.hillion@univ-brest.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to B Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 November 2021 Accepted: 11 February 2022 Published: 10 March 2022

Citation:

Michée-Cospolite M, Boudigou M, Grasseau A, Simon Q, Mignen O, Pers J-O, Cornec D, Le Pottier L and Hillion S (2022) Molecular Mechanisms Driving IL-10- Producing B Cells Functions: STAT3 and c-MAF as Underestimated Central Key Regulators? Front. Immunol. 13:818814. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.818814 Regulatory B cells (Bregs) have been highlighted in very different pathology settings including autoimmune diseases, allergy, graft rejection, and cancer. Improving tools for the characterization of Bregs has become the main objective especially in humans. Transitional, mature B cells and plasma cells can differentiate into IL-10 producing Bregs in both mice and humans, suggesting that Bregs are not derived from unique precursors but may arise from different competent progenitors at unrestricted development stages. Moreover, in addition to IL-10 production, regulatory B cells used a broad range of suppressing mechanisms to modulate the immune response. Although Bregs have been consistently described in the literature, only a few reports described the molecular aspects that control the acquisition of the regulatory function. In this manuscript, we detailed the latest reports describing the control of IL-10, TGFB, and GZMB production in different Breg subsets at the molecular level. We focused on the understanding of the role of the transcription factors STAT3 and c-MAF in controlling IL-10 production in murine and human B cells and how these factors may represent an important crossroad of several key drivers of the Breg response. Finally, we provided original data supporting the evidence that MAF is expressed in human IL-10- producing plasmablast and could be induced in vitro following different stimulation cocktails. At steady state, we reported that MAF is expressed in specific human B-cell tonsillar subsets including the IgD⁺ CD27⁺ unswitched population, germinal center cells and plasmablast.

Keywords: regulatory B cells, molecular drivers, c-MAF, STAT3, B-cell differentiation

INTRODUCTION

B cells with immunosuppressive function (Bregs) have been highlighted for the first time in the murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model (1). Although the induction of the disease was not influenced by the absence of B cells, B-cell depleted mice exhibited no substantial recovery suggesting a regulatory role. During the past decade, various studies have reported this regulatory B cell-induced immune response suppression in very diverse pathophysiological settings

105

like autoimmune diseases, transplantation, virus immunity, and cancer. The heterogeneity of the Breg subsets is a subject of interest for many years (2-5) and consensus opinions suggest that Bregs may arise from multiple progenitors depending on the microenvironment. Beyond their phenotypic status, Bregs used different immunosuppressive mechanisms such as the production of interleukin (IL)-10, granzyme B (GZMB), and transforming growth factor (TGF) β to regulate other immune cells (3, 6, 7). IL-10 has become the most documented suppressive mechanism by B cells and in many cases, IL-10 can be often co-expressed with other regulatory molecules such as TGF β or IL-35 (8). New studies are now starting to clarify the different molecular mechanisms that may control the acquisition of the Breg function. In this review, we described the last reports establishing new insights into the molecular control of TGF β , GZMB, and IL-10 producing B cells (B10) with a specific focus of an understudied transcription factor (TF) in B cells: the avian musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene c-MAF (MAF).

MOLECULAR CONTROL OF THE PRODUCTION OF TGFB AND GZMB IN B CELLS

TGFβ -Producing Regulatory B Cells

TGF\beta-producing B cells with regulatory properties were first described in cancer, especially in lung metastasis from breast cancer in mouse models (9). TGF- β^+ Bregs that exhibited a particular phenotype (CD19⁺, CD25^{high}, IgD^{high}, CD21^{low}, CD23^{low}, CD43⁻, IgM^{int}, and CD62L^{low}) were able to decrease T cell proliferation and induce de novo regulatory T cells (Tregs) (Foxp3⁺) in vivo and in vitro. In this study, they demonstrated that the tumor-microenvironment was necessary to both mouse and human Breg development. These TGFB-expressing Bregs expressed high levels of phosphorylated-STAT3 (pSTAT3). The same group further demonstrated that the inhibition of STAT3 phosphorylation by resveratrol (phytoalexin found in some plants as mulberries or peanuts) induced the decreased expression of TGFβ by Bregs leading to the reduced expansion of Tregs *in vivo* and in vitro (10). Inhibitory effect of the resveratrol as a potent inhibitor of STAT3 phosphorylation and acetylation is mostly mediated by the Sirtuin 1 protein (SIRT1) an NAD⁺-dependent class III histone deacetylase (HDAC). Although SIRT1/STAT3 axis has been extensively studied in cancer cells (11, 12), there are few reports on its role on B-cells. However, it was recently demonstrated that B-cell specific SIRT1 deficient cells displayed an increase of IL10 expression in vitro following LPS stimulation (13). Moreover, SIRT1 is highly expressed in resting naïve mouse B cells but dramatically reduced following cell activation and immunization. In this context, SIRT1 suppressed AICDA expression and the class switch DNA recombination through the regulation of the acetylation of STAT3 and the NFkB p65, another important target of SIRT1 (14). Underlying mechanisms of these different interactions with other molecular drivers of TGF β are still unclear, especially in B cells.

Some studies highlighted the role of the different $TGF\beta$ isoforms in the regulatory properties of B cells. A first mouse study revealed the co-expression of TGFB1 and TGFB3 at similar levels in resting B cells but in IgM-activated B cells, TFG^β1 was increased and TGFB3 was highly reduced. In a coculture model with resting B cells and T cells, Treg expansion was only dependent on the TGF β 3 isoform (15). However, in the EAE mouse model, TGFB1-deficient B cells led to increased EAE score level and the disease severity was linked to the expansion of T cell helper (Th)1 in conserved non-coding sequences (CNS) (16). So, the two isoforms TGFB1 and TGFB3 seem to be implicated in Breg properties but with microenvironment-dependent mechanisms. Unlike in mice, the activation of human B cells upon BCR and Toll-like receptor (TLR) 9 induced decreased expression of TGFβ1 (highly expressed in resting B cells) but an increase of IL-10 expression (17). Unfortunately, in most of the studies on TGFB-expressing Bregs, the nature of the isoform involved is still elusive.

The co-expression of TGF β and IL-10 by Bregs is frequently reported in the literature but the role of TGF β is controversial. One study demonstrated that B cells infiltrating tumors expressed TGFB and IL-10 and inhibited T cell proliferation and the generation of interferon (IFN) γ -CD8⁺ T cells. This mechanism was TGFβ-dependent (18). However, in the model of low-dose methotrexate-induced tolerance in mice, the generated Bregs coexpressed TGFB and IL-10, but only IL-10 seemed to be implicated in the tolerance mechanism (19). Two additional studies performed in humans demonstrated the role of TGF β in Bregs-mediated regulation. In the first study, in vitro Bregs were induced following a CD40 ligand (CD40L), CpG, and IL-4 stimulation and were able to decrease T-cell proliferation and induce the Tregs expansion. FoxP3 expression and Tregs generation were reduced in the presence of the anti-TGF β blocking antibody (Ab) but not after IL-10 blocking (6). We also demonstrated that in vitro-induced Bregs used a TGFB-dependent mechanism in controlling T -cell proliferation whereas the decrease of IFN_γ-Th1 cells was IL-10-dependent (20).

Other information puzzled the understanding of the generation of TGF β -producing-Bregs because TGF β was first described as able to inhibit B cell proliferation and Ig production (21). Moreover, a recent study highlighted the synergy between IL-10 and TGF β 3 to inhibit B-cell proliferation and Ig production after TLR4 or TLR7 activation by decreasing energy metabolism of B cells such as glycolysis. Interestingly, pSTAT3 was also expressed in these B cells (22). However, the synergistic role of IL-10 and TGF β in controlling Bregs function remains to be explored.

Expression of GZMB in B Cells

Initially, the GZMB had been described as a compound of the cytoplasmic granules of cytotoxic cells that induced targeted cell death when accompanied by perforin (23). However, over the last decade, the secretion of GZMB by B cells, Tregs, or plasmacytoïd dendritic cells, has been found to exert an immunosuppressive effect through performing-independent mechanisms. This GZMB-expressing Breg subset has been

detected in a variety of pathological contexts: chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (24), solid tumor infiltration (7), autoimmune diseases such as Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) (25), viral infections (26) and in the context of the transplantation (27). Although GZMB-expressing B cells were found to be enriched in differentiated B cells like plasmablasts (PB), less than 3% of circulating B cells seemed to express GZMB in healthy individuals (28).

One of the key inducers of the production of GZMB in B cells is IL-21. Jahrsdörfer's group first reported that IL-21 directly induced the secretion of enzymatically active GZMB by human B cells. The effect of IL-21 is synergically enhanced by CpG-ODN or BCR engagement (24, 29). Moreover, they demonstrated that GZMB and IL-21 serum levels are highly correlated in SLE and that CD5⁺ B cells from SLE and Sjögren syndrome patients, which constitutively expressed GZMB, displayed higher expression of IL-21 receptor (30). IL-21 is mainly secreted by activated CD4⁺ T cells, especially Th17 and follicular helper T cell (Tfh) subsets and natural killer T cell (NKT) (31). A study has shown that macrophages-derived IL-15 synergized with IL-21 to promote GZMB expression and B cell differentiation into CD38⁺ CD20⁻ PB. While IL-21 alone induced a quick and massive transcription of GZMB mRNA but a minimal production of the protein, the addition of IL-15 allowed efficient translation and/or secretion of the GZMB protein (32).

Little is known about the molecular control of GZMB production in B cells and the generation of GZMB⁺ Bregs remains to be understood. Besides, the inability of mouse B cells to secrete GZMB further complicates addressing this question (33). Nevertheless, it would appear that pSTAT3 signaling is implicated in GZMB expression. IL-21 signaling is known to activate JAK/STAT pathways, especially pSTAT1 and pSTAT3, and to a lesser extent pSTAT5a and pSTAT5b (34). An up-regulation of pJAK1, pJAK3, and pSTAT3, but not pTYK2 or pSTAT1, was observed in B cells stimulated with IL-21 and anti-BCR, and the use of a JAK inhibitor abrogated the GZMB production (29). The use of STAT1, STAT3, or STAT5 inhibitors confirmed the involvement of STAT3 signaling but not STAT1 and STAT5, in GZMB synthesis. Moreover, B cells failed to produce GZMB in patients with the autosomaldominant hyper-IgE syndrome which exhibit heterozygous STAT3 mutations, confirming the unique role of STAT3 in GZMB production (32).

Recently, Sophie Brouard's group has developed an expansion mixture containing IL-21, anti-BCR, CpG ODN, IL-2, and CD40L, to induce GZMB expression in more than 90% of B cells. While the presence of IL-21 and anti-BCR seemed indispensable to induce a strong expression of GZMB, the presence of CpG ODN and IL-2 seemed to be necessary for the maintaining of B-cell survival in culture (28). To better characterize GZMB-producing Bregs, they performed RNAseq analysis of sorted *in vitro*-expanded GZMB-positive and GZMB-negative B cells (35). Thirty-six genes were found to be differentially expressed between these two populations, including the top differential expressed genes (DEGs) *GZMB*, *LAG3*, and *FASLG*, which were already described for their role in

immune regulation. They revealed a higher frequency of LAG-3⁺ cells but a similar expression of IL-10 in GZMB-positive Bregs when compared to GZMB-negative B cells. In this transcriptomic analysis, *SOX5* was the only gene encoding a TF found to be differentially expressed. While *SOX5* was found to be downregulated during the proliferation of B cells, its high expression might limit proliferation allowing PB differentiation (36). However, as an autocrine production in GZMB⁺ Bregs, the GZMB stimulates the proliferation of these cells (28). At this point, it is difficult to say whether the *SOX5* down-regulation may play a role in the generation and function of GZMB-positive Bregs or whether it is only a consequence of the autocrine production of GZMB itself.

STAT3 AND ITS PARTNERS IN THE GENERATION OF IL-10- PRODUCING B CELLS

IL-10 is a pleiotropic cytokine produced by virtually all immune cell types and possesses immunosuppressive properties. IL-10 is an inhibitor of a broad spectrum of monocytes/macrophages and T-cell functions, including cytokine synthesis, effector subset differentiation, and expression of co-stimulatory molecules such as CD80/CD86. However, the role of IL-10 on B cells was described as ambivalent. First reports described IL-10 as a growth factor for B cells. It promotes B-cell proliferation, Ab production, and class II MHC expression depending on their activation state (37). The addition of IL-10 in CD40-activated B cells results in a very high immunoglobulin production indicating differentiation of B cells into plasma cells (38, 39). IL-10 was an essential factor for isotype switching in presence of anti-CD40 stimulation leading to the production of IgM, IgG, and IgA (IgA1 and IgA2) in combination with TGF β (40). Subsequent important reports described the role of IL-10 in promoting the differentiation of memory B cells into PB and plasma cells (41, 42).

B cells secrete a very low amount of IL-10 at a quiescent state however specific stimulatory signals were described to be involved in the induction of IL-10 producing B cells with suppressive functions: the BCR, CD40, TLR, and cytokine signaling including IL-21, IL-6, or TGF β (43–45). Although the time-sequence and location of these events have to be clarified in vivo, the molecular signals leading to IL-10 production by B cells have been studied less thoroughly than in Th cells and macrophages (reviewed in (46)). Among the key factors involved in the control of IL-10 production, STAT3 appears to be involved in the different activation cascades leading to IL-10 secretion by B cells (Figure 1). It was demonstrated in CD1d^{hi} CD5⁺ B10 cells, that whilst the absence of the B-cell linker protein (BLNK) had no consequence on the distribution of Bregs in tissues, its expression was indispensable to IL-10 production. After TLR4 activation by lipopolysaccharide (LPS), phosphorylated BLNK interacts with the Bruton tyrosine kinase (Btk) leading to the phosphorylation of STAT3 that next translocates to the nucleus to transactivate the IL10 gene (47) (Figure 1).


In SLE patients, CD24^{high} CD38^{high} Bregs exhibited a defect in CD40 signaling with impairment of STAT3 phosphorylation and IL-10 production (48). Similar results were described in patients with systemic sclerosis where TLR9-induced IL-10 production by B cells was impaired because of a defect in p38 MAPK and STAT3 signaling (49, 50). Various cytokines increased in vitro the generation of human B10, often in combination with TLR activation in a STAT3-dependent manner including APRIL (51), IFNα (52, 53), IL-35 (54), IL-21 (55), IL-6, or IL-1β (56). Interestingly mice with the specific deletion of STAT3 in B cells developed a severe experimental autoimmune uveitis and displayed exacerbated EAE (57). In both diseases, the deficiency of STAT3 in B cells induced a defect not only in the induction of B10 cells but also in the generation of Tregs. Moreover, the authors demonstrated that expression of the CD80 and CD86 costimulatory molecules was markedly upregulated on B cells in STAT3-deficient mice, suggesting that STAT3 signaling may also contribute to restraining excessive activation of T cells.

Cooperation of BLIMP1 and IRF4 in the Generation of IL10 Producing B Cells

Once activated, STAT proteins can directly bind on a single motif on the *Il10* promoter (58) or may interact with other TF to

induce IL-10 expression. The mouse Il10 locus has been extensively studied in naive and differentiated T cells (59-61) mostly using DNase I hypersensitivity approaches highlighting at least nine genomic regions with potent high transcriptional activity. These several conserved noncoding sequences (CNS) presented a great homology between mice and humans. Together with the promoter, the CNS-9, CNS-4.5, located at 9 kb and 4.5 kb, respectively, upstream the Il10 gene transcription start site (TSS), and the CNS+3, and CNS+6.5 Kb, located downstream the TSS, have been described as the main activator sites of the Il10 transcription in T-cell subsets (62, 63). In Th1 cells, the Blymphocyte-induced maturation protein 1 (Blimp-1) binds the CNS-9 site in a STAT4-dependent manner, and mice with a Tcell-specific Blimp-1 deficiency had a severe inflammatory response during T. gondii infection, suggesting that Blimp-1 was involved in the IL-10-dependent control of Th1 immune responses (64)

However, the role of Blimp-1 in the generation of B10 is conflicting. In a recent study, *Prdm1* mRNA expression was shown upregulated in IL10-positive compared to IL-10-negative B cells following LPS stimulation. This was then confirmed *in vivo* using a *Prdm1*-EYFP reporter mouse model. This group also demonstrated that the deletion of *Prdm1* led to the increased

frequency of B10 cells following LPS injection suggesting a negative role of Blimp-1 on the *ll10* transcription. Using luciferase reporter assays and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP), these authors demonstrated that the CNS-0.45 kb site on the *ll10* gene was the major Blimp-1 suppressive site of the *ll10* transcription (**Figure 1**). They further demonstrated that STAT3 needed the Blimp1 DNA-binding domain to efficiently transactivate the *ll10* promoter indicating that Blimp1 could exhibit alternatively a positive role and negative role depending on the presence or absence of its molecular partners (65). However, these binding sites were not reported in primary studies identifying the pattern of regulatory regions within the *ll10* gene in T cells suggesting a B cell-specific regulation of the *ll10* transcription (46, 59, 61).

The Blimp-1 regulated genes have been extensively studied during the B-cell differentiation, revealing that Blimp1 could act as both transcriptional repressor and activator. Using streptavidin-mediated chromatin precipitation coupled with deep sequencing (Bio-ChIP), the Il10 gene was robustly identified among the 93 genes potentially directly activated by Blimp-1 (66, 67). Regulatory plasma cells producing IL-10 have been reported in mice in EAE and during the Salmonella Typhimurium infection (3, 4) In EAE, the PB (CD138⁺ CD44^{high}) subset was the main IL-10 producer population, generated through a germinal center (GC) independent pathway as the EAE course remained unchanged in Bcl6^{yfp/yfp} knock-out mice. By investigating the mechanisms by which PB produced IL-10, it was demonstrated that B cells lacking IRF4 but not Blimp-1 have an impairment of IL-10 production. The TF IRF4 binds to the Il10 CNS-9 enhancer site in mouse PB as previously described in T cells (68). This region highly conserved in the vertebrate genome has been also described as a major site of fixation of the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT1 also named NF-ATc2) (69). The involvement of different CNS in the regulation of Il10 transcription was significantly studied in different Th cell populations. Whereas the CNS-9 seemed to be potentially active in both Th1 and Th2 lineages, the CNS+6.45 and CNS-26 are specific for Th2 cells (68), where the CNS+6.45 region is a binding site for the activator protein 1 (AP1) proteins JunB, and c-Jun. However, such distinctions are not yet clearly established in human B10 compared to other B-cell subsets. Furthermore, the TF IRF4 itself binds to the DNA in a weakdependent manner due to its carboxy-terminal auto-inhibitory domain. IRF4 has to form a complex with AP1 family proteins like BATF or JunB to increase its binding affinity and thus regulates genes expressing the AP1-IRF consensus motif elements (AICEs) (70, 71). In B cells, IRF4 through the cooperation with BATF, JunB, and JunD was described to bound to AICEs of *Il10* and *Ebi3* (coding for an IL-35 subunit) loci (70, 72). In T cells, Blimp-1 expression was required in a subset of IL-10 expressing Tregs localized at mucosal sites (73). In this subset, IRF4 directly regulated Blimp-1 expression at the transcriptional level. These data were also observed in B cells following IL-21 stimulation showing that STAT3 and IRF4 cooperate to promote Prdm1 expression (74) (Figure 1). More recently an elegant study investigated the IL27-driven

transcriptional network highlighting several key IL-10 molecular regulators (63) suggesting that *Prdm1*, *Irf4*, and *Irf8* may have a suppressive role in the production of IL-10 in type 1 Tregs (Tr1). Interestingly, IRF4 and IRF8 antagonized during B-cell activation and differentiation (75) suggesting opposite roles in the control of B-cell-specific *Il10* transcription.

We thus could hypothesize that IRF4 by utilizing distinct binding partners could mediate cell-type and *stimulus*-specific IL-10 production in different lymphocyte subsets. Furthermore, the time-frame of the molecular control of IL-10 is crucial and may explain contradictory relationships. The molecular mechanisms required for the induction of *Il10* in B cells may change throughout time to ensure its maintenance leading to important modification in the cooperative binding factors. Further studies, especially kinetics studies have to be designed to identify how the core triad including BLIMP-1, IRF4 and STAT3 may cooperate or act independently in the generation of B10 cells (**Figure 1**).

STAT3 and the NFAT Family in the Generation of IL-10 Producing B Cells

STAT3 signaling is involved in the early activation of B cells, especially in the BCR signalosome recruitment and the STAT3 deficiency led to reduction of pAkt and pErk1/2 and both mTORC1 and mTORC2 activity following BCR stimulation (76) Furthermore, STAT3 has also a non-canonical function and its localization to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) modulates ER-mitochondria calcium (Ca²⁺) release by interacting with the Ca²⁺ channel IP3R3 (77).

The implication of the BCR signaling in the generation of B10 is still discussed. Although in vitro activation of splenic B cells with anti-IgM Ab failed to induce IL-10 production compared to TLR signaling, there is a dramatic decrease of B10 cell numbers in the MD4 transgenic mice with a fixed BCR rearrangement suggesting that BCR diversity may direct B10 development (43). A report using TgVH3B4 mice that express a VH derived from an actin-reactive natural Ab, 3B4 revealed that B10 cells mainly targeted self-antigens (Ag). This study also suggest that B10 could be positively selected by self Ag and that high BCR signaling could promote B10 development and IL-10 production (78). In contrast to the MD4 model where there is no virtually Ag recognition, the interaction with the Ag seems mandatory for the maintenance and generation of B10. This study is in agreement with others showing that B10 induction is negatively or positively modulated in CD19^{-/-} and CD22^{-/-} KO mice, respectively where BCR signaling is directly altered.

B cells from mice that are deficient for the ER calcium sensors stromal interaction molecules 1 and 2 (STIM1 and STIM2) have normal B-cell development but display defective activation of NFAT1 and aberrant calcium (Ca²⁺) signaling following BCR ligation (79) (**Figure 1**). In these mice, the BCR-induced dephosphorylation of NFAT1 was markedly impaired in B cells leading to a defect in IL-10 production, observations that were recapitulating with NFAT1 inhibitors such as cyclosporine or Tacrolimus (FK506). The authors further demonstrated that the double STIM1/STIM2 KO mice developed an exacerbated EAE

due to a dramatic depletion of B10. These data support that a Store Operated Calcium (SOC) influx induced by BCR stimulation drove IL-10 expression in a STIM-dependent NFAT1 activation manner. Several years later, the same group demonstrated that the transfection of active calcineurin A markedly increased BCR-induced IL-10 production through activation of NFAT1 in B cells using an *Il10-GFP* reporter mouse model. Furthermore, they showed that this induction is repressed in *Irf4* KO mice suggesting that NFAT1-dependent IL-10 production required IRF4 and was dependent on the Ca²⁺ influx (3).

On the other hand, another report showed that mice with an NFAT2 deficiency in the B-cell compartment have two-fold more B10 cells compared with wild-type B cells and lead to the amelioration of EAE (80). More recently, similar results showed that NFAT2 ablation in B cells suppressed the induction of skin inflammation by an increase of B10 (CD1d⁺ CD5⁺ and CD138⁺ PB) in the spleen, the lymph nodes, and the blood (81) They have further shown that NFAT2 binds directly to the Il10 gene in vivo and suppresses its transcription. However, the role of NFAT1 and NFAT2 in IL-10 production by B cells remains complex and differs between normal and malignant B cells. We previously demonstrated that the CD5 molecule, overexpressed in CLL B cells, promoted IL-10 expression and cell survival through a STAT3 and NFAT2-dependent pathway (82) and that IL-10 expression by B cells was directly connected with the aggressivity of the disease (83). These studies were further extended, demonstrating that NFAT2 controls multiple anergy-associated genes, BCR expression, and Ca²⁺ response in CLL B cells (84) and that knockdown of STAT3 significantly impaired the ability of CLL B cells to produce IL-10 and reverse T-cell dysfunction (85). Interestingly similar observations were made in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) showing that STAT3 and NFAT2 interaction induced an immunoregulatory phenotype in malignant B cells with the upregulation of IL-10 and programmed Death-Ligand 1 (PDL1) (86).

This fine-tune regulation of Ca^{2+} signaling in B cells by its different partners including the balance between NFAT1 and NFAT2 and their interaction with STAT3 may be an important crossroad in the generation of B10 in normal and malignant B cells.

STAT3 and Metabolic Pathways in the Generation of IL-10 Producing B Cells

The STAT3 dimers translocate to the nucleus and regulate promoter genes with STAT3-binding elements exhibiting a broad range of cellular processes (87). Among the different STAT3 responsive genes, STAT3 induces the transcription of the Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) 1a in BCR and LPS-activated B cells through the ERK and NFkB-dependent pathways, respectively (88, 89) (**Figure 2**). HIFs are heterodimeric TF, consisting of an oxygen-labile alpha subunit (HIF- α) and a stable beta subunit (HIF- β). Three O2-sensitive HIF α proteins have been described so far, HIF-1 α , HIF-2 α -also known as EPAS1, and HIF-3 α (90). The B-cell-specific deletion of HIF-1 α , but not HIF-2 α , resulted in a defect in IL-10 production by B cells (88). Except for an important decrease of the B1a population in the peritoneum observed in Mb1^{cre}Hif1a^{f/f} mice, no other defect in the B-cell maturation was observed. This group further demonstrated that in BCR-stimulated B cells, HIF-1 α cooperated with pSTAT3 to bind to hypoxia-responsive element (HRE) I and HRE II regions on the Il10 promoter under hypoxic conditions. These authors showed that HIF-1 α controlled the glycolytic metabolism required for the normal expansion of CD1dhigh CD5+ Bregs in vivo. This report was supported by an additional study demonstrating that the suppression of HIF-1 α in B cells led to exacerbated colitis through CD11b and IL-10 downregulation (89). The hypoxic microenvironment has been described in the physiological situation as during the GC reaction in secondary lymphoid organs (91), but also in solid tumors, transplantation, or inflammatory diseases. The fine characterization of Bregs in normal or pathophysiological tissues promises new stimulating insights in the better comprehension of these pathophysiological mechanisms.

Beyond the control of the glycolysis pathway, another metabolic driver involved in the control of IL-10 expression in B cells was recently described implying lipid metabolism through the multistep process of transformation of Acetyl CoA to Cholesterol. The abrogation of the HMG-CoA reductase enzyme activity by atorvastatin led to the suppression of TLR9-induced regulatory capacities of human B cells (92). It was further demonstrated that IL-10 production was dependent on the geranylgeranyl transferase (GGTase) I (GGTi) that catabolizes conversion of Geranyl-Geranyl-PP (GGPP) toward the isoprenylation pathway. By controlling the downstream Ras-dependent PI3K-AKT signaling following TLR9 stimulation, the GGTase via inhibitory phosphorylation on the Serine 9 prevented the activity of the glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3 β) and the subsequent *Il10* transcription inhibition (Figure 2). GSK3 was already described as an important repressor of *Il10* among the Th1, Th2, and Th17 subsets (93, 94) and in dendritic cells (95) at the epigenetic level. The comparative RNA-sequencing analysis of TLR9 stimulated B cells in the presence or absence of GGTi revealed the strong downregulation of several TF including Prdm1, Batf (Basic Leucine Zipper ATF-Like Transcription Factor), and the Arylhydrocarbon receptor (AhR). Finally, the siRNA-knockdown of Blimp-1 in vitro led to the reduction of the TLR9-mediated IL-10 production by B cells. This study is, so far, the only report that established the direct involvement of Blimp-1 in the generation of B10 cells.

In B cells, different studies have shown the AhR implication in IL-10 production in collaboration with numerous transcriptional cofactors (96) (**Figure 3**). The AhR is an environmental sensor that binds on a variety of ligands such as exogenous toxins (dioxin), xenobiotics, and endogenous derivatives metabolites from cells or microbiota. Mauri's group has established the involvement of the AhR in the control of *Il10* transcription in the immature CD19⁺ CD21^{high} CD24^{high} B cell population in mice. *In vivo*, B cell-specific deletion of AhR caused exacerbated arthritis and promoted excessive inflammation by depleting B10. The AhR binding site seems to be located at -3.5 kb upstream of the TSS on the Il10 gene in a non-CNS region suggesting putative difference with human Bregs (97). This study was further extended by demonstrating that change in the short-chain fatty





acid (SCFA) butyrate levels influenced the generation of IL10⁺ CD19⁺ CD24^{high} CD38^{high} B cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. By using an antigen-induced mouse model of arthritis, the authors established that the butyrate supplementation was sufficient to suppress the disease by increasing Bregs suppressive ability through an AhR dependent-manner (98) Moreover, AhR seems to also regulate the inhibitory receptor TIGIT and Il10 expression in TIM1⁺ B cells (99). Several years before, the fatty acid palmitate was demonstrated in synergy with CXCL12 able to induce IL-10 production in adipose B cells through the PI3K and NFkB signaling (100). News studies have recently demonstrated the role of SCFA in controlling B10 generation with some discrepancies mainly due to the different in vitro stimulation cocktails used for the B10 induction. The SCFA acetate, known to influence the lipid and the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, was demonstrated directly promoting the differentiation of IL-10 producing B cells from B1a progenitors in mice or from CD24^{high} CD27⁺ B cells in humans with a more potent activity than the butyrate (101). The inhibition of the conversion of acetate to acetyl-CoA by the repression of acetyl-CoA synthetase member 2 (ACSS2) decreases the IL-10 production suggesting that acetate is an essential regulator fueling the energy production necessary to B10 differentiation. In another report, when B cells were pre-activated with CD40, LPS, or CpG, the addition of butyrate, and pentanoate, but not acetate, increased

the percentage of B10 cells (102). They demonstrated that the molecular mechanisms of butyrate-dependent B10 expansion are independent of the mammalian G-protein-coupled receptor pair activity but acted through HDAC inhibitory action *via* a p38 MAPK and PI3K-dependent pathway. However, the precise role of histone acetylation in B10 generation remains to be established. To note, the epigenetic regulation of *Il10* expression especially in B cells is still an unresolved field of research.

Overall, these reports about metabolism control of regulator B cells have opened an exciting new area of investigation, recently reviewed by the Mauri's group and ours (103, 104).

C-MAF AS A KEY DRIVER OF THE B-CELL IMMUNOREGULATORY FUNCTION?

The Transcription Factor c-MAF

c-MAF (MAF) is a basic region-leucine zipper (bZIP) TF belonging to the AP-1 superfamily and more specifically to the large MAF family proteins. Large MAF proteins include MafA, MafB, MAF, and Nrl, which possess a transactivation domain and activate transcription by forming a homodimer. MAF contains basic regions allowing the recognition of a palindromic sequence



named MAF Recognition Element (MARE) in the promoter region of target genes of which there are two types: a 13-bp T-MARE (TGCTGAG/CTCAGCA) with a TPA-Responsive Element (TRE) and a 14-bp C-MARE (TGCTGAGC/CGTCAGCA) with an AMP-Responsive Element (CRE). The MAF gene is located on chromosome 16q23.2 in humans and on chromosome 8 in mice, on the reverse strand for both (105).

Two forms of MAF mRNA have been described in humans, the variant MAF-201 referred to as the small transcript and the MAF-202 variant referred to as the long transcript. The small transcript MAF-201 (2 646 bases) was made up of the 2 exons of the MAF gene after splicing of the intron (4 231 bases) which was not spliced in the long MAF-202 transcript (Figure 4A). The intron retention in MAF-202 has resulted in the introduction of a premature stop codon in the open reading frame leading to the production of a short protein isoform (c-MAF b), whereas the small transcript MAF-201 encoded a longer protein isoform (c-MAF a). The c-MAF a and c-MAF b proteins from these transcripts comprised 403 and 373 amino acids, respectively. A putative third protein and mRNA (referred to as medium variant MAF-203) have been described in the Ensembl database, however, neither the mRNA nor the protein have been reported in experimental data. The c-MAF a protein is only found in humans whereas the c-MAF b is present in both murine and human species. The different constitutive domains of the c-MAF proteins are highly

conserved between the different isoforms (**Figure 4B**). The basic domain is requisite for DNA binding while the leucine zipper allows dimerization. The EHR domain (extended homology region) is specific for the MAF proteins and is also required for MAF binding to DNA. Finally, the transactivation domain which is rich in acidic residues responsible for protein's transcriptional activator functions is separated from the bZIP domain by a Hinge region (106).

MAF and Breg Functions

The c-MAF proteins are subject to some post-translational modifications that could modulate their activity (Figure 4C). In T cells, the phosphorylation of c-MAF by the tyrosine-protein kinase Tec or by the CARMA1-dependent activation of the IKB kinase (via IKKβ) was required for c-MAF nuclear translocation and DNA binding (107–109). The serine-threonine protein kinase GSK3 β dependent c-MAF phosphorylation has been described with antagonist outcomes. GSK3ß mediated c-MAF-phosphorylation and subsequent degradation through the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in multiple myeloma. However, in presence of a coactivator complex, the phosphorylation and possibly its monoubiquitination may also result in the increase of its transcriptional activity (110, 111). At least nine phosphorylation sites located specifically in the activation domain of c-MAF (Figure 4C) were described, supporting their essential role in c-MAF activity. The SUMOylating, a post-translational modification resulting in the covalent binding of one or more SUMO proteins to a lysine motif was reported on the c-MAF protein at the lysine 33 leading to a



FIGURE 4 | Schematic representation of the MAF gene, transcripts and proteins. (A) Schematic representation of the MAF gene and transcripts. The scale used is 1 cm for 500 bases (b) or base pairs (bp). The blue rectangle represents the exon 1 (1 953 bp) and the green rectangle represents the exon 2 (716 bp). The only intron (4 231 bp) is represented by a black line. The two transcripts, MAF-201 (2 646 b) and MAF-202 (6384 b) are represented below, keeping the color code of the exons. The retained intron in the long transcript MAF-202 is represented by a grey rectangle. The untranslated parts of the exons are identified by dotted borders and the length of the open reading frame of each transcript is indicated in red. These open reading frames are delimited by "start" codons (AUG) and "stop" codons (UGA). (B) Schematic representation of c-Maf protein isoforms. The scale used is 1 cm for 50 amino acids (AA). The long protein (c-MAF a) is composed of 403 AA and the small protein (c-MAF b) is composed of 373 AA. The entire bZIP (basic leucine zipper) domain is indicated on each isoform within violet, the basic motif of 25 AA, and in orange the leucine zipper of 21 AA. All these data are extracted from databases "Ensembl" (ensemble.org) and "Uniprot" (uniprot.org). (C) Schematic representation of post-translational modifications of the c-MAF proteins, using the long protein as template. Post-translational modification sites are in dicated by arrow: the sumoylation sites are in yellow, GSK3 phosphorylation sites are in blue, other phosphorylation sites are in dark blue, and ubiquitination sites of phosphorylation are indicated in dark blue located on the tyrosines 58 and 62. Three other sites of phosphorylation are indicated in dark blue located on the tyrosines 21, 92 and 131. Two sites of ubiquitination are located on the lysines 297 and 350 and indicated in red.

decrease of the c-MAF transcriptional activity on the *IL-4* and *IL-21* genes (112, 113).

MAF Regulation of the IL-10 Locus

MAF binds directly the MARE sequences of the *Il10* promoter in human macrophages (114), mouse B cells (115), Tr1 cells (96), or Th17 (116). However, several reports suggested that c-MAF could not induce *Il10* or even bound the *Il10 locus* in the

absence of other co-regulatory factors like BATF or IRF1 as described in Tr1 cells (117). The protein c-MAF binds the CNS -9 together with BLIMP-1 and STAT4 and induces *Il10* in Th1 cells, but the binding of MAF is independent of BLIMP-1 expression (64). Although *Il10* represents a main target of the MAF gene, this target is far from being the only gene regulated by c-MAF. Indeed, c-MAF regulates a broad range of immune molecules as described for *RoRa, Il21, Il2, Il22* in Th17 (118),

MAF and Breg Functions

colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (*Csf-1r*), and metabolic pathways in macrophages (119) or *Tbx21* (encoding the TF T-bet) in group 3 innate lymphoid cells (120) underlined its crucial regulatory role in the immune system (121).

MAF Expression in IL-10 Producing T Cells and Macrophages

In T cells, extensive literature exists on the role of c-MAF and its relationship with IL-10 production [recently reviewed in (122)]. One recent elegant study underlined the context-specificity of the role of MAF in the T-cell response across different diseases model demonstrating that beyond the control of IL-10 expression, MAF acted as a negative regulator of Il2 (123). One study has examined the role of both isoforms in the modulation of IL-10 production in human stimulated Th17 cells (116). Only the overexpression of c-MAF b (short protein) led to upregulation of IL-10 production suggesting a unique specific function of the different isoforms. Interestingly, extensive ChIPsequencing studies revealed that c-MAF binding domains are mostly localized outside the promoters and may target enhancer sequences. Furthermore, c-MAF overexpression alone was not sufficient to convert Th17 IL-10⁻ cells into Th17 IL-10⁺ highlighting its primary role as a co-activator or co-repressor factor. The availability or competition of other cooperating factors together with the epigenetic accessibility of regulatory regions seem to be crucial for the c-MAF activity supporting its highly versatile broad range of action in many immune cells.

c-MAF is also essential during innate immunity and was first reported as a key element in macrophage polarization leading to IL-10 production and establishing the immunoregulatory M2 program (124). A recent report demonstrated that c-MAF contributes to the tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) dampening T-cell effector function during lung cancer (119). Through ChIP-sequencing analysis, c-MAF was shown to directly regulate *Csf-1r* transcription and control important M2 markers as *Il12*, *Il1b*, *Il6*, *Arg1*, *Il10*, *Tgfb*, *Irf4*, and *Ccr2*. This study further demonstrated that c-MAF may act as a metabolic switch in macrophage inhibiting the glycolysis and promoting the TCA cycle and UDP-GlcNAc activity to favor macrophage conversion into immunosuppressive M2 within the tumor suggesting an important role of MAF on cell metabolic activity (119).

MAF in B Cells

The role of MAF in B cells is very less documented and a large gap in knowledge remains regarding the intrinsic function of c-MAF in B cells. Two recent papers suggested that c-MAF could exert an activity by controlling the IL-10 production in murine and human B cells suggesting an underestimated role in Breg function.

The first study demonstrated that MAF was constitutively expressed in B220⁺ B cells isolated from the spleen and could be upregulated following LPS stimulation together with IL-10 expression (115). ChIP-PCR identified that c-MAF directly bound a MARE sequence located at the CNS-0.5 on the *Il10* gene. The knockdown of MAF using specific shRNA in LPS-

stimulated B cells resulted in the decrease but not a complete abrogation of Il10 production. A second group has more recently suggested the role of c-MAF in regulating B10 during EAE. The B-cell specific deletion of the signaling lymphocytic activating molecules (SLAM)F5 (CD84) led to an important amelioration of the disease with delayed onset and attenuate clinical score (125). This disease improvement is accompanied by an increase in the different IL-10 producing Breg populations (CD5⁺ CD1d^{high}, T2-MZP, and CD138⁺ PB) in the spinal cord but also the spleen and lymph nodes. Using the Vert-x mice which express a GFP reporter on the Il10 gene, they analyzed the transcriptome of CD19⁺ GFP⁺ cells in mice treated or not with a SLAMF5 blocking Ab revealing that SLAMF5 downmodulation increased c-MAF and AhR expression. Interestingly, these observations were also confirmed in humans showing that c-MAF is upregulated in vitro following SLAMF5 inhibition in total B cells. Although indirect, these results suggest that MAF could exert a key role in regulating Breg populations both in humans and mice. One interesting point is that MAF expression seems not restricted to a specific Breg subset but is broadly associated with Il10 expression whereas AhR was demonstrated as specific to the T2/MZP subset (97). Interestingly, SLAMF5 (CD84) was also found to be downregulated in the human signature of GZMB⁺ B cells (35), suggesting maybe a broad inhibitory role in multiple Breg populations.

We recently developed an *in vitro* model of B-cell polarization to induce pro-inflammatory B (Be1) cells and Bregs suppressing CD4⁺ T cell proliferation (126). In vitro-induced Breg cells included mostly activated B cells (IgM⁺ CD38⁺ CD27⁻) and unswitched PB (CD19⁺ IgM⁺ CD27^{low} CD38⁺ CD20⁺) able to simultaneously produce IL-10 and IgM. To further characterize the co-cultured B-cells, we performed RNA-sequencing (RNAseq) transcriptional analyses on three pooled samples of B cells sorted from the two different co-culture conditions. We assessed the differential expressing genes (DEGs) between Bregs and Be1 (Figure 5A). We observed 953 DEGs (P-value < 0.01) and 223 genes with a FC > |1.5| (Figure 5A). We underlined a significant up-regulation of genes involved in immune regulation and PB differentiation including IL-10, ELL2, IgJ, PRDM1, and the transcription factor MAF (Figure 5B). We also highlighted several key molecules that could contribute to the immunoregulatory phenotype observed in vitro such as BATF, FOSL2, GATA3, CTLA4, TIGIT, or EPAS1 (HIF2- α). Interestingly, FOSL2 (also called Fra-2, an IL-2 regulator), and BATF are AP1 family transcription factors that have already been described as able to interact with MAF proteins (118). We confirmed at the protein level that c-MAF is upregulated together with BLIMP-1 and IRF4 in Bregs induced in our coculture, suggesting that in these conditions c-MAF is associated with IL-10⁺ regulatory PB (**Figure 5C**).

To examine the conditions required for c-MAF induction, we stimulated peripheral B cells with CpG and IL-2 and or anti-CD40 Ab for two days, both simulations described as potent IL-10 inductors (127, 128). Whereas c-MAF is low expressed in resting peripheral B cells, c-MAF could be induced following stimulation with an optimal response through the combination



FIGURE 5 | MAF is upregulated in in vitro-induced human B10. (A) Differential expressing genes between pro-inflammatory B (Be1) cells and Bregs. RNA-sequencing transcriptional analysis was performed on three pooled samples of in vitro induced Be1 and Bregs. Left: Volcano plot reporting p value (-log10/P), v axis) as a function of log2 fold change (FC) between samples (x axis). Transcripts that were identified as significantly differentially expressed are represented above the dotted line. On the right, the circle chart shows numbers of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) with a p value < 0.01 and a FC > 11.51. (B) Differential expression of genes implicated in immunoregulation between Breq and Be1. Expression of genes is represented in z score with a color gradient from dark blue for down-regulated expression to red for up-regulated expression. The MAF gene highlighted in red is the transcription factor more differentially expressed between Be1 and Breg. Other genes related to immunoregulation appear upregulated in Breg compared to Be1. (C) Left: Assessment of the differentiation state of Be1 and Breg using IRF4 and Blimp-1 expression. Black gates indicate IRF4^{high} BLIMP-1+ differentiated B cells. Right: Representative histogram of MAF expression in gated differentiated IRF4^{high} BLIMP-1⁺ (dark red) and IRF4⁺ BLIMP-1⁻ (light red) cells from *in vitro* generated Bregs. The expression of MAF is higher in regulatory plasmablasts than in IRF4⁺ Blimp-1⁻ Bregs. (D, E) c-MAF protein expression in unstimulated or two-days stimulated B cells assessed by western blotting (D) or flow cytometry (E). (D) Western Blot showing the c-MAF expression in resting unstimulated peripheral B cells (D0) and in stimulated B cells simulated (D2) by CpG with IL-2 or anti-CD40 for two days. GAPDH expression was used as an endogenous control. Black arrows indicate the calculated sizes of the protein recognized by the anti-c-MAF antibody. (E) Left: Representative histograms of c-MAF protein expression in unstimulated (grey) or stimulated B cells by CpG/IL-2 (green) or CpG/anti-CD40 (brown) for two days. Right: Plot representing differential expression of c-MAF between unstimulated and stimulated B cells (N = 4). The c-MAF expression is represented in fold change of unstimulated B cells. The difference of MAF expression between unstimulated and stimulated B cells have been evaluated using Kruskal Wallis test combined with Dunn's multiple comparison test. *p-value < 0,05. (F) Assessment of the simultaneous expression of c-MAF and IL-10 expression production in stimulated B cells. Representative dot plots of c-MAF and IL-10 expression in the two-days stimulated B cells by CpG/IL2 (green) or CpG/anti-CD40 (brown). Black rectangles indicate the c-MAF⁺ IL10⁺ B cells. The percentage of this population is indicated below the rectangles.

of TLR9 with IL-2 or CD40 signaling (**Figure 5D**). As previously described, the western blotting analysis revealed different sizes of proteins recognized by anti-MAF Ab suggested some post-translational modifications (107, 129). The main form (47 kDa) observed in resting peripheral B cells was preferentially increased after stimulation. Two other c-MAF isoforms of 50 and

54 kDa were absent in resting B cells but induced following stimulation. The higher form (63 kDa) could correspond to the SUMOylated c-MAF described in mice (**Figure 5D**) (112, 113). Further investigations will be necessary to elucidate the post-translational modifications and the transcripts implicated in different c-MAF proteins. We further confirmed these results

by flow cytometry, with an expression 10 to 100 times higher (pvalue < 0,05) compared with resting B cells (**Figure 5E**). We finally analyzed the production of IL-10 together with the c-MAF expression in stimulated B cells (**Figure 5F**). IL-10 intracellular detection was shown to be associated only with MAF-expressing B cells but was not observed in MAF negative B cells. However, such observation only suggested a correlative phenomenon and further experiments are mandatory to understand the precise role of MAF on IL-10 production.

We next addressed whether MAF could be preferentially induced from a specific mature B-cell population (**Figure 6A**) and could be associated with B-cell differentiation. We thus sorted four B-cell populations according to IgD and CD27 expression and stimulated them for three days following BCR, TLR9, and IL-2 stimulation. We observed that c-MAF was upregulated in all mature B-cell subsets, however, we showed that the co-expression of c-MAF and BLIMP-1 expression is mainly observed in CD27⁺ mature differentiated B cells. Finally, as c-MAF was weakly expressed in circulating resting B-cells but could be induced following activation, we hypothesized that c-MAF could be expressed in the secondary lymphoid tissues as described in mice. We then examined MAF expression in human tonsils, showing that MAF was barely detectable in naive B cells but was found significantly increased in IgD⁺ CD27⁺ unswitched memory, GC cells, and PB(**Figure 6B**).

Although preliminary and mostly correlative, our analyses emphasized that the TF MAF is expressed in human mature B cells and could be observed in IL-10⁺ producing B cells as well as in BLIMP-1⁺ PB. We also showed that c-MAF could be physiologically observed in secondary lymphoid organs open



PIGURE 0 [MAP is up-regulated following B-cell differentiation and expressed in human tonsits. (A) Expression of BLIMP-1 and C-MAP in differentiated B cells. Up: Representative expression of c-MAF and BLIMP-1 by flow cytometry in unstimulated B cells or stimulated naive (NA), unswitched memory (USM), switched memory (SM), double-negative (DN) B cells and total B cells. Black polygons indicate c-MAF⁺ BLIMP-1 ⁺ B cells. Down- Left: Percentage of MAF⁺ BLIMP-1 ⁺ B cells in unstimulated B cells (light grey) or stimulated total B cells (dark grey), naives (green), unswitched memory (blue), switched memory (purple), double-negative (vellow) B cells (N = 3). Down – Right: Mean Fluorescence intensity of c-MAF in differentiated B cells (N = 3). (B) Expression of MAF in the different tonsillar B-cell populations. Left: Gating strategy for defining the different of differentiated B cell subpopulations is presented. Differentiated B-cell populations are determined delimited according to the expression of CD38, CD27 and IgD in six subpopulations: double-negative cells IgD⁻ CD27⁻ (DN, yellow), naïve IgD⁺ CD27⁻ (NA, green) switched memory IgD⁻ CD27⁺ (SM, purple), unswitched memory IgD⁺ CD27⁺ (USM, blue), germinal center cells IgD⁻ CD38^{high} (GC, orange) and CD27^{high} CD38^{high} plasmablasts (PB, red). Right: Representative expression of c-MAF in the previously described subpopulations of tonsil B cells. Black rectangles indicate c-MAF⁺ B cells. The percentage of c-MAF⁺ B cells in each subpopulation is represented on the associated plot (N = 10). The difference of MAF expression between the populations have been evaluated using Kruskal Wallis test combined with Dunn's multiple comparison test. ****p-value < 0.0001; **p-value < 0,001.

116

new directions about its putative role in human B-cell homeostasis. However, further experiments are needed to fully understand its role in these different B-cell subsets. Furthermore, as described in T cells, we anticipated that MAF function will may be highly dependent on its different interacting molecular partners.

DISCUSSION: MAF ASSOCIATION WITH OTHER REGULATORS

A study providing a highly comprehensive view of the TF network regulating Th17 has underlined the key role of MAF in adaptive immunity (118). In Th17, c-MAF was shown as a negative regulator attenuating expression of several proinflammatory genes such as *Rora*, *Runx1*, *Il1r1*, *Ccr6*, or *Tnf* while upregulating immunoregulatory other ones such as *Il10* or *Ctla4* suggesting that its role is not restricted to cytokine regulation. As a bZIP TF, c-MAF could virtually interact with all AP1 protein members. We reported as follows the MAF relationships that may be relevant in B cells (**Figure 7**).

STAT3

STAT3 represents a key element in the transcriptional regulation of MAF expression in all helper T cells, but the mechanism remains unclear. MAF and SOX5 were demonstrated to be regulated by IL-6-mediated STAT3 activation driving Th17 expansion (130). Moreover, STAT3 binding on class II IL-6 responsive elements was observed on the MAF promoter in Th2 cells after TCR and IL-6 activation (131). This observation was also reproduced in CD69⁺ FOXP3⁺ Tregs where the treatment of cells with STAT3 and STAT5 siRNA reduced MAF expression (132). The TGF β seems to synergically act with IL-6 to induce MAF expression by sustaining the STAT3 expression (133). IL-21 and IL-6 are upstream inducers of STAT3 activation and highly involved in plasma cell differentiation suggesting that they could also act in inducing MAF in B cells (134). Moreover, dysregulated STAT3 signaling has been reported in B cells in autoimmune diseases associated with abnormal GC reaction or plasma cell expansion (135). Does STAT3 influence B10 generation by regulating MAF expression? It is an ongoing question and several reports have already suggested that STAT3 deficient signaling contributes to impair IL-10 production in SLE B cells (48, 53).



FIGURE 7 | Putative molecular factors involved in controlling *II10* transcription in Bregs. STAT3 could induce expression upon IL-6 activation and could also bind on the class II IL-6 responsive elements present on the c-MAF promoter. BACH2 has been shown to directly repress c-MAF transcription by binding its promoter in Tregs. BHLHE40 is a major repressor of IL-10 production through the inhibition of c-MAF in T cells and macrophages. BCL6 cooperates with c-MAF to regulate Tfh-associated genes. Tfh-cell differentiation and BCL6 expression is promoted through the control of c-MAF expression. IRF4 could be induced by c-MAF with the cooperation of BATF. c-MAF could directly bind on the IRF4 locus but needs a partner to transactivate its promoter. BLIMP-1 may not directly interact with c-MAF but seems to form a complex with it in T cells and both seem to have compensatory roles. Positive regulations are represented by black arrows, negative regulation by red lines and partners by orange lines. IRF, Interferon regulatory factor; Bilmp-1, B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein 1; NFAT, Nuclear factor of activated T-cells; HIF1α, hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha; pSTAT3, Phosphorylated signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; AhR, Aryl hydrocarbon receptor; NFκB, Nuclear factor kappa B; AP1, Activator protein 1; IL, Interleukin; BHLHE40, basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor 40; BACH2, Broad complex-tramtrack-bric a brac and Cap'n'collar homology 2; BCL6, B-cell lymphoma 6 protein; FOSL2, Fos-related antigen 2; BATF, Basic leucine zipper activating transcription factor-like.

117

BACH2

BACH2 is a TF involved in B cell differentiation and is controlled in human B cells by the IL-2 signaling (136, 137). BACH2 was mostly described as able to form heterodimers with small c-MAF proteins (136) binding to MARE domains. BACH2 interacts with MAFK to negatively regulate the immunoglobulin heavy chain gene 3' enhancer and the PRDM1 gene (138) controlling B cell differentiation and isotype switching. The BACH2 and the large MAF proteins interaction was not reported in B cells but BACH2 deletion in T cells led to an increase of the generation of Tfhproducing IL-4 and subsequent generated humoral autoimmunity (139). In this study, BACH2 was shown to directly repress MAF transcription by binding its promoter. BACH2 inhibits the differentiation of mature Tregs by competition with IRF4-recruiting AP-1 complexes for MARE genomic binding sites resulting in the decrease of Tregassociated genes such as Il10, Tigit, and, Maf. Interestingly, our previous data have shown that B-cell differentiation is associated with an upregulation of a similar pattern of genes suggesting that BACH2 could also repress MAF and IRF4 expression in B cells.

BHLHE40

The basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor 40 (Bhlhe40) is a member of the basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor family. BHLHE40 is a central mediator of both inflammation and pathogen control in T cells and macrophages (review in (140)). BHLHE40 was found as a major repressor of *Il10* in IL-27 driven Tr1 or Th1 cells through the inhibition of MAF (63, 141). During Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection, BHLHE40 was shown to bind directly to the +6kb (CNS3) enhancer of the Il10 locus in T cells and myeloid cells (142). BHLHE40 also named DEC1, STRA13, or Clast5, was first described as a negative regulator of B-cell activation and is downregulated following LPS or BCR stimulation (143). BHLHE40 overexpression led to cell cycle arrest in WEHI231 B lymphoma cells. By studying Bhlhe41^{-/-} mice, and DKO Bhlhe41^{-/-} Bhlhe40^{-/-}, it was demonstrated that compared to BHLHE41, BHLHE40 contributes slightly to B1 development and it is still not clear whether BHLHE40 possesses intrinsic action on murine B-cell development (144). However, it was shown that BHLHE40 was induced in human B cells following BCR or TLR9 stimulation restraining proliferating capacities (145). Moreover, BHLHE40 is overexpressed in anergic CD21^{low} B cells of patients with hepatitis C virus, a subset recently underlined as pathogenic in autoimmune diseases. The role of BHLHE40 in controlling Breg expansion has to be determined and interestingly, we recently underlined that BHLHE40 is a common factor downregulated during the PB differentiation (67).

BCL6

The BCL6 protein was first described as a master regulator of B cells during the GC reaction (146, 147). There exists a reciprocal regulatory loop between Blimp-1 and BCL6 during the B-cell differentiation, whereby both TF antagonize the expression of each other (148, 149). This antagonism between BCL6 and BLIMP-1 was also described as a critical mechanism regulating

the development of Tfh (150). BCL6 and c-MAF cooperate to regulate the expression of Tfh-associated genes like *PD1* or *CXCR5* (151). Furthermore, T cells lacking MAF expression failed to develop into Tfh after immunization (152). More recently the regulatory circuit between c-MAF, BLIMP-1, and BCL6 during the Tfh differentiation was examined in *Thpok* (encoded by the Zbtb7b gene) deficient mice (153). *Thpok* promoted Tfh cell differentiation and *Bcl6* expression through controlling *MAF* expression but independently of the repression of BLIMP-1.

IRF4

IRF4 is a key factor in the induction of regulatory plasma cells. Through a multi-layer -omics approach, c-MAF was suggested to interact with IRF4 in normal and myeloma plasma cells although no experimental data supported this idea (154). In T cells BATF and c-MAF cooperated to induce IRF4, to promote IL-4 production, and it was observed that c-MAF could bind to the IRF4 locus although it could not transactivate the promoter alone (155). To note, the action of c-MAF and IRF4 was also described in the M12 B cell lymphoma line acting in synergy with NFAT1 to enhance the IL-4 transcriptional activity (156)

BLIMP-1

The relationship between *MAF* and *PRDM1* has been studied with attention in Th1 and Th17. Although both factors seem to be required for *ll10* expression in both subsets, there are contradictory reports about their putative interaction as previously discussed (64). Whereas some reports suggested no physical interaction between both TFs, another study using coimmunoprecipitation assay suggested that MAF, Blimp-1, and RORyt form a complex in IL-27 stimulated T cells (157)

Moreover, a study that recently examined the regulatory network involved in the control of T-cell exhaustion in tumors underlined that although *MAF* and *PRDM1* are together involved in controlling several co-inhibitory receptors expression in T cells, both factors do not interact together and that *PRDM1* function in tumor-infiltrating T cells is independent of MAF suggesting that both TFs may have a compensatory role (116) Indeed, regression of tumor was observed more significantly in *MAF*, *PRDM1* double KO mice than in mice with a single gene deletion. Our data reported an association of *MAF* and *PRDM1* during the B cell differentiation, thus a role of MAF in the B-cell central regulatory network involving *BACH2*, *BCL6*, *IRF4*, and *PRDM1* is likely to also operate in the B cell differentiation and need to be further examined.

Role of the MicroRNAs miR155 and miR 21

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are small non-coding RNA molecules that control gene expression by binding messenger RNA (mRNA). Whereas most of the studies demonstrated that the binding of miRNAs to 5' UTR and coding regions have silencing effects, some others have also suggested that miRNA interaction with promoter region could have a positive effect and induce transcription (158). Of particular interest in B-cell physiology are the miR-155 and the miR-21.

First observations in mir155-deficient mice suggested that miR-155 control the GC formation, as well as, the extrafollicular response (159). It was further demonstrated that one main target of the miR155 was a member of the Ets domain-transcription factor family the TF PU.1 (160). Interestingly, the deletion of miR155 led to the overexpression of PU.1 resulting in the impairment of class switch recombination and plasma cell formation mostly by controlling the TF Pax5 (161).

The failure to downregulate Pax5 in PU.1-overexpressing cells prevented them from upregulating Blimp1 and thus initiating the plasma cell differentiation program. However, no direct role of miR155 on Blimp1 has been established so far.

The role of miRNA on IL-10 production is not clear. A recent report suggested that miR155 increased the expression of IL-10 by both upregulating the STAT3 phosphorylation and repressing the epigenetic regulator Jarid2 leading to the decrease in histone H3 lysine 27 trimethylation of the IL-10 promoter (162). On the other hand, the IL-10 production following LPS stimulation could inhibit miR155 in B cells in a STAT3-dependent manner (163). These complex interactions between IL-10, mir155, and STAT3 at the crossroad between B-cell differentiation and B-cell regulatory function need to be further elucidated but underlined their close relationship.

In one seminal paper, MAF has been described as an important target of miR-155 in T cells, and the increase of the Th2 profile observed in the miR-155 KO mice (bic^{m1/m1} and bic^{m2/m2}) was partially attributed to the upregulation of the MAF protein in absence of its antagonist (164). The miR-155 suppressed MAF expression in microglia leading to the decrease of IL-10 thus promoting neuroinflammation (165). In Group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2), miR-155 targets the 3'-UTR of the Maf mRNA and increased the production of IL-5, IL-9, and IL-13 Th2 cytokines in culture. Moreover, the treatment of mice with inducedallergic rhinitis with miR-155 antagomir significantly increased the expression of c-Maf and reduced allergic symptoms (166). Furthermore, another report described that c-MAF binding to the Il10 promoter is restricted by jarid2 in miR-155-deficient Th17 cells, emphasizing the importance of this network in regulating IL-10 expression.

Considering the key role of miR-155 in controlling the GC reaction, PB differentiation, IL-10 production, and MAF expression, we could anticipate that its expression may highly vary throughout the B-cell maturation. An in-depth investigation of these interactions could decipher important regulator mechanisms of the B-cell effector function.

The miR-21 was also described as a critical regulator of the B-cell differentiation and IL-10 production. Analysis of miR-21 levels in B cells revealed higher expression in activated B cells, especially in GC and memory B cells, and decreased expression in plasma cell differentiation (167). BLIMP-1 binds to the promoter of the premiR-21 to repress its expression upregulating miR-21 target genes, BTG2, PDCD4, and RHOB.

The miR-21 downregulated IL-10 expression in LPS-stimulated B cells *in vitro* and its expression is reduced in CD1d^{hi}CD5⁺ and Tim-1⁺ regulatory B cells. Furthermore, the administration of miR-21 antagonist *in vivo* decreased neuroinflammation and ameliorated

the clinical symptoms of the EAE mostly through the increase of IL-10 producing B cells (168). However, the fine-tune mechanisms of miR-21 regulating IL-10 expression appear more elaborate, as one of its main targets the PDCD4 protein was also described as a potent IL-10 inhibitor (169). Interestingly, PDCD4 controls MAF expression by sequestering the Basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors Twist2 from the MAF promoter (170).

The list of miRNAs that could potentially control IL-10 producing B cells described here is far from being exhaustive, and it is not clear how the interplay between these different actors could influence the B-cell function. However, this entire field remains an exciting area of investigation still uncovered.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The idea of a unique TF regulating all Breg populations seems unlikely, the diversity of precursors and mechanisms of action of Bregs are more compatible with microenvironmental plasticity and multiple molecular mechanisms. However, the extreme flexibility of the c-MAFs proteins to directly or indirectly cooperate with diverse partners modulating cell specification makes it a promising candidate in regulating B-cell effector functions such as Ab production or immune regulation.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Patients and Samples

The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by ethical committees. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

RNA Sequencing Sample Preparation

The *in-vitro*-induced Be1 and Be2/Breg were obtained in coculture with naive and memory T cells, respectively, as previously described (126). After coculture, B cells were sorted with the "FACS MoFlo XDP cell sorter" (Beckman Coulter) with a purity greater than 98%.

RNA-Sequencing

RNA-seq (50 bp paired-end) was performed on a Nextseq500 instrument (Illumina). The library preparation was done using the Illumina TruSeq[®] Stranded mRNA Sample preparation kit. The starting material (1 μ g) of total RNA was mRNA enriched using the oligodT bead system. The isolated mRNA was subsequently digested using enzymatic fragmentation. Then, the first strand and second strand synthesis were performed and purified (AMPure XP, Beckman Coulter). Next, the double-stranded cDNA was end repaired, 3' adenylated, and Illumina sequencing adaptors were ligated onto the fragment ends. Finally, purified mRNA-stranded libraries were pre-amplified by PCR and the library size distributions were validated and quality inspected on a Bioanalyzer (high sensitivity DNA chip). High quality libraries were quantified using qPCR, the

concentration was normalized, and the 12 samples from six independent experiments were randomly pooled in six final libraries, three for the Be1 conditions and three for the B reg conditions. The library pools were re-quantified with qPCR and the optimal concentration of the library pools was used to generate the clusters on the surface of a flow cell before sequencing on a Nextseq500 instrument using a High Output sequencing kit (2 x 50 cycles) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Illumina). The quality of the Raw.fastq files was analyzed using the bcl2fastq software (Illumina), with a Q-score greater than 30. Reads mapping to the reference genome (GRCh37/hg19) were performed on quality-checked reads using STAR 2.4.1c. The reference annotation used was Ensembl 75. The overlap of reads with annotation features found in the reference gtf file was calculated using featureCount. The output computed for each sample (raw read counts) was then used as the input for Edge R analysis. Genes that had an expression level of under 10 counts per million (cpm) were excluded from the analysis. The quantile-adjusted conditional maximum likelihood (qCML) method was used to determine differentially expressed genes (DEGs) with p-value filters <0,01 and $|fold-change(FC)| \ge 1,5$.

Peripheral Blood B-Cell Isolation, Sorting, and Culture

The leukoreduction system chambers (LRSC) of Peripheral blood from healthy donors were obtained during routine plateletpheresis at the "Etablissement français du sang". The peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMCs) were isolated using density gradient centrifugation on lymphocyte separation medium, Pancoll human (PAN Biotech). CD19⁺ B cells were purified from human PBMCs using the REAlease[®] CD19 Microbead Kit (Miltenyi Biotec) with a purity greater than 98%, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Isolated B cells were cultured in 96-well plates (BD Falcon) at $2x10^5$ cells per 200 µL/wells in complete medium (RPMI 1640 medium (Sigma-Aldrich)) supplemented with 10% of heat-inactivated Fetal Calf Serum (FCS) (BD Biosciences), 2 mM Glutamax (Gibco) and penicillin (200 U/mL) and streptomycin (100 µg/mL). B cells were stimulated for 48 h (2 days) in the presence of CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN-2006) (1 µM; *In vivo*Gen), recombinant human Interleukin-2 (rh IL-2) (20 ng/mL, ImmunoTools) or anti-CD40 (1 mg/mL) (MAB-59; Beckman Coulter).

For the sorting of B cell subsets, isolated B cells were stained for 30 min at 4°C into the dark with IgD (IA6-2, Biolegend), CD10 (ALB1, Beckman coulter), CD27 (1A4CD27, Beckman coulter), CD19 (J3-119, Beckman coulter) Abs. CD10-positive B cells, which correspond to the transitional subset, were excluded from the cell sorting. Naive (NA, IgD⁺ CD27⁻ CD10⁻), unswitched memory (USM, IgD⁺ CD27⁺ CD10⁻), switched memory (SM, IgD⁺ CD27⁺ CD10⁻) and double negative B cells (DN, IgD⁻ CD27⁻ CD10⁻) were sorted. Sorted cells were cultured in 96-well plates (Falcon) at 2×10^5 cells per 200 µL/well in complete medium (RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% of heat-inactivated FCS, 4 mM L-Glutamine (Gibco) and penicillin and streptomycin. B cell subsets were stimulated for 84 h (3.5 days), in the presence of the AffiniPure

Goat anti-Human IgG+IgM (H+L) ($2\mu g/mL$), the AffiniPure F(ab') 2 Fragment Goat Anti-Human Serum IgA, α Chain Specific ($2\mu g/mL$; Jackson ImmunoReasearch Laboratories), CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN-2006) (0,25 μ M), recombinant human Interleukin-2 (rh IL-2) (20 ng/mL), as previously described (https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.03. 31.437810v1).

Isolation of Tonsil B Cells

Tonsils were collected during tonsillectomy. The Tonsillar Mononuclear Cells (TMCs) were isolated by mechanical disruption of tonsil tissue followed by Pancoll gradient centrifugation. Isolated TMCs were diluted in FCS up to a concentration of 10.10^6 TMCs/mL. Sheep red blood cells (Boehringer Ingelheim Therapeutics) were pre-incubated with Alserver solution (114 mM of dextrose, 27 mM of sodium citrate, 71 mM of sodium chloride, 1 M of citric acid diluted in distilled water) for 5 minutes and washed before an incubation at 37°C with 1 U/mL of neuraminidase (Sigma-aldrich) for 1 h. Neuraminidase-treated sheep red blood cells were washed and then incubated with the diluted TMCs during 10 minutes at 37°C. B cells from TMCs were then isolated following Pancoll gradient centrifugation, with a purity greater than 96%.

Flow Cytometry

All staining was performed using the Navios II flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter). The Abs with the following specificities were used: CD19 (J3-119), CD38 (LS198-4-3), CD27 (1A4CD27), IgD (IA6-2) c-MAF (T54-853, BD Biosciences), BLIMP-1 (646702, R&D systems) and IRF4 (REA201, Miltenyi Biotec), IL-10 (JES3-9D7, Biolegend). Intranuclear staining of IRF4, BLIMP-1 and c-MAF (T54-853, BD Biosciences) were performed using the Transcription Factor Buffer Set according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Biosciences). For the detection of IL10 and c-MAF together, we used the CytoFast Perm Fix Set (BioLegend) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The c-MAF expression was analyzed using an unconjugated rabbit anti-MAF (BLR045F, Bethyl laboratories) revealed by a Fluorescein (FITC) AffiniPure F(ab') 2 Fragment Donkey Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories). Flow cytometry data were analyzed using Kaluza Analysis (v2.1) and FlowJo (v10.7.2) softwares.

Western Blot

Total proteins were extracted with RIPA Lysis Buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) supplemented with 1% of protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma Aldrich). Samples treated with reducing Laemmli buffer (1.8% β -mercaptoethanol; Sigma Aldrich) were separated on SDS-PAGE with 10% acrylamide/bis (37,5:1) solution (Biorad) with the Mini-PROTEAN[®] Tetra Vertical Electrophoresis Cell (Biorad) at 120 volts for 20 minutes and then at 160 volts for 45 minutes. Separated proteins were then transferred to a 0,2 μ m PVDF membrane (Biorad) using the Trans-Blot[®] SD Semi-Dry Transfer Cell (Biorad) at 20 volts during 90 min. After washing in Tris Buffered Saline 0,1% Tween (TBST), the membrane was blocked for 1 hour in TBST containing 5% of fat dry milk (for c-MAF) or 5% of BSA (for GAPDH) at room temperature. The polyclonal rabbit c-MAF Ab

(ProteinTech) at 0,7 μ g/mL in TBST containing 1% of fat dry milk and the membrane was incubated in this solution for 2 hours at room temperature. The secondary antibody used was a peroxydase conjugated donkey anti-rabbit IgG (H+L) Ab (GE Healthcare) at 0,2 μ g/mL in 1% of fat dry milk TBST during one hour at room temperature. The HRP-Rabbit polyclonal to GAPDH (Abcam) in TBST containing 1% of BSA and the membrane was incubated overnight. The PVDF membranes were revealed by chemiluminescence (Immobilon Fort Western HRP substrate, Merck Millipore) by using the ChemiDocTM XRS system (Biorad, Quantity One[®] Software).

Statistics

All statistics and graph representation were performed with GraphPad Prism (v.8.8.2). The Kruskal Wallis test combined with Dunn's multiple comparison test was used.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/geo/, GSE112448.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Brest Hospital ethical

REFERENCES

- Wolf SD, Dittel BN, Hardardottir F, Janeway CAJr. Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Induction in Genetically B Cell-Deficient Mice. J Exp Med (1996) 184(6):2271–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.184.6.2271
- Bosma A, Abdel-Gadir A, Isenberg DA, Jury EC, Mauri C. Lipid-Antigen Presentation by CD1d(+) B Cells Is Essential for the Maintenance of Invariant Natural Killer T Cells. *Immunity* (2012) 36(3):477–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2012.02.008
- Matsumoto M, Baba A, Yokota T, Nishikawa H, Ohkawa Y, Kayama H, et al. Interleukin-10-Producing Plasmablasts Exert Regulatory Function in Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1040–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2014.10.016
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35-Producing B Cells are Critical Regulators of Immunity During Autoimmune and Infectious Diseases. *Nature* (2014) 507(7492):366–70. doi: 10.1038/nature12979
- Simon Q, Pers JO, Cornec D, Le Pottier L, Mageed RA, Hillion S. In-Depth Characterization of CD24(high)CD38(high) Transitional Human B Cells Reveals Different Regulatory Profiles. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2016) 137 (5):1577–84.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.09.014
- Kessel A, Haj T, Peri R, Snir A, Melamed D, Sabo E, et al. Human CD19(+) CD25(high) B Regulatory Cells Suppress Proliferation of CD4(+) T Cells and Enhance Foxp3 and CTLA-4 Expression in T-Regulatory Cells. *Autoimmun Rev* (2012) 11(9):670–7. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.018
- Lindner S, Dahlke K, Sontheimer K, Hagn M, Kaltenmeier C, Barth TF, et al. Interleukin 21-Induced Granzyme B-Expressing B Cells Infiltrate Tumors and Regulate T Cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(8):2468–79. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3450

committee. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LLP and SH designed the study. MB, MM-C, and LLP wrote the first draft of the manuscript and figures. AG, MB, MM-C, and QS performed and analyzed the experiments. SH wrote the final version of the manuscript. DC, J-OP, and OM participated in the text edition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work has been carried out thanks to the support of the LabEx IGO program (n° ANR-11-LABX-0016-01) funded by the «Investissements d'Avenir» French Government program, managed by the French National Research Agency (ANR).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the Cytometry Core Facility Hyperion (Brest, France) for their technical assistance in cell sorting.

- Catalán D, Mansilla MA, Ferrier A, Soto L, Oleinika K, Aguillón JC, et al. Immunosuppressive Mechanisms of Regulatory B Cells. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:611795. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.611795
- Olkhanud PB, Damdinsuren B, Bodogai M, Gress RE, Sen R, Wejksza K, et al. Tumor-Evoked Regulatory B Cells Promote Breast Cancer Metastasis by Converting Resting CD4⁺ T Cells to T-Regulatory Cells. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(10):3505–15. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4316
- Lee-Chang C, Bodogai M, Martin-Montalvo A, Wejksza K, Sanghvi M, Moaddel R, et al. Inhibition of Breast Cancer Metastasis by Resveratrol-Mediated Inactivation of Tumor-Evoked Regulatory B Cells. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2013) 191(8):4141–51. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300606
- Bernier M, Paul RK, Martin-Montalvo A, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Song S, He HJ, et al. Negative Regulation of STAT3 Protein-Mediated Cellular Respiration by SIRT1 Protein. J Biol Chem (2011) 286(22):19270–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.200311
- Li Y, Zhu W, Li J, Liu M, Wei M. Resveratrol Suppresses the STAT3 Signaling Pathway and Inhibits Proliferation of High Glucose-Exposed HepG2 Cells Partly Through SIRT1. Oncol Rep (2013) 30(6):2820–8. doi: 10.3892/ or.2013.2748
- Han Y, Kang Y, Yu J, Yu SL, Park HW, Shin J, et al. Increase of Hspa1a and Hspa1b Genes in the Resting B Cells of Sirt1 Knockout Mice. *Mol Biol Rep* (2019) 46(4):4225–34. doi: 10.1007/s11033-019-04876-7
- Gan H, Shen T, Chupp DP, Taylor JR, Sanchez HN, Li X, et al. B Cell Sirt1 Deacetylates Histone and non-Histone Proteins for Epigenetic Modulation of AID Expression and the Antibody Response. *Sci Adv* (2020) 6(14):eaay2793. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aay2793
- Shah S, Qiao L. Resting B Cells Expand a CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Treg Population via TGF-Beta3. Eur J Immunol (2008) 38(9):2488–98. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838201

- Bjarnadóttir K, Benkhoucha M, Merkler D, Weber MS, Payne NL, Bernard CCA, et al. B Cell-Derived Transforming Growth Factor-β1 Expression Limits the Induction Phase of Autoimmune Neuroinflammation. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:34594. doi: 10.1038/srep34594
- Molnarfi N, Bjarnadóttir K, Benkhoucha M, Juillard C, Lalive PH. Activation of Human B Cells Negatively Regulates TGF-β1 Production. J Neuroinflamm (2017) 14(1):13. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0798-5
- Zhang Y, Morgan R, Chen C, Cai Y, Clark E, Khan WN, et al. Mammary-Tumor-Educated B Cells Acquire LAP/TGF-β and PD-L1 Expression and Suppress Anti-Tumor Immune Responses. *Int Immunol* (2016) 28(9):423–33. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxw007
- Joly MS, Martin RP, Mitra-Kaushik S, Phillips L, D'Angona A, Richards SM, et al. Transient Low-Dose Methotrexate Generates B Regulatory Cells That Mediate Antigen-Specific Tolerance to Alglucosidase Alfa. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2014) 193(8):3947–58. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303326
- Nouël A, Pochard P, Simon Q, Ségalen I, Le Meur Y, Pers JO, et al. B-Cells Induce Regulatory T Cells Through TGF-β/IDO Production in A CTLA-4 Dependent Manner. J Autoimmun (2015) 59:53–60. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaut.2015.02.004
- Kehrl JH, Roberts AB, Wakefield LM, Jakowlew S, Sporn MB, Fauci AS. Transforming Growth Factor Beta is an Important Immunomodulatory Protein for Human B Lymphocytes. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (1986) 137(12):3855–60.
- Komai T, Inoue M, Okamura T, Morita K, Iwasaki Y, Sumitomo S, et al. Transforming Growth Factor-β and Interleukin-10 Synergistically Regulate Humoral Immunity *via* Modulating Metabolic Signals. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1364. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01364
- Ewen CL, Kane KP, Bleackley RC. A Quarter Century of Granzymes. Cell Death Differ (2012) 19(1):28–35. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2011.153
- 24. Jahrsdörfer B, Blackwell SE, Wooldridge JE, Huang J, Andreski MW, Jacobus LS, et al. B-Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells and Other B Cells can Produce Granzyme B and Gain Cytotoxic Potential After Interleukin-21-Based Activation. *Blood* (2006) 108(8):2712–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-014001
- Hagn M, Ebel V, Sontheimer K, Schwesinger E, Lunov O, Beyer T, et al. CD5+ B Cells From Individuals With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Express Granzyme B. Eur J Immunol (2010) 40(7):2060–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.200940113
- 26. Kaltenmeier C, Gawanbacht A, Beyer T, Lindner S, Trzaska T, van der Merwe JA, et al. CD4+ T Cell-Derived IL-21 and Deprivation of CD40 Signaling Favor the *In Vivo* Development of Granzyme B-Expressing Regulatory B Cells in HIV Patients. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950)* (2015) 194(8):3768–77. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402568
- Chesneau M, Michel L, Dugast E, Chenouard A, Baron D, Pallier A, et al. Tolerant Kidney Transplant Patients Produce B Cells With Regulatory Properties. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(10):2588–98. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2014040404
- Chesneau M, Mai HL, Danger R, Le Bot S, Nguyen TV, Bernard J, et al. Efficient Expansion of Human Granzyme B-Expressing B Cells With Potent Regulatory Properties. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2020) 205(9):2391– 401. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.2000335
- Hagn M, Schwesinger E, Ebel V, Sontheimer K, Maier J, Beyer T, et al. Human B Cells Secrete Granzyme B When Recognizing Viral Antigens in the Context of the Acute Phase Cytokine IL-21. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2009) 183(3):1838–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901066
- Papp G, Gyimesi E, Szabó K, Zöld É, Zeher M. Increased IL-21 Expression Induces Granzyme B in Peripheral CD5(+) B Cells as a Potential Counter-Regulatory Effect in Primary Sjögren's Syndrome. *Mediators Inflamm* (2016) 2016:4328372. doi: 10.1155/2016/4328372
- Parrish-Novak J, Dillon SR, Nelson A, Hammond A, Sprecher C, Gross JA, et al. Interleukin 21 and its Receptor are Involved in NK Cell Expansion and Regulation of Lymphocyte Function. *Nature* (2000) 408(6808):57–63. doi: 10.1038/35040504
- Xu W, Narayanan P, Kang N, Clayton S, Ohne Y, Shi P, et al. Human Plasma Cells Express Granzyme B. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(1):275–84. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201343711
- Hagn M, Belz GT, Kallies A, Sutton VR, Thia KY, Tarlinton DM, et al. Activated Mouse B Cells Lack Expression of Granzyme B. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2012) 188(8):3886–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103285

- Leonard WJ, Spolski R. Interleukin-21: A Modulator of Lymphoid Proliferation, Apoptosis and Differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5 (9):688-98. doi: 10.1038/nri1688
- Dubois F, Limou S, Chesneau M, Degauque N, Brouard S, Danger R. Transcriptional Meta-Analysis of Regulatory B Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2020) 50(11):1757–69. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948489
- Rakhmanov M, Sic H, Kienzler AK, Fischer B, Rizzi M, Seidl M, et al. High Levels of SOX5 Decrease Proliferative Capacity of Human B Cells, But Permit Plasmablast Differentiation. *PloS One* (2014) 9(6):e100328. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0100328
- Levy Y, Brouet JC. Interleukin-10 Prevents Spontaneous Death of Germinal Center B Cells by Induction of the Bcl-2 Protein. J Clin Invest (1994) 93 (1):424–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI116977
- Banchereau J, Blanchard D, Brière F, Galizzi JP, Garrone P, Hermann P, et al. Role of Cytokines in Human B Lymphocyte Growth and Differentiation. *Nouv Rev Fr Hematol* (1993) 35(1):61–6.
- Banchereau J, Brière F, Liu YJ, Rousset F. Molecular Control of B Lymphocyte Growth and Differentiation. Stem Cells (1994) 12(3):278–88. doi: 10.1002/ stem.5530120304
- Saeland S, Duvert V, Moreau I, Banchereau J. Human B Cell Precursors Proliferate and Express CD23 After CD40 Ligation. J Exp Med (1993) 178 (1):113–20. doi: 10.1084/jem.178.1.113
- Arpin C, Déchanet J, Van Kooten C, Merville P, Grouard G, Brière F, et al. Generation of Memory B Cells and Plasma Cells In Vitro. *Sci (New York NY)* (1995) 268(5211):720–2. doi: 10.1126/science.7537388
- 42. Agematsu K, Nagumo H, Oguchi Y, Nakazawa T, Fukushima K, Yasui K, et al. Generation of Plasma Cells From Peripheral Blood Memory B Cells: Synergistic Effect of Interleukin-10 and CD27/CD70 Interaction. *Blood* (1998) 91(1):173–80. doi: 10.1182/blood.V91.1.173.173_173_180
- 43. Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Matsushita T, Tsubata T, Tedder TF. The Development and Function of Regulatory B Cells Expressing IL-10 (B10 Cells) Requires Antigen Receptor Diversity and TLR Signals. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2009) 182(12):7459-72. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0900270
- 44. Neves P, Lampropoulou V, Calderon-Gomez E, Roch T, Stervbo U, Shen P, et al. Signaling via the MyD88 Adaptor Protein in B Cells Suppresses Protective Immunity During Salmonella Typhimurium Infection. *Immunity* (2010) 33(5):777–90. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.016
- Mauri C, Bosma A. Immune Regulatory Function of B Cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:221–41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074934
- Saraiva M, O'Garra A. The Regulation of IL-10 Production by Immune Cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(3):170–81. doi: 10.1038/nri2711
- 47. Jin G, Hamaguchi Y, Matsushita T, Hasegawa M, Le Huu D, Ishiura N, et al. B-Cell Linker Protein Expression Contributes to Controlling Allergic and Autoimmune Diseases by Mediating IL-10 Production in Regulatory B Cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131(6):1674–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.01.044
- Blair PA, Noreña LY, Flores-Borja F, Rawlings DJ, Isenberg DA, Ehrenstein MR, et al. CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B Cells Exhibit Regulatory Capacity in Healthy Individuals But are Functionally Impaired in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients. *Immunity* (2010) 32(1):129–40. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2009.11.009
- Mion F, Tonon S, Toffoletto B, Cesselli D, Pucillo CE, Vitale G. IL-10 Production by B Cells is Differentially Regulated by Immune-Mediated and Infectious Stimuli and Requires P38 Activation. *Mol Immunol* (2014) 62 (2):266–76. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2014.05.018
- Mavropoulos A, Simopoulou T, Varna A, Liaskos C, Katsiari CG, Bogdanos DP, et al. Breg Cells Are Numerically Decreased and Functionally Impaired in Patients With Systemic Sclerosis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68(2):494–504. doi: 10.1002/art.39437
- Hua C, Audo R, Yeremenko N, Baeten D, Hahne M, Combe B, et al. A Proliferation Inducing Ligand (APRIL) Promotes IL-10 Production and Regulatory Functions of Human B Cells. J Autoimmun (2016) 73:64–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2016.06.002
- Liu BS, Cao Y, Huizinga TW, Hafler DA, Toes RE. TLR-Mediated STAT3 and ERK Activation Controls IL-10 Secretion by Human B Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(7):2121–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344341
- 53. Menon M, Blair PA, Isenberg DA, Mauri C. A Regulatory Feedback Between Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells and Regulatory B Cells Is Aberrant in Systemic

Lupus Erythematosus. *Immunity* (2016) 44(3):683–97. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.02.012

- 54. Zhu Z, Zhang Y, Ye J, Wang X, Fu X, Yin Y, et al. IL-35 Promoted STAT3 Phosphorylation and IL-10 Production in B Cells, But Its Production was Reduced in Patients With Coronary Artery Diseases. *Hum Immunol* (2018) 79 (12):869–75. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2018.10.009
- Berglund LJ, Avery DT, Ma CS, Moens L, Deenick EK, Bustamante J, et al. IL-21 Signalling via STAT3 Primes Human Naive B Cells to Respond to IL-2 to Enhance Their Differentiation Into Plasmablasts. *Blood* (2013) 122(24):3940– 50. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-506865
- 56. Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Tonon S, Doyle R, Bosma A, Carter NA, et al. Regulatory B Cells are Induced by Gut Microbiota-Driven Interleukin-1β and Interleukin-6 Production. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(11):1334–9. doi: 10.1038/ nm.3680
- Oladipupo FO, Yu CR, Olumuyide E, Jittaysothorn Y, Choi JK, Egwuagu CE. STAT3 Deficiency in B Cells Exacerbates Uveitis by Promoting Expansion of Pathogenic Lymphocytes and Suppressing Regulatory B Cells (Bregs) and Tregs. Sci Rep (2020) 10(1):16188. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-73093-1
- Benkhart EM, Siedlar M, Wedel A, Werner T, Ziegler-Heitbrock HW. Role of Stat3 in Lipopolysaccharide-Induced IL-10 Gene Expression. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2000) 165(3):1612–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.3.1612
- Im SH, Hueber A, Monticelli S, Kang KH, Rao A. Chromatin-Level Regulation of the IL10 Gene in T Cells. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(45):46818–25. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M401722200
- 60. Saraiva M, Christensen JR, Veldhoen M, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 Production by Th1 Cells Requires Interleukin-12-Induced STAT4 Transcription Factor and ERK MAP Kinase Activation by High Antigen Dose. *Immunity* (2009) 31(2):209–19. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2009.05.012
- Wang ZY, Sato H, Kusam S, Sehra S, Toney LM, Dent AL. Regulation of IL-10 Gene Expression in Th2 Cells by Jun Proteins. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md:* 1950) (2005) 174(4):2098–105. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.4.2098
- Lee CG, Kang KH, So JS, Kwon HK, Son JS, Song MK, et al. A Distal Cis-Regulatory Element, CNS-9, Controls NFAT1 and IRF4-Mediated IL-10 Gene Activation in T Helper Cells. *Mol Immunol* (2009) 46(4):613–21. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2008.07.037
- Zhang H, Madi A, Yosef N, Chihara N, Awasthi A, Pot C, et al. An IL-27-Driven Transcriptional Network Identifies Regulators of IL-10 Expression Across T Helper Cell Subsets. *Cell Rep* (2020) 33(8):108433. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2020.108433
- Neumann C, Heinrich F, Neumann K, Junghans V, Mashreghi MF, Ahlers J, et al. Role of Blimp-1 in Programing Th Effector Cells Into IL-10 Producers. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(9):1807–19. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131548
- Wang YH, Tsai DY, Ko YA, Yang TT, Lin IY, Hung KH, et al. Blimp-1 Contributes to the Development and Function of Regulatory B Cells. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1909. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01909
- 66. Minnich M, Tagoh H, Bönelt P, Axelsson E, Fischer M, Cebolla B, et al. Multifunctional Role of the Transcription Factor Blimp-1 in Coordinating Plasma Cell Differentiation. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(3):331–43. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3349
- 67. Grasseau A, Boudigou M, Michée-Cospolite M, Delaloy C, Mignen O, Jamin C, et al. The Diversity of the Plasmablast Signature Across Species and Experimental Conditions: A Meta-Analysis. *Immunology* (2021) 164 (1):120–34. doi: 10.1111/imm.13344
- Lee CG, Hwang W, Maeng KE, Kwon HK, So JS, Sahoo A, et al. IRF4 Regulates IL-10 Gene Expression in CD4(+) T Cells Through Differential Nuclear Translocation. *Cell Immunol* (2011) 268(2):97–104. doi: 10.1016/ j.cellimm.2011.02.008
- Jones EA, Flavell RA. Distal Enhancer Elements Transcribe Intergenic RNA in the IL-10 Family Gene Cluster. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2005) 175 (11):7437–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.11.7437
- Glasmacher E, Agrawal S, Chang AB, Murphy TL, Zeng W, Vander Lugt B, et al. A Genomic Regulatory Element That Directs Assembly and Function of Immune-Specific AP-1-IRF Complexes. *Sci (New York NY)* (2012) 338 (6109):975–80. doi: 10.1126/science.1228309
- Li P, Spolski R, Liao W, Wang L, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. BATF-JUN Is Critical for IRF4-Mediated Transcription in T Cells. *Nature* (2012) 490 (7421):543–6. doi: 10.1038/nature11530

- Yu CR, Choi JK, Uche AN, Egwuagu CE. Production of IL-35 by Bregs Is Mediated Through Binding of BATF-IRF-4-IRF-8 Complex to Il12a and Ebi3 Promoter Elements. J Leukocyte Biol (2018) 104(6):1147–57. doi: 10.1002/ JLB.3A0218-071RRR
- Cretney E, Xin A, Shi W, Minnich M, Masson F, Miasari M, et al. The Transcription Factors Blimp-1 and IRF4 Jointly Control the Differentiation and Function of Effector Regulatory T Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(4):304– 11. doi: 10.1038/ni.2006
- 74. Kwon H, Thierry-Mieg D, Thierry-Mieg J, Kim HP, Oh J, Tunyaplin C, et al. Analysis of Interleukin-21-Induced Prdm1 Gene Regulation Reveals Functional Cooperation of STAT3 and IRF4 Transcription Factors. *Immunity* (2009) 31(6):941–52. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.10.008
- Xu H, Chaudhri VK, Wu Z, Biliouris K, Dienger-Stambaugh K, Rochman Y, et al. Regulation of Bifurcating B Cell Trajectories by Mutual Antagonism Between Transcription Factors IRF4 and IRF8. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16 (12):1274–81. doi: 10.1038/ni.3287
- 76. Du Z, Chen A, Huang L, Dai X, Chen Q, Yang D, et al. STAT3 Couples With 14-3-3ς to Regulate BCR Signaling, B-Cell Differentiation, and IgE Production. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2021) 147(5):1907–23.e6. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2020.09.033
- Avalle L, Camporeale A, Morciano G, Caroccia N, Ghetti E, Orecchia V, et al. STAT3 Localizes to the ER, Acting as a Gatekeeper for ER-Mitochondrion Ca (2+) Fluxes and Apoptotic Responses. *Cell Death Differ* (2019) 26(5):932–42. doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0171-y
- Zhang Z, Zhou L, Yang X, Wang Y, Zhang P, Hou L, et al. Notch-RBP-J-Independent Marginal Zone B Cell Development in IgH Transgenic Mice With VH Derived From a Natural Polyreactive Antibody. *PloS One* (2012) 7 (6):e38894. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038894
- Matsumoto M, Fujii Y, Baba A, Hikida M, Kurosaki T, Baba Y. The Calcium Sensors STIM1 and STIM2 Control B Cell Regulatory Function Through Interleukin-10 Production. *Immunity* (2011) 34(5):703–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2011.03.016
- Bhattacharyya S, Deb J, Patra AK, Thuy Pham DA, Chen W, Vaeth M, et al. NFATc1 Affects Mouse Splenic B Cell Function by Controlling the Calcineurin–NFAT Signaling Network. J Exp Med (2011) 208(4):823–39. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100945
- Alrefai H, Muhammad K, Rudolf R, Pham DA, Klein-Hessling S, Patra AK, et al. NFATc1 Supports Imiquimod-Induced Skin Inflammation by Suppressing IL-10 Synthesis in B Cells. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:11724. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11724
- Garaud S, Morva A, Lemoine S, Hillion S, Bordron A, Pers JO, et al. CD5 Promotes IL-10 Production in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia B Cells Through STAT3 and NFAT2 Activation. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2011) 186(8):4835–44. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003050
- Mohr A, Cumin M, Bagacean C, Pochard P, Le Dantec C, Hillion S, et al. The Regulatory Capacity of B Cells Directs the Aggressiveness of CLL. Oncoimmunology (2019) 8(3):1554968. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1554968
- Märklin M, Heitmann JS, Fuchs AR, Truckenmüller FM, Gutknecht M, Bugl S, et al. NFAT2 is a Critical Regulator of the Anergic Phenotype in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):755. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00830-y
- 85. Shaim H, Estrov Z, Harris D, Hernandez Sanabria M, Liu Z, Ruvolo P, et al. The CXCR4-STAT3-IL-10 Pathway Controls the Immunoregulatory Function of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia and Is Modulated by Lenalidomide. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1773. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01773
- Li L, Zhang J, Chen J, Xu-Monette ZY, Miao Y, Xiao M, et al. B-Cell Receptor-Mediated NFATc1 Activation Induces IL-10/STAT3/PD-L1 Signaling in Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. *Blood* (2018) 132(17):1805–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-03-841015
- Darnell JEJr., Kerr IM, Stark GR. Jak-STAT Pathways and Transcriptional Activation in Response to IFNs and Other Extracellular Signaling Proteins. *Sci* (*New York NY*) (1994) 264(5164):1415–21. doi: 10.1126/science.8197455
- Meng X, Grötsch B, Luo Y, Knaup KX, Wiesener MS, Chen XX, et al. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1α is a Critical Transcription Factor for IL-10-Producing B Cells in Autoimmune Disease. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):251. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02683-x
- 89. Qian T, Hong J, Wang L, Wang Z, Lu Z, Li Y, et al. Regulation of CD11b by HIF-1 α and the STAT3 Signaling Pathway Contributes to the

Immunosuppressive Function of B Cells in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Mol Immunol* (2019) 111:162–71. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2019.04.005

- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-Inducible Factors and the Response to Hypoxic Stress. *Mol Cell* (2010) 40(2):294–309. doi: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2010.09.022
- Jellusova J, Cato MH, Apgar JR, Ramezani-Rad P, Leung CR, Chen C, et al. Gsk3 is a Metabolic Checkpoint Regulator in B Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18 (3):303–12. doi: 10.1038/ni.3664
- 92. Bibby JA, Purvis HA, Hayday T, Chandra A, Okkenhaug K, Rosenzweig S, et al. Cholesterol Metabolism Drives Regulatory B Cell IL-10 Through Provision of Geranylgeranyl Pyrophosphate. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11 (1):3412. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17179-4
- Hu X, Paik PK, Chen J, Yarilina A, Kockeritz L, Lu TT, et al. IFN-Gamma Suppresses IL-10 Production and Synergizes With TLR2 by Regulating GSK3 and CREB/AP-1 Proteins. *Immunity* (2006) 24(5):563–74. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2006.02.014
- Hill EV, Ng TH, Burton BR, Oakley CM, Malik K, Wraith DC. Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 Controls IL-10 Expression in CD4(+) Effector T-Cell Subsets Through Epigenetic Modification of the IL-10 Promoter. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(4):1103–15. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444661
- 95. Wang H, Brown J, Garcia CA, Tang Y, Benakanakere MR, Greenway T, et al. The Role of Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 in Regulating IFN-β-Mediated IL-10 Production. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2011) 186(2):675–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001473
- Apetoh L, Quintana FJ, Pot C, Joller N, Xiao S, Kumar D, et al. The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Interacts With C-Maf to Promote the Differentiation of Type 1 Regulatory T Cells Induced by IL-27. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11 (9):854–61. doi: 10.1038/ni.1912
- Piper CJM, Rosser EC, Oleinika K, Nistala K, Krausgruber T, Rendeiro AF, et al. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Contributes to the Transcriptional Program of IL-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Rep* (2019) 29(7):1878–92.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.018
- Rosser EC, Piper CJM, Matei DE, Blair PA, Rendeiro AF, Orford M, et al. Microbiota-Derived Metabolites Suppress Arthritis by Amplifying Aryl-Hydrocarbon Receptor Activation in Regulatory B Cells. *Cell Metab* (2020) 31(4):837–51.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.03.003
- Xiao S, Bod L, Pochet N, Kota SB, Hu D, Madi A, et al. Checkpoint Receptor TIGIT Expressed on Tim-1(+) B Cells Regulates Tissue Inflammation. *Cell Rep* (2020) 32(2):107892. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.107892
- 100. Nishimura S, Manabe I, Takaki S, Nagasaki M, Otsu M, Yamashita H, et al. Adipose Natural Regulatory B Cells Negatively Control Adipose Tissue Inflammation. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18(5):759–66. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2013.09.017
- 101. Daïen CI, Tan J, Audo R, Mielle J, Quek LE, Krycer JR, et al. Gut-Derived Acetate Promotes B10 Cells With Antiinflammatory Effects. JCI Insight (2021) 6(7):e144156. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.144156
- 102. Zou F, Qiu Y, Huang Y, Zou H, Cheng X, Niu Q, et al. Effects of Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Inhibiting HDAC and Activating P38 MAPK are Critical for Promoting B10 Cell Generation and Function. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12 (6):582. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-03880-9
- 103. Iperi C, Bordron A, Dueymes M, Pers JO, Jamin C. Metabolic Program of Regulatory B Lymphocytes and Influence in the Control of Malignant and Autoimmune Situations. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:735463. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2021.735463
- 104. Rosser EC, Mauri C. The Emerging Field of Regulatory B Cell Immunometabolism. Cell Metab (2021) 33(6):1088–97. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2021.05.008
- 105. Jamieson RV, Perveen R, Kerr B, Carette M, Yardley J, Heon E, et al. Domain Disruption and Mutation of the bZIP Transcription Factor, MAF, Associated With Cataract, Ocular Anterior Segment Dysgenesis and Coloboma. *Hum Mol Genet* (2002) 11(1):33–42. doi: 10.1093/hmg/11.1.33
- Reza HM, Yasuda K. Roles of Maf Family Proteins in Lens Development. Dev Dyn (2004) 229(3):440–8. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.10467
- 107. Lai CY, Lin SY, Wu CK, Yeh LT, Sytwu HK, Miaw SC. Tyrosine Phosphorylation of C-Maf Enhances the Expression of IL-4 Gene. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2012) 189(4):1545–50. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1200405

- 108. Blonska M, Joo D, Nurieva RI, Zhao X, Chiao P, Sun SC, et al. Activation of the Transcription Factor C-Maf in T Cells is Dependent on the CARMA1-Ikkβ Signaling Cascade. Sci Signal (2013) 6(306):ra110. doi: 10.1126/ scisignal.2004273
- 109. Liu CC, Lai CY, Yen WF, Lin YH, Chang HH, Tai TS, et al. Reciprocal Regulation of C-Maf Tyrosine Phosphorylation by Tec and Ptpn22. *PloS One* (2015) 10(5):e0127617. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127617
- 110. Herath NI, Rocques N, Garancher A, Eychène A, Pouponnot C. GSK3-Mediated MAF Phosphorylation in Multiple Myeloma as a Potential Therapeutic Target. *Blood Cancer J* (2014) 4(1):e175. doi: 10.1038/ bcj.2013.67
- 111. Qiang YW, Ye S, Chen Y, Buros AF, Edmonson R, van Rhee F, et al. MAF Protein Mediates Innate Resistance to Proteasome Inhibition Therapy in Multiple Myeloma. *Blood* (2016) 128(25):2919–30. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-706077
- 112. Leavenworth JW, Ma X, Mo YY, Pauza ME. SUMO Conjugation Contributes to Immune Deviation in Nonobese Diabetic Mice by Suppressing C-Maf Transactivation of IL-4. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950)* (2009) 183 (2):1110–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803671
- 113. Hsu CY, Yeh LT, Fu SH, Chien MW, Liu YW, Miaw SC, et al. SUMO-Defective C-Maf Preferentially Transactivates Il21 to Exacerbate Autoimmune Diabetes. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(9):3779–93. doi: 10.1172/ JCI98786
- 114. Cao S, Liu J, Song L, Ma X. The Protooncogene C-Maf Is an Essential Transcription Factor for IL-10 Gene Expression in Macrophages. *J Immunol* (*Baltimore Md: 1950*) (2005) 174(6):3484–92. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.174.6.3484
- 115. Liu M, Zhao X, Ma Y, Zhou Y, Deng M, Ma Y. Transcription Factor C-Maf is Essential for IL-10 Gene Expression in B Cells. *Scand J Immunol* (2018) 88 (3):e12701. doi: 10.1111/sji.12701
- 116. Aschenbrenner D, Foglierini M, Jarrossay D, Hu D, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK, et al. An Immunoregulatory and Tissue-Residency Program Modulated by C-MAF in Human T(H)17 Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19(10):1126–36. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0200-5
- 117. Karwacz K, Miraldi ER, Pokrovskii M, Madi A, Yosef N, Wortman I, et al. Critical Role of IRF1 and BATF in Forming Chromatin Landscape During Type 1 Regulatory Cell Differentiation. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(4):412–21. doi: 10.1038/ni.3683
- Ciofani M, Madar A, Galan C, Sellars M, Mace K, Pauli F, et al. A Validated Regulatory Network for Th17 Cell Specification. *Cell* (2012) 151(2):289–303. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.09.016
- 119. Liu M, Tong Z, Ding C, Luo F, Wu S, Wu C, et al. Transcription Factor C-Maf is a Checkpoint That Programs Macrophages in Lung Cancer. J Clin Invest (2020) 130(4):2081–96. doi: 10.1172/JCI131335
- 120. Parker ME, Barrera A, Wheaton JD, Zuberbuehler MK, Allan DSJ, Carlyle JR, et al. C-Maf Regulates the Plasticity of Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells by Restraining the Type 1 Program. J Exp Med (2020) 217(1):e20191030. doi: 10.1084/jem.20191030
- 121. Song JF, Liu T, Shen X, Wu GD, Xia QC. Application of Free-Flow Electrophoresis to the Purification of Trichosanthin From a Crude Product of Acetone Fractional Precipitation. *Electrophoresis* (1998) 19 (7):1097-103. doi: 10.1002/elps.1150190708
- Imbratta C, Hussein H, Andris F, Verdeil G. C-MAF, a Swiss Army Knife for Tolerance in Lymphocytes. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:206. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.00206
- 123. Gabryšová L, Alvarez-Martinez M, Luisier R, Cox LS, Sodenkamp J, Hosking C, et al. C-Maf Controls Immune Responses by Regulating Disease-Specific Gene Networks and Repressing IL-2 in CD4(+) T Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19(5):497–507. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0083-5
- 124. Kang K, Park SH, Chen J, Qiao Y, Giannopoulou E, Berg K, et al. Interferon-γ Represses M2 Gene Expression in Human Macrophages by Disassembling Enhancers Bound by the Transcription Factor MAF. *Immunity* (2017) 47 (2):235–50.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.07.017
- 125. Radomir L, Kramer MP, Perpinial M, Schottlender N, Rabani S, David K, et al. The Survival and Function of IL-10-Producing Regulatory B Cells Are Negatively Controlled by SLAMF5. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):1893. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22230-z

- 126. Simon Q, Grasseau A, Boudigou M, Le Pottier L, Bettachioli E, Cornec D, et al. A Cytokine Network Profile Delineates a Common Th1/Be1 Pro-Inflammatory Group of Patients in Four Systemic Autoimmune Diseases. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2021) 73(8):1550–61. doi: 10.1002/art.41697
- 127. Tedder TF. B10 Cells: A Functionally Defined Regulatory B Cell Subset. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2015) 194(4):1395–401. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1401329
- 128. Iwata Y, Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Dilillo DJ, Yanaba K, Venturi GM, et al. Characterization of a Rare IL-10-Competent B-Cell Subset in Humans That Parallels Mouse Regulatory B10 Cells. *Blood* (2011) 117(2):530–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-294249
- 129. Lin BS, Tsai PY, Hsieh WY, Tsao HW, Liu MW, Grenningloh R, et al. SUMOylation Attenuates C-Maf-Dependent IL-4 Expression. Eur J Immunol (2010) 40(4):1174–84. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939788
- 130. Tanaka S, Suto A, Iwamoto T, Kashiwakuma D, Kagami S, Suzuki K, et al. Sox5 and C-Maf Cooperatively Induce Th17 Cell Differentiation via Roryt Induction as Downstream Targets of Stat3. J Exp Med (2014) 211(9):1857– 74. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130791
- 131. Yang Y, Ochando J, Yopp A, Bromberg JS, Ding Y. IL-6 Plays a Unique Role in Initiating C-Maf Expression During Early Stage of CD4 T Cell Activation. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950)* (2005) 174(5):2720–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.174.5.2720
- 132. Yu L, Yang F, Zhang F, Guo D, Li L, Wang X, et al. CD69 Enhances Immunosuppressive Function of Regulatory T-Cells and Attenuates Colitis by Prompting IL-10 Production. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9(9):905. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0927-9
- 133. Xu J, Yang Y, Qiu G, Lal G, Wu Z, Levy DE, et al. C-Maf Regulates IL-10 Expression During Th17 Polarization. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2009) 182(10):6226–36. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900123
- Smith JC, Stephens DP, Winchester PK, Williamson JW. Facial Cooling-Induced Bradycardia: Attenuating Effect of Central Command at Exercise Onset. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (1997) 29(3):320–5. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199703000-00006
- 135. Ding C, Chen X, Dascani P, Hu X, Bolli R, Zhang HG, et al. STAT3 Signaling in B Cells Is Critical for Germinal Center Maintenance and Contributes to the Pathogenesis of Murine Models of Lupus. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md:* 1950) (2016) 196(11):4477–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502043
- 136. Igarashi K, Ochiai K, Itoh-Nakadai A, Muto A. Orchestration of Plasma Cell Differentiation by Bach2 and its Gene Regulatory Network. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 261(1):116–25. doi: 10.1111/imr.12201
- 137. Hipp N, Symington H, Pastoret C, Caron G, Monvoisin C, Tarte K, et al. IL-2 Imprints Human Naive B Cell Fate Towards Plasma Cell Through ERK/ ELK1-Mediated BACH2 Repression. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):1443. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01475-7
- Ochiai K, Muto A, Tanaka H, Takahashi S, Igarashi K. Regulation of the Plasma Cell Transcription Factor Blimp-1 Gene by Bach2 and Bcl6. Int Immunol (2008) 20(3):453–60. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxn005
- 139. Zhang H, Hu Q, Zhang M, Yang F, Peng C, Zhang Z, et al. Bach2 Deficiency Leads to Spontaneous Expansion of IL-4-Producing T Follicular Helper Cells and Autoimmunity. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2050. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2019.02050
- Cook ME, Jarjour NN, Lin CC, Edelson BT. Transcription Factor Bhlhe40 in Immunity and Autoimmunity. *Trends Immunol* (2020) 41(11):1023–36. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2020.09.002
- 141. Yu F, Sharma S, Jankovic D, Gurram RK, Su P, Hu G, et al. The Transcription Factor Bhlhe40 is a Switch of Inflammatory Versus Antiinflammatory Th1 Cell Fate Determination. J Exp Med (2018) 215 (7):1813–21. doi: 10.1084/jem.20170155
- 142. Huynh JP, Lin CC, Kimmey JM, Jarjour NN, Schwarzkopf EA, Bradstreet TR, et al. Bhlhe40 is an Essential Repressor of IL-10 During Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection. J Exp Med (2018) 215(7):1823–38. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20171704
- 143. Seimiya M, Bahar R, Wang Y, Kawamura K, Tada Y, Okada S, et al. Clast5/ Stra13 is a Negative Regulator of B Lymphocyte Activation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2002) 292(1):121–7. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2002.6605
- 144. Kreslavsky T, Vilagos B, Tagoh H, Poliakova DK, Schwickert TA, Wöhner M, et al. Essential Role for the Transcription Factor Bhlhe41 in Regulating

the Development, Self-Renewal and BCR Repertoire of B-1a Cells. Nat Immunol (2017) 18(4):442-55. doi: 10.1038/ni.3694

- 145. Camponeschi A, Todi L, Cristofoletti C, Lazzeri C, Carbonari M, Mitrevski M, et al. DEC1/STRA13 is a Key Negative Regulator of Activation-Induced Proliferation of Human B Cells Highly Expressed in Anergic Cells. *Immunol Lett* (2018) 198:7–11. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2018.03.014
- 146. Fukuda T, Yoshida T, Okada S, Hatano M, Miki T, Ishibashi K, et al. Disruption of the Bcl6 Gene Results in an Impaired Germinal Center Formation. J Exp Med (1997) 186(3):439–48. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.3.439
- 147. Phan RT, Dalla-Favera R. The BCL6 Proto-Oncogene Suppresses P53 Expression in Germinal-Centre B Cells. *Nature* (2004) 432(7017):635–9. doi: 10.1038/nature03147
- 148. Shaffer AL, Lin KI, Kuo TC, Yu X, Hurt EM, Rosenwald A, et al. Blimp-1 Orchestrates Plasma Cell Differentiation by Extinguishing the Mature B Cell Gene Expression Program. *Immunity* (2002) 17(1):51–62. doi: 10.1016/ S1074-7613(02)00335-7
- 149. Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The Transcriptional Repressor Bcl-6 Directs T Follicular Helper Cell Lineage Commitment. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):457–68. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- 150. Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, DiToro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are Reciprocal and Antagonistic Regulators of T Follicular Helper Cell Differentiation. *Sci (New York NY)* (2009) 325(5943):1006–10. doi: 10.1126/science.1175870
- 151. Kroenke MA, Eto D, Locci M, Cho M, Davidson T, Haddad EK, et al. Bcl6 and Maf Cooperate to Instruct Human Follicular Helper CD4 T Cell Differentiation. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2012) 188(8):3734–44. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103246
- 152. Andris F, Denanglaire S, Anciaux M, Hercor M, Hussein H, Leo O. The Transcription Factor C-Maf Promotes the Differentiation of Follicular Helper T Cells. Front Immunol (2017) 8:480. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00480
- 153. Vacchio MS, Ciucci T, Gao Y, Watanabe M, Balmaceno-Criss M, McGinty MT, et al. A Thpok-Directed Transcriptional Circuitry Promotes Bcl6 and Maf Expression to Orchestrate T Follicular Helper Differentiation. *Immunity* (2019) 51(3):465–78.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.023
- 154. Katsarou A, Trasanidis N, Alvarez-Benayas J, Papaleonidopoulou F, Keren K, Kostopoulos IV, et al. Oncogenic MAF in Co-Operation With IRF4 Confers Extensive Chromatin Re-Arrangement in Plasma Cells and Generates 'Neo-Enhancers' That Regulate Genes Critical for Myeloma Biology. *Blood* (2019) 134(Supplement_1):3783. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-122371
- 155. Sahoo A, Alekseev A, Tanaka K, Obertas L, Lerman B, Haymaker C, et al. Batf is Important for IL-4 Expression in T Follicular Helper Cells. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7997. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8997
- 156. Rengarajan J, Mowen KA, McBride KD, Smith ED, Singh H, Glimcher LH. Interferon Regulatory Factor 4 (IRF4) Interacts With NFATc2 to Modulate Interleukin 4 Gene Expression. J Exp Med (2002) 195(8):1003–12. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011128
- 157. Chang KK, Liu LB, Jin LP, Zhang B, Mei J, Li H, et al. IL-27 Triggers IL-10 Production in Th17 Cells via a C-Maf/Roryt/Blimp-1 Signal to Promote the Progression of Endometriosis. Cell Death Dis (2017) 8(3):e2666. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2017.95
- Dharap A, Pokrzywa C, Murali S, Pandi G, Vemuganti R. MicroRNA miR-324-3p Induces Promoter-Mediated Expression of RelA Gene. *PloS One* (2013) 8(11):e79467. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079467
- Thai TH, Calado DP, Casola S, Ansel KM, Xiao C, Xue Y, et al. Regulation of the Germinal Center Response by microRNA-155. *Sci (New York NY)* (2007) 316(5824):604–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1141229
- 160. Vigorito E, Perks KL, Abreu-Goodger C, Bunting S, Xiang Z, Kohlhaas S, et al. microRNA-155 Regulates the Generation of Immunoglobulin Class-Switched Plasma Cells. *Immunity* (2007) 27(6):847–59. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2007.10.009
- 161. Lu D, Nakagawa R, Lazzaro S, Staudacher P, Abreu-Goodger C, Henley T, et al. The miR-155-PU.1 Axis Acts on Pax5 to Enable Efficient Terminal B Cell Differentiation. J Exp Med (2014) 211(11):2183–98. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20140338
- 162. Zheng Y, Ge W, Ma Y, Xie G, Wang W, Han L, et al. miR-155 Regulates IL-10-Producing CD24(hi)CD27(+) B Cells and Impairs Their Function in

Patients With Crohn's Disease. Front Immunol (2017) 8:914. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.00914

- 163. Fairfax KA, Gantier MP, Mackay F, Williams BR, McCoy CE. IL-10 Regulates Aicda Expression Through miR-155. J Leukocyte Biol (2015) 97 (1):71–8. doi: 10.1189/jlb.2A0314-178R
- 164. Rodriguez A, Vigorito E, Clare S, Warren MV, Couttet P, Soond DR, et al. Requirement of Bic/microRNA-155 for Normal Immune Function. *Sci (New York NY)* (2007) 316(5824):608–11. doi: 10.1126/science.1139253
- 165. Su W, Hopkins S, Nesser NK, Sopher B, Silvestroni A, Ammanuel S, et al. The P53 Transcription Factor Modulates Microglia Behavior Through microRNA-Dependent Regulation of C-Maf. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2014) 192(1):358–66. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301397
- 166. Zhu Y, Liu Y, Zhu X, Wang Z, Wang M. Upregulation of miR-155 Regulates Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells by Targeting C-Maf in Allergic Rhinitis. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2020) 887:173564. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173564
- 167. Barnes NA, Stephenson S, Cocco M, Tooze RM, Doody GM. BLIMP-1 and STAT3 Counterregulate microRNA-21 During Plasma Cell Differentiation. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950)* (2012) 189(1):253–60. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1101563
- 168. Wang H, Xu W, Shao Q, Ding Q. miR-21 Silencing Ameliorates Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis by Promoting the Differentiation of IL-10-Producing B Cells. Oncotarget (2017) 8 (55):94069-79. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21578
- 169. Sheedy FJ, Palsson-McDermott E, Hennessy EJ, Martin C, O'Leary JJ, Ruan Q, et al. Negative Regulation of TLR4 via Targeting of the Proinflammatory

Tumor Suppressor PDCD4 by the microRNA miR-21. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(2):141–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.1828

170. van den Bosch MWM, Palsson-Mcdermott E, Johnson DS, O'Neill LAJ. LPS Induces the Degradation of Programmed Cell Death Protein 4 (PDCD4) to Release Twist2, Activating C-Maf Transcription to Promote Interleukin-10 Production. J Biol Chem (2014) 289(33):22980–90. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M114.573089

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Michée-Cospolite, Boudigou, Grasseau, Simon, Mignen, Pers, Cornec, Le Pottier and Hillion. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

